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This book has been prodeced with the sele purpose of providing
information to those members of the Brougham fanilies yho are
interssted in thelr ancestry, amd for those who wish to carry out
forther research. it has not been produced for profit, and is
protected by copyright only to prevent outright plagiarism and to
prevent it heing resold or reproduced in any form without ackrowledge
~ment.

On my death, that right will pass to the Cumbria Record GEfice or
their nominee, who will also hold the original HSS copies of hoth the
text and the chasts as well as the computer disc on which these are
held.

P.B. Wyly @ 1998



PREFACE

That this booklet has been written at al} is due in no small measure to ny late very dear friend and
colleagua, Hiss Marjorie {Peggy) Stacey of Thingwall, Wirral, whose sudden death in Asgust 1992 left a
gap, not only in my life, but in the whole volume of resaarch into the Brougham families.  Peggy
sperialised in the Broughams of North Devon and those Broughams known, ot believed, to be desvended from
Edward Brovgham - known to us as 'Edward of Barns', for that is how he described himself in his deathbed
will dated 21 February 1724725 which delineated all his vast family of 1l sons and T daughters.  The
little more of him that I do know is almost entirely due to the efforts of Peggy Stacey.  Peggy had
contributed so mech, that it is only fair that she should continue to share the book's authorship:
hence, much will be written about what 'we' have achieved, and our initials, PBW and WS, will stand in
place of persoral pronouns.

At the beginning of 1985 I produced - somewhat too hurriedly - a bookiet entitled 'The Brougham Family:
n Ertension': the title meaning to convey my appreciation of the work done by the late (. Roy
Audleston M.A,, F.8.A, This booklet extended Mr. Hudleston's paper, 'The Brougham Family', back inte
the C16 and forward into the C}0; and was written primarily for the benefit of the Asstralian
descendants of Henry Brougham of Scales; however, a few spare copies were presented to organizations
that might be interested - e.g. The Cumbria Family Ristory Society and The Seciety of Genealogists - and
to those who had given considerable help in research.

There is now a greater knowledge of the Broughams, principally because the research became a joint
effort, and I now feel able to put that knowledge into an ordered form. Thers were also mamy errors in
the original version that needed to be corrected.

In the preface to the original, I commented that 'it may be that this account turns out to be inadequate
in the long run', and [ see no necessity to withdraw that. The Broughans, a small 'family' compared
with aimost any other, has more branches than the average forest tree. Bot - and it is a big but -
the only branches we have been able to trace with any degree of certainty are those whose discernibie
origins are in 16th century Cumberland. It is clear that thase must have origimally come from across
the border in Westmorland, but the only Broughams thought to have lived continuously in Westmorland
appear to have no known descendants: the last male died in 1508, It is possible that, from am earlier
generation, a younger sep went to Ireland, and from hin descend many of the Broughams, known to have an
frish origin, other than those descended from  Rev. John Brougham [1748-1811), sometime vicar of
Ballyhaise and Bailieborough.

Some of the loose threads of 1986 remain, others have been woven into the fabric of known fanily groups.
It may be that some threads will remain loose - but then, if there were none, what we would have left
for others to do? I make no apologies for the Fact that this book traces orly the male lines: to have
gone further, and traced all the female lines - no patter how interesting they nmay have been - would
have been beyond our means and time allowance. Age catcheg up with us all,

Once again, I acknowledge gladly the help that has been giver by so many others. ¥r. Hudleston
continued to the end of his life to be unstinting in passing on his cws notes, all of which have been
worked into the wider framework of four centuries: his premature death in February 1992 stunned us all.
Record Offices, particularly those of Carlisle and Rendal in the heart of Broughan country, and those of

Durhan, Northusberiand and North Yorkshire have both provided ané interpreted informationm. The
Department of Archives apd Special Collections at Durham University; many district Register Offices;
» and, of course, libraries, have all contributed. Niss Gillian Farlong and her staff at University

College london must alse be thanked for the information they provided from the Brougham papers in thelr
care.

Above all, 1 an grateful to all those many members of the family who have added their own knowledge: to
ny sister, Mrs. V.P. Bartholomew, and cousin, Hrs. £.D. Sheardown, who transcribed one of Patrick
Brougham's 'Journals', describing much of his own life, and some of his brother John's, life in
tuskralia from 1838 unti] shortly before Patrick's death in 1905, and for many other family details; to
cousins W. Gordon Laycock and Miss Sarah P. Johnston for their work of identifying the descendants of
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James Rigg Brougham for me; to Hrs. Jean Walker and her cousin, Wrs. R.H. Hacintosh, descendants of
Edward Broughas of Barns through his great-grardsen, Dr. Stephen Broughan of Falmouth; and to Hr. C.
Aidous of Bury, who is also descended from Edward. Mrs. t.5. Flockhart of Victoria gave me nuch
information about Jame Hargaret Broughan and her talented daughter, and Mrs. C.E. Partor, also of
Victoria, told me about George Brougham Honkhouse and his voyage with Captain Cook in his first
circummavigation.

particular thanks are dwe to Hesdames Jacqueline Harbor of Reading, Berks., Winnifred Waterfall of
Sidney, British Colombia, and Susan Blatherwick of Reyworth, Notts., all of whom wrote within the space
of siz weeks regarding the Broughams of North Devon; and to Messrs. Malvern and Wilfred Brougham of
South Australia, who proved the lisk between North Devon and South fustralia, thereby enabling PBY. to
pick up Erom where HS had sadly been forced to leave her research, and to add another chapter - albeit a
hrief one - to this account; and to those many Broughams and Brougham-related descendants who have
replied to our mail-shet letters.  All that they have told us is recorded.

Nor must I Forget Mark Thomas, who passed on mach information about the Eirst and second Lords Brougham
whilst researching the background for his book 'Brougham Hall and Nigh Read Castle'; and his parents,
who have been so supportive. In particular 1 must give special thanks to Hark Thomas's father,
Prafessor William Thomas of Christchurch College, Ozford, for allowing me to have sight of an K.} fhesis
on the refora of the judicial system in England during the 19th century, snbmitted by Ms. Renée Lettow.
This gave a rarg, aed formerly uatouched picture of the successes and failures of the great Lord
Chancellor Broughan.

[ an also indebted to Hessrs. Thomas and Aldeus for taking the time and trouble to read through the H8S
and to offer invaluable suggestions and corrections. Kevertheless, if there are mistakes, then they
are pine and mine alone and I cen only apelegise for them in advance.

My debt to all of these people is great, and I am very grateful.

Finally, I acknowledge qratefully the support and sympathy extended by Christopher Terry, Trustee of the
Brougham Hall Charitable Trust, and his wife, Alison, and for their permission to grant Peggy Stacey her
wish: that her ashes should be strewn in the grounds of Brougham Hall. That ceremony was performed on
17 May 1993 by Rev. Wilfred Braithwaite, the former vicar of Brougham.

hgain, it has to he said fﬁat this cannot be a definitive history: there are stiil too many pieces of

the jig-saw in our boxes gwaiting perhaps only one other piece to enable us to fit some more of them
into the main pictere. Who knows? I - or someone else - may be able to print a supplenment,

.8, Wyly
{ulcheth
Cheghlra

Hay 1998
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INTRODUCTION
KHAT'S IN A KAME?

There are orly two places in the world named Brougham: a small area to the south of Penrith that can
hardly be called a village, though there omce was a village, of which only the church of 5t. Ninmian
| ¥inekirks') remains' and a little village in Ontarip, Canada, The Peprith Brougham now boasts sonme
houses, a roined castle, and a demolished Hall; and everyone who properly bears the name of Brougham
aust have ancestry that, in theory at least, is traceable back to that area.

There is a belief, which PBY once held, that if the many Brougham families could be traced back far
enough, one would arrive at a single family, perhaps even 3 single progenitor of all the Bronghams, just
a5 the Herrays clais one Freskin as their ancestor. We now believe that althongh this is possible, the
nore probable evolution has been from men who were of Brougham', though not necessarily related. In
time the *of* was dropped, and there were  Thomas, Richard and Renry Brougham. The last Brougham who
can reasonably be called 'of Broughan' was one Thomas, who d.1608: he was the last male of his line.

Alas, it is not even as easy as that. It now seems quite clear to us that there are families
rejoicing in the mame of Brougham who may mot be Broughams at all, but Broom{e)s, Brooghans and
Broghans. There are also almost certainly families who spell their name Broom{e), but who are, in
reality, Broughans. In 1876 an Alexander died at Bebington, Cheshire. and signed his will 'Alexr,
Brougham or Broom'; but all his children had been baptised as Broughanms. fis older brother, William
{who proved Alerander's will), died in 1877, and had no such doubts: he signed his will 'William
Brougham'.  Wis children had however, been haptised as Brooms - though the third child, William, who
died aged two in 1849 was buried as Broughan! The brothers, William and Alexander, had been born on
the Isle of Man to Rlexander Broom, and there is a very strong probability that they were descendants of
Edward Brougham of The Barns, whose youngest son was Alexander. Edward’s children were baptised {and
sometimes gmarried) 2s Broos, Rrooms or even Browme, We have found only two who were baptised as
Brougham, yet Edward was obvionsly an educated man and so were his sons, three of whon were excisemen.

Why were there so many variants? We must not lose sight of the fact that until about two hendred years
aqo many people, even those moderately well-off, were illiterate and relied on the vicar {or a
churchwarden) to make a correct entry in the register. This would happen if the vicar knew the correct
spelling, but a stranger with a strange accent or dizlect conld.cavse problems. It could also happen
if, as was coomon, the parish register was entered up monthly or guarterly from the vicar's notes. Be
nay well have written the pame correctly, bot forgotten how it was pronounced. 5o it became Bruffam -
and we have exanples where this has obviously occurred.  Or he remembered the correct proaunciation,
but the churchwarden (or whoever wrote up the register from dictated notes) wrote Broom{e) or some other
variant. fThe various spellings we have found may indicate this: Brughan, Browham, Broham, Brehase,
Bruffam, Brayham, Browghanm, Browholme. Brayham is also found in Yorkshire. Some of these may well
be Broom(e}s. Where PE¥ lives in north Cheshire [lately south Laacashire}, *hrow' is pronounced
"hraw®.

Lord Chancellor Broughan considered the correct pronunciation to be BROOH, although the descendants of
his nephews in Australia said 'Braws', as do the natives of Penrith and Liverpool. The Osferd
dictionary prefers Broom, but let Benry Leigh Hunt's gacler, lves, have the last word.  He was an
eccentric character who called every body 'Mister'.
'l find' said he, 'that they calls him Broom; but, Mister' {assuning a look Eron
which there was to be no appeal}, '! calls him Bruffam’.

(From Lord Byron and Ris Contemporaries, by Leigh Runt)

DEKOGRAPEY

Although there can be no doubt that the Broughams eriginated in the area of that name just to the south
of the river Eamont and can thus be called of Westrorland', at least one branch of the family moved
into Cumberland and was well established there by the early 17th century.. By the early 18th century
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they had spread across into Northusberland, Yorkshire and Durham, and during the Tfiext 100 years they
were te be found in Manchester and Liverpool, and as far south as the Pokteries. We know that service
with the Excise Board cavsed mapy toc move away from Cumberland, but some, tike John Brougham of
Brampton, who was a joiner, probably followed their trade hoping for a more prosperous life in big towns
tike Hanchester. No doubt other members of their families followed in the geperal movement from
farms to towns.  We cammot now find the name in the current telephone book for Forth Lancashire and
Cumbriz, but we have no cause to doubt that the vast majerity of the English fapilies had their origins
ia Brougham.

In the U.K. we have found some 250 Broughams in telephone directories, a sizable number, but in fact
representing only about 1 in 70,000 of the population.

There are, however, many puzzling occurrences of the mame.  In Lincolnshire, Broughas is recorded as
early as 1569. Indeed, there are more Broughams to be found in Liscolnshire parish registers of the Cl6
and 17th centory that have been copied by the IGI than there are in those for Westmorland and
Cumberland, but their origing are far from clear. C.¥. Bardsley records a Browham in Norfolk as early
as 1271, and variants of Bromholme and Broham appear in the Lynton arez of Devon as parly as the mid-
16th century, with Brougham appearing by the mid-eighteenth century. There are known descendants of
this group living in Australia and Camada, as well as in England.

The name also appears in the counties of Kildare asd Mayo in freland from the mid-18th century om.
From whom did these families spring? Were they truly Bronghams or have other names, such as Broughat,
Broughel and Brochan, been corrupted - but if so, then why to Brougham, which was a name of no
significance until the early C19, and not Broom(e)?  Did onme or two youRger sons in Tedor times, of
whon we have no recard, go to seek their fortumes in [reland? It could have heen possible. We know
that in the latter part of the 18th century some Broughams vere mariners: were there sallors in earlier
generations who found [reland and North Devos pleasing places In which to settle?

We have not attempted to collect all the overseas Broughams. There were Broughams in various regiments
of the East India Company armies who do not appear to have been descended from Thomas Brougham of Eament
Bridge (0.1638) {one has been traced to a family of Co. Xildare in the early. 13th century, and one of
hig brothers migrated to New Zealand via Hyde in Cheshire). One or two, alas, found their way te
Australia as guests of the Governmeat, and another (a great-grandfather of PBW} was packed off by his
fagily. There are now over 50 in the telephone directories of-the capital cities of hestralia - how
pany more there may be in smaller cities and country towns one cam but guess at. In New Zealand there
are some 69 Brougham and Brougham-related families, all but one being inter-related and of Irish
descent.  There are numerous Broughams in America, some in Canada and others in South Africa, about
whom we know nothing.

SOURCES OF INFORMATION

Wherever the family historian looks, the loss of valuable church and other records inevitadly hampers,
and in many cases blocks research. War, the carelessness of iacumbents, lack of isterest and
understanding of the importance of documents, and rodeats, have all ieft their park. Hany of the
records st Ezeter, for example, were destroyed during an air-raid in the second world war, and hence we
cannot examize any of the Brougham wills that were almost certainly there. A complete ‘volume of
Skelton parish registers is missing, and as CRH has pointed out, Bishops' tramscripts are unsakisfactory
(they also have copyists errors]. Reqisters of the parish of St. ¥iniam ('Ninekirks'}, Brougham,
disappeared with a fotmer vicar about 1645, and those of St. Michael's, Bartonm, {the parish of Eament
Bridge, Westmorland side), do sot exist before 1666); both should extend back to the pid-Cl%, and the
missing volumes should tell us much. The registers of Clifton parish, which adjoins Brougham, are also
missing from before [673.

The baptismal and marriage index {IGI) compiled by the Hormon Church, valuable though it is (and without
it we would all be struggling), is neither complete nor free from error: nor does it record deaths.
The latest {1992} series still shows Bernard (B:1670) to be the son of {hristopher, which he was not.
Ris father was Hemry, and Christopher was his uncle. That error comes directly from 2 copyist's
nistzke in the Bishop's Transcripts.



fence the bulk of this account must necessarily be restricted to that small, but sigsificant, qroup of
Broughams whose known origins were in Westmorland and Cumberland area, and whose family records have
allowed us to reconstroct their Ffamily trees and to add something about their lives.  We have also
added those about whom we know a little, but nothing of their origins.

70 do all this we have gome back to the original parish registers wherever possibla, and we have relied
heavily on wills, indentures and cemsus records. In some cases, the wills of relatives have enabled
s to make a positive ideatification ~ such as the will of Thomas gell, which named all the children of
his davghter Elizabeth, who had married Edward, third son of Rdward Brougham of Barns.,  The Hinute
Hooks of the Excise Service, for the years 1695 - 1830 proved to be a nine of information about the 22
Broughans who were ip that service.

It has been a fascinating ezercise, but we acknowledge that it skims the ground im most cases. Had we
attempted more, it is dosbtful if we would have got even this far. William Carpenter, in his 'Pearage
for the People’ gave the following advice to Lord Chancellor Broughan:

*0ht my bord, you must be satisfied with the empty honour of talking about what shonld be done;
to accomplish what you have desiderated, and had the power of realising, must be reserved for
others'.

We accepted that advice.

ttEEREARRERRERASRERERBERERERESRSRERSRERLINR

THE BROUGHAM INDEX

If this is ever completed, it will be a separate publication, probably with linited circulation, which
will contain a series of indexed charts of all the Broughan families about whom we have some knowledge.
Each chart will consist of 8 family group - parents and children - and will be indexed in such a way
that aoyone who has been able to trace his Brougham 2ntecedents back to one of these families will then
be sble ko trace back to its origin - as far as we know it,  Some will go back to the late Elizabethan
period, others, alas, will peter out in the C19.

The Index will be designed as a separate, stand-alone work; but like this one, it will deal with
Broughsns oaly; for obvious reasons we have not attempted to trace female lines.
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INTERVAL FOR GOOD STUFF
With apologies to the late Sir Alap ferbert, and thanks te CRH.

And so to highgate castle a pretty litle Tower hopse: The owner Sqr Chrtopher Richmond & very
Ancieat gentile fanily; and his father Mr Crigter Richmond married the sister: of §ir Willlam Chater of
Croft briggs Yorkshire and this 5qr now living marries Mr Vaux his daughter; ac ancient Sqr familie and
pranch of the Lord Vaux of Gilsland maried the coheir of caterlen hall a faire Tower house aod Tenents:
yong moesit Richmond living ther marrie The daughter of Sir Wilfred Lawson: an pstate of £300 per an.

Then yow tomes to Blekhall an Large mannor and bordship of the Lord Dacres: And the ancient Sqr
fanily of the Kirkbrides: Lord of Brathwait, and Ellerton, and many Einer houses, his dwelling at Howes
and Ellerton, late Bigh Sheriff of cemberland Two years altogether: his qrandfather Bernard maried
Dorothy Dudley, of Yanwath Hall: and Rich: Rirkbride his father, and Colonmell in the Royall warrs:
narried Hr Mayplates dasghter a Southern gentleman: and this,Squire Barnard Kirkbride marryes: 8ir
Tynothy ffetherstons daughter: An estate E300** per am:

West adjoyning Sqr Thomas® Brohan Ancient heir nmale of all the Sqr brohams of broham hall in
Westmr built a very fine house at Scalls: And lives there his grapdfather: Henry Brohan married Jane
Wharton, daughter of Squire Whartoen of Kirkby thure Westmrland: his father Tho: married daughter te Sqr
Daniell Fleming of Skirwith, and cousin to Sqr ffleming Lord of Ridall and this Sqr Henry brohan marryes
faire Hrs Slee of Carlile a Joviall Gentleman; and estate £300°".

From: ‘A Cursory Relation of all the Antiquities and Familyes
{n Cugberland® by Edsund Sandford. 1676.

-

* B clearly means Fenry: note the last line but two:

LI hig father tho: married daughter to 5qr. Daniell Fleming of Skirwith ....... ' PBY

*+ [Equivalent to between £60,000 and £190,000 pa. in 1994
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CHAPTER 1

MYTHS AND LEGENDS - I

Before proceeding with an account of the Brougham Families, it i5 necessary to dispel the myths that
nave been - and are still heing - circulated by Burke and others who should know better.

We do not know who was responsible for providing the first few qenerations of the pedigres printed by
purke,  Hutchinson [The History of the County of Cumberland, circa 1794) shows a Thomas Brooghan as
the ancestor of the Broughams of Blackhall, Scales and - later - Broaghan. fe nay have relied upon
¥icolson and Bura, whose earlier work refers to a Thomas Brougham 'ip the time of 1 & 2 Philip and
Wary,' possessing one-third of the manor of Brougham.  Neither of these sources give the name of

Thomas's wife, and both are wrong.

o the peerage, the First Lord Brougham was challenged by a Mrs. Higginson to
prove his clain of being heir to the Vauzes of Catterlen, and in rebutting this, Benry Peter Brougham
referred her to his family, ‘yho know these things' and to the Heralds, 'who ought to know'. The Burke
padigree is given, and the superscript aumbers refer to the notes helow:

Following his elevation t

Thomas Burgham' = 1533 = Jane, dau. and heiress of
John Vanz of Catterien?®

peter®z = Ana, dau. and heiress

o
HENRY? = Catherine gtirkland®
of John Southaik of Scales

née Nevill
| i
| i I ! i

Thomas® = Agnes .... Yatherine Hargaret Elizabeth flenry” = = 1. Jane Wharton
b i
d: 1608 |-Jane = Edward Aglionby
- . = 1. Catherine Fallowfield
|
I
Thonas = = Mary Fleming
NOTES

1. The inquisition post mortem {ipn) on John Brougham (1554) and the Calendar of Patent Rolls nake it
clear that Johm's son, Henry, was the heir to one-third of the manor, held by his guardian, Renold
Warcop.  The supposed Thomas of 1553 was, in all probability, fenty's son, born ca 1565 {although

there may have been another Thomas of whom we have no tecotd).

. Jane Vaux is a fignent of someone's imagination. The Vauzes of Catterliem are well documented,
and there is no evidence of a Jane Vaux at that tige who could have married @ Brougham. There is @
much earlier merriage recorded by Foster of a Hiss Broughan to William le Vauly in 1421, bat that

seems to be the only connexion Fyrthernore, there were Vauzes at Catterlen for another 160
years, ending with two daughters as co-heiresses: Mabel, who in 1649 nmarried Christopher Richnond
(as related by tamend Sandford), and was thus an ancestress of Henry Richmond Broughan; and Mary,

who narried Richard Graham of Nemnery.

3. This Henry did exist - put he was the heir of that John proughan who died 15 November 1552. During
his minority fenry was @ ward of Renold Warcop, and he pattied Dorothy, daughter of either Renold ot
Thomas ¥arcop, NOT Catherine Stirckland (is this a misprint for strickland?). This is quite glearly

shown by Henry's will of 1565 and Dorothy's will of 1581.

£T i i T IR
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4, Burke places (atherine Stirkland's/?Strickland's?) hirth as early 16th century {'she levied a fine
in the 1§ Henry VIII' - 1527).  Ii this were so, and if Fenry were the son of Thosas and Jane
{Vauz), then Catherine must have been aboet §0 when she allegedly married Henry - and then went on
to bear hin at least four children.

s Eliza Dolittle might have said: ‘Not b...... y likelyt'

5. Thomas was the son of Heary and Dorothy {Warcop), and following the death of his father, he became
a ward of Thomas Warcopp.

CALENDAR GF PATENT ROLLS, 6 FEBRUARY 157)

'Grant to Thomas Warcoppe of the wardship and marriage of Thomas Brohame {sle), son and heir of
Henry Broughan {alc); with an amnuity of 12884 from 6 December i1 Blfz,, when Henty dled, Yearly
valge of the imheritance £9.6s.° -

-

Thomas did indeed marcy an Agnes, and died childless in 1608.

§. That Peter Brougham is related in some way to the Broughams of Brougham is not in doubt, but the
various wills and ipms show that he was peither Henry's brother nor an uncle. He is mentioned in
the will of Henry's father, Joha Brougham, but no relationship is given. He may have heen a son of
Gilbert, one of "16 footemen with bowes' given in the Muster of Yamewath and Eamondbrig, 1581 - see
below.

Peter Brougham’s will, dated 11 August 1381, and proved at Carlisle 28 October, shows him to haye
been of Eamont Bridge. It pentions his wife, Jane, and his son, Remry, but no other children.
it gives no clues about his father, nor does it mention either Blackhall or Scales.  The Aglionby
Papers (D/Cuf4/136, Carlisle R.0.) show quite clearly that it was Henry, not Peter, who bought
Scales from the Sonthaiks.  We know also that in 1647, Hemry's widow Katherine {who had since
parried Abraham Hawking), negotiated a 21 year lease of Blackhall from Francis, Lord Dacre.

The Muster Roll of 14 February 1580/81 for 'Yanewath and Emondbrig' shows:

Kr. Richard Dudlye Esquier and two of his houssehold servantes furnyshed withe horse,

bowes of spearss. John Atmerer, Richard Walker, John Todde, John Gibson, Thomas
Jackson, Peter Browgham, Richard Peak, Willian Cartmell - '8 furnysshed withe nagges and
howes". ‘

By way of contrast, the parish of Browhane shows

Cilbert Browhame as one of *16 footemen withe hylles'.  Who was Gilbert Broughan of
Broughan?  Peter Brougham seens to have been superior to Gilbert - and there is no
mention of Thomas.

7. This Henry was indeed the son of Peter, but we are tow dealing with a separate family, and not with
the descendants of the John Brougham who died in 1552, nor of the supposed Thomas Brougham and the
nen-existent Jane Vaox.

There is mo clear, provable pedigree of Brougham dating back to the earliest known reference to that
pame: MNicolson and Burn make that clear, and no evidence has ever heen adduced to improve the structure
they give, which is based largely upon the ownership of the Manor of Brougham.  There have been long
periods when the Broughams did not hold even a part of the manor, and it is mot at all clear that they
lived in the original hall - the building known as 'The Bird's Nest' - for any length of time uatil the
16C: early documents refer to 'some land in Broughan' or 'an estate in Brougham', Despite the claim
by the second Lord Broughaa that Brougham was held by knight's fee {i.e. directly of the Crown), such
evidence as we have found shows clearly that for some £00 years prior to 1608 the Broughams (and their
co-holders of the manor) were feofees - generally of the Cliffords.



THE PEDIGREE OF BROUGHAK

22 Hen.2 (1176)

1240-1220

Late C13

8 £d.2 (1315)
18 E4.3 (1345)

2 Ric.2 (1379)

22 Ric.2 {1384

17 Ric.2 {1334)

10 Ren.§ (1425)

1435

16 Hen.§ {1438)

17 Ken.b {1440)

i1 Bdward 4 {1471)

13 Edward 4 {1474)

15 Edward 4 {1475)

0dard de Burgham was one of those officers who were Ffined for delivering up the
castle of Appleby to the Scots, and he was heavily fined becasse he actvally joined
the enemy.

Gilbert de Burgham sold the advowson of Broughan to Robert de Veteripont early CI3.

Idonea, the youwnger davghter of Robert de Veteripent as a co-heiress of her father
had assigned to her the homage and service of Christina de Burgham, Willian de
Crackanthorpe and Henry Rydin. The latter two may have married sisters of
Chrigting

The ipn following the death of Robert de Clifford showed that John Godberd, William
{rackanthorpe and Henry de Reddings held the mancr of Burgham.

After the death of Robert, son of the zhove Robert ds Clifford, Willism de
Crackanthorpe, John Tyndall and John Trotter held the manor.

A bounder roll of the manor was agreed by Roger de Clifford and John Burghan.

Letter of attorney by John Darnell and Richard Feldonm asthorizing Thomas Burghann de
Burghan to take seisin of the manors of Beversham, Horland, Dilacre Folme and Burton
and of all lands and tenements held by Wargory Duket in the said places and Grayrigg
except corn lands held by Richard Duket ...... the daid lands having been granted
by the said Margory to the said darnell and Feldon and to Robert de Louthere .......
dated at Middieham 6 October,

Thomas Reding was lord of the manor of Browghanm

John de lancaster and Katherime his wife held twoe parts of the manor (as of her
right), and John de Crackanthorpe held the third part. It is mot known how
Katherine de Lancaster acquired her portion.

William Thorneburgh held the moiety previously held by Katherine de bLancaster.

A tﬁEEd part of the manor was given by Johan Teasdale, a widow, to Henry Bird in
marriage with her daughter, Johan.

Thomas Brougham (called The Elder on 10 July 1439 when he came to an agreement with
flenry Bird) and his wife Joan bought bhalf the mamor of Brougham from William and
Eleanor Thornburgh.,

(From the Calendar of Patent Rolls):  July 1l: Grant to William Parre and John
Parre, knights, and the heirs male of their bodiss of the castles, nanors and
lordships of Pendragon, Burgh, Appilby (sic) Burgham Mallerstang and Whynfell .....
with their members and knight's fees, advowsons and services of free temants.

As above ....... *as Lhey were held by before 4 Harch | Edward 4'.

Licence for Willian Parre, Xnight, who is going to cross the sea with the king
...... to grant the castles, manors and lordships of Pendragon, Burgh, Appulby,
Burgham, ... held in chief, to the king's kinsman George, hrchbishop of York, John
Conyers, knight, John Whelpedale clerk, and Richard Glebra, chaplain and their heirs
without fine or fee according to the form of the act in Parliament at Westminster, 6
October 17 Bdward 4.

[The Cliffords were clearly out of favour at this time, but later regained their possessions).




1482 John Burghanm held the moiety.

10 Zen.7 {1495) An ipn on the death of John Burgham found that he had died seized of the nanot {ane
third part, according to N & B, but as shown above, possibly two parts). e was
succeeded by his son Joha.

20 Hen.7 (1504) John Burgham, William Byrde and Joha Crackasthorpe each held one third of the manor.

18 Ben.8 {1526) Cheistopher Burgham , John Crackanthorpe and William Byrde held Broughaa by the
cornage of 13s6d {eachj.

Christopher Burgham also bought an estate in Brougham from Thomas Sandforth and
Christopher Crackantherpe.

162 Ph.& Hary Ipe (19 January 1554) on the death of John Brougham {1352} showed that he held one-
third of the menor of Brougham, and that his heir was his eldest son, Henry, then
aged 14, ~

1554 - 156) Renold Warcopp held ome third of the manor of Brougham as guardian of Henry
Broughan. The other two thirds were held by Margaret, wife of Willian

Crackanthorpe and John their son, and the widow of Eenry Bird.

Hay 1561 Henry Broughan granted permission 'to enter upon his lands on attaininé the age of
.
156971580 The Broughan holding in the manor was vested in Thomas Warcop as guardian of the

young Thomas Broughaa, heir of flenry Brougham {see Note § on p.2}.

1608 On the death of Thomas Brougham, one third of the manor remained in the Family of
Bird: one third was sold to Agnes, widow of William Fleming of Rydal, which was
later purchased by James Bird; and the other third part was sold to William Wright,
a farmer at the castle.

It will be seen from the foregoing that the Brougham family - or the various branches of it - never hald
more than one half of the mamor, and in that 1608 they lost their entire interest im it. In 16534 Lady
Anne Clifford purchased the Wright share, from which she instituted a charity providing £4.00 anpually
to her hospital at Appleby (still in existence, as is the charity), and began her great period of
rebuilding, including the castles of Broagham, Appleby, and Brough. At the same time she pulled down
and rebailt §t. Wilfred's Chapel at Brougham Wall, and recomstructed Hinekirks (both still in use});
Hinekirks ig on the Redundant Churches list, but is used for weddings by those brave enough to tackle
the journey across farmland. This third share was purchased by James Bird in 1676, and thus the estate
- but not the manor - came wholly into the hands of the Bird family in 1676, and remained in their
ownership ustil the Hall was purchased by Comaissioner Jobn Brougham in 1726, The connezion between
the Thomss Brougham who died 1608 and the Peter Brougham, whose great-great grandson, Comnissioner John
Broughan, bought Broughan Rall from the heirs of James Bird, is unknown.  They may have been tomsims.

The Flemings held one-third of the manor of Brougham on 24 October 1621, and another tenement in Oushy,
the gift of Thonas Bartram and Ratherine, Frances and Elizabeth Bartram, his daughters.



THE LAST BROUGHAMS OF TRE MAHOR OF BROUGHAM

Christopher (named as a ‘gentleman of Westmorland® in 1538, died ca.1543
and presumed to be the father of John, Robert, Richard and Elizabeth.
| = 72 Elizabeth Dudley?? (LDS* Notes)
I
| E l I
Elizsbeth JOUR' = Elizabeth Seymoer Robert Richard?
bn: ca.l5ld
dd: 15.11.1552

l
i i ! I l |
HENRY? Thonas Christopher  Johm® hgnas Jane®
bn: 20.01.1539 = Dorothy Warcop®  ----dd. by 1575---- 71575
dd: 16.12.1569 |
HILL: 14.16 1565
i

i | E i 1
THOMAS™ = Agnes ... Edward Elizabath = William Hargaret®* = Themas Katherime = Rowland

bn. ca: 1560 v:1581 v: 1581  Hudsen of Bartram of fodgson
dsp: 07.01,1608 Bartonr Kirk Kirkoswald of Surrey
Intestate

* Chureh of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints
** MI in Kirkoswald Church
NOTES:

y. The will of John Brougham (14.11.1552) mentions Peter Broughan, but does not give the relationship.
nellasis shows Elizabeth as the daughter of Lancelot Seymour of Armathwaite.

2. There was a Richard Broughan mentioned in the will of Renry®, though he is not referred to as
Yancle'.

3. THE CALENDAR OF PATENT ROLLS

~

28 April 1554

'Grant to Reynold Warcopp, gentleman, of a third part of the manor of Browham co.
Westmorlamd ...ocvie the cald manor and lands belng in the Queen's hands by the minority
of Fenry Brovham (sic), son and hefr of John Browhan, geatleman .......... @&lso the
custody of the bedy and marriage of the said Henry until he obtalns full age or until
obtains the effect of his marriage ........ and grant of the said custody Issues Erom the
1§ November § Bd. VI, on which day John Browhan dled.'

19 May 1561:

'Licence for Tenry Browham, gom and heir of John frowhan (to enter upon his lands) on
attaining the age of 2L
4. The will of Dorothy Brougham was proved at (arlisle Castle by Rowland Hodgson and Willlam
Tudson in right of their wives, 16 August 1618, with power reserved to her son Edward and her
danghter Hargarat.

5. John brought a Chancery case in or about that year, in which he stated that his hrothers were
dead.

§. May have been the Jane Broughsm who aarried Thomas Fallowfield at St. James's, Garlickhithe,
(London), 17 Hovember 1569,  See the chart on p.8
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7. Themas bought the manor of Rirkland 27 March 1604, as shown by an inventory of his estate 23
January 1608.  The manor was subsequently purchased by the Flemings over & long period, Sir
Daniel Fleming making the final purchase in 1695.  Sir Daniel's grandfather was one of the
qentlenen of Camberland and Westmoriand' who wrote on Il August 160 that

'The gentlemen of Cumberland and Westmorland represent the wasted condition of the frontier:
that Lord Yarden draws the men of the innermost parts to assist in its defemce, for which, by
tnerperience, they are unfitted, and the charges are oppressive: praying that the Council to
appoint a ressonable number of soldiers to be placed for a time on the border till its
strength recovers'.

MYTHS AND LEGENDS - II

We must now turn to Nenry, the som of Peter Brougham of Eamont Bridge. Henry proved his fathar's will,
g0 mst have been of age in 1581,  He 4s sald to have married firstly, Jame, daughter of John Wharton
of Kirkby Thore, and to have had a daughter, Jane, who married Edverd Aglionby.  We have no parish
reqister evidence of this marriage, but it is showa in the Visitation Pedigree of Aglionby, and is also
recorded by Thomas Sandford - see 'Interval For Good Stuff* .  On 1 April 1822, Henry Broughan signed
an elaborate Indenture of Preferment im favour of his son, Thomas and his heirs, im default of which,

‘tg the use and behoofe of John Aglionby eldest somne of Edward Aglionby'.  This document refers to
..... 'all those houses Hessuages Burgages Lands Tenements or other hereditaments whatsoever tyaing and
being in Carlyell Penteth or elsewhere within the Countie of Cumberiand ........ ', This disproves the

later contention that Scales was the first land to be held by the Broughams outside Westmorland.

The Penrith register records the baptism of Elizabeth, daughter of Mr. Henrie Browhclme, 21 September
1589, and although there can be little doubt that Elfzabeth was the daughter of Henrie Browhan, son of
Peter, and Jane Wharton, there is no evidence to confirm this.

There is no register record of Jane Broughan's death, but in the parish register of §t. Laurence,
Morland, there is the record of Henry's second narriage, to Katherine, daughter of Thomas Fallowfield
of Welkinthorpe, on 21 October 1602. It is the oldest known register emtry relating to the present
family of Broughan. The cherch of St.Laurence, which is some nine hundred years old, has the
distinctions of possessing the only Saxon tower west of the Pemnines, and of being the oldest huilding
in Cumbria still being used daily for its original purpose, though the church hds been re-huilt several
times.

It is Henry's and Katherine's gramdson, Benry Brougham of Scales (1638 - 1698), who is at the centre of
a tangled web of most remarkable myths. The Burke pedigree of his family follows, and the Eirst point
to be made is that the second marriage of Henry, to Elizabeth Lamplugh, which is surprisingly repeated
in the Lamplugh pedigree {and also in 'The Flemings In Oxford", by J.R. Magrath), is a fabrication.
Burke does not name the first wife.

THE FALSE BURKE PEDIGREE OF BROUGHAM OF SCALES

Renry Brougham of Scales Hall
I
i 1 I |
Henty {ob) Thomas {ob) e Joanne
bn: 1681
dd: 1789

= (1670} 2. Elizabeth, dau.and ultimately sole heir of Jfohn Lamplugh Esg. of Lamplugh

. I
E I | [ | ! |
Thomas Bernard | John  Pefer = Elizabeth, daw. | Sameel = Dorothy, dau.
i of Christopher | of John Child
| Richmond H
I |
Elizabeth = # Forster Hary = Joha Brougham, her cousin



Insofar as the supposed second marriage of Henry Brougham (to Elizabeth Lamplugh) is concerned, we must
all be grateful to C.Roy Fudleston M.A., F.S.A. for setting the record straight. I have included,
gith hig pernission, & précis of his paper, which was read fo the Cumberland and Westmoriand Antiquarian
and Archaeological Society st Carlisle, 8 July 1960 (ART. XIV, Vol. XLI, New Series), as an appendiz.

gurke himself gave the game away by giving a date, 1670, for the second marriage fn his *Lives of the
Commoners®, the first volume of which was dedicated to Lord Chancellor Brougham {the date is not shown
in 'The Peerage and Baronetage'). This shows that Amne, a child of the first marriage, was said to have
been bora in 1683. This obvious faux pas has been ignored by successive gemealogists, though it has
been 2 puzzle to some. Mr. Hodleston refused to accept it, and patiently worked to pull away the
curtain of deceit and reveal the truth.  His paper proves quite conclugively that Henry Brougham of
tcales had only one wife, and that her name was Nary Slee.

If more proof were needed, two indentures found by PE¥ in the Brougham Papers at the library of
University College London, should have alerted any serious researcher:  both had been clamsily altered
in an effort to show that the mother of Bernard, John and Peter Broughsm was Elizabeth. Hr. Hudleston
was unaware of these, but he had copies of the original, unaltered, documents showing conclugively that
Mary {Slee) was the mother.

ferry Broughan and his only wife, the former Hary Stee, had nine sons and three daughters.  The eldest
son, Thomas, who succeeded to Scales on the death of his father, was sometime Sheriff for {umberland and
Hayor of Carlisie . The sixth son, John, an attorney and sometime Commissioner for the Excise,
established the family fortune and bought Brougham Hall in 1726,  Anne, who was supposed to have been
born in 1683 and died in 1789, was a widow (probably of Stephen Brosghsm, a drover) of Farlam, though
some doubt must be attached to her age; the relationship of her late husband to the Broughams of
Blackhall, Scales and Brooghaam Hall is not known; and the Elizabeth who is said to have married a
Forster was, in fact, Agnes.  There was no Elizabeth in Henry Broughanm's family!

If that were not emough, early editfons of Burke showed that Hary, HNemry Brougham's daughter, had
parried her cousin, John Brougham of Cockermouth, and other writers have accepted this.  She did not
parry John Brougham: she married her cousin Daniel, soa of her father's younger brother, John, sometime
High Constable of Kendal. Their fourth son, John {who was to become an attorney, of Cockermouth},
narried Frances Woodhall, whose mother had been Elizabeth Lamplugh: that is the only Lamplugh commexion.
On the death in 1791 of John and Frances Broughaa's only survivieg son, Peter, who had taken the surname
of Lamplugh and who had in 1786 purchased Scales from his cousin, Henry Brougham the Younger (ther in
severe financial difficulties), the estates of Scales and Doveaby passed to their grand-daughter, Mary
Dykes, whose mother had married Fretcheville Dykes in 1769. Mary Dykes married her cousin Josepi
Dykes Ballantyne, and thus Scales and Dovenby passed to the Dykes family.

The first Lord Broughas purchased Scales from her descendants in 1831, and thus brought back into family
ounership the only property that could genuinely be said to have belonged to the ancestors of the
present branch of the Broughams.  When the ith Lord Brougham squandered the estate in the years 1930-
1934, Scales was again sold out of the family (August 19313,

Chart 2 shows the correct pedigree down to the present {5th) Lord Brougham and his family.

o
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BROUGHAM AND FALLOWFIELD

The discovery in lLondon of the marrisge of Jane Browgham to Thomas Fallowfield at St. James's

Garlickhithe, 27.11.156%, must give rise to some speculation that Jane was the daughter of John Brougham
of Brougham {d.1552) and Elizabeth Seymour.

It agst also, given that Peter Broughan's name appears in John Brougham's will, give rise to the
possibility of:

Joka Browgham = = Elizabeth Seymour Peter Brougham = = Ja;e .........
I l
l I
I f
| ! !
0.1, Jane =1569= Thomas Fallowfield |
l E
[ |
Catherine 2.  =140i- fenry = =l. Jane ¥hartoen
| l
i |- Jane = Edwazd Aglionby
I |
i
Thomas =1638= Mary Fleming
b:1619 b
d: 1648 d:1654

There is, of course, no proof of this.



CHAPTER 2
THE RISE OF THE HQUSE OF BROUGHAM

THE BROUGEAHS OF BLACKHALL, BAMONT BRIDGE & RIRKBY XENDAL

Raving accounted for the last of the Broughans of Srongham (Thomas, 4.1608), Nicolson and Burn go on to
say:

“We have met with no authentic account of the pedigree of this family of Brougham.  There was a
pedigree of the Scales branch certified by Sir William Dugdale's visitation of Cumberland in 1663;
but it was respited for exhibiting the arms and proof. It consisted only of four generations, of
Peter, Fenry, Johu and Henry; aad amongst these, John, who is said to have married a Fleming, is
evidently wrong, for that gentleman's name was Thomas.'

Henry Brougham clearly did not know, or had forgottem, that his father's name was Thomas; he was,
nowever, only about 10 years old when his father died, and he lived in troublous times.  There is,
nowever no doubt that his gqrandfather had been the Renry Brougham whose som, Thomas parried Hary
Fleming. It is with this Henry and Katherine his wife that we begin our account of the Broughans.

RENRY BROUGRAM of Blackhall {or Blackwell Hall, otherwise Bleckell), was, as we have seen, the son of
Peter Brougham of Eamont Bridge, and who had married Catherine Fallowfield as his second wife in 1602.
What property the family had in Eamont Bridge is not known: Peter Brougham's will shows that, whatever
it was, it had beea held for sope time.  Blackhail had 3 chequered history, It was forfeited to the
Crown in the €16, and so it remained until James I & VI granted a lease for 0 years to John Eldred and
William Whitmore of London on 14 March 1510/11,  They, in turn, assigned the lease to Robert Dirom, &
saddier of St. Hartins-in-the-Flelds on 20 April 1612; and he in turn assigned the lease to Henry
Brougham, then of Drawdykes, gentleman, on 8 February 1613/14,

On the death of Randal Dacre in 1634, Francis Lemnard, Lord Dacre of the South, recovered the manor from
the Crown, but Katherine Brougham, Hemry's widow, retained the lease. The researches of Nr.C.R. Davey
shoved that Xatherine Brougham, married secondly Toby Eden, and thirdly Abraham Rawkins, and that she
retained the lease of Blackhall. In 1651 Nary Brougham of Eamont Bridge {Katherine's danghter-in-law,
then a widow), agreed to.pay Abrahan Fawkins certain annual sums of money if he survived his wife,
provided a lease granted to Katherine in 1847 was still in force.

By terms of the agreement, Rawkins wvas given contrel of the estate (Katherine must have been an elderly
woman by this time), subject only to limitatiors of subletting; and after Katherine’s death, he was to
have three months in which to find other accommodation.  The importance of this is not so much in the
information about Blackhall, but that it tells us that Mary Brougham - formerly Hary Fleming - outlived
her hushand. We have been unable to find the date of Katherine's death

Only a skeletal fragment of Henry Brougham's will, dated 10 February 1621 {i.e. 1621fI1}, remains, but
it shows hin to have been a man of some substance:

To 'Katherin my wife for and during her life natural all my demayne of Bleckell with all
houses barns buildings members and appurtenances comfonly called Bleckell mylne with all
milters day multers towles profits duties privileges ways easenents and appurtenances
thereunts ..... ] give unto Thomas ....ham my son and to the keirs of his body lawfully
- begotten for ever all ....... tands tenements and hereditaments which I have situate lying and
being within the counties of Cumberlend and Westmorland and thereafter in this my last will
and ‘testamest ...... all ny demayne and mill at Bleckell ....... all my lands and
appurtenances lying and being in the town territories and feylds of Carleton in the said
county of Cemberland ..... and.... that piece of land commonly called the the Ring's neadow
near the city of Carliell all that close called Fodge Close with the appurtemances ......
houses and burgages in the city of Carliell ....... and all my tenenent with the appurtenances
... &nd being at Eamont briggend in the county of Westmerland ..... pst and terms of years
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which I have and to the tithes of C ....... pton and the tithe barn ...... together with the
lease there ....interest and term of years which I have in and to ....Barmstaith and Wawbie in
the said county of Cumberland and all my right title inter ....... the said tithes vato Edward
Aglionbie George Agli ..... sons of Edward Agqlionbie of the city of Carliell...... all the ...
chattels moveable and unmoveable .... all my plate debts ... ueath to Thomas Browham my son
whon I make ....and sole executor of this my last will and testament ind [ do ..... and Joha
Lowthar esquires Thomas Fallowfeylde and Richard Fallowfeytd .... and John Dudley esquier
SUPRTVISOTS' .. .vvu.iiun

Adnon. to Catharine Browgha.. natural mother and curater of person and portion of Thomas Browgham
executor in the will named in his minority was granted 17 January 1622 {i.e.1622/11.

Thonas was born seventeen years after his father's marriage to Katherime FallowEield. He fs the
only child mentioned im his father's will, so we must assume that if there were others, he wag the
only survivor. We do not know the dates of gither his birth or his death, Bz shown above, we
know that Mary survived him by at least three years, and possibly by six; both would have been ia
their late twenties when Thomas is said to have died in 1848, There is evidence in some of the
parish registers that may indicate & recurrence of the plague, but of Thomas and Hary there is no
nention, not even in the diaries of Daniel Fleming. Thomas was only two or three years old when
hig Father died, and was admitted to St. John's College, Cambridge, 13 May 1637, aged 16, at which
time he was a ward of his uncle, John Fleming. On 28 Jamuary 1638, at Rirkland, he married Hary,
the youngest dasghter of Daniel Fleming, then of Skirwith, and ultimately of Rydal.

Thomas and Mary Brougham had six sons and a daughter:
Renry who continued to build on the foundations he inherited. See p.13 for his life and family.

Toblag (Teby), who was liviag in London, and wrote to his umcle, John Fleming from 'The
Woolsack' in Bucklershury, 10 October 1658 , but we have no further knowledge of hin. It was
not a good time to be liviag in Leadon.

¥i11{an of whom nothing further is known with certainty. The Barton parish register has the
following entries, which may or may not be relevant:

Aqnes, daughter of William Browham of Bridge baptised 20 November 1668) possibly sister and
#ill Browhan buried 1 March 1674/75. } brother

§ill Browham of Yanwath burfed 19 July 1685 ) Possibly husband and wife, and parents
Jane Browhan of Yanwath buried 17 January 1706/87}  of Jane and Will. The Broughams had
of the first Willian above. ) oroperty ia Yanwath.

In ‘Early Settlers of HMaryland, 1633-1680" (Gust Skordas) p.64, there is am entry:  BROWGHAH,
WILLIAM transported 1671 - where 'transported’ is defined as having the fare paid by someone else.
Who was he?  And who paid the fare?

Christopher whose birthdate is also unknown, died before 18 Octoher 1671, It is5 known that he
married: he left a widow, Margaret, and a son, Dudley, who may have been the only child of the
narriage, for he is the only one referred to by his qreat-aunt, Agnes Dudiey, in her will.
Hargaret may also have been a Dudley.

It is possible that Christopher was an apothecary (although we have been unable to find any
records that would substantiate this), for Toby wrote to their guardian, John Fleming, from
London, saying that if his uncle were thinking of appreaticing Christopher te aa apothecary,
then he should:

"keep hin at the latten school as long as you can, for if you please to put him to an
Apothycary it is an excelente good (30s will bind hinm to one} for if he be apothecary
se mest understand latine.' Latin, apparently, was considered by Toby to be more
important than spelling.
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Borke's "Landed Gemtry® 1853, p.1646, refers to a Christopher Brougham who, in 1327 married a
Dudley of Yanwath, and was the ancestor of Dudley and therefore of the first Lord
Brovghan.

There was a (hristopher Brougham in 1539 listed as a gentteman of the county; and as shown
on p.5, he may have been an ancestor of the Thomas Brougham who died in 1608 (though his
narriage to a Dudley would have to have been a second marrfage, for Thomas's grandfather, Johm
Brougham, was probably born not later than about 1520},  The IGI {Ancestral File, version 1.04
of May 1991} also gives a marriage of Christopher Brougham to Elizabeth Buéley, 1543, but the
source of this information is not given. We cannot verify that this Christopher was the
ancestor of the Thomas Brougham who married Mary Fleming,  On the evidence of existiag ipms,
it would seem most unlikely. For Christopher's descendants see chapter 1.

John {see Chart 3 for details of his family}, High Constable of Kendal 1678-1686, who sold a
nouse at Yanwath in 1671 (Cu/4/151) and possibly then acquired an estate ai Fairbank in Nether
Staveley near Windernere.  Searches at Kemdal RO have so far [ailed to reveal any substantial
information about his period of offfce. 1In 'Tales of OId Staveley' (E.W.J. NcConnel, 1342,
published privately}, however, he does get a mention:

‘Another man of weight in the district at that time was John Brougham, one of the
Broughans of Scales, who was Righ Constable. e lived at Fairbank, and had a cockpit
there, where he and his cousin Sir Beniel Fleming, magistrate and deputy-lieutenant {tell
it not to the SPCA} enjoyed a Form of sport which was then {1683} considereé highly
respectable and especially edifying to school children.

"It was Brougham's duty to seamon the local militia to their rendezvous on Staveley Banks,
when no doubt Stephen Jopson {the local innkeeper.,.PBW) had many customers.

"The unhappy Act of Oniformity had been passed by & Parliament tired of Cromwellian
severities, and hongry for unity in Church and State. It was Brougham's unpleasant task
to seek out those who were punishable under the Act. Thus in 1678 he lodged at Jopson's
ing for the night five men and horses engaged in 'searching for popish recusants”.

Association Oath.Roil for Kendal (Midsummer 1636) begins:

‘Whereas there has been A horrid and detestable Conspiracy formed and Carryed om by
Papists and other tratorous persons for Assassimating his Majesties Royall persom, in
order to incerrage an Invitation from France to subvert our Religion, Lawes and Liberty,
Yee whose names are heresnder subscribed Doo heartily sincerely and sotemnly profes
together and declare that his present Hajesty King William is Rightful and lawful Ring of
these Realms ...... '

Among the 71 sebscribers are the names of John Brougham, panie! Fleming (father and sen) and
Wiltiam Fleming.

the record of Jokn Broughan's birthdate does not appear to have survived.
fe married twice: first to Marqaret, daughter of Thomas Allisom, who was buried at Staveley 28
pril 1715; and secondly, 3 May 1716 at Crook, to Mrs. Susannzh du {aster. She was

presumshiy a widow, for the burial register of 014 Staveley, 7 Febraary 1726, ascribes her death
to being "of oid age."

By his first wife John Brougham had three known children:

hgnes, who married George Mounsey of Patterdale 26 July 1705, and was buried at Patterdate
'as of Patterdale Hall' 21 November 1754,

Hary, who married Richard Benson of Underbarrow {Marriage Obiigation 31 October 1715) on |
¥ovember 1715
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Daniel, bora 1679,  Daniel Fleming recorded that on 4 July he had 'gives to my god-son at
scales - £00 05 00, and on 23 hugust further recorded: ° Given when [ was God-father unto
ay cosin Jno. Browhan's son and heir, to ay godson a 20s piece of gold and to the gracewife
§s.  (He was called Daniel, and my cosin Henry Syowhan and my cosin Philipson’s wife of
Crook were my partners, but she having got & fall was represented hy Hajor Northcote's

vife}.

John Brougham sold the Fairbank estate to his nephew, Commissioner Broughae, who then settled it
upon his sister Hary {who had married the Bigh Constable's son, Daniel - her first gousing.
lie died, presumably at the home of his daughter, Agnes, for he was buried in Patterdale

churchyard § May 1730,

Thomas, who was baptised at 5t. Andrew's, Penrith, 16 January 1643, and is the lonly son of
Thomas and Mary for whom we have a birthdate. There is a further entry In the Skelton

register: "

§i11fan, son of Thomas Brougham baptised 21 November 1863,

We must therefore assume that Thomas married, and was living in 1663,  On 31 October 1716 8
Thonas Brougham witnessed a marriage at Greystoke: this could not have been Thomas of Scales,

who was already dead.

hqnes married Anthony Wybergh of Clifton Hall, Westmorland. Her grand-daeghter, Matilda

Yybergh, married Peter Erougham of Cockermouth (see Chart 4)

Thomas Brougham died intestate, and only 8 fragile fragnent of an inventory remains.
0o 14 NHoveaber 1654, Richard Fallowfield wrote to his cousin, John Fleming at Rutton John:
'Honored Cosin,

I was gladd to heare of your healthe and well being by your.sweate nephew Mr. Daniell, yow ar
and will be a father znd mother te those poor childrea my cosin Browghams whose conditions I
pittie and commiserate with my whole hart and I should more pittie and commiserate with the
orphans mow ....... of hoth thelr parents if they were not under the wings of your love cate
and protection .........

It would seem From this that Mary Brougham had but receatly died.

ARREARAERERARRRER IR

THE BROUGRAHS OF SCALES & HIGH HEAD

HENRY BROUGHAK of Scales Hall, Skelton, Cumberland, gave his age as 27 at Sir William Dugdale's
visitation, 25 March 1665,  We do not keow his exact birthdate, as the Skelton parish register
for that period is missing; but 1638 appears to be a reliable estimate as he was admitted to The
Queen's College, Oxford at the age of 18 in 1656. Foster {Al.0zon.} does not record that he took
3 degree.

Of his life we know very little, except that he buflt, or perhaps extended the [armhouse at
Scales, now known as Scales Rall. fle was obviously industrious ard successful as a farmer and
pusinessman, for two of his soms went up to Ozford, another became an attorney and Commissioner of
Excise, and yet another married a Richmond heiress,

Letters that survive, thamks to Sir Daniel Fleming, show him to have beer a diligent scholar at
Oxford,
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and cognizant of the fact that it was his guardian who was footing the bill. Ris college
accounts, kept by his tuter and submitfed to Joha Fleming, make interestiag reading:

"An Accompt of Mr. Henry Broughan's expences y° Qt® eading at Lady-day, 1658
L. &, d.

Cobler

Lent hin

Hercer for a gowne kc. 5
Taylor

Landrasse

Cobler

letters

Lent hin

Letters

Cobler

Bednaker

Battles 5
Barher

Booksel ler

Chamber

Tuition 1
Sarvitor

—
— LY md SO AT e

a—

—a

L D Cry OXD ke LT U2 Ing Ded o)
c@@wcmcwﬁomqumcc:m

In all, 15 11t

This gives a fair basis for comparison with the value of to-day's noney, when the cost of
maintaining an Oxbridge wndergradoate privately would be of the order of the order of
£2,000 per term or more. It is also extremely interesting to note that the charge for
tuition was somewhat less than ome-fifth of that for 'Battles' - i.e, food and lodging.

On 25 November 1660 Heary Brougham married Mary, daughter of William Slee of (arlisle. Slee is usually
described as 'a merchant®, but Hr. Huodleston has found a different description of him, given by a
defendant in a court case brought by Henry and Mary Broagham:

LU he had a house in Fisher Street Carlisle, and some small parcels of land of no great
value: and, with his wife, kept a grocer's shop trading in groceries, spices and other small
merchandises.

"We was never accounted rich, for he was brought uvp a singing man in the Cathedral Church at
Carlisle and did constantly attesd that service, when he had his lucid intervals, for....he
was often very melancholick even unto lunacy.’

Whatever William Slee's estate may have been, his daughter Mary - the Fair Hiss Slee of Edmund Sandford
- caught Renty Brougham's eye, and was his wife for the remaining 37 years of his life, We have not
found the dates of his death or burial, but his will, dated 16 December 1697, was proved at Carlisle by
his eldest serviving son, Thomas, 1l June 1698.  Mary was buried at Skelton 2 Jamvary 1718,  They had
had nine sons and three daughiers:

Thomag, baptised at St. Andrew's, Perrith 28 May 1663, He was Receiver of the Aids and other Taxes
in Cumberland and Westmorland from 22 February 1697; and was admitted to the Tanners' Guild of
Carlisie 1709, in which year he was also meyer of that city. Be was a major in the Carlisle
militia, responsible for quartering ome of the Trainbands during the Scottish uprising.  The
Lieutenancy Hinute Book of 1713 records:

16th November: that Ehe County of Cumberland pay to the Sebalterns of Major Broughan's
Company,  Hr. Senhouse's Company and Hr. Blencow's Company gach £25, and Mr. lamplugh's
Company, £20, in all, £95. And Westmorland pays to their thres respective Company's
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{sic) £20 to each, im all ... £194 {sic).

"That Cumberland pay Wr Fletcher Lieutenant to Wajor Brougham, 61i for seizing Papists
their Borses and Armes.

'19th November: ...whereas the company in the said Militia Conmanded by Major Broughan
nath been kept under duty eight Bays aver and beside the 28 Days which they are prdared ko
be paid for, we do hereby Order that the three days pay of the 28 Ordered to be paid
Hr. Blencow's Company be paid to Major Broughan for the use of his Company. hnd also
that two days pay be likewise pald ta Hajor Broughan out of the 28 days pay Order’d
Captain Lamplugh's Company for and Towards the said Eight Days Extraordinary Service Dong
by the said Hr. Brougham's Company aforesaid ....... !

) further entcy occurred some time-after his death, for on 25 May 1721 the Deputy Lieutenants sent
an order to ..... 'John Fletcher, gent., Lieutenant of the Company of Trainbands late commanded by
Major Broughan deceased.’

In the papers of Sir Daniel Fleming there is one (of many!) which CRH tramscribed. It ig dated 30
January 1705 and is a record of @ Chancery suit in which Thomas appears as a plaintiff:

*about 15 or 16 years ago when your orator was a young man and scarce of the age of 21
years, he unfortunately became acquainted with one Hary Norman, then a widow and relict of

Fdward Norman..... who by her insinuations drew your orator into some extravagant ezpenses
and got from him several sums of money, and after finding that your orator began to be
sensible ... ... {and) did not frequent her as often as formerly, she pretended your orator
owed her so@e RONEY...... {and) she having intermarried with one John fow until lately
unkaown to your orator...... qot from your orator large sams of money though in no way due
to them....'

Mary Norman's father-ip-law, Peter Norman, had parried William Slee's widow, Jane. Alas, we o not
krow the outcome of this intriguing 'affair’.

Thomas Brougham did not marty - or if he ¢id, there is no record of it, and he left no chitdren.
He was buried at Skelton 20 Jume 1716, and his will was proved at Carlisle on 4 Auqust 1716 by his
brother John who, under the terms of their father's will, succeeded to the estate rather than his
alder brother, Bernard.

Benry, who was baptised at Skelton in March 1664 {the date is missing from the register) was
admitted to Tha Queen's College, Ozford 8 July, 1681 as a *poor serving child®, and proceeded BA
1685: A 1689: Fellow 17 July 1698. He was ordained before 1691, when he was chaplain to the
Bishop of Limcoln.  He was Prebendary of Asqardby in Lincoln Cathedral and Pro-Proctor of The
Queen's College, where he was tutor to his Flening cousing George, Roger and James.

On 26 February 1695796 Heary Brougham wrote to §ir Daniel Fleming from Hiddleton Stoney, near
Bicester, where he had qome ....... ‘for the benefit of the air, having been in a very bad state of
health this half-year'.  Just over a month later (29 March 1696} George Flenming {later 8ir George
Fleming, 2nd Bt., Bishop of Carlisle) wrote to his father: '8ir, cosin Browham died yesterday
about 10 in the morning ...'  He was buried in the old college chapel which was pulled down mdny
years ago, and no memorial to hin remains.

Willian of whom mothing is knowa: he is not mentioned in his father's will, and must be presumed to
have died in infancy - perhaps the Will. Srowham buried | Harch 1674,

Bernard is shown in the Bishop's Transcripts - and in the I1Gi - as the son of Christopher, which, of
course, he was not.

ke was baptised at Skelton 23 June 1670, and like his older brother, Henry, entered The Queen's
Cotlege, Orford {1686): BA 1690: HA 1695.  He was not elected 2 Fellow of the College, and it has
heen sugqested that this may have been because he married before he was ordained. Ia 1693 Roger
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Fleming wrote to his father {Daniel) that: ‘my cosin, Bar: aroughas hath got a very good place in
the south and i gone with 'is wife to it.” The Viving was in the gift of The Queen's College. An
indenture dated 31 July 1718 gives his wife's name 3s Elizabeth, but beyond that we know only that
she was buried, as Kad™ Brougham, in the chancel of Holy Rood church, Southamptom, on 19 August
1730,

Bernard Brougham was ordzined deacon {London, 1692) and priest {Oxford 1693); and was successively
vicar of Boldre, Hants., 1695; vicar of Holy Rood, Southampton, 1702/1750; and rector of Hillbrook,
Bants, 1721 - these two latter livings he held in plorality. He died 5.p. 3nd was buried in the
chancel of Holy Rood on 28 September, 1750, HRis will is dated 2 March 1744, amd was proved 8
sovember 1750 by his nephew, Rev. Thomas Brougham, vicar of Xingsey, Bucks (see Chart 3}.

Katthizg was baptised at Skelton 22 March 1675, and was apprenticed to Francis Jonson, 3 mercer of
Newcastle upon Tyne on 1 April, 1692. e died before his father, as shown by the latter's will
(.."after the deaths of my sons Henry and Hatthias, both tately deceased...®), presumably unmarried.

John, baptised at Skelton on or about 5 February 1677,  The register is missing, but Sir Paniel
Fleming recorded that he gave "2s bp at ny cosin John Brohan's baptism® on that date.  He was
admitted to Staple Inn 16 July, 1691; to Gray's imn 26 January 1695; and was called to the Bar 8|
June 1703.  The previous year he had been appointed Secretary to the Commissioners of Excise, and
on 20 Wovember 1715 was himself appointed @ Commissioner for England 8t 2 salary of £800 p.a. -
fater raised to £1000 p.a. Hence the appellation, "Copmissioner” Broughas.

John Broughan was quite obviously a man of considerable energy. He alse possessed considerable
bosiness acumen, and it was this combinmation that lifted the Broaghan fortunes to new heights. On
} March 1716 he took his ieave of the Board in order to make & survey in the country 'at the desire
of the Conmissioners’. e returned on 26 hpril having surveyed the counties of Hertford,
Cambridge, Lincoln, York, Derby, oxford and §urrey: his expenses of £182,2.10 were later passed by
the Board.

fwo years later he undertook another survey, gtarting on 7 Warch 1718 and returaing 2 May having
surveyed the counties of Surrey, Wilts., Hants., Dorset, and Devon, for which he claimed and was
qranted expenses of L18%.5.8%.

Be held this post until 20 May 1724, when, presumably, he resigned to return to his business
affairg, although some authorities say that he undertook a lemgthy tour of Europe, and spent mach
time in italy. Fe was, according to Hr. fudleston, the most outstanding and successful mamber of
the Broughan family in the 1Bth century. it might also be said that his great-great nephew, Heniy
Peter Brougham, 100 years later, sees to have been the only other member of the family able to
generate the income necessary for the maintenance of the Brougham estate,

In 1726 John Brougham paid the heirs of the Bird family £5000 for the Brougham kall estate, an
enorzous sum of money in those days, especially for ome who was neither an aristocrat nor a great
Whig land-owner. e did not marry, and his will provided for the devolution of his very
considerable property upon his nephews, Henry Richrond and John, sons of the Commissioner’s older
brother, Peter and his wife, the former Elizabeth Richmond of Righhead Castle; but in defanlt of
male heirs, the estate was entailed successively upon his other nephews, sons of his younger
brother, Samuel,  This proved to be @ very wise provision some eight years later following the
death of Henry Richmond Broughan.

" John Broughan died in Wovember 1741, and was buried at St. Andrew's, Holborn, as of Gray's Ina on 3
December of that year,

Peter, baptised at Skelton 16 May 1677 {mentioned in his father's will as the fourth son),. He was
apprenticed to Edward Parkinson of Newcastle upon Tyne 10 hpril 1695; elected a Freeman of Hewcastle
1708; admitted to the Tammers' cuild of Carlisle 1703; a Freeman of Appleby & March 1717; and
sheriff of Comberiand 14 December 1722. On 15 March 1705 he was appointed Collector of Exeise for
the County of Notthusberland, and the Minute Book records that 'Thomas Brougham and two others
accepted sureties ........- in the penalty of four thousand pounds®. On 6 June 1707 he was
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appointed Collector of Cumberland: on § May 1724 Collector of Durham; and on 2 June 1730 Collector
of Cumberland, His death was reported to the Board on 21 hugust 1732, Gne further entry on
{ February 1734/35 notes that he was oved 185 1p. As there were no reports of a lengthy lilness
(during which tise there would have been a deputy), we must assune that he died unexpectedly.

pater Broughan married Elizabeth, the second of eight daughters of Christopher Richmond of Righhead
Castle, who was baptised at Newtom Reigny 25 August, 1680 and baried at Skeiton § December 1729.
He died intestate, and was buried at Skelton as of Scales on § hequst 1732. It was a narriage that
lifted the status of the Brougham famity, and - had net the quirks of life determined otherwise,
must have increased its fortunes to an evem greater extent. There were two sons and a daughter of
this marriage: '

Henry Richmond was baptised at Ivegill 11 June 1719, We was admitted to Grays Inn in 17370 fo
the Tanners® Guild of Carlisle 1940; and was sheriff of the County of Cumberlahd 1748/49.

On the death of nis grandmother, Isabella Hiller {formerly Richnond} he stood to succeed to the
Richnond estates on attaining the age of 21 years, although his mother had been Isabella's
second daughter, and her elder sister {Isabel Gledhill) had a sen. Jackson (Papers and
Pedigrees) erroneously records that lsabella, assisted by Commissioner Broughas, rebuiit
Highhead Castle 'on a scale of magnificence, regarding the expenditure on which, the foreigm
artificers employed, much traditional gossip may now he heard in the neighbourhood ........ '
Bath Isabella and the Commissioner were dead before work was bequn in 1744,

In 1741, following the death of Commissiener Brougham, Hemty Richmond succeeded to the Brougham
estates, but he also died uomarried, and was buried at Skelton 23 April 1749. He obviocusly
nad no love for his paternal relatives, for nis will, which was proved at York on 15 Hay 1749,
pade no mention of them, and Ris estate, ninus the entailed Bremghan estates, weat to two
relatives of Isabella Richmond's daughters, Margaret and Isabella.  These vere his attorney,
Robert Baynes of Cockermouth, and his cousin, merchant John Gale of Whitehaves. His Brougham
inheritance passed to John, the elder of his uncle Samuel's sous, and on John's dath in 1756, to
the younger brother, Renry, by the entail provided by Commissioner Brougham's will. Hr.
Rudleston hag also made the point that Henry Richmond Brougham's relatives had no love for
hin, as shown by various letters in the Dykes-Ballantyne papers {Carlisle R.O.}.

John baptised at Dalston in 1724, matriculated at The Queen's College, Oxford at the age of
16, 17 December 1739; Foster does not tecord that he took @ degree. fle entered Gray's Imn
{5 ¥ovember 1742, but did not become a Bencher. e was buried at Skeltoa in October 1746,
ungarried,

Mary, whose date of birth is unknown, and who died before 1737, apparently upmarried, is also
buried at Skeltonm.

On the south side of the chancel in Skelton chucch there is a mural monument of white nmarble,
with these arms: a chevron between three lucies hauriant: and bearing the iascription:

'To the Memory of HENRY RICRMOND BROUGHAH, Baq. who died 23rd April 1749, and lies
near this place, where his father PETER BROUGHAM Esq, his mother ELIZABETH, his
brother JORN, and his sister HARY are likewise interzed.

Presented by John Gale Esq.
George, baptised at Skelton 14 August 1680, but of whon there is mo further record.

Samugl, the youngest of Henry Brougham’s sons, was the one whe cartied the Brougham line forward
through the only two of hic sons known to have survived infancy: John and Henry. Details of their
lives are given in Chapters 3 and 4.

Agnes, baptised at St. Mary's, Carlisle, 16 September 1661, married John Forster of Stonegarthside
at Syeiton in 1693,  She was living 1716, and died before 1741, as she was menfioned in the will
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Commissioner Brougham, as 'his late sister Forster'. C(RR suggests that she was buried at Stapleton
10 Janvary 1739 {'The Forsters of Stonegarthside'). Her son, Henry forster, was the 5th in the
entail of the Commissioner’s will.

Jane, living 1685, was not mentioned in her father's will, and it fs sssumed that she died young.
Haty, whose birthdate is unknown, married her cousin Daniel {see Charts ! & 3} from whose father
Comnissioner Brougham had purchased an estate at Fairbank, Nether Staveley and settled it wpon het.
She was buried at 5t. Andres's, Fenrith, 17 November 1754,

It was John, the elder of Mary's two sons, who married Frances Woodhall, daughter of Jokn Woecdhall
and Elizabeth {nee Lamplugh): see chart 3 for details.

HENRY BROUGHAM OF KENDAL

genry = 03.02.1707 = Alice, dau. of John Blamire of Boltom in Yestmorland.

bn: ca 1670 bn:
dd: I8 dd: 17.12.1741
|
| i
John Jane
bt: 25.10.1707 bn:
dd: 27.04.1765 dé: 17.12 1741
. i
l |
Hary Elizabeth = 07.01.1741 = Willian Hillcoate
bty 2310174 bty 28.01.1713
dd: 09.11.1784 dd:
The Henry who heads this chart was an Excise Officer, of Finkle Street, Kendal. The Bishop's

Transcripts of the Skelton pdrish register for 1672 (the register itself is nissing) shows:
4ENRY son of Henry Browham (baptised) 25 October

flenry Broughan of Scales already had a som Henry, destined to bacome Rev. Reary Brougham, tutor to his
Fleming cousins at Oxford University, and it is therefore most unlikely that another som would Dbe given
the same name - though it is known that that did happen in some circumstances. The chvions, bet not
provable, conclusion is that there is an error in the tramscript, as in the case of Bernard (who is
shown as the son of Christopher); and that the entry should be either

HERRY, son of Thomas Browhan
or
BENRY, son of Wiliian Broughan

Both Thomas and William were younger brothers of Hedry Brgugham of Scales.  We have no recerd of
pither having married, but as shown on pp.10 and 12 there were children of Thomas and William Broughan,
and Thomas and William were almost certainly the brothers of Wesry of Scales.

It is therefore not inconceivable that Henty was a son of either Thomas or Witliam.,  William left no
will, but that of Thomss (dated 11 March 1717/18) refers to ... ‘my loving friends, Peter Brougham of
Scales in the County of Comberland and Thomas Wybergh of Yanwith aforesaid desiring them to see this my
i1} performed as [ar as they sre able..... .

if Henry of Kendal were the som of Henry Broughan of Scales, them Peter Brougham would have been his
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brother, not his 'loving friend’. 1 he were the son of either Thomas of yilliam, then Peter would
have been his Eirst comsin.

Re could not have been the son of John the Elder, for as Sir baniel Fleming has shown, John's first-born
son and heir was Daniel, baptised 4 July of that year.

The other alternative is that he was {llegitinate; but if so, why wes he calted' Hemry', when, as we
nave seen, Henry of Scales already had a legitimate son, Renry?

{n the balance of probabilities, we Ehipk that he was a son of one of Henry's brothers.

The fact that Hemry was an Excise Officer, 'certified by diverse gentlemen of the County to be well
affected to Her Hajesty's Gov' and to the Commissioners of the Church of England, by #r. Thomas
Redshaw, Supervisor,.... have leave to be instructed by Mr. Gargett, Officer at Penreth’ by the Order of
the Beard at Hr. John Broughan's request’ {Hinutes, 8 January 1705/06) is a further tndication of close
retationship with the Scales family.  John Brougham was, a8 we have seen, not only the sixth son of
Henty Brougham of Scales, but was alse an attorney and (in 1708}, Secretary to the Board of Excise
Commissioners: he was to become @ Commissioner 24 November 1715. Through his patronage, geveral
pembers of the Broughan family were sponsored into the Excise Service, as we shall later see.

On 10 Hay 1705, Henry Brougham was posted to Durham as supernumary. Between May 1705 and 26 July 1101
he was promoted to be Offlcer at Wolsingham, Co. Durham, for on the latter date he was exchanged with
the Officer at Barnard Castle - and so began & long association petween the Broughams and that town.
or 19 March 1707/08 he was transferred to Bishop Auckland Out-Ride, and had a further move to Darlington
hefore being posted to Kendal on 1 December 1709.  His death was recorded in the ¥inutes on 28 April
1718, as of Kendal, 24 April 178,

fis sor, John Broughan, appears not to have parried, and was described fn his obitvary as 'a
considerable dealer in china on the Sandhill' {Yewcastle 'Courant’, 4 Hay 1765).  In 1757 he sold 17
acres of land in Bolton, 'which were his father's, who had thes Erom his father-in-iaw, John Blamire of
gplton’ (Hill H8).

Elizabeth's age is given as 22 on the marriage bond, but her baptismal date makes her at least 18.

William Rillcoate is described as a ryhitesmith', aged 13, of the parish of §t. Nicholas, Newcastle wpon
Tyne.
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CHAPTER 3
THE DARK AGES

BAMORL BROUGHAM & HIS FAMILY

GAMURL BROUCHAK  was baptised at Skeltom 25 July,1681, and is mentioned in his father's will as the
youngest son. He marzied at Penrith 9 October 1705, Dorothy, davghter of the Rev. John Child, vicar of
Penrith, and his wife, Dorothy, both of whom were dead.  0f his life we know nothing: he does not
appear anmong the Alumni of either Oxford or Cambridge, and seens to have moved to London soon after his
marriage. The parish registers of Rolborn give Warwick Court, Brooke 5t., Red Lyor St., and Grays Inn
Lane ag addresses. Re died, as of Red Lyon St., and was buried in a vault in St. Andrew's, Rolborn, 1
Harch 1744.  His wife, Dorothy, who was baptised at St. Andrew's Pemrith, 19 March 1684 and was an
orphan at the time of her marriage to Sanuel, was also buried ia the vanlt in St. Andrew's Rolborn, 29
Hareh 1737, They had seven children:

John was the eldest of Samuel Broughan's sons, and as in the case of his father, virtvally nothing
is known of him other than that he did nmot enjoy good health. We do ot know where or when he was
born or married; we have discovered neither his wife's maiden name, mor the dates and place{s) of
birth of his two daughters. Not even the precise dates of his death or burial are known - although
an entry in the Gentleman's Magazine suggests that he may have died 1 February 1756.

John Broughan died intestate, and on §th June 1736 his widow, describing herself as 'Elizabeth
Broughan of Brougham Rall® applied for, and was granted, Letters of Administration over her late
husband'e estate on a bond of *ome thousand pounds of good and lawful momey of Great Britain.' An
fnventory of John's goods and chattels shows that he left £400,3s. 108 There were two daughlers:

Ann, born circa 1745, died uamarried 7 February 1810 at the age of 65. She was buried at
Skelton as of Pearith.

Dorothy, born circa 1746, and died unmarried B March 1829 aged 83.  She was buried at Skeltom
as of Penrith

Elizabeth appears also to have died intestate. During her lifetime she received an income from her
brother-in-law, Heary.Brougham the Elder, and her nephew, Hensy Brougham the Younger - bond dated
Mth Jure 1769, as did her two daughters. They also had interest-bearing bonds with the
Corporation of Newcastie-upon-Tyne.  She was buried at Skeiton, as from Penrith, 12 January 1799,

aged 76.

Of their two daughters, only Dorothy seems to have left a will, dated 30 January 1815, and proved at
Carlisie 30 April 1829 by James Brougham MP, her first consin once removed.  Having made numerous
bequests, her will requests that....' I would have eight Ladies for my Bearers to have Hoods and
Gloves, Hrs. Graves to have the same and the following gentlemen to have Hatbands and Gloves, The
Revd. Mr. Fletcher, Mr. Lamley, Hr. Percival, Hr. Grave and the Parson and Clerk of Skelton.'

John Broagham was succeeded in the Brougham estates by pbis younger brother, Henry Broughan the
Elder.

Dorothy, - baptised at 5t. Andrew's, Holborn o 25 Jnne‘IIGg, and buried there 1 May 1710,
Henry, baptised at 5t. Andrew's, Helborn 17 Rugust 1710 and buried there 31 Harch 1711

Dorothy, baptised at Holborn St. Andrew’s on 24 September 1713. It is koown {from the will of
Commissioner Brongham) that she was living in 1741, for he bequeathed her £1000 in his will.  The
Rarleian Society records that on I Harch 1742 Mrs. Dorothy roughan married Thomas Taylor of (the
parish of) 5t. James, st St. George's Chapel, Hyde Park Cormer. Assuming that 'Mrs.' was, as it
commonly was, an abbreviation for Mistress, then it is possible that Mrs. Dorothy Brougham was
Samuel's dzughter.
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Mary, whose dates of birth and death have not yet been found, married C(harles {lukterbuck, 2
Searcher in H.H. Customs and fxcise before 27 August 1ML fe was buried at St. HMary's,
Southampton in November 1783 at the age of 71.

Benry, who was baptised at St. Andrew's, Holborn 4 May 1718, Ho further details.
Henry, known as Henry the Elder, was baptised at S§t. hndrews 19 October 1719, and succeaded his

elder brother (John) in the fanily estates.. His life, as far as we know it, and his family, are
described in the next chapter.

HHHHHHHA!iiliiii“tiiﬂ“i!

The Cataloque of Hiniatures, The propesty of J. Pierpont Morgan {G.C. Williamsonm, Londen - Limited
Private Edition, 1906) describes a piniature portrait thus:

fearly full-face, turned slightly to the right - costune blue, sdged with
face - throat and breast bhare - round the neck is a band of white lace,
through which is a band of blue ribbon tied in a double bow at the back - hair
brows, brushed smoothly away from the face, and suimounted by Four fillets of
pearls and @ blue ribbon - earrings, rosettes of pearls. Signed:
5.0, 1160 Background slate coloured, oval 1 *xi}*. Diamond Erame, engraved
"tady Brougham'.'

There was no Lady Brougham at that time - another 71 years had to pass Defore
samuel Browghan's great-grandson, Henry Peter Brougham, was raised to the peerage.
IF our surmise is correct, im 1760 Dorothy Broughaa was MIs. orothy Taylor, and

gister Mary was Mrs. Clutterbuck (if she were still living), therefore the

portrait is unlikely to be either of these iadies.

The minfature may be of Hary {Freeman),  wife of Heary Brosghan the Elder, though
the black and white copy in the yictoria and Albert Husesm shows @ lady who

appears to be younger than the 45 years of age that HMary would have been. The
prebability is that it was either Mary or Ann, Hepry and Mary's two older
daughters. -

g C.' was OSamuel Cotes, who is less well-known than his elder brother, Francis
Cotes R.A., one of the four artists who petitioned George III to fors the Reyal
Academy. samuel was educated for the medical profession, but was stinelated by
nig brother's success and quitted the profession to take up painting. It is said
that Hogarth  greatly admired his work and preferred it to Gainsborough. He was

pupil of Enapton, and turned to miniatere painting, 2 genIe in which he was

eminently successful, and his portraits are characterised by esguisite delicacy
and neatness of execution. e married a Miss Shepherd who was herself a  very
talented artist, and who died in 1814, Cotes acgeited a considerable fortune by
hig art, and died at his home in Chelsea in 1818 at the age of 84,
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CHAPTER 4

UENRY BROUGHAM THE ELDER & HENRY BROUGEAN THE YOUNGER

o 1ittle is knows about the younger son and elder grandson of Samuel that it is easier to combine
their tives in one short chapter.

RENRY, the younger of Samuel Brougham's two surviving soms, was baptised at St. Andrew's, lolborn, Co.
uigdlesex (London had mot yet stretched its tentacles that far} 19 December 1713, FRe was of the Six
Clerks' Office as early as 1742, and as late as 1766.  He became the Duke of Forfolk's selicitor and
agent in Comberland. A deed of 1769 describes him as of Castle Yard, Holborn, ard his will shows
that he wished to be buried in St. Andrey’s,

.. "as near to my father and mother as possible...if at this place (i.e. Brougham.. PBW] I
desire to be buried at Brougham Church, which I think the properest burial place for a fanily
that had its criginal in this parish who aftervards seated at Scales antil part of its antient

possessions was restored and brought back again into the family by my late honoured uncle John
Broughan.*

He married 2 Avgust 1741 Hary, daughter of Rev. William Freeman DD, at St. Bemet's, Paul's Wharf
Loaden, by whoa he had:

Henry, known @s Henry Brougham the Younger to distinguish him from his father {also known as
Henrythe Elder).  For his life - as fer as it is known - and his family, follows on pages 13 et
5eq.

Samuel, baptised 19 August 1743 at St. Andrew's, Holborm. Mo further details.

John, baptised 2 July 1748 at St. Andrew's Holborn, educated at Eton and admitted to King's College,
Cambridge 7 July 1767, BR 1771; MA 1775; Fellow 1770-1778. Ordained deacon {(Ely) 24 February 1771;
priest 7 March 1713,

lie became Rector of Ballyhaise and Bailleborcugh Ireland, where he married Sarah, dasghter of James
Scanlon [or Scantinpeof Ballyhaise, 17 October 1785. He died 22 Hay 1611.

For his family and descendants see Chapter 12 end Chart 6.

Hazy, baptised 19 September 1744 at St. Andrew's Holborn, married 31 July 1767 Richard Heur, and
died aged 67, 8 December 1812.  Their second son, Hemry, was created 2 baronet in 1832.

Ann, baptised 22 February 1747 at St.Andrew's Holbora, was married (by licence) at Broughanm 31
hugust 1772 to Thomas Aylmer of the Hiddle Temple.

Charles baptised 27 April 1750 at St. Andreu's Holborn. Mo further datails.

Rebecca, baptised 19 September 1752 at St. Andrew's Rolborm, married (by ticence) at St. Msry's,
Carlisle 12 April 1787, Richard lowndes of Lincoln's Inn and Rose Hill, Dorking, Surrey.  She
ipherited, inter alia, her father's Rucker harpsichord and music (lucky girllt). (RH also notes
that Richard Lowndes was baptised at Pearith 4 August 1756, &nd there is an article about his
parents in CW2 LVIIE 150/151 and 180.

Nenry Brougham is described in documents we have examined 'as of Castle Yard, Rolborn, in the County of
Hiddlesex', though he may have lived for a time at Brougham Hall.  In 1756 he leased Scales to one John
Peers or Pearce for  period of seven years, and Mr. Peers inscribed the front door with his name -
'Jonah Peers' - alongside HB and what appears to be WB.  Or perhaps those scratchings were the work of
naughty saall boys.

In 1986 an American family, descendants of Joha Peers, visited Scales, but the then owner was unable fo
give them any information about the Broughams, ard did not get their address - a great pity.
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Renry the Elder died at Broughan 21 Decenber 1782, and was buried in the chancel of Ninekirks on 16th of
that month, as he had wished. The burial was not, however, without {ncident, if the lst Lord Broughan
is to be helieved:

tNeither of his sons (Henry and John) were then in Westmorland, and Charles, Duke of Norfolk,
who vas an intimate friend of the fanily attended as chief mourner. At the foneral feast,
which preceded the funeral, His Grace addressed the guests: 'Friends and neighbours, before !
give you the toast of the day, the memory of the deceased, 1 ask you to drink to the health of
the family physician, Dr. Harrisen, the founder of the feast.

“Thare were more toasts, aand the funeral procession set out for Winekirks, a distance of three
piles. At the church, the hearse and procession was met by the vicar - but the coffin had
disappeared!  On searching back it was found in the river at a place where, driven by @
drunken coachman, the hearse had lurched against 3 rock. the outer oak coffin had broken to
pieces, the lead had repained intact, too heavy to be carried away by the stream.

e shock and the scandal produced by alt this had a sobering effect on gveryhody, and put an
end to such disgraceful orgies in the county.*

{Frop "The Life aad Times of Henry, Lord Brougham', by himself).

Henry Broughae was succeeded by his eldest son, Henry Brougham the Younger. Bis widow died at
Broughan 25 Nay 1807, aged 92.

AENRY BROUGHAM FHE YOUNGER, born 18 Juse 1742, was educated at Eton and admitted to Gray's Imn 26
Jangary 1765, and to The Tanners' Cuild of Carliste in 1767. There is no record of hin attending
either Canbridge or Oxford Unjversikies.

We quote from hord (amgbell ('bives of the {hancellors'}:

*As he grew up he displayed moch eleverness, hut still more eccentricity (he does not, alas,
glucidate wpon the latter). Coming while still quite & young man, by his father's death,
inte the small patrimgny of Brougham Hall, he did not embrace any profession nor devote
hirgalf te farming or rural sports, but spent his time in reading and roaming gbout the
gounkry. In the sumner of 1777 he set cut upom a tour in Scotland, meaning to pass only @
few weeks there but there he spent the whole remainder of his days, and there he died without
ever having recrossed the border.' (This last statement is not true)

Lotd Camphell repeats the tale that Henry Broughanm was betrothed to & young lady {said by others to have
been Mary Whelpdale ... PBH ) who died on the eve of their wedding; hut there is no Whelpdale evidence
to support this, which could well be another of Lord Chancello: Brougham's inventions. Whatever the
resson, Renry Brougham left London and in Edinburgh took lodgings with Mary Syme, widow of Rev. James
Syae.  He was to marry Hary Symes's dawghter, Eleanora, 22 May 1778, They had five s0ns apd one
daughter:

Henry Peter, the most notable nember of the Brougham family, whose life is outlired briefly in
Chapter 5. ’

James, born 16 lanuary 1780. It is probable that he was, like his elder and youngest brothers {the
only ones about whoz I have been able to find a record of education], educated at Edinburgh High
School.  In his later life he became a barrister, and was said to be, like his elder brother, 2
reformer and a biberal,  Fe favoured prempting Dissenters from the paynent of Church rates; of
excluding the clergy from secular persuits; of excluding the Bishops from the fouse of Lords; of
throwing open the China trade: of doing away with all ponopolies; and of a fized duty on foreign
corn. Be held two offices, qranted in 1832, of Registrar of Affidavits with a salary of £1,700ps;
and Clerk of Letters Patent, at a salary of £750.  Both duties were performed by @ deputy.There
are, however, grounds for pelieving that he was not quite the Liberal that he claimed to be. In
1813 he purchased the lease of parish tithes, not of the whole parish, bat of twe estates only, fzon
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Lord Lonsdale, and whareas Lord Lonsdale had followed the practice of the Rector of Brougham, of
allowing estate owsers to commute their tithes to nonetary payments, James Brougham insisted on
payment as due, of corm, green crop, wool and lamb.  He also insisted om the Tithe of Agistment,
which had not been enforced by either the Recter or Lord Leasdale, and went so far as to bring @
Chancery case against one of the farmers - aided, says the 'Carlisle Patriot', by his 'learned
prother’ - which can only mean William, as otherwise the reference would have been to his 'noble and
learned brother'.  Atas, the paper does not give the outcome of the case, and it is likely that
James died before it came to court.

The 'Gentleman's Magazine' paid him a fulsome tribute in its obitwary of Harch 1834,

)r. James Brougham was highly respected for his good sense and intelligence, and
amiable manners, by those who had the pleasure £ his acqualntance; and although he
spoke seldom in Parliament, was far from being inactive as a public man.  In the
varions contests for the representation of Westmoriand, there was no man whose
afforts were mote vigorows and effectnal than his; and he was exceedingly popular
with the yeomanry of that county. His remains were interted in the family vault on
8 December at Skelton, Cumberland. The fuperal was strictly private, being
attended only by the Lord Chancellor and Hr. Broughan, MP for Southwark, his sole
sarviving brothers.®

James must have known something, To-day, Brougham Parish church {St. Kinfan's, or Ninekirks gs it
{s popularly kaown, is on the Redundant Churches list; the churchyard is unkempt, and it requires
an act of faith in one's vehicle (preferably four wheel drive) to reach {t. The alternative is a
two mile walk across uninviting farmlands.  St. Wichael's, Skelten, on the other hand, is weil
tooked after and well attended, but and alteration to the church in Victorian times caused the
family vault to be sealed.

Peter Calmet was born 11 November 1781 and was baptised ia St. Giles Cathedral, Edinburgh 19
February 1782. It was clained by Lord Chancellor Brougham that his brother was comnissioned into
the B5th Regiment, but this is not correct: a letter from the War Office to CRH states that the
85th was at home in 180D. peter Brougham was, in fact, a cadet in the Hadras Army of the East
India Company Service (India Offfce Library L/MIL/9/110/288), and sailed from Torbay in the
Indianan, ‘Queen', 3 ¥ay 1800, which caught fire at San Salvatore {Bahia, Brazil). There he was
killed in a duel with Walter Campbell of Shawfield, 3rd nate of the ‘Queen’ on 11 July.

In a letter to Nr. Budleston, Kr. V. Rodson of Georgehan, Horth Devon said:

AT teqarding Cadet Peter Calmet Brougham. I had not known the name of his cpponent
in the duel ... it was Walter Campbell, 3rd mate of the 'Bombay Castle' 1797/98; Ind,
"gueen’, 179971300 & subsequently comnanded successively 'Winchester' 1803/04,
"Mottinghan', 'Arniston', 'General Hewitt!, and last {that I have a note of) ‘Loadon',
181771818,

"| know nothing about the guarrel - it was probably some trivial incident arising from an
inagined slight to his [Campbell's) ramk and dignity.  These East India mates often
appear to have been very thin skinned and touchy regarding their statos ..... and the long
and boring voyages must have produced a perfect breeding ground for petty disputes which
often ended with a resort to pistols at the first port of call.  Hany such took place at
the Cape.'

John Waugh, born § February 1783, whose fapily is discussed in Chapter 3. See alse Chart 5.

Willlan, born Edinburgh 26 September 1793, succeeded his eldest brother as the 2nd Lord Brougham &
Vaux of Brougham and Highhead Castle.  See Chapter § for his life and fanily.

Hary, who was born 2 July 1187 and died vamarried 25 Hay 1856 in an asylum at Reading. She was
mentallyenstable during the last years of her life, and was shut away, firstly at Brougham, and
later at Reading.  Nonme of the family attended her funaral.
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As did his father, Heary the Younger appears to have spent very little time at Brougham, and seems 1o
have lived thete only during the last 20 years of his life, from circa 1790 to 1810, Srales Hall
also played little part in his life. fe attempted to sell it in 1785, for the Duke of Norfolk
recorded in his diary on 26 September:

tgent to Carlisle w. Hr. Addisom, to take affidavits of 0ld freemen and meabers of corparatn
to make a case against bd. lonsdale's new created freemen in our road we called at Scales
fall, mach out of repair, gives an idea of style of liv of Cumberiand gentlemen of small
fortune in last centory, @ nall w. carved oak ciel, & large arched chimney, kitchen and back
kitchen, a conrt surrounded by walls and buildings much like Ballinghanm hall in Herefordshire
- estate improveable, on sale next day, only £2000 bid, let for £100, neasures about 200
BLIEE. +vovas pf qreat tythe'.

{The contractions ard gpeiling are as pet the diary) -

On 26 Jannary 1786, Heary Brougham sold Scales to his cousin, Peter {Broughan) Lanplugh - see (hapter
11 - from whon it passed by marriage to the family of Dykes.  He died 18 February 1810, and is buried
at Brougham,  Ris widow, Eleanora, suryived hin by 29 years: she died 31 December 1839, and is also
buried at Brougham,  Strangely, there is no birth-date on her brass memorial plaque: she was born 18
December 1752 at Allea, Clackpannshire {now the Clackmannae District of the Scottish Central Region},
the daughter {and only child) of Rev. James Syme and his wife, Mary, daughter of Rev. William Robertsen
of Edinburgh and his wife, Eleanor pitcairn: and sister of Dr, William Robertson, the noted Royal
Historiographer of Scotland and principal of Edinburgh University.
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CHAPTER 5
APOGEE

HENRY PRTER, lst BAROK BROUGHAM AND VAUX of BROUGHAM, Westmorland, was born in Edinburgh 19 September
1778, and was baptised in St. Giles Cathedral by his great-uncle, Rev. William Robertson.  He entered
Edinburgh Figh School before he was seven, rose to be Head of the school, and left before his 13th
pirthday.  After a year under a private tetor at Brougham Hall, he entered Edinburgh University in
October 1792 He excelied in the study of mathematics and physivs, and read law on completion of the

conpulsory humanities and philosophy course in 1796,

Wuch has been written about Renry Peter Brougham, nome of it, in our opiaion, rounding off the complete
nan. We have nefther the intention nor the ability to write amother biography, but as Commissioner
Brougham was to the family of the 18th Century, so Henry Peter was to the 19th - and indeed, to any
later period. Apart from which, as Lord Hailsham has observed, much of what has heen written about
him has been at best mischievous, and at worst malicious, @ view with which Chester Hew agreed - and he
was no great admirer of the Lord Chancellor. Although he was guite obviously a difficult man - and
in his old age very difficult - a few words in his defence are justified.

It was to Brougham that Melbourne, who had angrily dismissed him from office in 1835, sore and angry
after his own enforced resignation in 1841, turned for support - and found it. The two once again
pecame firm friends, and Brougham was appointed one of Helbonrne's executors.  He carried out this
trust with loyalty and generosity.

The actions of a vindictive man?  For that is what he has been called.
Mrs. Frances Hawes wrote:

*Sonewhere in that complex nature there was a flaw.  Studying his life carefully, one is led
to believe that the weakness was in the overweighted mind rather than in the immer heart of
the man.'

Another cause mest lie In his marriage to the hypochondriac, Mary Ann Spalding, who gave him neither the
conpanionship nor the inte}lectual sapport that he needed, and which was supplied, while she lived, by
his mother.  Self-indulgent and vain ('wrapped up in her own gluttony' and 'taken up by vanity and
salfishness’ is how William Brougham described her in his diary - though he rarely had a good wotd for
anyone), Mary Aem Eden failed to provide a stabilizing influence, and whatever faults he had were
nagnified.

"We are the enly two people never to be invited to his house,®  Henry Brougham wrote to his mother, of
his brother William and his newly married wife, Emily Taylor. Because of Hary Anm?

Added to the problems of his wife, he had also to contend with the madness of his sister, Hary, and the
tragic illness of his daughter, Eleanor, to whom he was devoted, During the final years of her life
he wag hoth father and mother to her: the Chateau Eleanore-louise at Cannes was built for her.

Fe has been accused of knowing a little of everything except the law, a cheap jibe which completely
overlooks the immense,wide-ranging furd of koowledge that Henry Broughan had when compared with his
peers: and also ignores the statement by Lord Cempbell that ...'he has a very good head for the law, and
can be made to onderstand perfectly any point of law, however difficalt and obscure'. According to the
Dictionary of National Biography, he nmever mastered the sebtleties of English law - yet in his hands,
statote law underwent a radical overhanl in the space of four short years; and in his capacity as a
judge, he reduced the backlog of Chancery cases bequeathed to him by Lord Eldon within twelve nonths.

One could postulate a very different outcome to Henry Broughan's career had he been married to someone
of the nature and calibre of his mother.  Lord Hurray, the Seottish judge, wrote of Eleanora Brougham:
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'ohe was kind, considerate, cala and intelligent; and ready without a shadow of preteasion te
help every person who stood in need of her unobtrusive aid.  She was fully able to appreciate
the qreat talent of her eldest son, and much devoted to him, but I doudbt if amy persom,
however intimately acquainted with her, could have observed any partial measure of affection
bestowed upon one of her children more thae another. Their welfare was her constant
ohject..... fenry Brougham was & most affectionate son, though he was in no way disposed to
show that or any other of his fimer fegrings®.

On hearing that Henry Peter nad been elevated to the peerage, Eleanora Broughan conmented:

*Well, if Renry is pleased, I pust not complain; but it would have suited our Henry better to
have continued member for the county of Vork and a Leader of the Liberals in the Rouse eg
Commons'.

According to the young Henry fiolland,
"o-one could be as agreeable as Henry Brougham; there was evidently 2 relaxed warath about
nis talk, the spontaneous ontpouring of 2 full mind which charmed everyone who heard it. [His
knowledge was as encyclopaedic as Kacauiay's and his talk was better...he had both the qaiety
and the charm that Macaulay lacked.®

This opinion was shared by Charles greville, who knew Henry Brougham better than most.  He had this to
say in 1828:

'Broughan is one of the most reparkable men that I have ever met {and in his position of Clerk
to the Privy Council, Greville met everyone who was anyone ....PBH); to say nothing of what he
i in the world, his almost childish gaiety and apinal spirits, his husmour nized with sarcasn,
but not ili-natured, his wonderful informationm, and the facility with which he handles every
subject, from the most grave and severe to the nost trifling displaying a pind foll of varied
and extensive information and a memory which has suffered nothing to escape from it, I never
saw @ man whose conversation impressed me with such an idea of his superiority over others."

and again (in 1838}:

"We have had Broughan every day at the Council Office ....... in exuberant spirits and full of
talk, and certainly marvellously aqreeable.  His talk (for conversation is not the word for
it} is totally uelike that of anybody else I ever heard. It comes forth without the

slightest effort, provided he is in spirits and disposed to talk at all. It is the
outpouring of one of the most fartile and restless of minds, easy, familiar, abundant, and
discursive.  The qualities and peculiarities of nind whick mar his oratorical, give zest and
effect to his conversational, powers; for the perpetual bubbiing up of fresh ideas, by
incapacitating him from cordensing hig speeches, often makes them tedicusly digressive and
long; but in society he treads the ground with so elastic a step, he touches everything so
Jightly and so adorns all that he touches, his turns and his breaks are so various, unezpected
and pungent, that be not only interests and anuses, but always exhilarates his audience so as

to render wearfpess and satiety impossibie.’

Did he have to be perfect?  We cannot think of any potitician who ever was. That he was bitter -
especially in the ten or so years foltowing his dismissal by Melbourne - cannot be doubed, but it 4id
pot prevent him from supporting the government of the day when it proposed legislation with yhich he
agreed, His letters show 3 qensine concern for his family, perhaps over-concers (although a peer who
{s in the public eye does not want family problens to be visible}: a man who could write about recipes
for curry and marmalade in the same letter as repair work to the Hall and legal matters.

1n 1800 Brosgham was admitted to the Scottish bar, and joined the Southern Circuit, where, to gain
paperience he undertook the gefence cof poor prisoners. He also contributed voluminously to the
"Edinburgh Review' on almost every subject {which was how his extraordinarily wide range of general
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ynowledge gave rise lIater to the witticisa that 'had he known 2 little law, he would have known a
little of everything'}); but he disliked the legal profession - “this cursedest of cursed professions’ -
which was, for him, only & means of financial support snd the sure way into Parliament.

fe took a practical and 1ifelong interest in the abolition of slavery, amd began writing economic and
political articles with the avowed intention of entering parliament, which he did as member for
canelford in 1810, e drew attention to, and devised means for attaining popular education, but was
far ahead of his time and the dissenters would not accept his {deas. It is also a little known [act
that in 1819, when the Whigs were in opposition, he was briefed by Judge Jeffrey Beat of New South Wales
to criticise the finmancia! management of the colony by Governor Macguarie,  This led to an At of
parliament to indemnify Hacguarie and his officials 'to legalize the existing duties for ome year, and
to give the Governor specific avthority to levy an import duty om spirits'.

on 1 April, 1819 he married Mary Ann Spalding, widow of John Spalding, and daughter of Thomas Eden of
Wigton.  The date, and the place, generally believed to have been at Coldstream {the East Coast
equivalent of Gretna Green) seem to be typical of the mam. They had two daughters: Sarah Eleanor, born
1828 but who died in infancy: and Bleanora Louise who was born {m October 1822 and died of foberculosis
in 1839,

From an early age Eleanora, his beloved 'fullia', lived with her father, and his concern for her health
shines through letters to his mother.  He took her to Brighton, to Paris and to Canmes; and it was
for Tullia that he built his chatedu at Cannes, found by accident in 1834 when an ovthreak of cholers
prevented hin from entering Italy, his principal residence away from London. fe seems to have spent
very little time at Brougham Hall, and in 1848 corsidered selling it becauvse of the expense of upkeep.

Tullia's health had always been delicate: she was gravely il im 1B31, and agein fn 1833; and it had
been known for some time that she would succumb to TB. It was bord Brougham's desire that she should be
buried at Cannes, at the Chateau Eleanore Lomise; but it was not to be. Eleancra died at 53 William
Street Brighton, on 30th Hovember 1839, and was buried in the undercroft of Lincoln's Imn, the first
woman to be baried there.  Hemry Peter Brougham never recovered from her death.  He wished to be
buried beside her, but died in France and was buried at Camnes.  In 1984 Cannes celebrated the 150th
anniversary of its ‘'discovery' by Lord Brougham, through whose good offices the French goverament
improved the Iittle harbour.

Although he had been active in the Whig Party for many years, and had used all his joornalistic skills
in attacking the slave trade and slavery, it was not until 1810 that Aenry Brougham entered Parliament,
as member for Camelford {Corawall).  fe immediately made his mark as & debater and orator, firstly by
again - but this time in the House - attacking slavery (1810) and then, in 1812 sttacking Orders in
Council by which the gqovernment empowered the Royal Navy to stop and search all vessels on the Righ
Seas. Although these had been measures in response to Napoleon's embargo on European trade with
Britain, Orders in Council were the effective instruments that led to the Anglo-American war of 1812,
Broughan's speech almost carried the day, and in fact the Orders were later withdrawn - but too late to
prevent the war.  Brovgham was later to say that he regarded it as his most significant victory in
Parliament, "In pther matters,' he said, 'I had the help of others; but in destroying the Navigatien
Laws 1 was alone in the House'.

Kr. Brougham {as he then was) rose to public eminence and popularity in 1820 by his successful defence
of Queen Caroline, when that vafortunate woman was tried on a Bill of PFains and Penalties by George iV.
Broughar's opening speech to the Rouse of Lords on 3 October 1820 has been described as arquably one of
the finest specimens of British forensic eloquence, Sone of his later detrackors have argued that it
¥as an unnecessary exercise in self-aggrandisement; and that had Brougham made known to the Queen an
offer by Lord Liverpool (the Prime Kimister) to pay her £50,000 a year for life, provided that she
remained out of the United Xingdom and did not use her title, the case would never have come to trial.

Lord Campbell, a later Lozd Chancellor who was by no means uncritical of Brougham, confirms In his
"Lives of the Chancellors' that the conditions were made known to the Queen, who ‘instantly and
indignantly® refused the offer, and would not be dissuaded from retvrning to England and "rushing into
certain trouble and possible danger* until Lord Hutchinson received fresh instructions.
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In Parliament Broughan continped to Fight hard for an end to stavery and for the freedom of the
individnal. Be also championed the twin causes of popular education {he became a Founding Father of
University College, London, which broke the shackles of the Church of England, and gave the College the
soubriquet of 'The Godless College of Gower Street!), and of freedom of the Press.  Be beought forward
a great scheme of law reform which was to lead to a vast improvement in cripinal law procedure over the
nest forty years, and to the streanlining of Chancery procedures - though Broughar never succeaded in
repoving the Hasters in Chancery. He ended his great siz hour speech on law reforn in 1828 {in which
he had systematically reviewed the main fields of English law and had suggested improvements fn each)
with the following passage:

"It was the boast of Augustus that he found Rosme of brick and left it of narble. Bt how

nuch nobler will be the Sovereiga's boast, when he shall have it to say,that he found the law

dear, and left it cheap; found it a sealed book, and left it a living letter; found it the '

patrimony of the rich, and left it the inheritance of the poor; found it the two-edged sword

of craft and oppression, and left it the staff of nonesty and the shield of innocencg“
Neither George IV ner Beary Brougham lived to see those qreat reforms completed, but by the end of the
¢19 nost of them were in place.  Sadly, historians - and therefore others - have forgottea the man who
was the mainspring and driving force behind them.  Hs Lettow has pointed out that one of Broughan's
objectives in championiag the foundation of University College was to improve the legal education of
future barristers. His own education at Edinburgh University, with its broad emphasis on a curriculum
of ancient languages, rhetoric, logic, moral philosophy, mathematics, natural philosophy and political
economy had fostered in hin the spirit of reform. fe found the traditional English legal studies
tedious: in a letter of 1802 he wrote:

'Y Yook forward with no small horror to five years gull, wavaried drudgery, which must be
undergone to obtain the privilege of drudging still harder, among a set of disagreeable people
with brutal manners and confined talents®.

Broagham did not feel it worthwhile to tackle the reform of legal education through the Imns of Court
and decided to found a Scottish style Eniversily in London. It concentrated on what were then modern
subjects, supported by a lecture system, non-resident students and an abseace of religious testing.
Hedicine and law led the way.

following his election as member for the county of Yorkshire in 1830, he gave notice that he would lay
pefore the Nouse a schema to enfranchise all householders and copyholders, but this fell through on his
elevation to the Lords as Lord High Chancellor in the Grey administration. His choice of title, Baron
Brougham of Brougham and Vaur was the cause of much hilarity on the part of his enemies, and indignation
on the part of the real descendants of the Vauzes of Catterlen: and how he persuaded the College of Arms
to grant his title and coat of amms will forever remain a mystery. Suffice to say that the first
quarter had never been granted to the Broughams; they adopted it (it was originally, though with
different blazoning, granted to the Barons lLucie - hance the canting device of a chevron between three
lucies hauriant); and the second, third and fourth guarters, representing Vaux of Catterlen, Vaur of
Triermain and Delamore respectively, have no apparent place im the achievement at all. William, Ind
Baron Brougham and Vaur, contemplated Delamore as a possible title for a Barony when he thought that he
would be granted a peerage in his own right.

grey retired Erom office in 1834, and Brougham remained as Chancellor in the new Helbourne

adninistration.  When that administration was dismissed by §illiam IV in November 1834, Broughae is

said to have leaked the news to the 'Times®, claiming that *it is all the Queen's faelt.'  This ¥as
tater found to be unkrge. Grey, whose family had long believed that Broughan was plotting against him,

also cage to reaiise that this was not so, and im @ letter to Helbourpe, cautioned against leaviag

Brougham out of the Cabinet.  Helbourme was adamant: 'If left out he would be dangerous; Dbat if

taken in he would simply be destructive.  We may have 2 little chance of being able to go on without

hip, but to go on with him would be impossible’.

Brougham never again held Parliamentary offica, and when he demanded from Helbournme an explanation for
not being included in the 1835 Cabinet, he got both barrels from that normally mild and placid man:
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‘It is & very disagreeable task,' wrote Melbourne, ‘to have to say to 2 statesman that his
character is injured in the public estimation; it is still more unpleasant to have to add
that you consider it to be his own fault; and it is idle to expect o be able to convines
alnost any nam, and more particularly a man of very superior abilities, and with unbounded
confidence in those abilities, that thig is trpe.

I nust, however, state plainly that yoor conduct was ome of the principal causes of the
disnissal of the late ministry; and that it forms the nmost popelar justification of that
step.  You ask for specific charges.  Allow me to observe, that there may be a course and
series of very objectionable conduct, there mey be a succession of acts which gestroy
confidence and add offence to offence, and yet it would be difFicult to point to any marked
delinquency.

"I will, however, tell you fairly that, in ay opinien, you domineered too much, youw interfered
with other departments, you encroached upom the provinces of the Prime Minister, you worked,
as | believe, with the Press in a manner unbecoming to the dignity of your station, and you
formed political views of your own and pursued thea by means which were unfalr towards your
colfeagoes.,

"No one knows your natural vigour better than I do. ! also know that those who zre
weak for good are strong for mischief.  You are strong for both, and I should both
dread and lament to see those gigantic powers which should be directed to the support
of the State exerted in the contrary and opposite direction.’

Broughan later admitted that many of these charges against him were true, but, he wrote [ir a letter o
Lord Althorp)

"How could it be othervise that I should interfere when these very people insisted on my doing
their business for them? ..... whoever heard of a Chancellor being called on to bring forward all
the Bills of the Rome Office, from the Scotch reform and Borowgh reform down to the Poor Law Bill?
Never was there a subject but that Grey did not say that the government wonld be done if I did not
speak ..., as to domineering, it is probably trve. I am of a hasty and violenk, at least
vehement nature, and not bred in courts or offices, and never was 3 subaltern, therefore I am a bad
courtier. ...... but I meamtno harm, and never grodged work: and always, both in and out of
Parliament was working as hard as a horse for the party ........ but the thing I marvel at is no
one even whispering a word of this before...... However, as I said, I am a bad courtier, and as I
wor't leave the people, so the Court leaves me, as it has a good right todo ......, I an qlad to
be out of it ..... I also an glad te find the people as grateful and as semsible as some others are
to the contrary.

Lord Campbell, whose biography of Lord Brougham contains many scathing conments about the former Lord
Chancellor, nevertheless criticised Helbourne for omitting Brougham from the 1839 administration.

*In my opinion Brougham was atrocionsly ill-used,” wrote Campbell. ‘Comsidering all that he

had done for the Liberal cause ........ his relations with the Melbourne govermment ...... I
an inclined to think that at every risk they ought to have taken him back ...... 1 an sure
that the manner in which they threw hin off showed disingensousness, cowardice and
ingratitede.’ )

In April 1835 Melbourne told Brougham that the Great Seal was to be put in comnission, and left him with
the distinct impression that it was the Xing who was mainly responsible for his ostracise, and with the
hope that the royal anger would eventually evaporate so the he could be reinstated, For the next
twelve ponths Brougham was the dupe of the Whig party, despite efforts by Lyndherst to warn him of his
position. It seemed that he could not believe that, being used as he was to get Bills through the
bords, the party would finally throw him over.  Lord Campbell comments:

' ... (the Hinisters) stood in much need of his aid, for in the House of Lords they had to
encountar the most fractiovs and unbridled opposition. Peel, in the House of {ommons «as
very falr in not obstructing measures except on just or plavsible grounds, but Lyndhurst (who)
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ruled supreme in the Rouse of Lords nade it a rule that no government bill should pass unless
reiection shosld cause popular adium, actuated by the premeditated purpase of afterwards
tauating the government of haviag accomplished nothing.’

*Yarious salutary bills which had passed the Commons he threw out on the second reading in the
House of Lords, but the bill for the reform of Municipal Corporations he could not treat in
this fashion.

"posterity will hardly credit the corruption and mischievous absurdities which distingonished

the infinitely varied constitutions of the towns of England up to 1835, The reforn had two

chjectives in view: .

1. Good government of the locality.

1. b uniform constitution, based 6; representation and self-goverament, which had been framed
after laborious investigation by intelligent comaissionets iato the abuses of the existing
system.

*The principles of the bill Peel had warmly applauded, and after some amendnents to its

details, {it) passed the House of Commons with approbation. Lyndhyrst vowed its
destruction, hut ceald not attack it until the committee stage; but there he meant it to be
gtrangled.

*fad it not been for Broughan's unwearied and strenuous exertions, it could not have escaped.

It is geperally believed that the Hupicipal Reform Bill was largely Brougham's work. It is
true that he was the driving force behind it, but he was not appointed to the committee that
drafted it - one of many stinging snubs delivered to him by the Whig hierarchy .  Despite
this, Brosgham defended the bill with all the considerable powers that he could muster, and it
eventvally passed the Lords with several important mutitations disguised as anendpents. In
the Conmons Peal would not accept the amendments, and Lyndhurst did not venture to insist upon
them. The bill passed nearly in its integrity.”

Apart from the Municipal-seform pill, Srougham spent many hours on his feet introducing bills for
all manner of cavses, and Hansard records that he spoke no fewer that 221 times during the 1833
session.

Lord Broughan's relegation to the back benches of the Lords gave him time for much literary work
over the next dozen years; but this was also a period of intemse political activity. He
practically led the opposition in the Lords, and on one day alome, 6th August 1839, succeeded in
garrying Five resolutions censuring the government’s policy in Ireland.  He continued his attack
on slavery, and such was his enerqy that Hacaulay, an old enemy, was constrained to write:

' a pere tongue, without a party and without a character, never did half ss much before.'

on 17 June 1859 Lord Campbell notad in his diary: 'When I got to Broughan's room, my 'learned and
noble friend’ with very friendly words and, I really believe, without any feeling of ill-will,
warnly congratulated me on my elevation and condescended to ask ne 1f I would appoint his nephew
({.e. James Rigg Broughan ..,.D8H) a Reglstrar In Bankruptcy, which I very readily pronised to do,
reminding hin that he, when Lord Chanceller, had given 2 similar appointment to a nephew of mine.®
(From The Life of John, Lord Camphell, by Mary Rardcastle - but see final paragraph of p.37).

e purchased Scales Hall from the descendants of the Dykes family in 1832, and in 1854 he
purchased the secend half of Bighhead Castle, which had fallen into decay uvader the plural
ownership resulting from the will of Isabella Miller {formerly Richmond}, and was threatened with
demolitionby the Richsond-Gale Bradyll family who had acquired half of it through the witl of
Henry Richmend Broughan. fe had acquired the other half of the castle in 1820 from
representatives of the Baynes family. After 1850 he gradually withdrew from politics, spending
much of the year at Cannes which, because of Brougham’s enthusiasm, was growing in popularity as a
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watering place for the aristocracy. Ris personal interest in the village was such that, on the
centenary of his birth, the citizens of annes erected a statue to his memory. ({This was damaged
by the Germans during World War 2, bet was restored in 1953 by A.L. Trevire). The remainder of
the year was divided between his house at 4 Grafton Street and Brougham Hall.  His thoughts of
selling it in 1848, because of the huge cost of upkeep {and alterations by Willism?) were nipped
in the bad by his brother, who had by them complete control over Hemry's finances. #illiam
noted in his diary that he had quickly scotched that notion.

In later years Broughan turned again to scientific studies, and became interested inm the work of
the newly-formed Social Science Association, which en 19 July 1857 held its Eirst committee
meeting in the Grafton Street house; Brougham was elected as imsugural President. He was to hold
the position again in 1860, and for the following five years. In 1862 he became a patron of the
Female Hiddie Clsss Emigration Society, a typical Victorian high-principled organizeztion which
sent 302 'young ladies of good birth and education' to the Colonies as governesses between 1862
and 1886, [when the Society merged with others), not always sevccessfully, and in the face of
contrary advice from Celonial officials, who knew the likelihood, and the dangers, of
unemployment. As wa shall see later, one of these 'young ladies' became a governess to the family
of Lord Broughan's nephew, Patrick in Melbourne.

He correspended widely with men of letters and of science,including Babbage, whose Biffereace
Engine, now shown to be capable of working, was the fore-rumner of the computer.  In 1848 Lord
Brougham contemplated becoming a French citizes, an {dea that he dropped hastily when he found
that it would mean giving up his British nationality and peerage. Hr. Punch was noved to write:

*Brougham a Frog?  NolNo!Ne! A million times mo.  Great Britain would famcy herself in
reduced circumstances indeed if she were compelied to put down her Brongham! While Punch has
often made him the vehicle for fun, the country generally has found him the vehicle fer
progress, It is Erue that the Brougham has been at times somewhat crazy, and indeed, some
may have thought, rather shaky about the pole; but the Brougham has been very serviceable in
the tong run, and we are very disinclined to part with the old vehicle.

The last book o be written about Nemry Peter Brougham was 'Henry Brougham: Ris Public Life 1778-1868"
by Professor Robert Stewart.  Reviewing this book for the BBC on 17 October 1%86, lord Hailshan (a

former Lord Chancellor) had this te say about the book - and about Henry Peter Brougham:

"0f all my predecessors in office, as Lord Chancellor, it is possible that Lord Brougham, the
subject of this biography, bad the rawest deal at the hands of his contemporaries anmd of
successive fater writers.  'A brilliamt brain, but a bad man' was the verdict of & close
nember of my own Eamily.

"'wo successive monarchs hated his guts.  George IV unjustly delayed the grant of his patest
as King's Counsel for his conduct of the defemce of Queen Caroline.  On wholly ridiculous
grounds, William IV twice accused him of treason. A popular nicknzme for him was 'Old
Wickedshifts'. Neither the late Lord Campbell, who knew him well, nor Atlay, the author of
'The Victoriaam Chancellors' really did hir justice, although the latter paid a generous
tribute to his Importance as a lew reforamer.

‘Lord Melbourne, with whom he served under Grey, and under whom he served during his briel
tepure as tord Chancellor, excluded him from all his -cabinets after his first goverament
fell, possibly because he regarded Brougham as a divisive influence. After his triumphant
return to the Rowse of Commons as Member of Parliament for Yorkshire, Brougham enjoyed but
four years of office on the Woolsack as Lord Drougham and Vavx. For a brief time he had beer

" the almost acknowledged leader of the Whigs. By any standard, Brougham was for many years @
national figure of prire importance.  After his defemce of Queen Caroline, in the Bill of
Pains and Penalties, he enjoyed what was for the time, the enormous income at the Bar of £8000
3 year.

*Thase facts alome constitute something of a paradox.  His gifts were undosbted, and his
influence enormous.  Nis eloguence, though now dated and wnattractive to medern taste, was
thovght in his time unequalled. His versetility and the extent of his knowledge were
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ipmense. At the age of tweaty he read a paper on optics, respectable, by the stangards of
the tise, to the Royal Society itsell.

‘s sarcasa was mach feared by opponments, and his invective highly applauvded by his
supporters.  Horeover, his espousal of just causes was consistent, wide ranging and devoted.
fie was right about so many things, at 2 time when so many others were misquided. He was
right about slavery and the slave trade: he was right aboat Cathelic Emancipation: he was an
early proponent of universal education: he was one of the Founding Fathers of London
University, at the time the oaly institution of tertiary education south of the border not the
nonopoly of the Church of Ergland. Be was the propenent, and active achiever, of far reaching
aw reforn, and was the creator of the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council.

‘5 refused to follow the more extreme nomsense of the radical wing of his own Party in such
igpracticalities as annual Parliaments. fle was no doubt quilty of several absurdities, such
as his application for French citizenship; or the somewhat bizarre episode of driving through
the Horse Guards in defiance of the officer oa duty. fe pushed his tuck and his learning too
far in seeking to translate Demosthenes from the original Greek.

*Be npanaged to quarrel with nost of the leading figures of his time, including some of
his intimate friends and colleagues. He quarrelled with Lord and Lady Wolland, previously
his patroms; with Camning; with Grey; with Barnes of The Times, at one time an ardeat
admirer. He suffered from severe bouts of mental depression: he wore tartan trousers, in an
Englichnan doubly absurd. Obviously, after his erclusion from office by the Whigs, he allowed
pitternass to sour his character; but surely he is not the only example in political histoty
of this damaging and corrosive trait?

"Wis occupation of the Woolsack, brief compated with Chancellors of old times - Hardwicke,
twenty years, Thurlow about fifteen, Eldon twenty-seven, and Lyndhurst four separate terms of
office - can only be described as distinguished. hpart from his law reforms, he dismantled
the enormous arrears of first-instance work built up under Eldon and not really reduced by
Lyndharst in his first term.  He was never found guilty of a single act of corruption or
nisuse of patronage. He was a devoted father, and never ceased to lament the death of a

beloved daughter.  Though not an orthodox Christian, he was not ({as often alleged against
hie) an unbeliever. ‘He was consistently an undeviating friend of Liberty.

"The present volume is sub-titled 'His Public Career, 1778-1868*. I am not sure that this
was a wise plan. Particularly in the case of a character like Srougham, the public and
private elements are so closely intertwined that they caa scarcely be distinguished. In any
case, the sub-tifle is misleading: nome but Royalty, amd perhaps Dukes, can really begin
their public career at birth, and end them only on their death-bed.

"In any eveat, his career cannot really be said to have started before his early
contribations to The Edinburgh Review;  and though he spent some tipe in his last years in
writing, and actually as late as 1857 was associated with the foundation of a Soclety for the
Promotion of Social Science, after 1849 his life was spent largely in the shadows. As the
well chosen illustrations it this volume prove, he was the subject of an admirable drawing by
C.0. Lear in 1857, and in 1858 - not in 1857 as the letterpress vould suggest - of a not
wholly unfriendly carricature in Punch, which had pot always handled him g0 kindly in the
past.

"It is some time since | read the tramscript of the so-called trial of {Queen Caroline, in
reality the proceedings in the House of Lords on a Bill of Pains and Penalties, prepared by a
compiiant government on the insistence of the Ring. The author of this volume treats
Broughar somewhat harshly in this connexion in respect of his conduct as Attormey General to
the Queen. 1'm not sure that he deserves this cemsure. The auther conceives, but does
pot, in my judgement prove, that Brougham, in breach of his daty to his client, was nore
poved by political considerations as & Whig, rather than by sincere and whole hearted devotion
to the Queen's intarest.
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"Though ke himself always boldly asserted his belief in her innocence, I have never nyself
heen convinced that this represented his trume fealing about her.  The case agaiast her was
not altogebher weak. Brougham endeavoured, ! believe, to effect a compromise prior to the
hearing, which would have avoided any admission of guilt on her part, whilst preserving her
title as Queen, and preventing the crisis which was quite inevitable if she retyrned to her
hushand's realn.

"When this failed, Brougham exerted his undeniable powers of advocacy to ridicule the Crown
witnesses and to intimidate the House of Lords majority, which was inherently hostile to the
Queen, by waraing then of the strength of opinion agzinst them.

*achnically, Broughan failed, for the Bill passed its third reading by nine votes, but the
government was so shaken by this small majority that they dropped the Bill before it went to
the Commons. I don't believe that Brougham deserved pither the criticism of the awther, or
the censure pronounced upon him by Lord Chancellor Eldon from the Woolsack.  Eldon had made
the contrary criticise, that Broughaa had exceeded his duty as an advocate, in warning the
Rouse of the possible political consequences of the measure were it to be passed.  Though it
nad many of the characteristics of a trial, the Bill of Pains and Penalties was, in essence, &
political measure in the nature of a Bill of Attainder; and speaking on behalf of the Jueen,
Brougham was surely not tied to the kind of advocacy appropriate to a jury of the 0ld Bailey.

"As may be seem, ! have rather a soff spot for this extraordinary person. Though he is less
mischievons than Campbell, Mr. Robert Stewart is basically not more favourable to him than was
tlay in his work on the Victorian Chancellors: but he has done us sll a service in recalling
the memory of a truly remarkable character. It may be true, as Campbell in his gkatch of
Broughan published in 1869, a year after Brougham's death, wrote:

* That by seeking distinction in almost every depariment of qenius, he has failed to
establish a great name in any. He accomplished nothing as a statesman: he can't be said to
have extended the bounds of human knowiedge by philosophical discovery. His writings,
althongh displaying marvellous fertility, are already,’* said Campbell, *'falling into
neglect.

* 'His speeches,‘ﬁhich when delivered nearly set the world on fire, when perused in print
cause diseppoiatment and weariness; and he pust chiefly be remembered by the professional
and party stroggles in which he was engaged, and by the judicial improvenments which he
assisted to introduce.'’

"] think Brougham was hetter than that. I pelieve that he was one of the most remarkable and
versatile Englishmen - he was, in fact, English, though he was brought up in Scotland - of the
18C. As Lord Chancellor he ranks with Haldane, and with Bacon; and, though with vary
different qoualities, with Birkenhead and with Thomas Hore as one of the four or [ive most
distinguished holders of the office".

To the end of his life Henry Peter Broughan continued to uphoid the causes of humanity and freedom, of
universal edwcation, and of the sbolition of slavery. Despite his charm, his unfailing stoze of henour
and his ready wit, he does not seem to have been a lovable character - though the famous courtesan
Rarriette Wilson wouid not hear a word against him, cespite his apparent niggardliness. To her
requests for money he is said to have repiied: 'Herewith £20: the batance of what you ask may be
considered ny fees for legal advice.” It was, of course, attenpted blackmail on her part. The Duke of
Wellington's famous response to the same request was: ‘Publish and be damned.* Be was even ROIE
niggardly.

For all his tremendous intellect and energy, the first Lord Brougham appears to have lacked an abundance
of conmonsense.  Had those powers been properly harnessed and directed, there is little doubt that he
would he better remembered to-day than many others. Hs. Lettow is more precise in her criticisa. In
her view, Brongham lacked political tact, and failed to consult with semior judicial colleagues, other
than those with whom he was on familiar terms. Peel, less gble as an advocate, sccomplished more
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because ha displayed the tact that Brougham did not, particularly in the field of Common Law, in which
the judiciary were, and still are, the final arbiters.  Perhaps this di¢ not worry Broughaa too much:
Peel was concerned with imefficiency; Brougham, with injustice, and if he was not as successful as he
right have been, he set in traip the processes of Law Reform which others drove to success.  Attlay
said of him:

"Be led the way, and others followed, who without him would not have moved at atl.*  Mrs. Mary
fardcastle, Lord Campbell's daughter, in a postscript to Campbeil's Life of Lord Brougham® {Vel.4,
p.591, 1869 edition) quotes Romilly:

"Brougham is a man of the most splendid talents, and the most extensive acquirements, and he
has used the ample means which he possesses most usefully for mankind. It would be difficult -
to over-rake the services which he has rendered to the slaves in the West Indies, or that of
the friends to the extension of knowledge and education among the poor, or to praise too
highly his endeavours to serve the oppressed pecple of Poland. How much is it to be lamented
that his want of judgement and prudeace should prevent his great talents, and such good
intentions, from being as great a blessing to mankind as they ought to be.'

0n 18 June 1842 Lord Brougham was elected an Ronorary Hember of the Institute of Civil Engineers, and in
1858 he was elected Chancellor of Edinburgh University, an honour which gave him considerable pleasure.

Lord Brougham invented the small two-seater carriage of that name, referred to by one young lady of the
time as 'these dainty little Broughams’. From the early days of the automobile numerous nakes of
American cars have incleded a Brougham among their various models, though it has to be said that few
could be said to resemble 'those dainty little Broughams', as mostly they have been built on large
chassis.  And within the last few years, Dr. Greald McDaniel, Professor of English at North (entral
Tezas College has written a spoof Sherleck Holmes nystery, 'The Vronceaur Brougham'.

Lord Brougham died peacefully at his home, the Chateau Eleanore Louise at {annes, 7T Hay 1868, in his
G0th year, and the House of Peers noted his passing with genuine regret.

Space does not peimit a complete copy of the obituary printed in the "New York Times' on 11 May 1868,
but seme of it is worth repeating:

'If he fell short of the highest greatness - if neither in literatsre or sclence, nor in law
nor in politics, did he reack the supreme position, he yet distinguished himself 50 eminently
in them all, as to make it impossible te compare his character and labors with those of any of
his contemporaries.

'BROUGHAN began work young and never rested from it till death ...... in the long ipterval
when his powers were devoted to law and politics, he never lost sight of the studies and
pursuits which first engaged his intellect.

LORD BROUGHAM feared to grapple with nothing ....he would write a treatise on the most obscure

sranch of the most abstruse scieace ....he would deliver his critical opinions of curreat
literatyre and wniversal philosophy ..... as an advocate he had the management of the greatest
£ases ..... as a reformer he was the very ablest that England had during his life time.

BROUGHAM, it seems, at the close of his existence, literally "fell asleep’. He sleeps after °
a life full of great vorks and great successes, and leaves behind him an illustrious name.’

The "Daily Telegraph® wrote in ifs ebituary:

"He is done marching, the old drum-major of the Army of Liberty.’
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CHAPTER 6

ON THE PLATEAU: THE LOTUS YEARS

THE_SECORD AND THIRD LORDS BROUGHAM

WILLIAM BROUGHA, the yoaagest of Hemry and Eleanora Brougham's soms, wes born in Edinburgh on 26
september 1795.  He was educated at Edinburgh Righ School, and at Jesus College, Cambridge {MA 1822).
Ha entered Lincolns Imm, and was called to the Bar in 1821, From 1831 until 1834 he was NP for
Southwark, and a3 Master in Chancery from 1831 until 1852, when the post was abolished. Willian noted
in his diary on 17 December of that year: 'To-day I left Southampton Buildings after being there nearly
22 years'.  His diary did not add that he was to receive a pension of £3,225 p.a. le was also an parly
nenber of the Public Record Commission, first established in 1800. Six such Comnissions were appointed
petween 1800 and 1831 .... 'to requlate and to provide for better preservation of records, for
_establishing public calendars, indexes and HSS editions®.  The sixth was the First to contain nenbers
having considerable historica! or antiguarian knowledge,  Thus, when the Eirst Lord Broughar raferred
to ....'members of my family who know about these things' he covld only have been referxing to Willian.

On 12 August 1834 he married Emily Francis, daughter of Sir C(harles William Taylor, Bari., at St.
George's, Hamover Square.  There is evidence in the letters that passad between Henry Peter and his
mother, and between Henry Peter and William, that the latter was not the easiest of paople to get aleng
with. He appeared to be jealous of both Henry and James, and despite attempts by mother and eidest son
to effect some reconciliatiom, this did not come about - if indeed it ever did with James - until much
later.

'Notice from you', wrote Hrs. Brougham to her eldest son, 'is, of course, everything to William - in
truth, his happiness and respectability rest upon it.' Henry Peter wiote of abusive letters he and his
wife had received, and of Willian's spitefu] manmer, especially his treatment of James. Equally
clearly, he did not like his brother's father-in-law, to whom he referred as ‘that fellow Taylor'.

These animosities do not seem to have a lasting effect on the first Lord Brougham. Having lost his iwe
daughters, he turned to his nephews, the sons of William; all benefited from his consideration, and, in
sone cases, patronage. In 1854 we find him complaining of being Tonely without Henry Charles and
Wilfred: and in 1858 he was trying to find a stean engine for the young Reginald Thomas Budlay.

Ty,

that Emily Brosgham did not like Brougham, or ils inhabitants, cannot be disputed.  William's diary
records a conversation on 18 September 1852, in which Emily declared her horror of Broughanm Hall - the
nadness of the old woman (her sister-in-law) - that living with Lord Brougham was iike living on a
voleano - the dullness of the life - like livigg in a garret - nothing spent om her, but money always
found for anything else, znd of her anxiety to leave it.  'In this she shall certainly be indulged
wrote William. Villiam clearly forgot his resolution, for there were two further outhursts in 1853
and 1854, I 1853 Emily complained that it was ' house in which all confort was sacrificed for velgar
ostentation and pretemsion' and begged William to take her away. Of the 1854 confrontation, William
wrote 'l never heard such a tissue of Billingsgate - worse than even her mother inflicted upon the
squire - a repetition wonld decide me on a separation. 1 have given up my plan to remain home oR har
account’, ‘

William did not like the other imhabitants, mor some of his guests, either. "Charley’ from lreland -
whom we have not-been able to identify, but who was probably one of the Bailyhaise Broaghams - was 'so
nateful that it is enough to driva one from Bronghan'; and later, Charley's rudeness, vanity conceit and
velgarity becone a source of further conplaint. William's sister, Mary Broughas, was 'mad as Bedlan',
and his sister-in-law, Mary Ann, was 'takem up by vanity and selfishoess - the old swine - the old

brote, wrapped up in her own gluttony'.

Willian's diaries show him to have been shrewd, and as we have seen, vituperative; one of the least
Jikeable of all the Broughams, and a man on the make with an unshakeablie conviction that he was of the
old nobility. Willian's strictares on the various suitors for his daughter's hands - and on the
possible wives of his sons, show his bias and bigotry to the full. 0f Wilfred's iniended: 'The
daughter of an Italian refugee teacher whe married & Miss Fitzgerald' (failing to mention that she was a
niece of the English poet and schoiar, Edward Fitzqerald, translator, iater alia, of the works of Omar
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Knayyam ... PBH). Aice Eleancra's fiancé, the Rev. Hon. thomas Edwardes, & younger Som of Lod
Kensington and rector of Brougham, was 'an anadulterated, ill-tempered prute': Emily Evelyn’s first
Fiancé was 'a vile blackquard', and her second, Capt. Francis Sandys Bugdale, whom she parried despite
strong pareatal objection {'and of course I pui an end to this nonsease’), was 'an offepsive animal, 8
braggart and 3 cozcomy ... - (and) if Evy marries D. none of us will ever see her again'). ¥illiam did
pot put an end to 'this nonsense': Emily defied her parents and married Capt. Dugmore &t Christchurch
13 April 1867. Heither of her parents was preseat, byt Williams diary {31 December 1861 records that he
paid out £500 for two veddings (Wilfred's and Alice's). IK the same year he had spent £1,800 on
Broughan Hall, E400 on Hiqhhead, and 'a few hundred on drainage at Bewley {astlie.

His sons caused him as puch worry as his danghters {except Adels Hary).  Heary Charles was 'selfish,
never lifts a finger to help anyone': Reginald and  Wilfred were contisually in debt: in July 1860,
willian recorded that Wilfred's debts were £500 - on an income of £400, and in April 1863.... "While

Wilfred has been speading upwards of £900 a year, poor Fenry has been content with £100 from me and £150°

from his place .... he has cost me £470 in four years, conpared with Wilfred's £3,600 and upwards'.
And on 3 May 1870 he wrote of Reginald....'I have taken it upon myself all his debts beyond the pat he
cas, by degrees, pay off hinself - this will fore nim to be economical and to resist self indulgence’.

Both Wilfred and Reginald made marriages that ended in pntidy diverce suils. Benry also caused
problens, being twice reported engaged to young {adies of whom his father disapproved. In January 1870
dillian wrote 'Reary has got into a third scrape by committing nimself to that absolutely valgar girk,
Dickinson, the daughter of 3 Sodomite’, and coatemplated disinheriting him.

For several years the first Lord Broughas had tried to ghtain a peerage for his youngest brother {for
which William had chosen the title of Delamore); and in the ead succeeded with the aid of Lord John
Russell - though perhaps not as ne would have wished.

Russell did not mince his words. In @ letter to Lord Brougham, dated 28 hugqust 1860 he wrote:
"My Dear Brougham,
[ an reading your discourse in French with fresh admiration.

I had hoped that the question of your brother's peerage Was ...... settled by the perpetuation
of the title - I cannot say that [ think that your brother William nad on account of his own
gerits a elain to have his children preferrad to those of your next brother. What was done
wag done as a mark of respect and testimony to your gerius, and great public services*. Sol
think it ought te remain, and 1 do not think Palmerston wouild be inclimed te re-open the
question ... e '

ind so it did remain.

+ This was chviously a reference to the wording of the new patent

... in consideration of the eminent Public Services of Our right trusty and well-beloved
Councillor Benry Baron Brougham and Vaux, especially in the piffusion of Knowledge, the Spread
of Education, and the Abolition of the Siave rrade apd Slavery ..... have advanced, praferred
and created hin the said Benry Baron Broughan and Vaux to the state, Degree, Dignity and Honor
{sic} of Baron Bronghan and Vaux of Brougham in Our County of Westmorland, and of Highhead

rastle in Our County of Cumberiand ... oo the Heirs Male of his Body ...... in default of
such Issue to Our trusty and weli-beloved William Brougham........ and the Beirs Male of his
Body lawfully begqotten ..... )

how did this come about? By the will of the first Lord Broughan's father, Henfy Broaghan the Younger,
the Brougham estates were entailed through several ganerations. After the death of Joha Waugh in
1829, James in 1833, and John Waugh's eldest som, Benry, in 1839, the patyral heir to the estates was
patrick, John Waugh Broughan's second son; and after Patrick, in default of heirs, his younger brothers
John aad James Rigg Broughaa.

Patrick, as we shall show in Chapter 9 ., appears to have put himself peyond the pale by conmitting
several youthfal indiscretions - mainly by getting into debt, and then trying to escape the consequences
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by theft - but in reality, he was already effectively disinherited when he was only ter years oid. §4
is also interesting to note that the younger soas of Willian were permanently in debt and being dug out
withoat any recriminations.  The family of John Waugh were constantly made to realise that they were
paugers and dependant upon the generosity of thair uncles.

The ancwer came in a two letters, discovered by ¥ark Thomas {'The Bistory of Brougham Hall and High ead
Castle') in 1991,  There is cbviously another, missing, letter from James Rigg to his uncle Willianm,
complaining about the way in ghich Willian's path to the peerage had been contived ak, which would have
pade very interesting reading. Hilliam replied to this letter on 26 June 1B63:

......... In the autunn of 1B59 it was proposed that a Patent of FPeerage should be conferred
on ne - For reasons of my own I objected to this {but see above - Willian's chaice of Belamore
for a title....PBW). It vas suggésted by Lord Palmerstoen pith the entire approbation of the
fueen and Prince Atbert in 1860 that it should be done in such a way as not to take effect

gntil] after Lord Broughan's death.

‘The node then adopted was a mere substitution for the Direct Patemt ...... I need not say
that neither you, nor anyone else could have found the smallest pretext for objecting to 3
Direct Patenf ....... I have entered into this explanation except for a wish to set you right
......... that if you talk of a robbery of your birthright in this case, you may probably use
the tern again with reference to the convejance to me, of whatever real estate lord Broughan
gver had .....-- it may prevent uapleasant feelings or unjust statements hereafter -

'To begin at the beginning - on your grandfather's death in 1810, intestate, your father got
the greater part of the money he left. [ cannot tell you the zmouat, as [ was too young at
the time to be talked to, only in after years neard this stated by your Uncle James in general
terms - but at all events, I do kaow that neither I nor my sister nor James ever received one
farthing of Patrimony - ny nother and sister were maintained by Lord Brougham and your uncle
James as long as the latter lived, and subsequently by Lord Brongham and

....... in the year 1819, under an apprehension of what pight happen, and which most
unfortunately what did happen, Lord Broaghan proposed to your Uncle james and to your father
that the lands which he had inherited in 1810 from his father should be conveyed to me to save
the estate from the consequences of insolvency - I was too young to know mech of this, but
after your father's death in 1829 {William was then 24!}, your Uncle James circumstances and
the reasons, which were that had Lord Broughan died intestate or without taking ssch 2
precaution his patrimonial estate would have devolved upon your Uncle James and would have
beep swallowed up by the debts that he and lord Broagham had incurred for your father.'

There then follows a long explanation of the debts incurred by James and Heary fBrougham, totalling some
£32,500; and that the pressure of these difficoities caused the deaths of both John Waugh and James,
William further declared that he had been virtvally penniless as a result, and had had to live
scrupulonsly within his means. Yot in a letter to his mother (October 1835} Williae claimed that he
paid all the costs associated with the entry of his nephew, Henry Broughan, to Addiscombe (the military
acadeny of the Bast India Company), and Henry's subseguent appointment to the fth Bengal Lancers {though
in the same letter he said that was living on an average of £360 per year).  The letter corkinues:

Y the late Lord Cottenham was under a very great obligation to =e, and often expressed
nipsalf anxious to do anything that night be useful to me - on @ vacancy occurring, I
explained to him our money difficuities, and asked him to meke you 2 Registrar of Bankruptey*,
saying that if he did so, I should make it a condition with yon that you should contribufe
£300 a year out of the 8O0 to form a fund for payment of some of the debt. ke entirely
approved of By suggestion, and you were appointed accordingly - | believe that you are aware
that the Policy for £5000 which your father effectad soon after his marriage was assigned to
Lord Brougham ....... and that this Policy was afterwards most improperly got back from Lord
Broughan who, as he has often told me, never knew what he wag re-assigning. As far as I
recoliect, @y object in making you pay £300 a year was in some measure to repair that wrong -
byt be that as it may, your anmusl contribetion ....... has been carefully invested, aad with

» Byt see Chapter 3, page 30
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additions I have from time to tige made, forms a fund which will, at my death, pay off the all
of tha £5000 mortgage.

'You will see ....... that 1 have had a hard time of it - that for 30 years @y {ife has Deen
devoted to paying off these debts ..... that 1 have gained nothieg {put) the satisfaction of
saving the small family estate. ... '

one has to wonder at the sheer effrontery of this explanation.  William's diary for 1858, in which he
states that he had settled oo Delamore as a title show that he did hope for a Direct Patent: and, as
can be seen from Lord Russell's letter, neither he nor Palmerston thought that he nerited a peerage at
all. There is further evidence in a letter from Palmerston to Gladstone gated 21 Harch 1860 :

'groughan wanted his Brother William to be made 3 Peer in order that his (Brougham's) Peerage
might be perpetuated in his Family. 1 could not do that but settled with hia that he should
have a new Patent with remainder to his Brother ¥illiam .......... '

The will of Henry Broughan the Younger, dated ist August 1809 is extant, and shows a personal- estate of
£1,454.00.10  The will conveys the Broughan estates to Richard Lowndes Esquire of Red bLion Square,
London and Thomas Aylmer of Southampton Street, Bloomsbury Square, London and their heirs as trustees
for the sse of his eldest son Henry peter, and his assigns during nis lifetime. After the decease of
Henry Peter for the use of his eldest son or other sons in seriority of birth and their male hairs in
seniority of birth. In default of heirs, the will then entails the estates to every other son of Hemry
the Younger in turn, and finally, to his daughter Hary during her Iifetime, and  at her death, to 'his
right heirs whatsoever'

Henty Brougham's will then gives and devises to nis trustees his freehold estate called Howes Farm and
the free rents of the manor of Braitpwaite and the customaty rents of Skelton and Unthank in
Comhertand to sell ...... provided the younger soms request the same ... and each to receive equal
ghares ....... to his daughter Hary £5000. o his wife Renry Brougham left his two houses in
Edinburgh, together with all the plate, pictures etc.. and the residue of his estate. We also know
fron the writings of Hemry Peter Brougham that he had to support himself by writing as his earnings from
the bar were negligible hefore 1812, Admittedly, the residue {£3,454) of the estate would not have
peen enotgh to keep Mrs. Eleanord Broughan and maintain Brougham Hall, but additional income would have
heen derived from the Brougham pstates for her support.

James Rigg Broughan pade a_dignified reply {17 hugust 1863) to his uncle's letter, protesting only that
everything had beea done 50 secretly, and that both he and his family he felt very much aggrieved, not
only at the fact, ....... 'put algo at its being done without the siightest intimaticn to any of us from
pither Lord Brougham or yourself and which 1 certainly think was dve in 2 matter so entirely
unprecedented as passing 0ver SO many legitimate heirs to the natural succession. 1 camnot say that
your explanation has renoved ny grounds of objection ...... as it stands it makes us appear to the world
ag if we were illegitimate.’

then follows a P.§. ' I may add that there was another policy on My father's life for £2,500, in favour
of Renry Brougham and James Broughan to whom the money was paid on 15 June 1830."

Thus Patrick, John and James Rigg Broughan were effectively disinherited, and the title and estates of
fronghan passed down through Willian's heirs, until his great-grandson, {Victor Henry} Peter, 4th Baren
Broughan and Vaurx, gambled his patrimony away, leaving only the title and some articles of small value
to his eldest son.

Following the death of of nig brother James, William undertook the task of raintaining (and enlarging)
Broughan Rall; and in the letter to James Rigg, quoted above, wrote that all had been done ab his
gypease, One suspects that this is an euphenisn for ' 1 used my brother's money, thus depriving
ayself of aa enhanced income'. From this point on, the family fortunes were static. The wealth
created by the first Lord Brougham was not enlarged by his successors. The estates bromght in £7-8000ps
Willian Broughan would undoubtedly have earned samething as a barrister, and as a Master in (hancery,
but compared with the expenditure on Brougham, it would have peen a pittance; and Lady {Emily} Broughan,
who inherited the Taylor estates on the death of her brother, brought another fortuse to the family.
The pattern, as the old Lancashire saying is, *clogs to clogs in three generations', was being formed
for the fall of the House of Broughan in the early 1930s.
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We cannot leave William Brougham withopi referriag te the Edmunds scandal. Leonard Edmends' father
had been a political agent for Femry Peter Brougham, and had been killed in an accideat in 1826,  Mr.
Broughan, as he then was, made Financial provision for the Edmunds family, and the young Leonard his
secretary. In 1833 following the death of James Brougham, , he appointed Edmunds Clerk te the
patents, at a salary of £400, following which {zccording to Edmunds), he was told by James Brougham that
the office had been intended for a son of John Waugh Brougham whea thai son was old enongh to hold the
office: znd that the widow of John Waugh Brougham and her children were without any meams of support.
James Brougham then suggested that Edmunds should contribute £300 yearly from the profits of office for
the benefit aad support of Mrs. John Brougham and her children {i.e. the widow and children of John
Waugh Brougham.

This 1ittle matter was further complicated by the fact that Lord Brosghen and James Brougham were bound
to pay Edmunds the interest of E200 ammually on 2 mortgage of £5,000 fer 2 'manor or lordship called
Braithwaite in the county of Cumberland and the lands thereunto belonging called Howes otherwise
Braithwaite Howes ..... under an indenture by way of demise dated on or abowt the lst of Harch 18}1.
Following the death {intestazte) of James Brougham in 1833, William Brougham becams the agent for his
elder brother and took over the management of the Brougham estates and finances.

The matter came to a head in 1864 when Edmunds, who had by this time held the.offices of Pursebearer and
Secratary to the Commissioners of the Peace {£1,000 p.a.} and Clerk to the Nouse of Lords (£1,5G0), was
charged with embezzling some £10,000 from the Patents OFfice. At the same time, he wanted to
reguelarize his financial position vis-a-vis the Broughams. The enseing scardal did not leave the
Broughams untouched; the then Lord Chancellor, lLord Bethell, who was advised by William to allow
Edmonds te retire on a pension was forced to resiga.

Willlan {nformed Edmunds that he was aware of the arrangement entered into with his brother, and that
this would coptinue. In @ long series of letters between Edmunds, Willtiam Broughanm, and their legal
advisors, Witlias refuted all the clains made by Edmunds; and Lord Brosgham, by affidavit Erom Cannes,
said that ‘he could not recall the mortgage of £5,000. The documents were later found te be in his
library at Brougham Hall.

The case was heard in Chancery before Vice-Chancellor Steart 15 Harch 1866, Edmonds argquing that William
Brougham had used the moneys to his own purpose, and thal none had ever been paid to Margaret, widow of
John Waugh Brougham or to her children; and that he had loaned William £1,200 Williap denied that
there had never been such an understanding, and that he was not in debt to Edmunds.
Sy

The Vice-Chancellor sent the case to Lord Cranworth for arbitration, and it was held that Lord Brougham
was liable to repay the principle sum of £5,000 with interest from 24 June 1B64 (Lord Bromgham had
originally denied any knowledge of such a mortgage); that William Broughan owed Edmunds £1,200, borrowed
from him in 1845; and that Margaret Brougham and her children conld have & case against Willfam. It
is isteresting to nmote that James Leman, who had acted as Solicitor for the Broughams for many years, in
this case acted for Ednunds, and had been instromental in retrievieg the mortgage documents from
Brougham Hall.  This mortgage had originally been provided by two Hisses Robimson, and on the death of
the survivor in IB26, the trustees of Edmunds' father's estate {two of whom were Leonard Edmands and
Janes Brougham) loaned Lord Brougham £5.000 for the purpose of paying off Barbara Harrisonm,
representative of the last Miss Robinson, who had called in the loan.

William was advised by James Rigg Brovgham not to fight the case, as 'le HMarchant....will give very
awkward evidence'. Willianm agreed to a compromise, and on 27 Narch 1867 James wrote that all had been
satisfactorily settled. Willian sent him a promissory note for £3,000 - the obvious pay off to
Edmunds, then lsnguishing in jail.

Readers may draw their own conclusions abont the duplicity or otherwise of both Henry Peter Brougham and
his brother, Willian.

Ednunds was found guilty of embezzlement, but pursued his case against William: it dragged on until 1872
when, on 17 June Willian was summoned to produce 'a certain book, called your diary, in your handwriting

for the years 1863 and 1864' before Sir Charles Cockburn, the Chief Justice. The matter is contained in
full in papers held by Uaiversity College, London.

The {deas for which Henry Peter Brougham had so passionately fooght all his adult life &id not attract
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any of his successors.  from being Whigs and Liberals, the Broughams had become arch-Conservatives.
Lady Brougham died on 8 April 1884, and William, who had succeeded his brother as Baron Brougham and
Vaur of Brougham, Westmorland, and of Highhead fastle, Cumberland, on 7 May 1868, died at Brougham Hall
7 January 1886, in his 9lst year, leaving three sons and three daughters:

HENRY CHARLES, 3rd BARCN BROUGHAM AUD VAUE (see p.4l et seq.}.

Wilfred, dorm 22 Jasvary 1842, was commissioned imto the 10th Bussars and I7th Lancers, from which he
retired in 1863 after very brief service. William Brougham wrote in his diary {26 Aprii 1863): 'What a
career! at one and twenty, all over and nothing to look to ... they will tire of Righhead, £3800 or
£°1000 on fursiture thrown away and they will end in the workhouse'. William had secured for him &
majority in the Westmorland Hilitia (24 Hovember 1865), nmuch to the disgust of the subalterns (who had
threatened to resign en masse}, and gave him Highhead as a residence with an allowance of £730 p.a: He
resigned from that too, on 13 June 1868.

Wilfred married, firstly, 4 Jume 1863, Framcesca {d. 4 March 1901} only child of Gaetano Vignati He
parried, secondly, 1901, Maria Sophia, daughter of Col. Faunce of 4th King's Oun Regt., and died 1
Bovember 1904. From his Eirst marriage we have been gzble to idemtify three children, a son and two
dapghters:

Wilfred Francig born 25 November 1B64, was educated at Charterhouse and Penmbroke College,
Canbridge (BA 1888}, He married, 27 Hovember 1889, Hatilda Caroline, daughter of Alexzander
Donald Macqregor of Helrose, Guernsey. e was a Solicitor of the Supreme Court of British
Colombia, and died there in January 1938, leaving Issue:

Francis St. John Macgregor, born 18 September 1890, died nnmarried 1959 4t Poole, Dorset.
Mary Horica Anita, born 24 July 1893; married M July 1825, Frederick George Metcalfe.
Mabel Ellen, born 1866, married 16 December 1890 Laurence HacBrapne, and died § January 19it.

gvelyn Albinia, bora 1867, married § August 1890, Rev. George Lowes Dickinson, HA. There are
known descendants of this marriage.

Wilfred Brougham evidently did not live up to his father's expéctations, and as we have seen from the
evidence of Willian Broughan's diaries he was @ wastrel and ne'er-go-well: his father threatened to
disinherit hip. William's will shews that he did not, and that he in Fact was better treated tham his
younger brother, Reginald - with the provisoe that he should not become bamkrupt 'or through his own act
or default or process of law or otherwise disentitled to receive or enjoy the same..... !

On ¢ June 1871, the following article appeared in the New York Timas:

A Son Of Lord Brougham to Settle in Virginia
from the Lynchburg Virginian, June 7

"We announced yesterday the arrival at Richaond of Hom. Hr. BROUGHAM, of England. On Honday
this gentleman came to Lynchburg, and spent the day yesterday in the city, stopping at the
Norvell Nouse. We had the pleasure of an interview with him, and found him to be a most
affable, agreeable and intelligent gentleman. Hr. BROUGHAM is a son of the present Lord
BRODGHAM and nephew of the late HENRY Lord BROGGHAH and VAU [sic) the great Engiish statesman
and writer.  Until recestly he had beea in the army and held the rank of Hajor in the
reginent of which the Prince of WALES is Colome! nominally.  Major BROUGHAM sold out his
commission three months age for the purpose of tramsferring his hame to this country. He
will leave this morning for south-westera Virginia for the purpose of ingpacting the lands
there with a view to investment and permanent location.  He wishes to purchase iands for
grazing purposes,, and believes froa the information he has that Pulaski county will suit him
better than any other. it is his iatention to go extemsively into the cattle business.
Major BROUGHAH is much pleased, with what he has seen of Virginia, and thinks he will like his
fature home. If so, he erpects to be instrumental in inducing @ number of his coentrymen to
come to Virginia.
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“fe will bring his servants and labourers with him.  Such gentlemea will always find a hearty
and cordial welcome to Virginia, and we hope that many more will follow the evample of the
gentleman now among us. It may not be generally known that the BROUGHANS are related te
PATRICK RENRY, Gen. JOSEPE B JORNSTON, the SOCTWALLS of Albemarle, and nmamy of the
distinguished citizens of the past and present times.'

Strangely, there is no meation of this episode in William Brougham's diary for 1871, and it obvicusly
came to nought. We cannot coafirm the relationships given in the last sentence above - Johnston is the
only name to appear in Brougham pedigree, through the marriage of Margaret Lyndesay, eldest daughter of
James Rigg Broughan to Samuel Logan Johnston - but that marriage did not take place until 1877,

Reginald Thomss Dudley, who was born 2 December 1853, married, firstly, 25 February 1884, Auvgusta
Louisa, daughter of Arthur Wellesley Ward of Calverly Hamor, Tunbridge Wells, Rent, aad divorced wife
{on her petition} of Harry Rungerford. There were no children of this marriage, which was dissolved in
1900: THon. Hrs. Brougham died 11 Hay 1901.

Gn 14 April 1885 Hom. Reginald Brougham was admitted as an Associate Hember of the Institution of Civil
Engineers, 'having passed siz months at Edinburgh University under Professor Fleening Jenkins F.R.S.
B.Inst. C.E.; then served & pupilage of 4 years (1873-77) with Hessrs. Easton and Anderson M4, Inst.
C.E. .... and was engaged ....mainly at H.M. Dockyard, Chatham, in fitting the eagines into the
'Euryatus'; next after a professiomal tour in the United States ...... he was one of Mr. Easton's
assistants .... employed on the survey plans of the Kar Valley drainage, in Norfolk ..... and sirce the -
last named he has been occupied ...in Electric lighting matters, having had charge of the Electric-light
installation at Stafford House in 1840 ..... and ... with the projected street lighting of Liverpool for
the British Electric Light Company, whose representative he was at the Paris Exhibition in 1861.  From
January 1882 to January 1883 he was Engineer and subsequently Mamager, of the British Electric Light
Company, and has late entered into partnership with ¥r. J.K.D. Mackenzie as Consulting Civil Engineers,
devoting their attention chiefly te electrical engineering.’ {From the Candidates Circular proposing
acceptance as an Associate Member of the Inst. C.E.)

For reasons unstated, Fon. Reginald Brougham did not remain a member of the Institute, his name being
erased some time between August 1891 and Janvary 1892.  He was also admitted to the Institute of
Electrical Engineers as a Member in 1886, but was onrly in the membership lists until 1889.  In that
year, in conjunction with ¥.C. Bersey, he submitted for patent a device for controlling the drive to two
independently driven wheels-of a ‘horseless vehicle’.

Ron. Reginald Broughanm married, secondly, 1 December 1900, Isabella Augusta Baring, daughter of Samuel
Leo Schuster {by his wife, Isabella Elizabeth, eldest daughter of the 5th Earl of Orkney), and divorced
wife of Frapcis Charles Baring. He died without issue 1 June 1925,  Hon. Isabella Broughan died &t
Hente Carle 25 July 1%47.

Alice Bleanora, born 1836, married 30 November 1863, the Rev. Hon. Thomas Féwardes, rector of Brougham,
against her father's wish.  She died 19 October 1324.

Enily Evelyn, born 1839, married 23 April 1867, Capt. Francis Sandys Dugmore, also against her father's
wish, and died 13 November 1919.

Adels Mary Grenville, born 1847, mareied 20 April 1885, Sir Charlgs Archer Cook KCB, Barrister-at-law
and Chief Charity Commissioner, 1909-1918; and died 29 Jume 1933,
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HENRY CHARLBS, 3rd BARON BROUGRAM AND VAUX, XCVG {1305)

was bora 1 September 1836, educated at Eton and Trinity College, Cambridge (although he came dowa after
one year, having failed the examinations]. He then sat and passed the Civil Service eramination, and
acted as secretary to his uncle before beconing a clerk to the House of Lords. fenry Charles married

on 18 Rpril 1862, a noted beauty of her day, Adora Frances 0iga {Zo&), who died 17 December 1905, widow
of Sir Richard Courtenay Musqrave, Bt., and daughter of Peter Wells of Forest Farm, Windsor. The third
Lord Brougham was the archetypal country squire. He entertained royally and Royaity, but made no
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proper provision for the continuing nanagenent of the pstate after his death.
The resuit was to be catastrophic

The following statement is attribated to him when asked his views on education, showing just how far the
Broughans had hecome renoved from the ideals of Heary Peter:

'Wou know 1 disapprove of education altogether, and think it is a perfect injury to the country;
what 1 always ask is, who is to black my boots*

on 18 July 1899 he wrote to the Horth of England Society for Wonens' Suffrage, refusing the Vice-
Presidency of the Society on the grounds that he opposed womens' suffrage. Lady 708 Brougham also
wrote, concurring in her nushand's decision.  Henry Charles is alse notable for having introduced the
gane of Bridge into Eagland at the Portland Club in 1B94: it was then known as 'Russian whist'.  He
was algo an anthority on reses, and wrote a treatise on them - in French.

e died on 24 Hay 1927, just twenty days after the death of his oaly son,
Renry, Capt., Coldstreas guards, born 26 May 1887. He parcied, Firstly, 13 July 1908 Hon. Diana
[sabel Sturt, elder daughter of Baron Aington (served in the %0 Staff of the British Red {ross
Society in both World Wars, OBE 1919) by whon he had:

VICTOR HENRY PETER, 4th Baren Broughan and Vaur, who quite literally brought the house down
,,,,, 25 will be seen in the mext chapter.

Anthony Charles, sometime Lleutenant, South Lancashire Regt., born Bth September 1915, and
educated at Oundle School. He married, Firstly, Sonya, daughter of lvan $alzman {later diss.)
11 February 1940; and secondly, 17 March 1961, Doreen Margaret (died 1972), former wife of
Richard Francis Warren. fle was sade bankrupt in Hay, 1949 {papers in Atlantic House, Holborm
Viaduct, Vol. 75) and died 22 February 1981 leaviag twe sons:

Christopher Anthony Henty, vorn 30 April 1941, and educated privately and at the University
College of Rhodesia. fe narried Ann Elizabeth, daughter of Cecil Coldridge, at the parish
church, Hampstead, 30 December 1967;

Senjanin Pail H., bora 1972
guy Christopher, bora 1915

Adrian Charles born 4 Hovember 1945, and educated at Downside. Be married Jean Westhorpe
of Cheshire in 1967.

B{leen Killicent Eva, bort 16 August, 1912 and parried 17 August 1940 Col. Francis Thomas
Davies, late Gremadier Gnazds.

Hon. Benry Brougham's Eirst martiage was dissolved Dy givorce, 1914, and he married, secondly, 24
kpril 1913, the Baroness Hengelmi!ler, daughter of the Baron Hengevar, sometime hustro-Hungarian
Anbassador to the USA. He died § ¥ay 1921, predeceasing hig father by 20 days.

The third Lord Broughaa also left 2 daughter

Eleanor Mabel Valentise , born 14 February 1883: Lady ia Waiting to Queen Victoria Eugenie of
Spain, and died unzarried 1 February 1966.

The stage was now set for the final act.
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CHAPTER 7
THE FALL OF THE HOUSE OF BROUGHAM

Capt. the Hon. Benry Brougham having died before his father, the peerage devolved wpon the former's
elder son,

{VICTOR RENRY) PETER, bora 23 October 1909, succeeded his grandfather as Baron Bromgham & Vaur of
Brougham and Righhead Castle 24 May 1927. He found himself the sole heir to a large estate (over
6,000 acres in all, in Cumberland, Fampshire, Westmorland and Somerset}, valved in 1927 at about
£280,000. It is difficult to make fimancial comparisons, but & Rolls-Royce car cost about £1,500 at
that time, and about £130,000 to-dey, which makes the relative value of Victor's inheritance {in Rolls-
Royces) some £20m/E25m. Somewhera between the iwo figeres must be right, and it is still a lot of
money.

Wr. Mark Thomas has suggested that, being the product of a broken marriage, and having a mother whose
family were immensely more wealthy than the Broughams, these factors must have shaped his outlook on
lifa, To this I would add that the loss of his qrandfather and father, the relatives closest to him
and in theory Dbest able to advise him; and of his great-aunts and uncies, left Peter Hroughan
rudderiess.  He was, by all accounts, charming but unbalanced, totally lacking in financial self-
control, and a compulsive gambler. Within the space of eight years he had reduced his inheritance to
less than a pittance: the Hall stood empty, waiting to be sold and demolished, its treasures scattered
far and wide.

On 21 April 1931 at $t. Margaret's, Westminster, he married Violet Valerie Gwendolen, daughter of Hajor
Non. Gerald French DSG, and a grand-daughter of Field Marshal the Ist Earl Ypres (formerly Sir Johs
French, C.I.C. British Forces in France 1814-1915). Officers of the Scots' Guards provided a Guard of
fonour, and some 200 estate workers were brought to London ia a special train for the event.

The new lady Brougham, alas, did not like the home on which so much had been lavished by his great-
qrandfather and the marriage was dissolved in 1934 on the grounds of his adultery with an actress.
There wag one son of this marriage:

Julian Benry Peter, bvrn 5 October 1932.  fle was commissioned into the 12th Royal lancers, and
died as a result of the highly Infectious Acete Anterior Poliomyelitis contracted on active service,
possibly in Adem, bat present medical opinion is that it was more likely contracted in Malaya given
the virulent nature of this disease and that sir months had passed between the Lancer's departure
from Aden and his death in Malaya on B HMay 1952.  He was buried 16 May in St. Leonard's Church,
Tarner's Bill, Sussex.

"PLX' {Hon. Philip Rindersley) wrote in 'THE TIMES' that

'... his death cot short a career of great promise ... his modesty and grest charm
added to a delightful sense of humour made him beloved by all that knew him ...... he
never said or thought an unkind thing and could alwsys Find good in everything .....
the characteristic which struck ome most was the genuine pleasure which he derived
from any success by others whether on the field of sport or in the music he loved 50
much;  7he memory of his goodness and charm will always be a treasured possession.’

Lady Broughsn had married secondly Hon. Philip leyland Kindersley, younger son of Baron Kindersley, who
thus became Hon. Juliam Brouwghan's step-father.

To improve his finances, Lord Brougham turmed to gambling, and. it is said, twice broke the bank &t
Monte Carlo, althosgh there is no proof of this,  HMonte Carlo survived and had its revenge: it broke
peter, who did not survive financially.  The advent of the Ind World War, in which he served with
distinction as a Major in the Middlesex Territorial Regiment and was mentioned in dispatches, saved him
from imsediate humitiation.
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This is not the place to describe in detail all the events than saw the total dismenbering of the
Brougham estates: that has been described by Mr. Hark Thomas in 'The History of Brougham Hatl and
fighhead Castle’. tord Broughan filed for hankruptey in September 1949 and was adjudged bankrupt in
1952: he was not discharged until 1963 - and even the Einal payment of £1000 was pade by friends. His
great charm glearly carried him throsgh a wayward and carefree life, for he married secendly 3 June
1935 Hiss Jean Follett, daughter of the late Brig. Gea. 6.B.5. follett DSO {killed in WH 13;  but
this marriage aiso failed and was dissolved in 1942. Lady (Jean) Broughian garried secondly Felir Aluois
{agpar Guépin, and had custody of her two soms. She died 3 December 1992.

Lord Brougham  married, rdly, 4 June 1942, Edith Ellaline, daughter of Leonard Teichman {who alse
saems to have been known as Terry Wallacel, forner wife of Richard Vaughan Hart-Davis (A aote on the

narciage certificate gtates that she changed her name by Deed Poll). Lord Brougham died 20 June 1967,
and was sacceaded by the elder son of the second marciage:

~

NICHAEL JORN, was bora 7 hegust 1938 and gucceeded his father as Sth Baron Broughasm & Vaax 0 lupe
1867, He wag educated at the tycée Jacquard, lausanne, and Millfield School. He married
firstly Olivia Susae, daughter of Rear Admiral 6.7.8. Gray DSC, by whom he had a daughter

fenrietta, born 23 February 1985

The marriage was dissolved in 1967 on His Lordship's petition, and Lord Broughan married secondly,
17 January 1969 Catherine Ji11, danghter of William Gulliver, by whom he had a son

tharles William, born § November 1971, and who is heir apparent to the Barony
This second marriage was aisc later dissolved.
The second sof,

payid Pater, was born 22 August 1940 and educated at Sedburgh School. ie married tirstly, 19 April
1969, Moussie Christina Rargareta Nornblad of gtockholm, and has ome Soml

Benry Peter, borm 1971

The marriage was dissolved in 1977, and Hon, David Broughap married secondly, Caroline Susan, only
daughter of Hajor J.W.E.R. Tomkin H.C., and former wife of Julian Dizoa, by whom he has & 508,

Cliver Michael, born 1978.

?he Fon. David Broughan is @ pirector of Standard cpartered FLC, and Chairnan of Standard Trust ple.

LORD BROUGHAM is a past president of RoSPA, and 2 past Chairman of The Taxpayers Society. fle was @
Deputy Chairnan of Committees in The House of Lords in the previous Conservative administration..
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CHAPTER 8

EPILOGUE

ye have been asked why we have rejected the claim made in the Barke pedigree that peter Broughanm
(4.1570) married Ann, danghter and heiress of John Southaik, and thus acquired Scales Farm.

The answer is very simple. In the First place, that clain seems first to have appeared in Burke: it is
not made by either Nicolson and Bura (1777} of by futchinson (17%4). Anything in Burke is suspect
unless proved otherwise; and follouing from that, there is just no evidence of any Peter Broughan other
than he whose will we now have - and it would be just too puch of a coincidence if there were two Peter
« Broughans with sons naped feary Living at the same place {Eamont Bridge) at the same tipe. There is no
evidence of a Brougham - gouthaik marriage; and none that Gcales fara was acquired by igheritance.

Wr. Rudieston has suggested that the seed may well have been sown by Derd proughan’s father, for the
Hutchinson pediqree - published in 1794, when Henry Peter Broughsn would have been oaly § years old,

shows

thomas de Burgham, [emp. Philip & Mary
|
I
| i

Benry Peter

1

|
Thomas ob.sp.1607 Henry
1st n. a dasghter of Wharton

of Kirkby-Thore

|
. Jane m. to Aglionby
nd m. Catherine, daughter of
Pallowfield of Melkinthorpe

The pedigree then carries the tine on to leary Broughan the Younger, and - which is most interesting -

shows only one marriage for Henry Brougham of Srales, to Mary Slee.

The only evidence that we have of Scales pefore 1665 is that Heaty Broughan purchased some land there
from Robert Sosthwycke in 1618, but it is not nentioned in his will. The one common thread that knits

three generations of Broughans is, however, Eamont Bridge.

peter Brougham described himself as 1of Eamond Bridge’, and inplies that the property has been in the
family for some time: 'this house for manie years nas not been spoiled mot devided.”

Renry Broogham of plackhall, who allegedly enlarged Scales,. does not gention it in his will. He does,
however mention Eamont ridge, and although the will is s0 badly stained at this point as to Dbe
illegible, +est' can be made out. Longest, perhaps?

Thoras Broughanm, Henry's son, died intestate in 1648, and was described by John Fleming as "of Eamont
Briggend*, not of Scales.

pduce that the real creator of Scales was Henry Broughan, 1618-1698, who, according to
By comparison, Henry's

¢ John Lowther, the richest

Frop all this we @
Ednand Sandford, puiit him a fine house tHETE  wenennonn and estate £300.°
cousin, Daniel Fleming, had £1800: Daniel Fleming was, with the exception 0

Cavalier CORPOREE in Westmorland.
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Another question that arises is: 'Why did the first Lord Brougham invent the fabrications that CRH has
demolished?®  The answerl lies, we think, not only in the sort of person that he was, but also in the
society that he lived in, especially from the time he hegan to be noticed in London around 1410/1B12.

He was aot of the aristocracy ( in the Grey government of 1831/34 he was the only pember who was nof an
aristocrat), yet he moved among themr and - up to 8 point - was accepted by them. fle was not wealthy -
not by their gtandards. 'R mam can jog along comfortably on £40,000 2 year,* said one of then {quoted
by David Cecil in his biography of Lord felbourne).  We should aot like to be too dogmatic, but a
recent article in 2 leading mewspaper indicated that that figure could be multiplied by at least 100,
and possibly by 28 nuch as 250, ko give it 3 present day valee - and it was virtually tax free.

Against their country estates and lugurious London houses, he conld pit some 2,500 acres with a very
nodest Hall in Westmoriand; 2 nodest house in Grafton St. (which would hardly compare gven with James
Broughan's Berkeley Square house); and his wit, charm and eloquence.  Tis wife, the former Hary A
Eden (also recorded as Harianne), although not of the pstahlished aristocracy, was certainly of one of
the aldest Cumberiand families: the farl of puckland was her cousin. Bis earnings as am atterney aie
said to be of the order of £8,000 per year - extraordinarily high for the time, but a mere fifth of the
£40,000 needed 'to jog along confortably’, and, and we have seen parlier, a long way short of Lerd
Lyndhurst's vast incone from salary and perks of office.

To give hinself @ standing in this copmunity, Lord Broughas obviously felt that he needed more thar mere
respectability {which wasn't rated too highly, anyway).  Yet he had no need fo imvent. Through his
nother's ancestors, the Robertsons of Struan, he had an ancestry as good as anyone could wish for; and
nis Fleming ancestors provided 3 similar hackgroend. In neither case, however, coeld Henry Petef
Broughan quarter nis arms with those of his ancestors: the nallpark of inheritance. 8o he {or his
brother William) invented, and, as CRE has pointed out, they got away with it - larqely, we suspect,
because no-one bothered to check his statements. (CBE has suggested that the Colleqe of Arms may have
peen strapped for cash at the time, and none too fussy ip its vetting of clains foI grants of arms).
Except, of course, the Vaur family, who derided his claim; and & Wrs. E. Hartin, late futchinson, who
wrote to Lord Broughaa claiming the title for her Father's family as tthe sole descendants of the eldest
hranch of the Richmonds.' Finaneial circumstances prevented the fanily from pursuing the claim at law.

In his reply to her letter, Lord Brougham side-stepped the issue {as well he night), and wrote: v
know absolutely nothing pxcept that upon the strong representatioas of my family (who understand these
things} and of the eralds (who ought to understand them) I have preferred my claip to the Barony
....... but....you mistake my clain entirely as 1 do not claip ...thro' the Richmonds....hut from an
ancestor two generations higher up and the glder branch.

To which one might add: syhich branch?®  But the amswel is revealing for all that. "My family
understand these things'. yhich members of the family? Janes and William - or was it just William?
Harried to the daughter of a Baronet, and certainly no Liberal-hig like his eldest brother, William
Brotghan was socially ambitious, and on his own admission had already taken over the estates while his
older Brother James Was still abive.  James had nanaged the estates guring his lifetime, and one could
speculate as to what might have hagpened had James not died in 1833; but it was William who enlarged
the Hall {which was to hecore @ millstone about the necks of his descendanis}, financed by, and with the
obvious concarrence of, his eldest brother {although even he wanted to call a halt to the ezpense in
1848), and creating what became kmown as 'the Windsor of the North'. He also know from his diaries
that William took considerable inferest im 'his genealogy', and that he had been a member of the Fublic
Record Commission as ome ‘having considerable historical or aatiquarian knowledge'.  Also we cannot
imagine the first lord Brougham spending time trying fo alter (18 indentures to make it appear that
flizabeth {Lamplugh) was the pother of Commissioner John Broughan and his hrothers. 3il in ali,
William was the most likely candidate.

§e are grateful to CRH for the information about Hrs. Martin and Lord Brougham's reply.
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CHAPTER 9
THE DISINHERITED

THE FAMILY OF JOHN WAUGH BROUGHAM

JOEN WAUGH {see chart 5 for the extest of his family) whose name is promounced, in the Scottish
fashion, 'Waffe', was born in Edinburgh B February 1785.  Nothing is known of his early life, but it
is probable that he, too, attended Edinburgh Righ School. On 18 September 1809 he married Hargaret,
third daughter of James Rigg of Downfield, Fife, and of Horten. Be is said to have been 2 wine
nerchant of Edinburgh whose business failed, and that his eldest brother repaid his debts, but we have
sp far been unable to verify either of these statements.  Charles trevitle recorded ia his diary that
Fenry Peter Brougham took his brother's family under his wing and supported them - though Hilliam
Broughan's diaries and correspondence between the first Lord Brougham, his brother William and their
sother tend to indicate that the support was ninimal.

After the collapse of his business John Waugh went to live in Boulogne, where at least some of his
children were educated (although both Henry and Patrick appear in the registers of the Edinrburgh
academy duripg the years 1824-1830), and he died there 22 September 1829 leaving four sons and four
daughters.  James Loch, whose brother John was a director of the East India Company {both were fanily
frignds), wrote to Aenry Peter Brougham:

"My Dear Brougham,

We have just heard through my brother of poor John's early Fate,and the condition that I

tear he has left his family in......ny object in writing to you...is to say that as long
a5 ny active powers exist I shall be happy when and if possible and in any way to aid you
In helping them, or in anything my interest can be of U5€.. 0 vevinrns y

fenry the eldest son, and by the entail of his grandfather's will, the presumptive heir to the
Brougham estates, was born 7 February 1813.  He was adnitted as an Addiscombe Cadet of the East
India Company in 1830, sponsored by his uncle, William Brougham, and by John Loch. On 9 June 1836
he was posted to the 4th Light Cavelry at Karnaul, and in the cold seasen of 1838739 he accompanied
the reginent on escorf duty with the Governor-General, hord Auckland, to the camp of the Aray of the
Indus for the meeting with the Haharajah Ranjit Singh.

The young fenry seems to have inherited some of the instability {Professor New called it 'a Streak
of insanity', and Hr. Hark Thomss suggests that it may have been inherited from William Stee} which
ran through the Brougham family.  On 5 Janwary 1838 lord Brougham wrote to his brother William:
*  thare never was a cadet in this world who spent 300 2 year above his pay.... Lord Anglesey's
officers in his cavalry regiment ..... were all men of large fortunes - For a pauper to go in thus
shows such a want of common decency as I never saw.’

Once again, Henry Peter Brougham seenms to have come to the aid of his wayward relatives, for po less
a person than the Governor-Generzl, Lord Auckland and his sister, Miss Emily Eden, took an interest
in the young fenry.  On 29 May 1836, Miss Eden had written from Barrackpore:

"My Dear Lord Broughanm,

I do not know where this will find you - perhaps sipping wine from your owa vineyard

in the south of France - but you will be glad to know that we are all alive, done to a
. turn - or perhaps I might say overcocked ...... tooking to the rains or hoping for a

thunderstors.....

"Then as to your nephew - I had a great mind to write you a cormonplace sentence - but
upon the whale I think it would rather amuse you to know how utterly all our
endeavours to become acquainted with him have failed - we asked him as soon as we
arrived to cone and stop a few days with us here at Barrackpore, which is the only
distinction we can pay that is not formal - nothing can equal the formality and bore
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of cur great dinmets put here we have a very spall society and live as much like any
Baglish ..... fapily in @ villa as we cap - it is @ poof ipitation but the best we cap
pake.  George tried himseif .....» and begged all of us to get as puch acquainted
with your nephew aS possible, a8 for his name's sake ha shonid like pereafter to 4o
something for him .....- put we totally faited in getting 2 word from hip - the A. de
(anps - who are chiefly young mek and lively also were repulsed, and then our Scotch
doctor who is a clever Ral ..o drove hin in his gig ... and he too after two days
confessed himself utterly baffled. [ pelieve the poor boy has for thrae years lived
in a very small station where there is hardly any society and no formal society at atl

....... he has a great look of yeu - not s0 animated as you may probably quess but he

hag a Brougham looX ..eve { only wish he nad better spirits ... On€ of the few
pleasuzes I have nere is being civil to the friends of ay friends ....ove put 1 shall
always think your nephew the post silent man I have gver meb ...oooieeeers

Yours affectionatelf,
EE*
rord Auckland wrote 10 March 1838:
fiy Dear Brougham,

[ saw your nephew many ponths ago and Emily will have told you with all frankness the
ippression he ynhappily nade upon B veeaes 1 understand his Conmanding OFficer has
written to you ...... and here is all the evil and the good which 1 have learned of hin.
Fe is in sadly reduced citcunstances. dis debts amount to mOTE thas £1000 - he has had
pany judqements against hin in the Court of Requests and was in consequence in receipt
of scarcely any of his pay and could not dine at the Mess and was parting with the last
remains of bhis personal property to pay for the maintenance of his horses. He had had
bad companions ..... and had not made friends with his guperior officers - on the other
hand his manmer with me was frank and honest and he geened painfully aware af his
gitpation. His present appointoent anounts to about £400 a year, and with prudence he
could live on about £200, but he stands first for promotion if thought worthy of it by
hig colomel vovennns [ found he had one kind and respectable friend in 8 DI, philips in
whose hands T placed.3 small sum sufficient to pay for three (blank) his mess and stable
nouths, saail personal expenses and have given him the best advice foI the gradual
liquidation of his expenses ......-

Host truly yours,
huckland®

fenry Broughan died at Karpaul 10 October 1839, We do not knoW yhether of not he ever got out of
debt.

patrick (whose name yag to cause much confusion in the present-day family), was botn 12 June, and
yas baptised patrick, at St. Giles, tdinburgh by Rev. yiliian Robertson on 17 hugqust, 1815
After the death of his eldet brother, and following the death of the lst Lord Brougham, he hecane
the most senior nemper of the family, by right of blood, the position now neld by his great-
grandson, Hr. Peter Hax Broughan of Brishane, hustralia.

fie was also known also as vpeter* - and was certainly referred to as such by his uncles and his
paternal grand-nother - and early editions of Burke also had nin as Peter. His pldest sister,
Hargaret, in her will, called hin patrick Rigg, but the latter name does not appear in the reqister
of births.  Patrick teft Scotland for australia in 1838, and a fuller account of hig life follows
on p.49 et seq.

John, alse porn in Edinburgh and baptised there 17 Way, 1821, He too, nigrated to pustralis,
shere he joined his older brother. Because their lives were SQ {ntertwined, it is almost
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inpossible to write about one withogt reference to the other, and what is kaown of John Broughan's
life and family in Australia is included with the zccount of Patrick.

James Rigy, born in Edinburgh on 3 Hay 1826+ for his life and family see p. bl and Chart 5.
William, who was born 27 Novenmber 1828, and died 2 April 1828,

Warmaret, born im 1815, married her cousinm, Patrick Rigg, younger soan of James Home Rigg of
Downfield, Tarvit, on 6 May 1841, She died in 1898 lesving & son and three daughters.

Eleasora, born in 1816, married 4 September 1845 Renry Mowbray, 3rd son of John Howbray of
"Rartwood", Widlothian. She died in 1887, and I have so far been unable to discover whether she had

any descepdants or not.

Ratherine, born in 1817, married 21 July 1875 John Monteith Douglas, son of the Rev. Robert Douglas
of Kilbracken, Scotland.  She died in 1884

Hary, born in 1822, married Rev. Walter Davidson in August 1855, and died 11th Hay 1876 leaving two
50N5.

Lyndesay (written Lindsay in all the reference books), who was born in 1624 and died 1843,

PATRICK AND JOHN BROUGHAM IN AUSTRALIA

PATRICK, following the death of his brother Henry in 1839, stood to inherit the Brousghan sstates under
the will of his grandfather, Heary Broughan the Younger, {who entailed the estates to the eldest
surviving male descendant for several generations), by virtue of being the eldest surviving nephew of
the first Lord Brougham. Be could mot have inherited the title, for Lord Brougham's patent of peerage
was to 'the heirs male of his body'.  Why Patrick was disinherited has been a cause of mystery,
discussion, and inveation amongst his descendants.  The answer seemed to lie in letters batween bord
Broughan and his youngest brother, Willian (who was to inherit both title and estate}, and which came to
lght only in 1984 among the Broughan papers at University College Library, London - but see p. 37, which
shows guite a different picture.

Sometime, perhaps late in 1837 the young Patrick seems to have indulged in the purchase of & horse, and
in riding lessons, to the tune of some £70, which, of course, he did not have. ‘*He took the money from
3 check {sic) of his employers®, wrote Lord Brougham to his brother William, *and was found out the same
day or the next’.  Patrick was penitent, and that episode seeped to have been smoothed over, but more
was to follow - we do not know what it was pat it caused Lord Broughanm great anget.  On 11 September

1837 he wrote again to William:

*No doubt it is a dreadful aad most snaccountable thing ..... the great part would certainly
be to get them to take him back. Perhaps they would after he had been sway for a year. He
could be sent to a Welsh parson's - there are one or two to whom ! gave livings and who could
be relied upon for keeping him strict and cheaply.  Any expense beyond the least possible is
to be avoided ....... a creature who has shewen such vile dispositions should not be allowed to

interfere with ofhers ........ -
On 25 December 1837 another letter to 4illiae indicates ferther misdemeanours:

‘Here.is a pretty fellow! I beiieve there never was such a set of creatures bora. They ate
desirous of nothiag but 2 gaol. I would not send the wrekch a pound to rescue hin from lying

there all his life - not if I had 2 nillion.

you must advise Marg(are)t on no account to write a word to Mrs. B, If [ go to B{roughan} I
shall say not 2 word.'
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The letter ends sbruptly, so there may be pages nigsing - but Lord Broughan nad a habit of not signing
family letiers.

On 8 January 1838 he wrote again, but only a tantalising fragment remains:

"Writing to the scapegrace idiot nigself is useless - It is all up with hin. But to keep the
rest From following, I really think M(arqaret) should be warned and they - especially the

sisters ........ '
This episcde has been greatly magnified by Margaret (arty in ner book 'Willian Broughton and the Kennedy
Connection’ {1987} in which the horse became a Lippizaner. There i no evidence for this assertion,

which, to alter slightly the words of ¥.§. Gilbert, *fails to add artistic verisinilitude to an
otherwise bald and unconvincing narrative'

it seems very possible that the young patrick Foresaw little future for himself after his father's early
death.  His older brother was in the army of the fast India Company, and - as far as the fanily would
nave been aware, was to be the presumptive infieritor of the Brougham estates. To what exteat they krew
of Henry's indebtedness we can only guess, but our belief is that they did not know:  Henry would not
have told them, and a littie time had yet to pass bafore Lord Brougham got to kaow about it from Lord
Auckland. Patrick took a gamble - a very siupid ore - and lost. it is interesting to note that
Lord Broughan's reaction to a later pscapade by William's second som, that of stealing at scheel, was to
shrug it off, just as William Broughaa shrugged off the enormous debts piled up by his second and third
sons, compared with which Patrick's £10 was 2 drop in the ocean. It is clear from later
correspondence in the Brosgham papers that the children of John Waugh Brougham weze to be trgated
differently from those of William Brougham {see p.}7, chapter &}. By that time Henry Brougham had
nellowed: he had lost both of his own children, and he was prepared to overlook childish paughtiness.
Perhaps Patrick committed his sin too early.

According to his Journals, allegedly kept from the day of his departure from Scotland, Patrick sailed
from Leith on the barque *Countess of Durhan’ 11 April 1819. What had happened to him in the
intervening year? s far as fanily papers are concerned, he vanished into thin air - to a Welsh
parson’s, no doubt? .

The answer to this puzzle came from shipping records which EBY's sister found in Sydney: Patrick was
just twelve months out in his date! His Journals had quite obviously been written late in life {a
note on one page says: "written in 1895'), and his memory was imperfect. He had sailed from Leith 12
hpril 1838, on the 'Countess of Durhan', master Andrew Johnstome, as & cabin {i.e. first class)
passenger, and arrived in Sydney 18 September.

It was a tedious voyage. patrick recorded that his last glimpse of Scotland was of the Flamnen
1slands after rounding John o' Groats; and after being becaimed for three veeks (presumably in The
Doldrums), did not see land until they sighted Cape Pillar off the southern tip of Tasmania - then known
as Van Diemen's Land.  Although this seens unlikely, given the length of the voyage in those days, it
was not unusual for ships to make the voyage non-stop.

0f nis life before this we know nothing. It is reasonabla to suppose that beth he and John received
their schooling at Rev. William Bury's school in Boulegne, as their elder brother, Renry, had done. It
is also believed by members of the family that after their father’s death, the family was assisted by
Hesry Peter Broughan. I have found no proof of this, and further papers at BCL library indicate that
Hargaret Rigg's marriage settienent, provided by her father and Henry Peter Brougham, was for the tinmes,
qenerous.  Further research in Edinburgh by Br. Arthur Brack seems to indicate that John Waugh did mot
die leaving a huge debt {believed by the family to have been of the order of £10,000}: indeed, his
widow's will shows that she was in comfortable circumstances.

patrick had further assistance from his uncle in the form of letters of introdsction te Sir John
Franklin, governor of Tasmania, with whom he dined frequentiy during his stay of fourteen days In
Robart, to Covernor Gipps of NSW, who in turn introduced him to other people of note. One of these,
ajor Runter (whose name lives on {n the Hunter River, now a major dairying and winemaking arez)
introduced him to @ Hr. Hanning of *Ultime House', #ho had extensive land holdings in the Yass &rea ia
southern New Sonth Wales.
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JOBK, the third son of John Wangh Broughsn, sailed for Australia, in the ship "Duncan® on 29 May 1839 as
3 steerage passenger, and joined his brother somewhere along the Lachlan river in south-west Kew South
Wales, where Patrick was searching for straying cattle: he was learning station work on one of the
Kanning properties, and had been provided with a horse, saddle and saddie bags by Mamning. John brought
good news: lLord Brougham, had sent £200 to help them become established: Again, it seems very
likely that John saw the possibility of greater prospects in 2 new land for a young man with little
poney than in Edinburgh.

pater that year, accompanied by Edward Bowe Woodford, 't qood 3 mate as ever lived. He was plder than
I, but notwithstanding that I was put in full charge and off we went®, Patrick took part in a drove of
1000 head of cattie and 5000 sheep to Port Phillip, @ journey of some 400 miles through country which
was still inhabited by aborigines, who resented the appearance of white men on their hunting lands.
The route had been explored some 20 years earlier by Hamilton Fume, who was to Dbecome related to the
Brougham brothers by their later marriages with daughters  of Johm Yennedy of Guaning. {the inter-
narriages between the Humes, Kennedys and Dights are a story ia themselves, as revealed in the history
of the Rume family, 'Beyond The Borders® by Stuart fanilton Hume, privately published in 1992).

In 1842 Patrick went to manage ‘Keryong' another ¥amming property, and later the same year he and Johp
were offered the managership of ‘Ilialong’, {the adjoining property was owned by the father of 'Banjo
Paterson, 3 prominent Australian balladist) in the Yass district, with a 50 per cent share in both stock
increases and profits. Whilst on Kuryong Patrick had applied for, and had been granted, servants as
a pew settler.  These would have been convicts. They stayed on Iliaiong until 1845.

[n 1845, again accompanied by Woodford, patrick had explored the headwaters of the Hurray, and in s0
dofng clinbed Ht. Kosciuske - which is more than this great-grandson has done despite all the advantages
of podern travel!- but found no suvitable fand.  Later in the same year, once more accompanied by Edward
Woodford, he explored westward along the Billadong Creek, in the area where the town of Jerilderie (made
fanous by the outlaw, Hed Kelly, who in 1875 held up the whole town in the process of robhing the bank)
now stands, and formed 'Coree' (134 000 acres) the first of several stations in the Riveripa district
that the brothers and their Kennedy, Desailly, Carne and Brodribb relatives were to own.  Patrick was
the first settler to occupy land on the Billabong Creek, where that stream enters the saltbush plains,
Johs formed 'Chah Sing' about the same time, but later sold this to Thomas (arne.

in the course of time, the following properties, strung out along some 100 miles or so of the Billabong
(reek, were formed:

Wanganella «..ovovvennnns William Brodribb {m: Elizabeth Kennedy)
BUBAUTE .. vnerenrinnnnaen John Kennedy {m: Elizabeth HcDougal}
Chah 8ing .ovvvrevenees Thoras Carne {n: Ellen Kennedy)
Jeritderie ..o.covuvnnnns Janes Yennedy  {m: Annie Hume)
Hartwood «ovvvneninerrnn Patrick Brougham (m: Hary Kennedy)
BOITEGAN vvvvvrennnnenns Willian Kennedy {m: Annie Gayer)

COIRE vvvereronannnanan George Desailly (m: Emma Kennedy)

Yanco and Gum Swamp .... Edward Kenoedy (r: Frances Gayer)
North Cuirabungarung .... John Brougham {m: Carcline Kemaedy)
WURRAMIITA 2vnsernvennnn Robert Kenmedy  ({m: Hary Bozzon Huae)

John was the first of the brothers to marry. On 18 May 1846 he married Caroline, the Fiith davghier of
John Kenvedy of Keswycke, near Guaning, HSK. It vas 3 double wedding, for Caroline's older sister,
Eilen, married Capt. Thomas Caine, son of an Irish Goards ofFicer. Thomas Carne had taken up land on
the opposite side of the Billabong Creek to John. Patrick married Mary Xennedy in the Church of England
at Albury, NSW, on 12 September 1853, where the cerenony was performed by Rev. Hemry Elliott, Chaplain.

pREERRREERRRERRRERARY
A DIVERSICH: THR KENNEDYS

Joha Kennedy was the son of James Raworth Rennedy, whose father, Rev. John Kennedy was vicar of Teston
{proncunced 'Teeson', near Haidstone) and rector of Wettlestead, Kent. He was was the son of another
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Rev. John Kennedy, who had been rector of Bradiey in Derbyshire from 1732 uatil his death In 1782, a
noted mathematician and author of 'Scripture Chronology'. He married Catherine Raworth at Mamsfiald,
Nottinghamshire, 6 January 1737.

3ames Raworth Kennedy {born 1734} was 8 widower when he migrated to Australia in 1795 {ship *Sovereign’,
arrived Sydeey 5 November) with three daughters; Elizabeth, Jane and Louisa Sophia; and his usmarried
sister, Elizabeth Hore Kennedy. Fanily legend has it that he and his childrer and sister migrated
pacause they did not get along with Rev. John Remnedy's second wife, although this i not borne out by
correspondence between Hrs. Kennedy and her step-daughter, Hrs. Howe. James Kennedy died 19 Jduly
1826, and was buried in the churchyard of St. Hatthew's, Windsor, NOW.

The inscriptions on his tomb record:

SRCRED TO THE MBMORY -
of
James Raworth Kennedy,

who departed this life 19 July 1826 after a residence of 31 years in the Colony, aged 72 years
gliza Charlotte Dargin, who departed this life 13 June 1834 aged 13 years
Eliza Charloette Dargin, who departed this life 21 October 1834 aged 4 months
Richard Pearce Howe, who departed this life 17 July 1836 aged 10 years

Louisa Sophia Kemnedy who departed this life 12 Januvary 1837 aged 47 years.

We have no record of James's marriage, or of the birth of his children or the death of his wife,
reputedly a Miss Pearce, & name which would appear to be substantiated by Richard Pearce flowe, his
grandson, the son of Jane Kennedy and John Howe.  The elder Fliza Charlotte Dargin, borp 1801, was the
illegitimate daughter of Jane Kennedy. She later married Thomas Dargin.

Janes Kennedy's apparently™orly son John, born circa 1781, arrived in the Colony in 1794 by the ship
'gurprize’ according to a petition (not dated) noted by Govermor Brishane im 1825. There is still 2
nystery as to why he arrived in the colony, 85 a boy of about 13, before his father, but it seems that
he may have been in trouble with the law, and had escaped punishment through the intervestion of William
Wilberforce, a family friend. e do pot know what he did in the intervening period,  bat it is
possible that he gtayed with his uncle, Hatthew Pearce, who had also migrated to Australia per Surprize
1794, 1n 1799 John Kennedy was granted 160 acres at Prospect Aill {about 25 miles south-west of
Sydney), where he formed Nettlestead Farm, and a further 100 acres at Cabramatts {an adjacent area) im
1809,

0n 30 August 1813 John married Caraline, the Illegitimate daughter of a convict, Sarah Catapodi {or
Best), who had arrived in the colonmy in 1798 at the invitation of His Majesty's Government "for having
stolen a cotton counterpane to the value of five shillings, the property of John Finch'., Caroline was
then about 12 months old - she was born on 11th Karch 1797. The Xennedys had five sons and seven
gaughters, of whom two daughters died in Infancy.

Jares may have remained at Prospect, but in 1822 Hettlestead Farm was sold, and Jomes died at the hone
of his daughter, Jane Howe in Windsor. John had been granted 100 acres at Appin, where he formed
'Teston Fara'. The comvict-built house still stands, little altered from the original, and still knowa
by its original same. This was enlarged to 300 acres in 1816 by & further grant from Governor
Kacquarie, ‘in censideration of Mr. Kennedy's industry and greatexertions to improve his present farm’,
Sone years ago, the present owner added a new kitchen, and found, under the house, sacks of old papers
contairing information about convict labourers. Yot knowing their value, he burnt them.

The 1828 census of NSW shows John Kemnedy to be 46, and Caroline 31: and their chitdren as:
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Eliza 13 {m: Willian Brodribb}

John 11 {m: Emily HeDougal)

Ellen 9 (n: Thomas B. Carne}

James 7 {n: Annie Bome}

Caroline § [m: John Broughan)

Robert 3 im: Hary Bozzom Hane)

Hary § months. (m: Patrick Brougham)

shree children do not appedt in the census:

¥itlian {n: Anpie Elizabeth Gayer)
Edward {m: Frances Gayer)
Emma  (m: George Peter Desailly)
Two earlier children, Blanche and Grace, had died before 1828,

These narriages produced a total of 83 grandchildren for Jokn and Caroline, though many did rob survive
into adulthood.

Janes Kenpedy's sister, Elizabeth Hore Yennedy, narried Andrew Hamilton Hume, son of Rev, James Hume,
Preshyterian minister of the parish of Moira, Co Down, at Parramatta 17 September 1786,  Andrew was a
pan of wild and spendthrift ways, and was disinherited by a wealthy uncie, thes throwing hin on his own
resources. Despite having a quick temper, he seems to have been generally 2 kindly man who disapproved
strongly of the way convicts were often treated, pspecially on the long voyages to Awstralia.

There were numerous marriages befween second and third generation Hume and Kennedy descendants, but the
nost fanons Rume of all was Hamilton, who from an early age was destined to become one of Australia’s
nost noted explorers, for which he was to be elected FRGS.  He had parried Elizabeth, daughter of
another pair of early settiers, John and Hannah Dight, and dsp 1873,  Elizabeth survived hin by 11

years.

It is in Caroline and Hary, two of the younger daughters of Joha and Caroline Rennedy, that we are
particularly interested, for Caroline married john Brougham, and her young sister, Mary, married
Patrick. From the date of John's marriaqe, entil patrick's venture in Fiji in 1873, the two families
were rarely separated.

ey,

HHHHHMHHHHH!H!H

John Broughan and Caroline settled on *Chah Sing®, a property that was not far from 'Coree’, and their
first five children were born there. Until the various rums were occupied by their owners,Patrick
travelled reqularly between the properties {Jerilderie, Chah Sing, Coree and Moulamein, 3 distance of
over 100 miles: the blacks called hin 'Moulamein galiie', or Houlamein Walkahout) acting as 2
peripatetic managet: it ig hard country even now, and in those days must have been very difficult and

dangerous indeed.
J.E.P. Bushby, in bis book t2althysh Country”, guotes from 2 settler's letter of 1844:

"It was 2 few nonths previous to our octupation of Warbreccan country that our nearest
nejghboors. ...had been attacked by blacks and many of their cattle speared as well as horses,
the blacks surrounding their hat....{which) being perforated with square cut holes on the
sides permitted their firing at the patives and keeping thea at bay....but the ammunition
beconing exhaustad, the blacks took courage and advanced with firebrands....intending to set
fire to the inflammable bark roof....but just at this crisis, wp rode -.... three or four
mounted police ...... (and) the blacks dispersed, making for the reed-heds of the river.'

This incident took place at Barratta, which was not far from Coree.

William Brodribb, later to be 3on. #.h. Brodribb FRGS HLA, parried another of the Kemnedy sisters,
Elizabeth, and purchased "Wanganella® {a property of about 120 square miles some 70 miles west of
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coree"), which later became fagous for its merino sheep under the Peppin family. grofribh had
previously had a grant of land adjoining the Rennedys at Teston Farm.  When Johm and Patzick
returnedfron Patrick's wedding, having taken the ppportunity to visit thair Kennedy relatives at the
sape time, Brodribb placed his family {n the care of the Broughams for the return journey.  In his
book, *Recollections of an pustralian Sgquatter®, he wrote:

*The Brougham party travelled in two carriages with four horses and a spring cart, and @ horse
to carry provisions, pedding etc,  They camped out each night under calico tents, but soon
after the start heavy rains set in and the roads {roads...in 18337 ....PB¥) became impassable
and hoggy. Consequently, the journey from Ellersiie to Jerilderie, which should have been
accomplished in fourteen of fifteen days, took over 2 month.

'in some instances my wife and children had to remain and sleep as best they could in the
carriage, and what was worst of all, the party ran shert of provisions....’

There were no corner shops in that part of the world in those days - and there are very few even now -
and one has to marvel at the fortitude shown By both sexes, children as well as adelts, in overcoming
the every-day hardships of the road. Again, we turn to 3.E.P.Bushby for & description of the
conditions of the roads:

o5t coaches tan at night and passengers were often called upon to endure rough rides over
nalf-formed roads which were 2 series of pot-holes during the winter, while they vwere
enveloned in clonds of dust during a normal summer ..... gnglish style coaches suffered great
damage, but the American Wellg-Fargo coach was much nore suecessfol. ... skilled drivers were
needed on all routes, were exposed to the elements, and had to exercise some ingenuity to keep
warm .... there were 40 gates to be opened on the Deniliquin-Tocumwal run (60 miles), and if
the coach did not have a passenget willing to ohlige, it was necessary ko carry @ gate-cpener
....... veather conditions - or the effects of them - had an important bearing on the success
or otherwise of any early coach trip...water, too much or too little, was the key ...... too
puch water, either in the form of flaods or heavy rains, made travel ....even ZOI€ tedious and
hazardous tham suamer conditions .....

' ... an Albury coach came to grief in the Tupal flood of 1867 .... the tean, when put to the
cresk, turned dowastrean with the current .... the coach was caught ia a tree and the horses,
plunging about trying to free themselves, quickly drowned .... the driver staged with the
tree-bound coach, and the only passenget clinbed another tree: both were rescued.

' on another occasion, the Ray coach 'with a full load of passengers, Inside and out' took
1% hours to make the trip (75 miles) because four inches of rain had fallen during the
journey.

"Trpe stumps also caused problems, especially at night. contractors were required to cut
trees siz inches below ground level, but in wet weather road surfaces became unevenly worm,
and ruts soon became twice that depth, leaving tree stumps half exposed {or at night, not
exposed at all) with disastrous consequences.’

{n 1852/53 Coree was sold to the pesaillys {George Desailly had garried Emma, the youngest of the
Kennedy sisters), and Chah Sing to a Major Firebrace. John then formed North Currabunganusg, and
patrick formed Hartwood from South Currabunganung and Red Plains, which adjoined it. Hartwood was
clearly named for Eleanor Brougham, their sister, whe nad married Henry Mowbray of Hartwood, Hidlothian,
Toward the ead of the 1850s, both suffered tragedy. The Billabong had never been a reliable source of
vater - essential in a 379np rainfall area - and drought and rabbits had ruined their properties, Ther
diphtheria struck their young families. John and Caroline lost four little girls - Eleanor Bianche,
Alice, Caroline Ada and Margaret fama - in two weeks: their graves are close by the homestead at
Bartwood. patrick and Hary lost their little Blanche: and the Brodribbs lest their eldest dasghter,
Grace. These children are also thought to have been puried on Hartwood, but there is no trace of the
grave.  Followirg this, the Broughams returned to Edipburgh in 1839, staying there and in Lordon for
abont twelve months. Whilst in Edinburgh they were vigited by Lord Brougham, who had recently been
installed as Chaacellor of Ediaburgh University, and the visit seems to have been & very happy one.
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patrick remained cn fartwood for another three years, pat sold it in 1884 for £16 000, a move he later
reqretted. "The pesaillys had sold roree', he said, ‘and I was in a manner led by them but I only am
to blame.’ It was probably the worst decision of his life. Later ouners have ail done well on
Hartwood, and for many yea:s it was one of the show properties of the Riverina.  Patrick later formed
Tarella, some 50 niles north of Wilcannia in an area which to-day provides some of Mustralia's finest
wool from a 200-250em rainfall - but for Patrick a of bad seasons - and the rabbits so tecently
imported from England - brought 2 loss of 20 000 sheep and all that he had.

patrick was in good company. Yith John's second som, John Waugh on Poolamacca, Alfred Desailly on
yetallie, Robert Kennedy on Wonnazpinta, and the inminent arrival of John, the move porth and west nust
have seemed to be @ good one. ngt the country was soon to pe eaten out by rabbits, assisted by
drought, and, mo doubt, an element of over-stocking.

John had remained on Currabunganung, but he, too, was defeated by & T8D of bad seasons. In 1870 the
‘banks forsclosed and he lost everything.  In 1875 he took up Kajulyah, described in Patrick’s Jouragl
as 'on the plains to the north of Hay'. Ye have not been able to identify this property with
certainty, but it seems tikely that it was the place shown as Kajuligah, north-east of Ivanhoe in
western NSW - a very long way to the north of Hay! - but not all that- far from rarella. Very little is
known of his life from that time on. It is known that he visited flis son, John Waugh Brougham at
Poolamacca, near the south Rustralian border, north of Broken Rill. Broughan’s Gate, a renindet of
the old colonial days, with custons posts at the border crossings, 15 still shown on some maps, though
it ig some way from the gtation. John Broughaa died at Poolamaccs, and was puried there 18 September
1890.  Caroline, who had been born on Teston Farm at Appin had predeceased him at the age of 55 in
1878, and was buried in Brighton cemetery, in Victoria.

J.P. Bushby {'Saltbush Country') makes it clear that Patrick became involved in local affairs from his
parliest times. on the pillabong.  With Thomas carne and two others he was appointed a magistrate for
the Deniligquin district im 1847, Dbut there was 1o constable, and the fout pagistrates lived some
distance from the town {in patrick and Thomas's case, 70 miles). Additionally, as late as 1856 'there
was no court house, N0 lock-up, and no accompodations whatsoever', largely due to political ineptitude
in Sydney.  The sench refused to accept responsiblity for the escape of prisomers, and was largely

ineffectual.

patrick was also involved in moves toward separation of the Riverina District from New South Wales,
pointing out that..... ‘Rere is an inland territory, purely pastoral, of larger ertent than the British
Isles, which Sydney politicians have failed to legislate for, politically and socially disfranchised’.

dithout support from major areas like Albury and Wagga the novement gradually gollapsed.  The final
pail was driven in 1865 when delegates, including patrick, chosen to go to England to put their case to
the Home Goverament, refused to make the trip. By this time, as We have seer, Patrick had sold
fartwood, and was no doubt considering his next move.

hccording to his Journals, patrick went to Fiji in 1§73, intending to start a Sugar plantation, but
¢pllowing a disastrous hurricane in which Hery almost lost her life, he gave up the idea. He was
offered, and accepted, the position of police Hagistrate at Levuka, @ post he held gntil the islands
were annezed by the Ceown in 1879,

There i§ some discrepancy here, for early in 1874, & Hiss Edith Jadis wrote to her fanily in Kent of her
good fortune in obtaining a situation with a sguatter's family:

*They are all S0 kind to me, I have been here since January and like them more every day. 1
" think we shall not go to the bush this year, It is too late in the season, and when we do,
Mrs. Broughan says I may ride as much as I like.

' am very fortunate to have obtained this gitpakion. They are very scarce and the place is
over-rup with governesses. [ believe it 1is the same in Sydney: salaries are auch
nisrepresented at home, £100 par annum being very Tare. 1 am to have £80 first, and £100
later, but I am told that only a Eew get that.'

(The Goveraesses: Latters from the Colonies, by patricia Clarke)
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Fdith Jardis's employer was Patrick Broughanm. The family must have returned from Fiji to Melbourne
after the disastrous hurricane, but it is cartain that there were no further pastoral adveatures. It
is also certaip that he was Police Hagistrate at Levuka - though whether he was there until the isiands
were anpered is not certain. On retura to the mainland, Patrick became Police Magistrate successively
for Bingara {5 October 1876) and Guapedah (1 Jampary 1885), both in north-west NS§. The conditions make
interesting reading to-day:

Salary at Gunnedah: £420 p.a.

As District Coroner: 20s per inguest + 9d per aile cne way only
Salary increased to £440 in 1885

Custodian of minors 1888

Salary reduced to £414 in 18%4

At Bingara he had also beem Digtrict registrar of Births Beaths and Marriages, at a fee of 35 per enbry
gp to £30 p.a., thereafter Is6d per entry.

patrick remained at Gunnedah uatil his death, 23 August 1905, and was buried there {n the Church of
England cemetery beside Mary, who had died 8 August, 1902, just four days after her daughter, Bertha
Delamore (Min) and family had arrived back from a visit to England, She, too, had beem born at Appin.
The Pastoral Times of 16 August 1902 commented:

"By her death, the last of 2 generation has gone, one of the large family of Kennedys who, 58
years ago, took up stations on the Billabong Plains, then a waterless tegion fron which they
often had to fly. But after years of patient toil they succeeded in turning awilderness into
some of the most valuable country that pustralia holds.Doubtless there are many in the
Riverina district who will remember John Kenneddy of Bundure and Tongaboo; James, of
Jerilderie: Robert, of Wonnamura; Wille, of Thurowa and Berrigan; Ellen Carme, of Chad Ging;
¢aroline Brougham, of Currabungapung; Hary Brougham, of Hartwoed; and Enma DeSaily of Coree.
They have all gone! and only too soon; their life of privation - so many years in arid
country - told too severely.  We who live in comparatively luxurious times {remember that
thig was written in 1902 ....PBW) cen scarcely understand what It means to have lived for
years, over half a century ago, in 3 far inland district, where vegetables were luxuries and
fruit unobtainable; a quondong pie or melon jam peing the only variation with beef and bread,
though with the discovery of gald in Victoria things altered as by magic, and when the writer
went there 44 years ago {i.e. 1868) there were gardens 4nd dams full of yater, aad good
hopesteads had taken Ehe place of irom and wooden houses (although the homestead at Rartwood
is still standing and is menticned in Australian Couniry Rouses ..... PBY). The gratitude of
the country should be for the pioneers.” '

satrick wrote in his Jourmal: *Hy darling wife passed away to-day. In all our 49 years together we
never had a cross word".

Patrick and Mary are both buried at tunnedah, NSW. In the same plot, two of their gqrandchildren,
Wilfred Lindsay de Vaux {died 13 October 1904, aged 14 months) and Muriel Sybil Ella {died 6 April 1906,
aged 5 years 9 months), are also buried. They were the older children of Patrick's only surviving som,
Nigel.

It is perhaps coincidental that patrick's and Mary's sixth, but second servivieg daughter, Bertha
pelanore, became the last survivor of her generation of Broughams, Kemnedys, Desaillys, C(arnes and Humes
on her death, 15 Pebroary 1359 in her 98th year.  She was PBW's maternal grandmother.

phfdkadubdatanbipkpiindd

SME FURTHER DIGRESSIORS (by PBW)

Not far from Poolamacca, at Stmrt's Headows during the early 1870s, & young lad naned Sidney Kidman was
tending the sheep of one Abraham Wallace. That 'lad’ grew to be Sir Sidney Kidman, owner of what was
arguably the largest cattle empire in the world (he was to buy Womnaminta in the far north-west of RSW
from Robert Xennedy, Hary and Caroline's older brother), stretching from the far north of Australia down
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to the osfskirts of Adelaide, to the great saleyards of Xapunda, whers my grandfather, Alezander Peel
Wyly was to becone secretary/accountant to the fira of Bagot Shakes and Lewis, Stock and Station ageats.
They hapdled the Kidean cattie sales. Abraham Wallace went on to form Elsey Station in the Northers
Territory, which was to be the setting for ¥rs. heneas Guan's classic story of life in the outback, *We
of the Never-Never®, filmed some years ago aed shown on TV.

in ker history of the Broughaas in Australia (largely from Patrick Broughan's Journals, from which nuch
of this account has been takenj, ny cousin Hrs. C.D. Sheardown of Brisbase has related how her
grandmother, Eihel Broughan, was offered the choice of either a share in the pewly-formed Broken Rill
silver mine, or & grand pieno, for her 2lst birthday present. She chose the piano.

Lt about the sape time, Alezander Peel Wyly is said to have bought a part share ip the mine frog Sidney
Kidpan - a fampily friend - who had accepted it From ome of the partmeis in payment for cattle; and he
needed the mosey to purchase more cattle. Grandfather thought that the mine would prove a "flash in
the pan® and re-sold the share for what he had paid for if, a few hoadred pounds. A delightful iegend,
but that is all that it was, as shown by & receat biograghy of Sir Sidmey by Ji11 Bowen {Kidman: The
Forgoiten King}. It is possible that Kidman did offer the share to grandfather, who, not Deing
interested in misiag, did not take up the offer. Quelle dommage!

Just to complete the picture, Essington Lewis, a son of the Lewis of Bagot Shakes and Lewis, was to
pecone managing director of the Broken Aill Propriety, Australia's largest industrial concera.

b further point of interest for the Aostralian families is that Hon. Diana Isabel Sturt OBE, first wife
of Hon. Henry Broaghzn and mother of the fourth Lord Brougham, was a first cousin three generations
repoved of the noted Australian explorer, charles Sturt. fa his search for the oufflow of the river
Wurzay, Sturt passed not far from the Jerilderie - Demiliguin area, which was later to attract the
Broughae brothers and their relations: and in his later journey, searching for the supposed great inland
sea, he passed through the area of poolanacca and Womsaminta.  Sturt's Meadows, where the young Sidney
Ridman was to tend Abraham Wallace's sheep, Was naged after him.  During his 1829 expedition, Sturt
also bought sheep from Anlaby Station, where the future bride of Alerander Wyly was raised as the niece
of the thes mamager, Alezander Buchanam.

Four generations on, Jane Brougham, a great-great granddaughter of John and Caroline Brougham, married
John Sidney Ayers, a great-grandson of 8ir Sidney Xidman, who now coatrols the 45,000 square miles of
remaining Kidman properties.

¥hat was it that Macheth's witches said to Banquo?

Wangagelia, which ¥.A.Brodribb {who married Eliza Renzedy) had sold to the Peppins in 1858, had another
Vink with the family. In 1878, following the death of George Peppin, the three Peppin properties were
sold, and the firm of Austin and ¥illear bought Wanganella.  Austip was prohably the father of Ermest
Gardner husiin, described in "Early Pigneer Families of Victoria and the Riverina® [Alexander Head,
¥elbourne 1936) as a part-owner of Wanganella, whose daughter Phyllis Enily Lenore Austin had married
Yapneth Darnton Watson of °De Kerrilleau, Wodonga, Yictoria.

De Kerriileas had been takem up by Paul Huom, the eldest, bat illegitimate, son of Gabriel Marie Louis
Huon de Keriliau, who arrived in Sydaey in 1794 as a private soldier of the 102nd Regiment, a fugitive
from the French Revolation, He was the younger son of Jean Francois de Kerilo-Lesguere, by bis second
wife, Amne de Kersalliou (By copy of the family pedigree, taken fron 'la Filiation Bretcone' shows seven
different spellings of Keriliau) and was born at St. Pol de Leon 17 April 1769. We do mot know how he
met Lovisa de Sage, coavicted in Loadon in 1754 of the theft of goods valued at 57/7d - nercifuliy
reduced to 39/- to emable the court to pass @ lenient sentence of only seven years transportation{!},
but meet they did. Om 7 February 1801 they were married, but mot before the birth of the two eldest
children, Paul and Elizabeth. Paui, 3s we have seen, took up De Rerrilleaun: Elizabeth married Capt.
¥illiam Mitchell, and their daughter, Emma, parried Francis Rawdon Hume. Their daughter, Mary Bozzom
Aume, married Robert Eenry Kemnedy pf Wonnaminta.

Between them, Patrick and Joha Brougham had 20 childrem: the diphtheria epidemic of 1838 carried five
of them away, and others died of various childhood ailments. To-day, it is but a quick 20 mizute’s
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drive from Jerilderie or Deniliguin to Rartwood Station - and @ telephone iinks them. 140 years ago it
qould have been a very slow cosple of hours by horse, the only doctor may have been hundreds of miles
away attending to amother patient, and there were no telephones. 0f Patrick's and Hary's nine
children, only four survived into adulthood:

11a, born 1856 iived with her patents until her father's death, and then with her married sister,

R
Hrs. bilian Lee, unti! her oun death at Burwood, NSW, 20 July 1943.

Bertha Delamore (knoun to the family as 'Hinnie'), bora 1862, married 14 December 1892 at Gunnedah
¥SH, William farry Elibank Hurray, a scion of the ancient Scottish Border family, whose ancestors
nad the dubiows distinction of supporting both fonnie Prince Charlie and George II. fe was

educated on the training ship 'Conway', and had intended a career in the merchant navy, but when )

neing examined for his Fourth Mate's certificate, was found to be red-green colour-blind. In 1886,
while still an apprentice, Will Nurray was awarded the Board of Trade Gold Medal for saving life at
gea for his courage and initiative in saving the 'Northbrook' From certain disaster aftér she had
peen dismasted in a south Atlantic storm. Unable fo foltow his chosen careet, he went to Australia
on the advice of his uncle, Arthur Browse Blakistom, and at the time of his marrisge to Bertha
gelamoze, was an overseer on Gunible Station out of Walgett - a remarkable achievement for one so
young and without an agricultural background.  He was later to manage several large preperties in
Horth West NSW,

After William Murray's death in 1937, Bertha Delamore (who was PBY'S grandmother}, lived alternately
with her two surviving children until her death at her gaughter's home in Wahroonga, HSW In 1959.

gybil Lilizn, born 1864, married Dr. Herbert E. Lee of Guanedah 6 July 1895.  Their only son,
Reginald Broughan Lee, was bora in 1906 at the Bath {UK) home of Col. E.R.B. Hurray, her brother-in-
law's younger hrother.  The Lees qoved from Gumnedah to Sydney, where Dr. lee was to hecome 2
consultant physician; and Sybil Lilian died at the Wahroonga home of her niece, Hrs. R.L. Hyly, in
1952,

Nigel Renry Johm, born 1861, He narried Stella Coralie {born 13 September 1869), daughter of John
Kennedy Doyle of Cannanbah Station, Nyngan, WSW, but later moved fo Sydney. ke died in 1955,
leaving a son, and a daughter, two children having died in infancy:

Muriel Sybil Eila,rﬁorn 11 July 1900, died § April 1302, huried at Gunnedah.
Wilfred Lindsay de Vaur, born 3 Harch 1903, died 13 October 1904, buried &t Gunnedah. |

(Kigel} Haz, born 28 hogust 1905, In 1931 he parried Eiizabeth Beryl Mckinnon, and died 7
Navesher 1936, leaviag a son

Pater Hax John, born 1935, and married to hdrieane Feebles. Peter Brougham is, by right of
blood, the most senior member of the House of Brougham. He has two sons and a daughter:

Higel Max, bozn 1962, married Christine Tiedman, Yo further information.
{an James born 1968, Ho further information.
Susan Kim, born 1963, married Robert Cowan. Wo further information.

Joyce Stella, born 12 September 1910, and died unm.28 Harch 1964 at Sydney NG,

0f John Brougham's family, we have but the sketchiest knowledge. OF his four sons, three narried, but
only one has left Broughan descendants; and only two of his seven daughters survived to maturity and
marriage. The eldest son,

Renry Bdward, born 1 Harch 1847.  He was sometime manager of the §4,000 acre Ticehurst Stationm,
near Ray, ¥SW (State records show that this was, circa 1860, leased by John Broughan, perhass as &
nominee), and also owned 2 wool scouring plant at Wagga Wagga, yntil it was cwapt away by floods.
On 19 July 1876 he married Hary Lowise Short of Guaning.  He died at St. Kilda, Victoria, of an
internal haemorrhage on the eve of his taking up 4 new appointoent 14 March 1893, and is buried in
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st. Kilda cemetery. leaving two sons and two daughters:

Yenry Herbert, the elder son, was born at Brougham Plave, Geelong 2 August 1877, and  was
educated at Queea's College, St. Rilda. At the age of 16 he weat to Poolanacca Station, then
ron by his uncie, John Wangh Broughan. He spenf many years om various sheep stations (Herta
Merts, Nettalie, Huntherungee, Nappa Herrie (where Burke and Wills had perished); but about 1915
he left Nappa Herrie and moved south with a Mr. Haiden in a Bayard car - surely one of the first
cars, if not the first, to be seen in that part of the world - and gpent some time an Bungaree

gtation under Mr. R.H. Rawker.

e joimed the pustralian Light Borse {Ist A.1.F.), and saw service {n Palestine in the Light
Forse as well as in the Camel Corps. on 11 Jannary 1916 he married [Irene ¥erie Savage at
ot. Bartholomew's Church, Norwood, Scuth ustralia, and after the war (WWI) he began farming on
a soldier settiemant block at Delamere, South Australia. Henry and lrene hag two soens, neither
of whom married, and four daughters:

Cyril Bdward, born § April 1920,  Joined the Royal Australian mavy after leaving school inp
1037, and remained in it until 1950. He has visited the UK three times, (1941, 1948 and
1978) and was shocked to discovet that Brougham Hall had been demolished on his first visit.
We are grateful to him for these notes about his side of the family. Living 1998.

Henry John, born 21 Aegust 1922, served with the PARF during WW2, and worked with his
father at Delamere until 1954, when he joined a Government department. Living 1998

Eleanor Margaret Lillian Vaur, born 18 Jampary 1917.  She parried Raynond Borchers (date
-and place unknown}, and gied ra 1989.

Kary Jeanette, born 7 July 1921, married ¥, Healy: date and place gnknown.

Betty Lillian, bore 22 hugust 1928, married Leslie Coates: date and place unknown. Living
1998.

Lolne Alison, born 8 June 1931, living 1998, married James Bryant {m.diss, ca.1971). fHer
daughter,  Gaynor, Came to England in 1991 and worked at Brovgham Rall for a time.

Cyrtl, dates of birth and death {vamarried) uaknown.

fleanor, dates of birth and death unknows. Harried E. Evams, who dsp.

Lilian, dates of birth and death {uararried} unknown.

John Wamgh, the second som, was born 1849, and married Blanche, dasghter of Alfred Desailly
{whose brother, George, had married Emma  Rennedy). Little is known of his life other than at
some stage he tock up Poolamacca, perhaps in partnership with the Desaillys.  John and Bianche had

three sons and four daughters. The eldest son

A ited Clive Desailly died in infancy

¥elth George, born 18 March 1883, at Outer Nettalie, Wilcannia H5V. (it is interesting that,
that, on his birth certificate, nis mother's maiden name is showa @S D'Esailly, and
that she was bora in Tasmania). For some time he ran Gnalta Statioo with his
prother, but later moved to Yalcowinna, where he and his gife remained until he
retired in 1946, e was well known as @ pastoralist, and was a member of the
Menindes District Pastuies protection Board for mamy years. e was the first life
nember of the Broken Rill Racing Club, and a life member of the Broken Hiil Golf and
pola Clobs. Re was also President of the Bt peter's College O1d Boys hsseciation.
on retirement, he moved to Hurray Bridge, South apstralia, to live with his glder som,

Kenneth Broughan.
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Keith Brougham married 28 April 1910 at Christ Church, Sowth Yarra, Victorias,
Katherine Largloh Parker, whese name caused considerable confusion in the family, as it was also
the nom de plume of her aunt by marriage (Catherine Eiiza Somerville Stowe, née Field, whose
first husband had been lLangleh Parker.  She was a well-known authority and writer on Aboriginal
tribes and customs, especially those of the Narran River, toward the end of the (19.) It is alse
of interest to note that the offfciating minister at Keith and Katherine's wedding was Leopold
Desailly. Kelth Brougham died in 1967, and Katherine ouw 28 July 1977, at the Ridge Park
Private Hospital, Myrtle Bank, Adelaide. They left

Kenasth Langloh, born 1913, married Pamela Thwaites, and died 1985 leaving
Timothy Langloh, born 1959, married Jane Baker Douglas.  They heve three children:
Georgia Jana, born 1981
Annabel Eliza, born 1983
kngus Langloh, born 1987

Jane Lapgloh, hore 1931, married John Sidney Ayers, whe now controls the former Kidman
properties {he is a qreat-grandson of the late $ir Sidney Xidman).

San Kenneth, born 1561, married Joan Tania il

Rlfred Jack Balnes {known in the family as John), born 1893, married Pearl Rolmes circa 1920.
They had five children:

Rowiand born 1922, married Robin Corry, and has twe children:

John, born 1951
Jennifer, bore 1964

John Waugh, born 1924, married Leanne Williams, and has one child,
Royce, bora 1975
Maxwell Donald, born 1926, married to Dorothy Box.  They have five children:
Gregory, born 1957
Margaret, born 1958
Jennifer, born 1959
Johr, born 1962
Raymond, borm 1964
Rosalind, horn 1920, married G.F. Wilkinsen
Bleanor Blaache born 1928, marzied to John Vickers.
Patrick §illlan, the third son, was born in 1851, and there is a family photograph of him sitbing -
on the lap of his famous great-uncle, taken during their visit to England in 1860.  He died {of
sunstroke) in 1489,

The youngest sonm,

James Rennedy, born 1885, went to live in Western Australfa; he married Lillian Marie Buscombe in
1901, They had one son and three daughters:

Robert Keamnedy born 1908, joined the RAF before 1939, retiring in 959 with the renk of Group
Captain.  He returned to Western Australia, where he married Patricia de Pledze in 1960, and
bought a small farm near Kojomup. Be died sp 1968 in Armidale, NSW, where he had been visitipg
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an ofd friend, Sir Zelman Cowar, thea a Vice-Chancellor of the Iniversity of New England, but later to
bacome Governor-General of Austratia. Patricia Brovgham died in 1964.

Janice Kestell, born 1902, living 1990, married Brice Bumny. Janice died in 1993,

Edna Waugh, born 1903, married Maurice Salom and died 1943.  They had three sens, one of whom
is xnown to he living in New South Wales.

Shirley Kestell, born 1905, married Robert Young.  No further information.
Eleanor, born 1848, died of diphtheria 1858 and is buried on Hartwood Station.
Mice, born 1850, died of diphtheria 1854, and is buried on Wartwood Station.
hda, bora 1852, died 1858 of diphtheria, and is buried on Hartwood Station.
Eva Lindsey, born 1859 i England (her birth was registered at St. Pancras Register
Office) married Edward Kemsiey.  She lived for a time in England, but returned to Australia, and

died there in 1914,

Ethal, born 1864, died 1933, mazried Robert NcDonald Chapman and has descendants living. Her

grand-davghter, Mrs. C.D. Sheardown of Brisbane, Queensland, has contributed much of the information
ahout the families of Patrick and John Brougham.

JOHN WAUGH AND HMARGARET BROUGHAN'S YOUHGEST SON

JAMES RIGS, was born in Edinburgh 5 May 1826, the youngest and most successful of Joha Waugh Broughan's
four sons. He was a barrister.

On Il April 1844 he was appointed bord Chancellor's Secretary in Bankruptcy, and on 7 hugust 1848 he
became a Registrar in Bankruptcy in the Liverpoo! Court: he was called to the Bar at Lincoln's Inn in
1860. On 17 March 1862 he was appointed a Registrar of the London Court.

He married lsabells Eliza (born ca. 1836}, daughter of John {ropper of Dingle Bank, Liverpool at St.
George's Presbyterian Church, Liverpool, § October, 1854, and Janes's cousin, Rev.John R. 8roughan was 2
witness. Following their marriage they were rowed across the Mersey by boys from the reformatory ship
'Akbar' to begin their honeymoon in Cheshire. They later moved to St. Aidan's Terrace, {laughton
{#irral Peninsela, Cheshire}, next door but one to the home of his eldest daughter's future husband,
Samuel Logan Johnston. After his appointment to the London Court they moved successively to leiaster
Sq., Kensington, then to Beckenham in Kent, and later to {arshalton, Surrey.

In 1891 he was appointed a Semior Registrar in Bankruptcy, an appointment he held until his retirement
in Octeber, 1917. At that time he had had over 12 years of continupes service, and had been 3 ragistrar
for 69 years. OF the barristers of the day, oaly five had had eariier calls thas he.  Those who served
ander hin found him a kind and considerate chief and friend, and to those who served with him he was &n
excellent colleague.

As was shown in Chapter 6, James Rigg acted for some years a¥ 3 tegal advisor to his uncle, William
Broughan.  He continued to do so after the letters of 1853, and also acted for his cousin, Heary

Charles, third Lord Brougham. James Rigg Brougham was a very private man, and ittle is known of his
life, which, away from the Courts, was centred on his fanily. He seems to have left no papers.

James and Isabella had two sons and five daughters, but the line Failed with the death of Thomas, only
son of Harold de Vaux:

John Cropper, born 2 February 1857,  He, too, was @ barrister. e married fiestly, 18 February
1882, ¥rsela (Isla) Harriett Mary Chamberlain, by whoe he had three childres:

Janes Nenry Chamberlain, born 9 December 1882 and d.unm. 10 February 1959
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Constance Muriel, born 17 September 1884.  She married 20 July 1912 Oswald Wells, and died 12
May 1956. There was no issue of this marriage.

Gwendolin Isla, born 29 August 1892.  She married 1 February 1913 Gilbert Huggins, and died 9
January 1974. There are descendants living.

Ursula Brovgham died 16 Narch 1916 aged 55. John Cropper married secondly, il November 1918,
Beatrice {Queenie) Fosbury, and died 17 April 1936.  Beatrice died 3 September 1948 aged B2.

Harold de Vaux, a barrister like his father and elder brother, was bora 17 Auqust 1858. He
parried 14 August 1893 Elizabeth Dorothy Puckle, and died 26 March 1930, leaving an only soa,

Thomas de Vauz, born 24 December 1894, died unm. 30 May 1962

Harqaret Lyndesay, botn 1 Septesber 1855, married Samuel Logan Johnston 21 March 1877.  The two
families had been near neighbours in St. Aiden's Terrace, (laughton (Cheshire) during James's term
as Registrar in Liverpool. There are dedcendants living.

Annie Wakefield (known to the fasily as Nancy), born 8 August 1860,  She narried her cousin Jacob
Wakefield of Kendal 27 April 1891, and died § August 1951. There are descendants living.

Rate (known to the family as Kitty), born § September 1865.  She married John {later Sir John)
Weston, P for Westmorland § Japuary 1890, and died 2 Hay 1927, There are descendants living.

Eleangr, bora 4 April 1867, died {unn). of pneumonia 9 April 1925 and is buried at Levens.

Mary {kaown to the family as Holly), was born § Janvary 1872 and married Gerrard Powys Dewhurst 21
April 1897.  She died 13 Harch 1936, and has descendants living.

0n the avidence of the second lord Brougham's letter of 26 June 1863, it was he who secured Janes Rigg's
appointment as Registrar of Bankruptcies .... *The late Lord Cottenham was under very great obligation
tome .... on & vacancy occurring I explained to him our money difficulties and asked him to make you 2
Registrar in Bankruptcy, saying that if he did so, ! should make it a condition that you should
contribute 300 out of the 890 a year to forn a fund for payment of some of the debt..... '

After retiring, James Rigg.and Isabella Brougham went to live at Beathwaite Green {now known as levens),
near Milnthorpe in Westmorland, where he died 5 March 1919 in his 93:d year - of a heart attack,
probahly induced by playing emergetic games with a gmall girl. Isabella survived him, dying 26 April
1971 at the age of 85.  They are both buried in the churchyard at Levens not far from their daughter,
Eleanor.

James Rigq and Isabella Brougham have no male descendants, but there are numerous descendants of their
married davghters.
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Henry Peter, lst Baron Brougham and Vaux
and his parents,
Henry Brougham the Younger and Eleanora (née Syme)

Scales Hall - And Its Froant Door



o i) ?‘]

i

e

i

e
4

L

ft

e

tyiy
F

Tak!

el
il

oy 5 :?.

e
Ui [rTEAEE
e

Scales Hall - And Its Front Door



{the

Scales Hall, Skelton
and

Teston Farm, Appin, NSW
front is a recent addition)




The Brougham Brothers and Their Wives

Circa 1859

Clockwise from back laft:

James Rigg, Patrick, John, Carcline, Mary, isabella

i
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Caroline Kennedy, nee Best
Mother of Caroline (m:; John Brougham)
and of Mary {(m: Patrick Broughaz)

Margaret Brougham, née Rigg
Mother of Patrick, John and James Rigg



'"Hartwood' Station Homestead, Riverina, NSW

Built by Patrick Brougham circa 1854
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The Billabongd Creek at Hariwood
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CHAPTER 10
THE SURGEONS AND THE EXCISE

BROCGRANS OF EAMONT BRIDGR, ASKRIGG AND KIRRBY STEPEEN

CHRISTOPHER, son of Thomas ard Mary Brougham was born before 1648 and died before 18 October 1671, He
left a widow, Margaret, who was granted lLetters of Administration 7 November 1671, It was this
Christopher whom the young Toby Broughan saggested might become an apothecary.  Aithough we have no
records of Christopher's birth, marriage or death, a memorial tablet over the grave of Edward Broagham
of Burtholme in Lanercost churchyard bears the the inscriptien FIN TRIS GRAVE LYES CERISTOPHER BROUGHAM
BURIED*.  As we shall show later, in Chapter 13, this stremgthens the belief that the Broughams of the -
Brampton area were related to the Broughams of Scales Hall.  Christopher's som, amd apparently only
chilé {for none other was mentioned in the will of Agnes Dudley, née Fleming) was

-

DEDLEY

Baptised: ea. 1670, plase unknown.
Marrfed; 7 April 1708 to Grace Carr at Belforg,

Be is known to have beea an Excise {fficer, for the minutes of the Board of Escise on §
September 1707 note that: 'Mr. Colbatch to send commission for preventing the rumming of
brandy to Budley Brougham and John Norman, Salt Officers upor the Borders'. This is the only
reference to him in the einutes.

Kis will, dated 4 March 1728, showaed him to De then living af Famont Bridge and 'gave and
bequeathed .......

'unto my loving wife Grace Broughan her heirs and assigas for ever all that my freehold
pessuage and tensment with the appurt(enance}s situate lyeing and being at Anwath als
Yanwith and the liberties theraof within the panor or Lordship of Yamwith',

Grace Brougham proved Ehis will at Pemrith on & Jume 1736, and her own will, dated 23 June
1764, which left all to her daughter, Grace Momkhouse, was proved at Carlisle 26 February
1765. She was buried at Penrith as of Borrowgate, aged 90, on 29 December 1764,

There were two sons and a daughter of the marriage: three generations on, the families were to
be joined once more by marriages between £wo cousins.  Although there are now no descendants
of the male lines living, the soss of Dudley Brougham prodeced families of considerable
interest. - To the bast of our knowledge, there are no Broughams living who are descended
from Dudley: the last male in a direct lime, Xajor James Brougham, dying in 1925,  Thers
are, however, descendanis of the female lines livinmg.

SECOND GENERATION DESCENDED FROM CHRISTOPEER BROUGHAM
THE FAMILY OF DUDLRY AND GRACE BROUGHAM

THOHAS

Baptimed: 23 January 1709 at Belford, Northumberland.
Married: December 1728 (marriage bond, Carlisie 28 December), Isabella Patten

Thomas was the elder son, and an Excise Officer, having joined the service before 6 October 1732, when
ke was moved from Rochdale 2nd Ostride to Preston 3rd Oetride.  On 21 November 1735 he wes transferred
to Warrington, and on 21 March 1739 he was one of four officers appointed to be examiners 'for guicker
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spccession’.  En June of that year he was moved to Croydonm, Surrey, to officiate for oma Daniel Newton
who was ill, and in July he was deputising at Windsor for the Supervisor, Richard Hoiland, 'the
Collector to make his Examiner’s salary Supervisor's for the time being'; and he was to be reimbursed
fifteen shillings for the hire of & coach from Croydoa fo Windsor.

At the begimping of 1740 Thomas was in Lincoln, and by the end of the year had been appointed
Supervisor of fhe Sazemundham District in Suffolk. At an unknown date in 1741 he was transferred to
Horpeth, for on 10 December of that year he was tramsferred from Morpeth to Halifax.  On 2 June 1742
he was Supervisor of Scarborough, a pesition he held uatil 8 April 1746, when he was appointed Port
Supervisor of Sunderland.

Thogas Broughan must have made a name for himself, for on 7 September 1748 the mimutes record

..... "For the better security of the Duties on Glass ........ and that the Officers nmay be
the more perfectly insiructed in the distinguishing of glass chargeable at 9s 44 and glass
chargeable at 25 4d ...... that Yhomas Brougham, Supervisor of Sunderland District be
inployed as Gemeral Supervisor of the -Duties on Glass for ome year.  In March 1749 his
salary was raised to £120 p.a.

% loag list of allowed expenses sheds no light upon his aovemenis, except that on 15 December 749 he
was reimbursed £3:6:9 "for travelling to Gravesend to apprehend an outlawed smuggler'!

In 1751 he was ordered to reside in Newcastle upon Tyne, aad there are only thiee further estries: Ia
Hay 1761 he depufised for Mr. House, Collector of the Oxferd Cellection, and in Jume was ordered to
collect "the next reund in Lineoln Collection', which would indicate that he was im lime for promotion
to that rank. The fipal entry records his death, at Kewcastle, some time before 24 March 1762. is
will, which was proved at Durham 13 May 1762 by his widow, demised...®..all ....... to ny loving wife

. in trust to dispose ... to &li my dear children, recemmending .... all to live in unity and love
and to endeavour the support and comfort of each other...." Fe was clearly very ill at the time, for
there {5 an armetation ... ¥ his mark: he has tried to sign his nage.?

Thomas and Isabella had two sons and three daughiers:

Pater, the eldest son, was bore circa 1730. Burke refers to him as a Major, late HEICS, but he was
apprenticed to Thomas Whelpdale in 1748 and became an attorney practising in Cockermeuth. He
married, by licence at St. Michael's Appleby 16 April 1762, Matilda, the 10th daughter {of 26
children!} of Thomas Wybargh of Clifton Ball, and a grand-daughter of Agnes Brougham, who had
marzied Anthony Wybergh in 1695.  She was baptised at Crmside 9 Jupe 1734.  Peter Brougham died,
aged 54, in 1784, and his widow, who survived him a further 19 years was buried at Penrith 26 August
1803, the last survivor of her geseration of Wyberghs.

There were two sons of this marriage:

Thomss, the elder son, was bapiised at St. Andrew's, Pearith, 1l August, 1762. He entered the
service of the Zast Indiaz Company as & cadet in 1780 and sailed for Madras on the ship
*Rochford® on 30 June, 1780. He did duty with the Army of Hadras from 10 Jamuary 1781: Lieat.
11.3.1781; Captain 27.3.1800 when he transferred from 4th to 13th Kative Infantry. He was on
ferlongh from 7 February 1803 (promoted major 28.9,1804) until his retirement 18 April 1805.
He had two illegitimate daughters born in Calcutta, and both were mentioned in his will:

Fanny, baptised Calcutta 73 Amgust, 1802...an ammeity of 20.

Mary, birthdate wnkmown...........oooiiiin an apeeity of 10,
Thomas Brougham purchased Mostyn Eall, Pemrith, 25 March 1805, and married Isabella, daughter
of John Hay in 1807 {marriage settiement 19-2¢ October 1B07).  Mostyn Ball still stands, and
was occupied by Isabella until her death in 1870. Ee died suddenly, whilst visitiag friends in
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£dinburgh, 3 Jely i819. Isabella Brougham survived her husband by 51 years, and died at
Penrith 30 October 1870 at the age of 90.  Rer will was proved at London 20 February 1871 by
her son, Haj.Gen.Thomas Broegham and William McAdam Stewsrt, her nephew. Of their family, only
Hatilda {married Hon. Joseph Docker} has descendants living.

Narqaret Ray, the eldest daughter, was baptised at St.Andrew's Penrith 20 September 1808,
and died unmarried 1862.

Hatilda, baptised at St.Andrew's Penrith I5 June 1810 She married [marriage settlement
dated 23 May, 1839}, Hon. Joseph Docker, HLC, of the state of Hew Sonth Wales, and died at
Sydney 5 October 1904,  There are descendants Yiving in Eogland and in Australia.

peter, the eldest son, was baptised at St.Andrew's, Penrith 79 April 1812. fe was an
Nddisconbe Cadet (HEICS) 10.Janeary 1829, and was a bLieutemant when he died of typhus in
paris 31 October 1836,

John Hay, the second son, died at Edinburgh in 1836: a0 further details.

Igabella Hay was baptised at St. Andrew's Penrith 9 HMay 1815.  She married Capt. {later
Admiral) Alexander Hurray in 1850, and died at Eastfiald Park, Weston Super Mare 29 June
1911, They had no children.

Thomas, who was baptised at §t. Andrew's, Penrith, 6 July 1817 educated at Dr. Fipninger's
school, Edmonton, and became an Addiscombe Cadet {entered by Joha Loch and Capt. Robert Fay)
6 February 1834.  He proceeded:

Ind Lt.-11.12.1835: Lt.-12.8.1841: Capt.-11.12.1830: Hajor - 10.3.1852: Col.-22.12.1865
He retired with the rank of Major Geseral 1.8.1872.

Gen. Broughan saw service in Afghanistan (medal}; at Sobraon (medal); and at the capture of
Kangrah, 1846.  He married 26 Fovember 1868 at H.X. Consulate, Turin, Mary Hoatgomerie,
youngest daughter of the late William Hehdam Stewart of West Wickham, Rent.  Gen. Brougham
dsp 29 February 1888 at Bishop's Yard, penrith. His widow died at Fellside, Pearith, }
Augost 1925. His name appears in the Brougham Rall Visitors' Book - the only member of
this fanily to be s¢ honoured.

John, who was baptigéé at Penrith 12 July 1764, and is presumed to have died in infancy.

Jane, baptised at Clifton 11 September 1719, married John Renny at Barten 17 Jume 1773, giving her
age as 40, and died 11 Jume 1778.  Remny gave his age a5 30.

Isabella, baptised at Crostom, lancs., 18 Harch 1733, married Thomas Robson at Barton 1Z December
1776.  Rer age is given as 33 in the register, 10 years less than it was. Ghe was living 1794 when
she was granted Letters of Administration of her mother's estate at Carlisle.  What was it about
these girls that they had to lie about their ages?

Mary, baptised at St. Elphin's, Warrington, 14 Hay 1736, the first of three Browgham children who
appear in these registers. The IGI entry shows 'Broughen', but the parish register entry is quite
cleaz: 'The daughter of Thomas Brougham, Excise Dificer, and Isabella his wife'. No further
information. {But see also Chapter 14 - Matthew Broughanm)

John was baptised at Clifton 15 Hovember 1739. Printed sources show him as Christopher, but the
Clifton register clearly shows John.  This remained a query until we Found a will dated 1 Jamuary
1786 signed by Joha Brougham at 'St. Mary le Bow in the County of Hiddlesex'. This will refers,
inter alia, to 'my cousin Aan Rash' and to ‘nmy dearly beloved mother and desr sisters’.  Amp Kash
had been Ann Monkhouse (who had married, Mr. Nash, a surgeon, in 1781); and the only John Brougham
whose cousin she could have been, and whose aother was still living {though one sister was dead),
wss the son of Thomas and Isabella.  Ann Nash née Honkhouse (born 1153}, was a daughter of Grace
{Broughan) and George Honkhouse.
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PETER

Baptised: 12 August 1716 at Belferd
Married: 76 October 1743 to Prudence Lindsey at Richmond, Morth Yorks.

Petar Was pudley's second son, and his marriage to Prudence bindsey, daughter of James Lindsey of
askrigg, shows how well thought of this family of Broughams were - though why they were married in
pichnond rather than Askrigg is a mystery. The Lindseys were an old Hiddleham family, who seem fo
nave moved to Cams Houses, Askrigg in the early 18C. Peter Brougham, Iike his father and older
prother, was an Excise Officer, based at Easinguold at the time of his marriage, but he resigned from
the Service a month later. e then seems to have begun a hosiery business which failed in 1733, when
ne was made bankrupt; but in his will, dated 10 March 1793 he again describes himself as an hosier. He
wag buried at Askrigg on 14 Rogust 1733, and his will was proved 22 Harch 1800 by his som, Samuei

prudence was also buried in Askrigg churchyard, 10 Ockober 1779.  Their children were: '

peter, the eldest son, was baptised at JAskrigg 19 Jamwary 1744 and married Ann, danghter of
..... Beezan of Askrigg 19 May 1778,  He was an Excise Officer, sometime of Epping, Essex, who was
retired on qrounds of ill-health on 6 April 1771, and at the time of his death was described as ‘a
shopkeeper, late of Askrigg.® He died intestate and was buried at Askrigg 25 September 1777.
{etters of Administration were taken out by his widow, Ana Brougham, and John ‘Beezan of Woodhall in
the parish of Askrigg 11 January 1782. His widow married secomdly, 31 March 1784, Willlam
Northropp, @ merchant of Bradford.  There were two children of the marriage:

James, the only son, was born circa 1775, and like his uncle, was a surgeon. It is believed
thathe practised in Askrigq for a time, and in the late C18 was in partnership with a Dr. Evans
at 24 Finsbury Place, London. He married firstly, on 2 October 1800 at St. Lukes, Old Street,
his cousin Grace Idle, the daughter of Grace (Monkhouse) and Christopher Idle. Grace Brougham
died 22 February 1817,

James Brougham married secondly, also at St.lLuke's, 11 August 1818, Hary, daughter of .........
Webh.  We have not found the date at which he nmoved to Kirkby Stephen, but in 1823 his new
home, Stobars Hall, built to a desiga by C.H. Smith was described in an architectural journal as
peing erected. He died there, and was buried 9 July 1845,

There was no issue of the second marriage, but Mary {¥ebb} must have actad as & devoted mother
to the younger children, particularly James Peter, whose son bore her maider name. Hary
Brougham outlived her husband by 13 years, and died at Haida Vale, bondon. Her will was proved
by John and George Idle 10 July 1B58.

The children of James and Grace were:
Anna, baptised at St. Luke's, 01d St., Finsbury 18 April 1802. She married, firstly, John

Edwards Vivian at Kirkby Stephen on 15 October 1829, and secondly, Rev. Abercrombie Gordon
at 0id Machas, Aberdeen on 20 December 1842. The 1851 census for St. Leonards-on-Sea

shows:
A L. Gordon Head: 47: Minister of the Free Ch. of Scotland: Born Scotland.
Aane Brougham Gordon Wife:  49: Born England
Johr Vivian Stepson: 17: Student (unm): Born Scoiland.

Belinda J.Gordon Daughter:12: Student: Bora Scotlard
Williamina Gordon Daughter:10: Studeat: Bern Scotland

Jane Margaret, Anne's tuin sister, was baptised the same day.  She married Rev. Thomas
pustin, who proved the will of her great-aunt, Mary Brougham, at Kirkby Stephen 3 June 1828
A daughter, Jane Eliza, was a gifted painter, and one of her pictures (of The Boly Family},
painted at the age of 16, is in Tullie House, Carlisle. Sadly, she died before her 17th
birthday. Ber brothers were also talented; and ome, George Brougham Austin, migrated to
Australia zbout 1850, and has descendants living there,  Rev. Thomas Austin died in IB56,
and Jane Margaret died some ten years later in London, I7 August 1866.
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Georgiana was baptised at S5t. Luke's, 15 June 1805, and narried Rev. George Drummond in
1836,  She spent some time in Australia {1851-1854) with her hushand, firstiy at Geelong,
then Helbourne, followed by a move to Collingwood, and Finally back to Geelong, where Rev.
Droamond was rector of Christ Church. Life was not gasy for them, and among the letters in
the possession of Grace L.A. Drummoad, is one from her grandfather which reads:

*.... 1 anobliged to get up at sir in to lay the kitchen fire, chop wood, and assist
in sweeping and dusting the rooms; Georgy {i.e. Hrs. Dronmond)} is Head Cook,and the
young ones each occupy their place in the domestic nanage.”

Later, he was to write of the thousands of gold diggers arriving in Nelbourne, finding no
accommodation, and suffering severely in the inclement weather. The Church of England
offered very low stipends, and often no house; and Rev, Drunmond described their house at
Sandridge as * one of 2 collection of low, rambling wooden houses situated in the nmidst of
sand hummocks and brush wood®, where the girls wad to sieep in the attic, 'with nothing
hetween them and a shingle roof but 2 camvas nailed to the rafters”.  (Had Mr. Brummond
put known it, that was the lot of many settlers having rather more of this world's wealth
than he). The living room was dining-room, library, schoolroom, kitchen, and sometimes
sieeping room and chepel.

tn 1854 the Drummonds left for Batavia (modern day Jakarta), where he was offered 3
chaplaincy.  Their eldest son remained in Victoria, serving in the Governor's Private
Secretary's office under Sir Chatles Botham and Captain Kay, and [finally as Clerk of
Committees of the Legislative Council. THe died in 1904, grace Drummond died 21 June
1870, and is buried in St. Mark's graveyard, Portobetlo, Edinburgh.

¥il1iam, baptised at St. Luke's 13 Jume 1801 is an enigna. James appointed his executors
{Hary Brougham and Rev. Thomas hustin)..."quardians of the persen of my son, Willian, and
request that they will see to his being continued in a situation of comfort and care..... '
It seems as though William may have been 3 Dowae's' Syndrome child, or perhaps am invalid.

Grzce, baptised at St. Luke's 21 July 1807, married Capt. Martin Irving of the 6lst Reqt.
They iived at Stobars Hall until the geath of Cspt. Irviag in 1855, and a son, Janes
Brougham Irving was born circa 1849 (from notes by CRH). Grace inherited her father's
pianoforte. :

Mary Ana was baptised at St. Luke's 15 May 1812, and married Rev. gparks Byers.  She was
tiving 1845, and inharited her father's harp. Mo farther details.

{There seems clearly to have been a musical streak rumning through the Brougham family, for
Henry Broughan (d.1782) left nis Rocker harpsichord to his daughter Rehecca. The same streak
has been noticed in later gemerations].

James Peter, the youngest of this Eamily, was bora 8 June, and baptised at §t. Luke's 1t
July 1816. M Edinburgh 183%; BRCS 1830,  Be joined the Bengal Hedical Establishment as
hssistant Surgeon B Harch 1840, and was appointed Surgeon Hajor § Harch 1860 after
neritorious service with his regiment {lst Bengal fusiliers). de saw service in the
Goomsur Territory in 1846, and was at the occupation of Sambulpur in 1848, He was present
at the battles of Baddlee ta Sersi and Narmbul, and at the siege and capture of Delhi.

e served under Sir Thomas Seaton KCB, and was present at the actions of Gungeres,
pattiallee and Mynore 1857, and at the advance and capture of Luckow by Lord {lyde In
larch 1858, This was followed by a number of other taffairs', quite often hard
pattles, as at the crossing of the goomtee, at Dereabad, {mentioned in the dispatches of
Sir Arthor Wilson K{B). He was also nentioned in Gemeral Orders by Sir Thomas Seator, and
in Regimental Orders July 1856 and October 158 at Dereabad. On 29 October 1858 he was
severely wounded, and had to pe remeved to hospital. For his gallant service, he was
awarded @ medal and two clasps. e is also mentioned in *The History of the Bengal
European Regiment® from which this axtract is taken:
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"There is one officer who has recently been moved from the regiment to superior
employ, whose services [ desire to bring promizently to nolice..... it is
impossible to speak too highly of the professional services of Dr. Brougham, #no
praise of mine can be too great for all that he has dome for the officers and
soldiers ..... as its surqeon to Delhi and from the day of its march from Dugshaie
gatil he was appointed Field Surgeon in September last, his exertions have heen
unwearied, unremitting, and invaluable, and the large number of wounded men, the
numerous cases of amputation, the remarkable success that has attended all his
operations is well-known..... may { therefore avail nyself of the cpening now
offersd me, and Solicit General Sir Hope Grant's recommendation of this mest
excallent and highly deserving officer.’

(From a letter from Lt.Col. Douglas Seaton to Capt. Biddulph).

Dr. Brougham married, at Dinapore 19 October 1843, Adele, widow of Capt. Alezander John
Fraser, and daughter of Jules de Momet of Benares. In 1858 he was apointed Surgeca to the
Presidency of Calcutta, in which position he soon hecame one pf the most popular surgeons
in the eity, where he gave free service to the many poor residents. Dering this period he
was able to buy the 250 acre Toongsong Tea Garden Estate, then in @ very run-down state, at
an auction, By qood management and the introduction of modern machirery and methods he
soon built it up into a very successful venture, as shown by his will, dated 17 Hay 1890
and executed at Edinburgh by his widow Adele Brougham, his only sen, James Webb Broughan,
and John Shepherd Douglas, ‘widower of nmy late step-daeghter, Mdele Framces Douglas nes
Fraser.® Kis will adds three daughters who do not appear in the records at the India
Office Library, but it is almost certain that they were born ia India.

The will also forbids marriage between first cousins (though the only knawn such marriage
nad been between his great-uacle, James Brougham and Hary Lindsey}:

* if any child of mine shall marry a grandchild of his or her maternal
grandmother....then this my will be treated as if he or she had died an the day of
such marrisge....’

Although he did not retire until 1 October 1871, the census of that year shows him lodgin,
with Adele, at &8 Cambridge Terrace, Marylebone. This has since heen subsumed into Sussex
GCardens. Op the advice of a friend, when he did retire, he moved to Inverness, where he
bought Culduthel Kouse. I an grateful to CRE for sending me a press cutting dated 13
pecember 1957 fram which the following extract completes the picture:

"fo the memory of James Peter Brougham, D, JP, Surgeon Hajor Ist Bengal
Fusiliers, late of Stobars Hall, Westmorland, who died at Culduthel House, Invernmess
on 27th Hay 1890...and to Adela (sic) his wife, who died 24th August 1903 aged
83...an8 also in loving memory of James Webb Brougham, bota 2lnd Awgust 1860, died 3rd
July 1909...also to the memory of Helen Grace Brougham, wife of James Wehb Brougham,
died 26th April 1923, aged 59.°

James Peter Browgham's childrea were:

Marion, baptised at Dimapore 4 August 1848, HMarried (date unknown) Col. George {shora.
Living 1888, no further details, but descendants known to be living {1598).

Hatilda, birthdate unknowa, buried 29 April 1850 at Dorundah, India.

Matilda Irma, born B MNovember 1850, bp. I5 December 1850 at Doruadah, Darjeeling.
She married {date and place unknown) C.T Thomas.

Grace Edith, birthdate unknows, married ..... Bryden and was a widow in 1888.. Yo
further details.

Anple, birthdate usknown, nmarried ..... Macdonald and a widow 1888, Mo further
details.
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Jean Margaret, birthdate unknown, referred to in her father's will as Jene Margaret
died uwnmarried 1909 {probate to innie Adele Nicholas and Kelena Grace Bryden 16
Kovember 1909).

James Webk, baptised at Calcutta 22 hugust 1860. Admon.pens. Jesus (pilege, Cambridge,
i October 1878, but Venn does not record that he took a deqree. Harried, 1883, Helena

Grace, gaughter of ...... otevart. His father's will shows that he also assisked with
the management of the Indian estates. He died, as of Redgefield, Inverness, 3 July
1909.

His will, dated 1% May 1909 names as ezecotors his widow Helema Grace Stewart {or
Brougham} and his danghters, {Helen) Marion Broughan and Maude Adele Brougham.  Both
were almost certainly born in India, For there is no record of them at St. Catherine's
Rouse. The two daughters,

falen Narion, who was born about 1384, for she gave her age as 31 on her marriage
to her step-cousin, Ind bieut. Francis Fraser Shepherd Douglas of 217 Co., Army
Service Corps, and son of her father's step-daughter (Adele Frances Fraser - see
under James Peter, above], at Holy Trimity, Brompton on i December 1916, He was
36.

Yapde Adele was born ahout 1891, as she gave her age as 25 on her marriage to
Lieut. Tom Barry of Sth Cameron Highlanders at The Servite Chareh, Kemsington, 22
Decesber 1915, Interestingly enough, although these weddings were but six days
apart, the sisters qave different residential addressas: Helen Marion at 2§
Beaschamp Place SW, and Maude Adele at 66 Burton Coort, Chelses. They were
witpesses, with their mother, at each others' wadding.

James Peter Brougham aiso had two stepchildren:

Mele Frances Fraser, who married Joehn Shepherd Douglas.  She was born before 1843 aad
dead before 1888, and it was clearly their son, Francis Fraser Shepherd Douglas who
parried Helen Harion Broughaa at Roly ?rinity Church, Keasington, 15 December 1916.

John Alerander Fraser, bors before 1843, iiving 1888.

There is also a sed little emtry in the reqisters held by the India 0ffice Library at Orbit
fovse, London:

Agnes, daughter of . ...oooicoeeie Brovgham, a tea planter: mother uaknows,
born circa 1880, baptised at Kurseong, Calcutta Diocese, Darjeeling 1B Hay 1302.
Her parents' address given as 8t. Agnes' School, Toong.

(India Office Library ref: H/1/299 £/102)

thacker's Indian Directory shows that the Toongsong Tea Estate {of 230 acres) was owned by
pr. J.p. Brougham, and that the Ceneral ¥anager in 1871 was F. de Homet,

It seems very likely that James Webb was the putative father.

hon was baptised at Askrigg 13 Septenber 1772 and married her cousin John Idle of Newington,
Surrey 18 November 1803.  She died in 1859. A descendant, George Idle, changed his name by
deed poll to Gray, and has feccendants living in the UK and Rustralia.

James, the second son, was baptised at Askrigg 24 January 1749, fle was a surgeom, and married
firstly, his cousin Hary {daughter of his pother's brother, Samuel Lindsey}, by whom he had one
son, Samsel Lindsey Brougham. — Nary ¥as baptised at Askrigg 21 September 1750, and was buried
there 4 April 1801,  There were no children of this marriage.

James married, secondly, Elizabeth, widow of Joshua Davis and daughter of ....... pawson, at Kirkby
Stephen 21 September 1803. At what point in his life he noved from Askrigg to Kirkby Stephen is
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not known, but it was probably from about 1802, and he lived there umtil his death on 21 October
1837.  fis home, Broughas Kouse, stil stands fin the High Street.  Elizabeth Brougham died |
Janeary 1834, and an I in the chorch states that ... . *They were universally respected and
heloved, and died unfeignedly lamented. Their private llves were adorned by every virtue beconing
qood Christians.®  They had only one child, a sen:

Sanuel Lindsey, who was baptised at Askrigg 6 February 1778.  He nmarried, at Askrigg, 1
geptember 1814, Ann (Nanny) Banks. The Bishop's Acts Books 1809-1825 for the Diocese of
rhester, EDA/1/10 show that he was qualified by Jeffrey Wood, Clerk, AH, to the cure of Askrigg
in the county of York on 26 Jaruary 1814, and his licence was granted, with a salary of E40.00
on 7 february. e was buried at Askrigg 3 July 1835; Amn was also buried there, 2 Janvary
1863, Very sadly, there are no memorials to either of them, or to those of their children who
vere buried at Askrigg. Samuel and Nanay had one son and three daughters:

James Lindsey, the only son, was baptised at Askrigg 27 October 1815, educated at Sedhurgh
gchool, and adeitted to Emanuel College, Cambridge Z6 November 1840, matriculating In Lent
1841. Venn does not record that he took a degree. [According to CRN he was educated for
the Church, but never held a cure: we have found no reference to this.) He married Hary,
daughter of Joseph Skelton of Loweswater, (umberland in 1841, and died suddenly at the
Gilsland Hote!, Cumberland, 11 February 1847.  The cause of death was not shown on the
death certificate,  He left a widow and four childrem:

Joseph Skelton was baptised at Loweswater 25 October 1842,  Fe served in the 10th
{North Lincolnshire) Regiment of Foot: Ensign 9.4.1861: Lieut.~.10,1863:
Capt.-21.8.1869, and died unmarried at Coatham, Yorks., 13 October 1873,  His will,
dated 2 September 1875 demised all to his brother, James.

Agnes Ann, baptised at Loweswater 13 February 1844; died 1843.

James, baptised at Setmurthy 13 July 1845, merzied in 1877 Elizabeth Mentagu, only
danghter of Major Lawrence Shawe of 40th Regiment of Foot, and the Hon. Mrs. Shawe (she
was Anpe Jane Charlotte, 2nd daughter of the 4th Viscount Bolingbroke).  James was
commissioned into 40th Regiment (2nd Somerset, linked to 82nd, Prince of Wales Qwn) as
Ensign, 20.6.1865: Lieut: 20.10.1869: HMajor 8.9.1881: adjt: 24.12.1872.  In 18Y4
he was on half pay from the South Lancs. Regiment, Warrinmgton Depot

James Breuﬁham inherited Woodland Mail, Kirkby freleth, from his cousin, John Dodson de
Skelton in i883.  He was JP for Northamptonshire, and died at his home, Polterspury
House, Potterspury. His will was proved by his widow at Horthampton 19 May 1925. He
geens to have been a spendthrift, and is reputed to have gone through two fortunes, as
well as his brother's estate. There was only one child of this marriage:

uriol Margaretta, born 1886, married 27 September 1913 William Henry Alfred
Fitzroy, Viscount Ipswich, who was killed in an aircraft accident 23 April 1918
Their son, John Charles William became §th Duke of Graften. Lady Fitzroy married
secondly, bt. Col. Gavin Robert Hume-Gore MC, late of the Gordon Highlanders, and
died 7 Fabruary 1933.

Hary Isobel, baptised at Loweswater 6 January 1847. MNo further details.

Hary, baptised at Askrigg 3 June 1817, married Thomas Hore Park, surgeon, 1 August 18371,
She was buried at Askrigg 9 Janeary 1867,

sarah Lightfoot was baptised at Askrigg 20 September 1819, and buried there 22 April 1820,
The Lindseys and the Lightfoots were related through the marriage of Sarah Lightfeot to
Samuel Lindsey; she was the maternal grandmother of Rev. Samuel Lindsey Broughan.

James Lightfoot, who died at Askrigg 8 July 1807 at the age of 87 was "one of the first
promoters and a principal encourager of the Union Society and of Sunday Schools.  fHle was
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'one of the first promoters and a principal encourager of the Uaien Seciety and
of Sunday Schools. He was charitable without ostentation, humane, compassionate
and benevolent.  Ia him the parish lost a besefactor and the poor a friemd."
{From an HI in 5t. Oswald's, Askrigg). ‘

knn was baptised at Askrigg 18 October 1826, and married Edward Thompson, joiner, there 27
June 1841, At some Iater date she and her husband migrated to America, and it is kmown
that she had Dinsdale descendants living in Newport, Temmessee in 1953,  Efforts are
being made to make contact with thes,

Isabel, baptised 24 Janvary 1747, buried 26 November 1748,

Sarah, baptised at Askrigg 9 February 1745, marzied George Taylor of Marlborough, ¥ilts. She was
living 1793, We have no further details, but it is possible that her children were the Mrs.
Baynes, Mrs. bomer and Mrs. Freeman mentioned in the will of her sister, Hary - see below.

Sanuel, baptised at Askrigg 17 July 1751, proved his father's will as of Bowes 122 March 1800,
It is possible that he, too, was an Excise Officer, for there are two entries in the minutes of
the Board dated 27 Wovember and 16 December 1779 fo the effect that

',... Samuel Broughem, assistant in the 11th Division Candles being £fl; ordered that ..........
officiate Eor hin'.

has, inguiries to R.M. Customs and Excise failed to elucidate where the ilth Division Candles was
situated, and there were no previous references to Samuel Broughan's appointment to the Service,
but given that his father and grandfather, together with numerous relations were in the Excise
service, aad that we can Find no other Samuel who would be eligible at that time, we nmust
tentatively conclude that the Samsel of the ninutes was Peter Brougham's som,

Mary, baptised at Askrigg 13 March 1787, died unmarried at Houghton le Skerne, Northumberland,
23 October 1831, Her will was witnessed by her niece, Jane Margaret Austin and her husband, Rev.
Thomas Austin.  In it she refers to her nephews and aieces, James Brougham of Kirkby Stephes,
Wrs. Idle; Mrs. Haymes: Mrs. Lomer; and Mrs. Freeman.  Apart from Mrs. Idle (the former Aan
Brougham, wife of John Idle, whose sister Grace had married Dr.James Brougham at St. Luke's, Old
St., London), we have beea upable to identify the other nieces, whe appear to have been either the
children of her brother, Samsel, or of her sister, Sarah Taylor {see above].

Grace, the third child of Dudley and Grace Brougham, was baptised at Belford in 1710 - the precise
date is naot shown in the parish register - aad disqraced herself by having an illegitimate son,
Janes, by her cousin James, eldest som of her uncle Daniel Brougham (see chart 3 and Chapter 1i). Ca
19 Harch 1730 she married George Monkhouse, a wine merchant of Penrith, by licence at Barton.  They
had 12 children, and two sons, William, a surgeon, and Jonmathan, midshipman, sailed with Capt. James
Cook on his epic voyage of &iscovery im 1769/71; sadly, both died before the end of the voyage,
William of a fever at Batavia (modern Jakarta) 5 November 1770, and Jonathan at sea, 6 February 1/71.
A fragrent of Willian Brougham Honkhouse's Journal, covering part of the voyage down the east coast of
New Zealand sarvives, and is contained within the Journal of Captain Cook. It is a fascinating
account of an Englishman's first view of the Maoris, and the gemeral reaction to the meeting with
them, A .letter from Captain Cook to Mr. George Monkhoude about his sons - whoa Cook regarded highly
- 8150 survives.

. A daughter, Grace, married Christopher Idle of Newinmgton, Surrey, i Janeary 1768, and of their

chiléren, Grace married her cousin Dr. James Brougham of Fimsbury, as shown on page 66; and hes
brother John married James's sister, Amn, at Newington, Surzey, 28 November 1803,
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CHAPTER 11
THE FAMILY AND DESCENDANTS
of
DANIEL BROUGHAM OF NEWCASTLE

He do not know where John came in the order of birth of the sons of Thomas apd Mary Brougham, but it is

probable that he was ome of the youngest. Nor do we know when {according to Bellasis} he married

Hargaret, daughter of Thomas Allison. The only records serviving from Staveley are those of Margaret's

hurial on 28 Apeil 1715, and of his second marriage, to Susannah Du Caster, 3 May 1716, and her burial,

7 February 1726.  John Brougham was buried in Patterdale, where he was obvicusly living with his

elder, married daughter, Aqnes Mommsey, 6 Mey 1730 (ses Chart 3 for details}, X
John Broughan's heir was his son, Daniel, borm 1679, who became Port Surveyor to the Port of Newcastle
in the Customs Service, Daniel married his cousin Mary, youngest daughter of Hemry Broughazm of
Scales Rail, and died in Wovember 1717: he was buried at Newcastle on Tyne i December of that year.
Daniel and Mary had five sons and one daughter:

Janes, the eldest som, seems to have heen a driffer and ne'er-do-well. He was baptised at
Staveley 11 June 1700, and was admitted to carlizle Grammar School fa 1711,  On 20 September 1717
he was accepted into the Excise Service as 'assistant ¢o Xr. Johmston, Correspondent', but the
tocation is not given - presumably it was in Lomdon.  One year later, on 18 November 1718, he was
appointed 'Assistant Accompt., New Doties' which would indicate that he had shown himself to be an
apt learner.  Alas, less than a year later, on 12 August 1719, he was discharged 'for having
received several sums of money and applied thea to his oun use'.

Janes appears aext im the register of the Fleet prison, where he married Elizabeth Seimour, on 18
Augast 1719, Had he been throwa iato prison as a debtor? Yo must look further iato the
records - such as they are - of the Fleet.

His next sppearance is at Wantage, in Oxfordshire, where the first of his two soms, James, was
baptised 20 September 1720. Two yeats later, on 18 Jume 1722, his secord son, Danlel Semere,
was baptised at Sunderland, Co. Durhem.  Then there is a seven year gep until 15 Juse 1729, when
he became the father of an illegitimate son, alse christened James, by his cousin Grace, daughter
of Dudley Broughan (see page 35).  James Brongham the father died at Penrith, and was buried there
10 December 1740: but we have no record of Elizabeth's death.

0f their two soms, we kaow only that Daniel Semore married, end died in London 25 December 1778,
for the following day George Applebee wrofe to Rev. Thomas Brougham of Kingsey from Racquet Court,
Pleet St. ('with Speed, But not by Ezpress'):

"Rev'd Sir,
The Liderty I take in troubling you with this letter is at the

request of a disconsolate widow, who thinks it your dety to inform you of the sudden death of
her very good and much lamented Husband,ard, I hope, your respected nephew, Mr. D.5. Broughan,
who was, on Thursday night last, seis'd of a viclent Pain in hig Stomach ....... and died at
five o'clock yesterday morning.  The widew, who is a very worthy woman, is left in very
indifferent circunstances, [ shall prevail upom her o leave him uaburied, if possible, uatil
your Pleasure is known on that Head and shall hope for the favour of an amswer by the return of
Post if possible.

[ am, Rev'd 8ir, ....kc.
Henry was baptised at Staveley 24 May 1704, adaitted to Carlisle Grammar School in 1712,
natriculated Queen's College, Ozford in 172% and proceeded BA 1727, ¥A 1727, Surprisingly, there

ig no further trace of him,
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Nary, baptised Staveley 13 July 1702, married William Whelpdale at Dacre Il December 1732, and was
buried at Pearith 22 July 1779. ’

Johs - who was the uaknowing cauvse of the Lamplugh myth - was baptised af Staveley 17 October 1706,
and married Frances Woodhall at Lortom 10 Janwary 173).  He was, as CRE has noted, for many years
3 prominent attorney in Cockermouth, Be died in November 1782 at Dovenby Hall, Joha and
Frances had five children:

John, baptised at Cockernouth 78 Awqust 1732, died in infancy.
Peter, baptised Cockermouth 24 April 1735, inherited the estates of his uncle, Rev. Thomas
Brougham of Kinsey, and on the death of his father he inherited Dovenby Hall and the former
Lamplugh estates which had come to his mother. Be took the name Lamplugh by sign ranual.
He was an attorney, and in 1778 he bought Scales from his cousin Henry Brougham the Younger and
died unmarried in 1791, and his sister, Mary Dykes inherited his estate.
Daniel, baptised Cockermouth 10 September 1737 and died in infancy.
John, baptised Cockermouth 7 March 1740 and died 7 March 1748
Hary, dates of birth/baptism unknown, married Frecheville Dykes ai Cockermouth b dume 1769
Daniel, baptised in 8¢, Mary's, Carlisle, on 5 February 1710, and was buried there 1 June 1711,
Thomas, baptised St. Joha's, Newcastle on Tyne, 29 July 1714, and died in infancy.
thomas, baptised St. John's, Mewcastle on Tyne 30 September 1715; matriculated Queen's ollege,
Oxford 1733 and proceeded BA 1737, MA 1740.  He was ordained deacon of Winchester Cathedral in

1738, and priested at Lincoln in 1739, and vicar of Kingsey with Haddesham, Bucks.,on 9 October
1749,  He inherited the estates of his uncle, Bernard Brougham, and died unmarried in 1783,

Scales remained in the hands of the Dykes family uatil 10 Hovember 1831, whea Fretcheville Lawson
Ballantyne Dykes, on behali of Mary Dykes, widow, sold the Ball and farm for £12,500 to James Brovgham,
acting on behalf of his elder brother, the first Lord Brougham.

It was io remain in the hands of the family until sold by the 4th Lord Brougham in 1931 to a M,

Pewatson. It is still in the ownership of the Hewetson family., Who farmed it in the intervening
years is aot known,
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CHAPTER 12
A CLERICAL DYNASTY

THE BROUGHAMS OF BALLYNAISE, LISMORE, TALLOY & EASTHAMPSTEAD

We still know surprisingly little about the Broughan family in [reland,

The patriarch was Rev. Johs Brougham, younger son of Henry Brougham the Elder, born 2 July 1748, it
uas educated at Eton and King's College, Cambridge, which somewhat dispels the myth that the Broughans
were short of monay after the death of Commissioner John Broaghaa.

He graduated BA fa 1771 and MA in 1775, and was a Fellow of Kings from 1776 until 1778, On 24
February 1771 he was ordained Deacon of Ely Cathedral, and on 7 March 1773 he was priested.  On 17
October 1785 he was appointed rector of Ballyhaise and Bailleborough in the Diocese of Kiinore, 3
Living held in plurality,

Venn (AL. Cantab.) describes him as the son of Henry Broughan of Blackhall, but the Broughan interest
in Blackhall had ended alpost 100 years before,  His father was of Castle Yard, Holborn and of §caleg
Fall, Cumberland.

O the same day that he was presented to his living, he married Sarah, dsughter of James Scanlon {or
Scanlin) of Ballyshannmon, Co, Donegal.. Rev. Johr Brougham died 22 Hay 1813, his widow Iiving a
further 30 years, dying 24 March 1834, They had two sons and two daughters;

John Henry died in infancy, 28 Hay 1798

Heary, hora 18 March 1797, from whom all the ‘Irish Branch' descend. On 1§ May 1826 he married
Catherine Anna Mona, only danghter of the second marriage of 8ir John Macartney, Bart., to
{atherine, daughter of the Rt. Hon. alter Hussey Burgh, Lord Chief Baron ¢f the Court of the
ixchequer in Ireland, and MP for Dublin University,

Henry Brougham followed his father into Holy Orders, and was vicar of Tallew ip the Dipcese of
Lisnore until his death 30 Jamwary 1831, Catherine outlived hig by 61 years, dying on § January
1892 at the age of 87,  (On flenry's death she was left with two small sons.

The elder son

Benzy William, baptised 27 February 1827, was clearly destised for the kigher reaches of the
Cherch.  On 2 January 1841 Catherine Broughan wrote to Lord Brougham of her need to regove to
Cork (town) to secure the continued education of her sons.

‘Creagh Glehe has, for rearly ten years afforded every advantage to their childhoods,
but Henry, being now almost fourteen requires more systematic instruction tham can be
obtained in this remote part of the coustry.  He has beem For a short time at Bendoa
School, the master of which says he is likely to become a distinguished scholar both
in sciences and classics ..,..,... they are both intelligent boys, and Henry possesses
powers not unworthy of the name he bears'.

Henry did indeed bear out the forecast made of his future.  He was admitted Trinity College,
Dublin, e 3 July 1843, where he was Classical Hoderator and Gold Nedallist in 1847 and
Divinity Testamonium 1849, He was ordained deacon in 1850, and priest in 1851, Qo § April
1851 he married lLucy Alleyn Becher, daughter of Harry Becher of Aughadown, Co. Cork, and was
Successively rector of Hoymalty, Diocese of Heath; rector of Eirke, Ossory; and rector of
Lismore.

. He was sonetime Rural Dean in Meath and Ossory, Prebendary of Tascoffin; Sub-Dean and Precentor
of Lismore Cathedral; examining chaplain to Primate Gregq; Diocesan Numerator and Dean of
bismore 1884,
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Lucy Alleyn Broughem died 28 Hay 1910, and Benry William on 11 April 1913, They had three soas
and three daughters:

Henry William, baptised 4 Hay 1853, edocated St. Columba's College, Dublin and Keble
{ollege, Oxford; BA 1872, HA 1875,  He was a master at St. Peul's, Stoney Stratford,
1678 -1880, Loretto 1800-1881 and a Housemaster at Wellington College, Becks. from 1681
uetil his death on 12 January 1908. fe was an accomplished horseman, & squash and
racquets enthusiast, and toured Canada and the USA with 'The Gentlemen of Iretand’ cricket
team In 1879, e married Alwyn Rosa, daughter of Judge mermann baver of Krefeld,
Germany, in 1887, and it is said that German only was spoken in the home. They had two
gons and a daughter:

Beary, born 8 July 1808, was  educated at Wellington {ollege and Brasencse, prford.
He was an all-rounder, playing cricket for school for three years, and captain in 1941.
He also piayed first string at racguets for Wellington.

At Oxford he had an equally impressive record, where, apart from wianing the All-Comers
Singles racquets champioaship in 1909, he played for the University cricket X1, making
B4 against a strong Cambridge attack at Lords in 1911,  He was plso 2 strong renner,
and played 3/4 back in the England Rugby XV against Wales, ireland, Scotland and
France in 1912.

After gradusting in 1911, Teary Brougham became Assistant Haster at Hemel Hempstead,
and in 1913 became a partner in Elstree School. Teaching was congenial to him, the
boys regarded him as a hero, and his colleagues were captivated by his frresistible
charm. - This was not to last, for on the outbreak of war in 1914 he inmediately
enlisted in the Royal Artillery, and saw service in France as a Dattery Commander on
the Western Front. In 1917 he was badly gassed and invalided out with the rank of
Hajor, and remaiped an invalid for the rest of his life. e gied at La Croix in
the sosth of France 18 Febroary 1923.

In 1914 he had married feler Beryl Frances {who married secondly, Thomas Charles
Jerninghan Fitzherbert, later 13th Barom Stafford, on 30 April 1925}, daughter of John
Hichael Waters . There was only one child of her parriage to fenry Broughan

Henry Gordon, who wes born 1916, educated at Aepleforth, and became 2 regular
soldier. In 1940 he was captured during the evacuation of Dunkirk, trying to row
across Ehe chasmel. He married, firstly, Daphne Hargaret Boddam-Yetham at Farnhan
on 5 September 1939, but the parriage ¢id not survive the war. In 1945
(engagenent announced 9 August 1945) he married Wendy Josephine, daughter of Clive
gnocker, by whom he had three children.

I 1958 he left the army and attended the Egerton Agricultural Coilege at Njoro,
Kenya, where he began an affair with a Hrs. Chalwin, dsughter of hady 0'Brien, who

»was separated from her hushand. on 7 Hovember, after a car chase, Chalwin
folloved Brougham to 3 hotel and stabbed him. Chaluin was later charged with
perder, but was found guilty of MMHWMN»NGS%&M& tg three years
imprisonment.  The three children of the marriage sre:

Henry Patrick, born 1948, parried Cherry Virginia Jacquet in 1977,  They have
two children:

Polly, born 1978
Jack Kenry born 1979.
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Aathony Philip, born 1950, married Isobel Hackenzie hdams i 1978.They have two
children:

Blizabeth Leonie Frances, born 1979
Thamas 0liver, bora 1984

Catriona Hary, bora 1953, married Andrew Prynoe in 1977,

John Hermann, bors I3 July 1890, and entered Britamnia Kaval College in 1904.  He
narried HMaud HMary, daughter of Hugh Kirkwood Gracey, at Rugby in 1916. On 6
February 1932 he filed for baokruptcy, and on 17 December 1937 he was placed on the
Retired List with the rank of Commander. There were four sons of the marriage, three
of whom were at Britannia College at the same time, creating a family record for the
College, . -

Hichael Joha, born 8 July 1917, entered Britannia Naval {ollege and served
throughout W42, retiring with the rank of Lt. Cdr. On 14 March 1944 he narried
Theresa Pinhey, an Irish nurse,and died in 1974 leaving

G11ifan, born 1944, narried to Martin Leonard 1978 {n.diss}).
Hichae! John Douglas, born 1947, married to Jemnifer Brown 1378.
Rosesary, born 1950

Jeremy, born 1954, married to Demise Boniface 1978

Tigothy David, born 1918, entered Britannia Naval College and served throughout
2. Ne nparried Jane Josephine Ham in 1944: there were two children of this
marriage:

James, born 1945, married Carel §. Bailey 1977, and was killed shortly
aftarwards in a motor accident.

Patrick, born 1948, No further information.

Patrick, entered Britanmia Waval College, and like his older brother, served
throughout WW2, retiring as Lient. Cdr. Me was born in 1920 and married firstly,
Elizabeth Anne, daughter of Hon. Leonard Vestey 30 Harch 1946,  There were four
children of this marriage:

Christopher John, QC., born 1947 and & Deputy Registrar in Bankruptcy in the
High Court of London. fe married Mary Olwen Corker in 1974, ard has feur
chiidren:

Willian Charles Rupert, born 1977
Emfly Clarissa Hary, borm 1979
Hiranda Jane Thérése, born 1382
Deborah Aane Rosemary, born 1968.
Margaret Elizabeth Jane, born 1948.  She married firstly, ia 197¢, H.R.J.
Simpson.  This marriage was dissolved, and she married Indly, date unknowa,
John Webber.
Doninic James, born 1952, died in 1953,
Nicholas Dominic Leonard, born 1954, married Susan Masom in 1981,
patrick Brougham's first marriage was dissolved fn 1951, and in 1962 he married
Ruby Itene Crabb. fe died 11 July 1931
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James Jeresy, born 1922. He joined the RAF on leaviag school, and was killed im
action 25 November 194Z.

Klwine Mona Ivy, born 1891, married John Barold Brace Lockhart, sometime Headmaster of
Rugby School, 1913, and died in 1980 at the Kendal home of her younger sod, the late
Rab Brongham Bruce Lockhart.

John Richard, born 1854, married in 1834 lsobel Margaret Hutton. They had only one child,
a daughter, Catherine Anna Hona, born circa 1901, and died 1982 at Lewes, Susser.

Roland Vaux, born 1860. He went to live in Australia, and in 1891 he married Amna Wall,
by whon he had twe children:

Roland Vaux, born circa 1895 and died circa 1910 in Australia.

gileen, date of birth unknown, married Charles Buston Young.  She was living in 1969,
(The above information came from Hrs. Young). .

Op the death of Anma (Wall), Roland Vaux Brooghan married secondly 8 Miss Walker: — we
nave no farther information.

Catherine Asna Mona, date of birth unknown, married William Yhitelock-Lloyd in 1883
Lucy Ellen, date of birth unknown, married Chetwode Hamilton Currey in 1880,

gdith Alice, date of birth unknown, It is said that she eloped with a groom, One
prendergast, and that they went to live in Aperica.  There he found employment with a
relative who owned a small, Dut sgccessful  horse-breeding ramch in Yentucky, and
subsequently isherited the property in the absence of closer relatives.

The younger som,

John Richard, was born 4 August 1829. fp 2 letter to Lord Broughan dated ) lanvary 1841,
Catherine Brougham referred to her need to 'renove to Cork’ for the continved eduction of her
sons, but that

'Johnay is too delicate to leave me, and 1 hope for a day school where their bodily and
mental health will be under my care ...... {and) I have obtained 3 spall house in the sase
town 25 their grandmother Brougham'

John Richard also teok Holy Orders.  ile was successively vicar of Honkstown, Co. Cork 2ad
rector of Castichaven; and was a Canon of Christcharch, Dublin; and on b October 1854 witnessed
the marriage, in Liverpool, of his cousin, James Rigg Brougham to Jsabella Eliza Cropper.  He
married, 11 July 1853, Frances, gaughter of Richard Rothvell of Rockfield, Co. Heath, and died
27 Avqust 1913, leaving 3 som,

Richard fenry Vaux, born 14 March, 1870, and the fourth generation to take Holy Orders.
W& was educated at Trinity College, Dublin (BA1§94), ordained deacon in 1894, and was vicar
of St. Paul's, Southampton 1894 - 1896; and of Hallow, Co. Cork, 1896-1902. on U
September 1895 he married Reatrice Rose Burnaby at St. Paul's, and it is known that he was
in Todd St., Port Adelaide, South pustralia in the early part of this centory.
Thereafter 1ittle is known of him. Beatrice Rose died 4 September 1841 im The Catholic
¥ursing Institute, Southwark; her death certificate merely records ‘'wife of ....ooeoe
Brougham, Clerk in Holy Orders'. Richard Henry died at Freshuster on the Isle of Wight,
15 Angust 1943, leaving an only som,

John Cotlingwood, bora 7 Octaber 1897,  Me married firstly Lilian Mary Evaps at the
Register Office, Battle, Sussez, op 5 Hay 1917, giving his age as 11 asd his wife's age
as 21, He was, at that time, a Ind Lieutenant in the Cork R.G.A., and as can be seen
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from the dates, he was still a minor.  His parents had the marriage annulled, and it
seens likely that :Lilian Mary retursed to Ireland: there is no record of her
subsequent re-marriage or desth at the GRO.

John Collingwood is mentioned in his father's will of 1943 as a Captain in the Aroy,
and the will alsc mentions ’'Aileen Esmé, his wife'. Aileen Esmé (Stone), whom he
married in New Zealand where some of their childrea were borm, was stili living in
1993, but John Collingwood died in Germany about 1964.

There are siz children of this marriage:

fugh Linton, born 7 February 1944, married Corinoe Mary Searle at Ryde, lsle of

Wight in 1970, and has two children

James Collingwood, born 1974 and
Natalie Aileen, bhorn 30 November 1976,

Anita K., born 1946 (Sep. quarter, 6B 1246)

Kelth Richard John, borm 2 September 1942, married Victoria Weaver 5 October 1563
They have & son,

Stephen Paul, born 18 Hovember 1963

Aleen Beatrice, born 10 Harch 1933 in New Zealand. She nmarried Gordem Siampson at
Bristol 28 Harch 1953, Ho further details.

Patricia Helen, born 28 December 1936 in New Zealand, married Desmond Hest in 1951
Ho further details.

Joan Cecile Rothwell, born New Zealand 28 December 1036, rarried James Wattleworth
4 April 1951 Mo ferther details.
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CHAPTER 13

THE BROUGHAMS OF BRAMPTON

The title, 'The Broughams of Brampton' is really a misnomer, for there are none left there - except

perhaps, for a fow descended on the female side. We use the term to cover the descendants of Edward
Broughan who died at The Barns, neat Naworth Castle, and was buried at Brampton 16 February 1724/25: he
{5 knowa to us as 'Edward Brougham of Barns', for that is how his will begins. Many of the succeeding
generations were haptised in Braspton, Farlam, Hayton and Lamercost {as of Burtholame), but by the end of
the 18th century they were beginning ko drift away, to Hanchester and on to the Potieries. Some became
 Excise Officers, and their work took them far afield (as far as Falmouth): the 1881 census shows only
one in Brampton, & widow, being visited by her sister from Liverpool.

According to his will, Edvard of Batns left a widow, Grace, ...... and 18 children, of whom three were
narried daughters and eight others were pipors. He certafnly married twice, and may have married three
times, but we kmow neither the naiden names of his wives nor the dates and places of the marriages. He
enly know that his {apparent} first wife, Ann, was buried 2 January 1711, and that his widow, Grace,
remarried 11 January 1725726 to one Joseph Forster, and was buried at Brampton 20 June 1726.

Information about the Broughams of Brampton is very largely the result of extensive research by HS
between 1985 and 1991. There is no doubt about the identity of the children of Edward Brovgham of
Barns, despite the fact thal aost of them appear in Parish Registers - and hence in the IGI -
baptised as either Broom, Broome, Brooms, and even as Browme.  The only reason we can give for this
is that the entries were not made in the Registers until some time after the events, and were thus nmot
chacked.

Information {from descendants in the OK and New Zealand} indicates that the Hixon connexion may well
have bequn with the marriage of Jane Brougham with Hagh Kixos in 175. It will be noted that the
grandson of Matthew Brougham (1754-1822) was baptised uatthew Nixon {later to become vicar of St.Colan
in Cormuall}. It ceems aimost certain that Hatthew Hixon Broughan's grandmother was a Rixon, and
probably her hushand's cousin.

There is a tegend in tamilies descended from Hatthew Broughan of Falmouth, which we have had from two
different sources, that John Brougham of Bush Hook {and by implication all the children of Edward
Brotgham of Barns) and 'the grandfather of Lord Chancellor Broughan' (Henry Brougham the Eider}) were
second cousing.  This would imply that they had a common great-grandfather: HenIy the Elder's great-
grandfather was Thomas Brougham of Eamont Bridge and Scales, As the family of Thomas is well
authenticated, for this legend to be true one of hig sons would have to have been the father of Edward
of Barng. Thers seems to be only one candidate, William.

We know that the Bishops' Tramscripts, from which many of the baptisms have been taken (in the absence
of Parish Registers) have errors, viz.. Barpard, son of Christopher (he was the son of fenryl; and
alsost certainly, fHenry son of Renry, recorded as baptised at Skelton 25 October 1672; for Hemry of
Scales already had & son, demry, baptised Harch 1684/65, who was gtill living in 1672 - see Chapter 1

-

There is also an emtry in the BT for Skelton:

. ¥illian son of Edward Browh..... , baptised 21 May 1677 (and there can be little doubt that the
conplete entry priginally read "Browham’ ).

Yo have found no other referesce to an Bdward Brougham at that time; but supposing, however, that the
entry should have read:

Edward, son of William Browh..vervaens baptised

for we know that William had & daughter, hgnes, and 2 som, Joseph.  The case could then clesrly be nade
for Edward of Barns being closely rafated to the Broughams of Scrales.
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e must bear in mind too, the will of 'Commissioner' John Brougham.....

*....the temainder of the paternall estate has not been sufficient fo supply the needs of our poor
relations and to maintain and educate their many children.....’

John Brougham was 3 Commissioner of Excise and It was on his motion that Nichael, eldest son of Edward
of Barns, was accepted into the Excise Service. Richael was followed by his brothers John and
Matthew, ro doubt also sporsored by Commissioner Brougham; and in later years no fewer than nine other
descendants of Edward of Barrs became Excisemen.

A close eramination of John Brougham's will shows that the named bemeficiaries match the known
descendants of Henry Brougham of Scales, and none cen really he said to be 'a poor relation'. We have,
therefore, to go back another gemeration, to the Commissioners uncles, to find the possibility of ‘poor
relations and their many children'.  Of Toby, we know nothing; Thomas appears to have married and had
one son (he may have had other children); Christopher had oaly one som, Dudley, who became an Exciseman;
John the Elder had ene son, Daniel, who married his cousin Mary (the Commissioner’s sister) - and they
were well provided for.  That only leaves William. Or does it? We may never know.

There is also, as stated in Chapter 10, the 'evidence’ provided by an imscription on the nemorial tablet
sbove the gqrave of Edward Brougham of Burtholme {1703-1753):  IN THIS GRAVE LYES CHRISTOPRER BROUGRAK
BURIED,  We know of cnly one Christopher Brougham, the {?youngest) brother of Henry Brougham of Scales
Hall. Was Edward of Barns a som, perhaps & younger brother of Dudley?  Only a chance discovery can
determine that.

Despite the assistance given by Edward’s will - and without it we would have indeed been lost - finding
and ideatifying his family in parish registers has been a monumental task, for they were mostly entered
as Broom at Whitfield up to 1709, and thereafter at Haltwhistle; and not all are to he fouad in the 1GI.
The youngest son, Alezander, was baptised at Brampton as Browme.

The second generation presented even more groblems, as they moved further afield with rarriages from
Cresscanonby to Berwick on Tweed (and almost everywhere in between), as Broughan, Broom, Broome, or
Broons. Tracing family lines forward is NEVER recommended, except as a recipe for disaster; yet h
has managed to do this with considerable accuracy in several instances, and we are confident that net
too many alterations will have to be made in other attempts to trace Edward’s descendants down into the
19th cenfury.

A large number of the present day Brooghams must have lines that run back to Edward of Barns, although
we have succeeded in tracing only some of these np to the present day .  The cost, in BUD certificates
and wills {where they exist), ané of journeying around the countryside to search registers only
available in County ROs and pacish churches, is, as all Family Historians will know, prohibitively
expensive for amateurs, and the active assistance of 'family' is essential.

There are, however, other groups of Broughams with world-wide representation, particelarly from
Lincotnshire, North Devon, and Ireland. Of the first two groups we have been able to sketch out 3
little of their past - though their origins are hazy. Of the latter, we have never succeeded, nor have
we found any Broughams claining Irish descent {other than the descendants of Revd. John Brougham of
Ballyhaise and Bailleborough) who can trace their families with certainty before the early C19. (One
soch groep, in New Zealand, has oral tradition that their earliest-known ancestor was Edward Broughanm,
wko married Mary Knowles in Co. Rildare ca.1780; yet a professional search of the Kildare registers has
failed to disclose any Broughams, Broughals, Brochans - or Knowles - over a 20-year span from 1770. We
remain of the opinion that Brougham, in this comtext, is a corruption of Broughal or Brochan, both of
which are common in Ireland.

The Broughans of Lincolnshire are traceable back to the (17, but camnot yet be connected to the
Broughams of Westmorland. The late Revd. Frank Brougham of Cosham believed that his is the last of
these families: he has descendants living in (anada.

Aware, nrov, of the problems and the magnitude of the task, let us examine Edward of Barns and his fanily
over at least & couple of generations
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EDWARD BROUGHAM OF BARNG
Born ca 1660, dled before 26 February 1124725

Warried 1t dnn .ooinves ca, 1690, who was buried 2 January 1711
1, Brace ...oeve ca. 1712, who married 2. 1l January 1725/26 Joseph Forster
and died 10 June 1726

bs stated in the introduction to this gection, there can be little doubt that Edward Broughan was
related - and perhaps not toe distantly - to the Brovghams of Scales, but only the eyvidence of the
adpission of his eldest son to the Bzcise Service on the notion of Comaissioner John Broughan 15
available to support this view.

gdward left a death-bed will, dated 23 Febreary 1734125

i1 fdward Brougham of Barms in the parish of Brampton in the County of Cumberland yeomam; being sick of
pody but of perfect memory praise be to God for it, doth ordain constitute and appointe this to be nay
tast will and Testament Revoking all other will or wills whatsoever heretofore by me made. I give and
bequeath ny soul to God who gave it to me; and Ay pody to be decently poried at the discretion of ny
executors in the Bramptom partish churchyard 1 bequeath to ry dapghter Jane Brougham one COW callied
Hallocks: I bequeath and leave to my daughter Hary Bronghan five shillings current Brittish money; |
leave to my daughter Aane Atkinson one shilling current Brittish money; [ leave to @y daughters Frances
Dawson and Issabell Dawson each of them one shilling; 1 leave to my son Wichae! Broughan one shilling I
leave and bequeath te my son John Brougham ome shilling; [ teave to my son Hatthew Broughan five
shillings current Brittish money; [ leave to my son Stephen Brougham Five shillings I leave to my son
Edward Broughan five shillings of current Brittish money lastly 1 leave and bequeath to my loving wife
Grace Broagham the tuition of all the children of her pody I doth leave her sole execubriz of all my
goods and chattles noveable and {nmovable and also all of my crops of hay and corn and atl my household
goods of what kind soever they are and alt my husbandry goods and all my cattle orem cous heffers sheep
horses and all other cattle whatsoever of all kinds to me doth belong and all the rest of ny farn and
barn and all just debts owed to me for the bringing up of my younger children paying of my rent and just
dehts . oorinnnen in witness whereof I have nereunto set to my hand and seale this  twenty third day of
Feb(ruary) {1724)°

Signed Sealed and Delivared

in the sight of Edward Brongham his Mk B
Geo. Wright

Geo, Wright Jua®

Probate granted at Carlisle 17th day of .....ee 1725/16 to
the executrix named with custody of:

§illi Merray jurat
Isaac Brougham Thomas 3rougham  Robt. Broughaa

john Broughaa George Brougham Alezander Bronghan Elizabeth groughan Margaret Bronghas.

-

So little is known about the seven daughters of Edvard, that it is probably best to deal with them as 2
group. They were:

AN, born about 1660, married Willian Atkinson, 1 darch 1711, See Chapter 14: *The Nixon Conmexion®
FRANCES, born about 1635, narried Robert Dawson 6 June 1715,
1SABEL, born abovt 1700, garried a Dawson, date unknown.

JANE, born about 1703, narried Hugh Bizon 1725,

il
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MARY, born about 1718, married George Little 27 May 1729, ppe of Edward's great-granddavghters,

Elizabeth {bora 1784, daughter of Stephen), married a Joseph Little.
distant cousins.  There are Little descendants in hustralis.

ELIZABETE, baptised 2% September 1718, Ko farther inforsmation.

MARGARET, baptised 3 Harch 1720. Yo further information.

We now turn to the elever sons of Bdward, in Chapters 14,15 and 16.
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CHAPTER 14

THE ELDEST SONS OF EDWARD BROUGHAM OF BARNS

1. MICHARL OF ENFIELD CHASE, MIDDLESER

Baptised: 12 August 1694 at Whitfield, Northumberland
Married : 25 June 1774 to Dorothy Staward at Ellingham, Horthumberland

Michael was the eldest son.  He entered the Excise Service 11 November 1718 'on the motion of Hr. Johw
Brougham', i.e. Commissioner Brougham.  This indicates a family relationship, for it is most unlikely
that the Commissioner would have recommended anyone for the Service unless he were a relation or very
ciose friend. Hichael Brougham had a number of postings, from Southan in Co. Warwick, to Derby and to
Anwick, and rose to be an Examiner fn 1739.

At some date - not noted in the minutes - he was discharged, for on 9 October 1741 the Minutes read:
,,,,,,,,,, Hichael Brougham, late Examiner and discharged petitioned the Bozrd to be restored ..... to
be rastored to a foot walk on a vacancy.'  On § Janvary 1741742 he was posted to Enfield in Hiddlesex,
and remained in the Wertford Collection until the following series of orders and counter-orders im
1751

1 February: .... to be Officer of Colchester Division

7 February: .... notwithstanding the previous Winutes .... to be Officer of
: Leicester 3rd Division.

§ February: .... to be Officer of Ramshury Division, Harlbore’ Coliection.

One can imagine Dorothy Brougham's response to this flurry of orders, and it comes as no surprise that
on 11 March 1757 Hichael requested permission to relinquish his poesitien. He then seems to have
settled on a farn in Enfield Chase, though there are no records of this in the Enfield Library archives.

It is, however, a matter of record that he died there in 1771: Dorothy was also buried there § Hay
1795, Their children were:

ANH, baptised at Almwick 26 Febreary 1726, buried there 1 Harch 1726

KATTHEW, Dbaptised at Alnwick 7 June 1727. He wag an Excise Officer, appointed to the Staires
Division 29 July 1756.  On 9 Jume 1763 an entry in the Excise Board Minute Book shows that Matthew
Brougham had disappeared owing £30.16.8, and was ordered to be discharged.  We have found no evidence
that he was prosecuted for this offence. It is very likely that it was this Matthew who married Esther
Fean at Staines 23 October 1760. We have not found any descendants of this marriage.

DOROTAY, baptised at Alawick June 1729, married 31 Avgust 1762, William Walpoie of London.

FRANCES baptised at Almwick 25 Hovember 1730, buried there 23 October 1731,

HARY, baptised at Alnwick 29 June 1733, She died unnarried 22 September 1B15.

ANN, baptised York St. benis {as Bruffham} 16 December 1739, married John Fisher of London and Enfield
circa 1760 .

MICHAEL, baptised at Enfield 17 November 1744.  He did not marry, and was the pripcipal beneficiary
under the will of his maternal uncle, Hatthew Staward of Sandilands in the parish of Ellinghaa,
Northumberland. He died circa 1781 at Littlehoughton, Rorthumberliand.

Although there may be descendants of this family group, none are kaown to us.
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7. JOBN BROUGHAH QF BESH HOOK

paptised 18 Auqust 1697 at hitfleid (as Broon)
yarried {1): 18 ppril 1723 to Hargaret Bell at Brampton:
(3 1 Detober 1753 to Eleanor Carrick (née paty) at Raltwhistle.

John, too, was an fxcise Officer. The Excise Minate Books show that he joined as a gyperngnary at
fattwhistie 19 Fenroary 1718719, put do not show ¥ho reconnended hin. Nig service was qnrenarkable, and
on 28 February 1738739 he was discharged for gross neglect of duty.

joha Broughan died in nis 83rd year, and was poried at Upper Denton 1 January 1780, and his will was
proved at carlisle 12 April. 7o his widow, 'gilanore’ he left an an annuity of £1.10s rgvet and ahove
provision pade in certain deeds of trust': the latter seem not to have gurvived. T0 his aldest soR,
tdward, he left one shilling; to his son-in-law John Bownan and his wife Mary, twp pounds gad ten
ghillings; to his son-in-law Isaac Nixom and his wife Ann, o0 brass kettle and 3 chest new in their
own possession; to his son atthew one oak press and an oak table, also a Glove bed and 2 dresser with
the pewder {sic) thereon and one of the iren grates; te Fugh Carrick 'ny vife's gon' the sum of ten
poynds; to his youngest sof Stephen his heirs and assigns ra]l that my messtage lying and being in
Alston Moor im the parish of Alstone and in the county of comberland commonly known by the name of Heat
fall high iatake apd low intake of yenthall pry'; the residue of the estate to be divided equally
petween 'Y beloved wife Eleanot Broughan and My said son Stepher Broughan whon 1 appoint sole execubrix
and erecutor .....eee ' Qe wonders what Eduard did to be cut off with the proverhial shilling?

There §5 also some eyidence that he may have had property at Featherstone, yorthumberland.

fleanot survived ner hesband DY almost two years, and was buried 4 September 1781,

RDWARD, Dbaptised at Brampton {as Broon) 11 Hay 1723, and married (as proughas) Hannah podd at Carlisle
st. Cuthbert 20 pecember 1750. Two further generations have been traced:

Joseph, paptised 27 october 1751 at Abbey Lanercost, and narried Elizabeth thomas at St. Peter's,
yorcester on 11 October 1781, They had a son and a daughter:’

Eiizabeth Jane, paptised Worcester 19 Janvary 1784, and
gdward, baptised worcester 24 January 1785
John; baptised 20 Bprit 1753 &t Abbey lamercost. Wo further information.

)54 L)

Hary, paptised 11 february 1755 at Abbey Lanercest and narried Joseph Hind at Carlisle o, Hary. Ho
fyrther information.

gdyard, baptised 17 pay 1797, Be parried lstly, Mary pearson 11 Kovember 1785 at (rogscanonby.
Mary died 30 April 1797.  There were five children of this narriage

Edward, dbaptised Haryport 2T pugust 1785, peried 1 December 1786,

Watthew, baptised 18 October 1789 at Haryport. Ho further information.

Jane, baptised 2 October 1787 at Haryport. HNo fycther information.

fannah, baptised 14 Jaly 1794 at Maryport. o farther information.

¥ary, baptised 17 hugust 1796 at waryport. ? paried Crosscanonby 70 September 1787,

gdward Brougham naccied adly, M November 1797 at Crosscanaaby, Hary prchibald, and had one further
child: :

Bli7abeth, paptised 18 april 1799 at aryport. WO fyrther information.
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Susannah, baptised 13 September 1761 at Brampton, and married Thomas Dodgson 30 April 1780 at

Flinby.

Matthew, baptised § October 1764 at Brampton.

MARY, baptised 17 September 1724 (as Broom!) at Haltwhistie, Northumberland.  She married John Bowman

26 June 1755 also at Haltwhistle.

ANN, baptised 20 July 1726 at Haltwhistle, and married Ysaac Nixon at Brampton B October 1757.

S has postulated a Brougham-Nixon relationship covering the families of John Brosgham of Bush Nook:

this is shown separately, and requires Further investigation.

JOBK, baptised Abbey lanercost % October 1729, aad died 29 May 1732

John Brougham married 2ndly, {as Broom), 13 October 1753, Eleanor Carrick, née Baty and widow of Hugh
Carrick, who brought hinm two step-sons - and the property of Bush Nook, still standing on the road to
Upper Denton. There were two further sons of this second marriage:

MATTREW, baptised at HNaltwhistle (as Brougham) 28 July 17%4.  He was an Excise Officer who rose to
become Port Collector of Cornwall and Collector of the Port of Scilly. He was the most successful of
all the second generation from Edward of Barns, and we know a lot more about him because of this. We

distinguish him in our excise records as Hatthew II, as his Uncle Hatthew [see Chapter 16) was also an
Excise Dfficer,

Hatthew married, sometime before 1788, Ann {??Nixon?%).  We have found no details of this marriage
and have had te rely on wills to verffy entries in parish registers. The circumstantial evidence for

linking Ann with the Nizon family is strong {see Chart 9B), but even present day descendants, who have
correspondence from the early 19 camnot verify this conjecture.

The Excise Minutes do not show when Haithew was accepted imto the Service, but or 3 October 1781 he
was posted to the Derby Division as an Assistant during the malting season.  The foliowing year he
noved to Leigh, lancs., ® ...... whare the Ride is extensive and the Trades numerous, and that a new
Ride, to be called Leigh Znd Out-Ride shall be made ...... and the Dfficer of the new Ride to have a

salary of £50 per annum payable from Excise; and that Hatthew Brougham, dropt assistant in the Derhy
Collection shall be Officer of the said new Ride ....... '

Before 2 Janvary 1784 Hatthew had become Officer of Ashton (upon Mersey} Ind Out-Ride, for on that
date he was promoted to Buckingham first Out-Ride. He was promoted Officer of Buckingham Division on
§ Harch 1786, and at his own request was tramsferred to Warrington 4th Division on 25 September 1787.
Why did Matthew request a posting to Warrington?  Was it because he was already married, and Aan had
remaired there while he went to Buckinghan? Or - despite the evideace that she was possibly a Nizon

{a Border name} - was Ann 2 native of Warrington? At &ll events, their first three chiléren were
born in Warrington.

On 7 December 1790 Matihew Brougham was promoted to be an Ezaminer 'on ¥r. Lowndes' mokion. It is
interesting to note that Rebecca Brougham, youngest daughter of Hemry Brougham the Elder married
Richard Lowndes of Lincolns Inn and of Rose Rill, Dorking, Surrey, in St. Mary's, Carlisle, 12 April

1781, The same family? It 50, this would provide another link in the connexion between the
Broughams of Brampton and those of Scales, -

For the next eighteen months Matthew was transferred between Manchester, Norwich and Ross {on Wye)
and by Septenber 1791 as & Senior Examiner was appointed to be Supervisor of Ross. One nonth later,
he was transferred back to Manchester as Supervisor of Manchester 2nd District.

It seens very likely that Ann Brougham had remzined in Warrington for at least part of this time, for
three of their four childrer were born there, though the two younger sons, Norris and Stephen were
baptised in Manchester. For Stephen's Iife and family see pp.86-87.
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#atthew continued to Pprogiess through the ranks of the Excise Service, and on 17 hpril 1804 the
Minputes record that ... 'the yarrington District, Hanchester Collaction, be exaniped for the character
of Matthew Broagham, Supervisor'. Matthew's character must nave been found to be satisfactory, for
on 31 Augest 1804 he was appointed 2nd Supernumaty collector, again ‘'on Hr. Lowndes' motion.’

For a further Five months Hatthew officiated for Collectors who were absent from their posts, but on
29 hugust 1805 he was appointed Collector of Barastaple {'Barun’ in the Minutes) Collection.  Less
than a month later his job was anlarged to encompass the ports of Barnstaple, Bideford, Itfracombe and
Winehzad; and exactly a yeal later, 19 September 1906 he was appointed Collector of Cornwall
Collection. Two years later his job was again enlarged to include the ports of Truro, Falmouth,
Gweek, Penzance, 5% 1ves, Padstow, PerIyn and Fowey.

on 16 Deceaber 1815 the Port of Scitly was added to the list, but no further moves weie Mingted. On
17 July 1820 the record shows that he was {11, and that Richard Johnstom, Surveying general Examiner
had to deputise For him: this is the only instance e pave found of Watthew Brougham not being fit
for work. The Einmal entry, in the typical bald manne: of the Service, came on 19 Januazy 1821

'Matthew Brougham, being through age and infirnities rendered incapable of perforning
the duties of that statiom, by his letter of 30 June, ordered that he relinquish and
that Joha White, Collector of Wales Collection, gucceed him at his oun request’.

After what had obviously been @ long illness, Matthew Brougham was buried in the churchyard of
Falmouth parish church 14 Octeber 1832,  Ann Brougham outlived him by only nine ronths, for
she, too, was buried in the churchyard on 19 July 1823, aged 9.

the children of Matthew and Ann were:

Ang, for when there is no record of baptism, was puried 21.09.1788 at the parish church of §t.
Elphin, Warrington, aged 3 weeks,

Natthew, haptised at St. Elphin's 9 Janoary 1791, He had been apprenticed to a Hr. Harrisen of
St. Austell, and became a bookseller and stationer ia Falmouth, where he married his cousin
Frances Broughan {daughter of his father's yousger brother, Stephen) in the parish cherch 20 July
18924, The marriage was sadly to last a short two years, for Hatthew was buried 1 October 1§24.
Frances was buried 23 June 1834 at the age of 44, and there weré no children of the marriage.
After minor bequests te.Haria andrews, spinster, of the parish of St. Clements, the residue of her
estate was teft to 'my beloved cousin, Stepher Broughan.' Dr. Stephen Brougham was also her
brother-in-law.

Norrig was born in Warrington according to the 1881 census of Falmoeth, but baptised in
Hanchester Cathedral 20 Jansary 1793. e appears to have heen an invalid, for the will of his
father comtains clear and unegivocal instructions that Korris was to be .. 'supported and
raintained for his natural 1ife'.  This request was repeated by Norris's only surviving brother,
Stephen. Norris outlived his parents and his prothers, and died at ralpouth 17 March 1885, In an
amusing letter to his sisters {9 July 1876}, Dr. Henry Broughan Guppy relates that 'Uacle Horris
yas rather nervous of the (carriage) horse that brought him here’.

Stephen, the youngest son of Matthew and Aan Brougham, may also have been borm in warrington, but
he was baptised 10 August 1794, like his older brother Worrig, in Manchester Cathedral.

0f his early schooling we vaow tothing, but it must have been sound, for he trained as 4 SUIgeod
at Guy's and St. Thomas's hospitals {thea next door to each other) and passed his final exams for
Licentiate of the London Society of Apothecaries (alfhough he does not seem to have been @ mepber
of the Gociety) and of the Royal College of Surgeons {HRCS) in 181T. It is possible that he
first practised in Stoke Damore! {Devomport}, for that fs where he married om 10 Januaty 1825,
Chariotte, daughter of pavid Appleton, but all their children were bora {n Falmouth.

pr. Brougham practised in Falmouth for 47 years, He was an alderman, and was twice mayor of the
town, in 1848 and again in 1853. 1l dizd 20 May 1866, and his many services to the Lown were
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rocorded in his obituary in the Falmouth and Penryn feekly Times of 26 May 1866. His widow,
Charlotte, died in 1871 aged 15, leaving:

Charlotte Amn, who was baptised 17 September 1826, and married Dr. Thomas Stokes Guppy at
Fainouth § January 1853 Their three sons {Henry Brougham Guppy, William Good Guppy and
Thomas Stokes Suppy) were alse surgeons. Hemry Broughan Guppy married, as his second wife,
nis cousin Laetitia Courtenay Warde, daughter of Charlotte's sister, Anna Maria. Witliam
Good Guppy died in Armenia during the Russo-Turkish war {1877); and Thomas Stokes Guppy was
lost at sea when the qunboat 'Wasp' was wrecked on Tory Isiand in 1884,

From their elder daughter, Mary, who married Col. Richard Denny of the Royal Harines Light
Infantry, Hrs. Diana Macintosh of Wellington, N2 and her sister, ¥rs. Juliet Teylor of
Tethury, Glos., are descended.

Caroline Frances, baptised § April 1828, d.unm. 1896.

Matthew Rizon, baptised b September 1830, Exeter College Ozford, BA 1854, WA 1862, Perpetual
Corate Cury and Gunwalloe, 1864-72, and Vicar of St. Cplan from 1872 until his death (sp) 23
pecenber 1080, The register of Landowners in Britain (1873} shows that Matthew Hizon held 18
acres 33 perches of land at St. Colan, with a rental valoe of £18.10s. ke married 20
November 1872, Mary Elizabeth Storey byle at Acton Trussel, Staffs.  This fact bemused us
until we discovered that the Lyles were mining engineers from Cubert, Cornwail, who had
apparently removed to the Stoke area. Mary E.S. Broughan remarried at Cury, 11 october 1883,
Rev. Arthur Harvey Wyatt, her late sister's widower.

In the church at Cery there is a brass pemorial tablet to:

"Robert Harvey Lyle Wyatt, his wife Fthel and Molly lucy Lyle®, placed by Robert lyte of
Bonythor.

It would seem from this that the Lyle and Wyatt families are still represented in the ares,
and one has to suspect that Robert Harvey Lyle Wyatt is descended from the first marriage of
Rev. Arther Harvey Wyatt.

Mary, baptised 10 Angust 1832, d.una. 185) {March quarter, Falmouth 5¢ 159).

Anna Marla, baptised 3 January 1836, married Anbrose John Warde of *The Elms*, Yalding, Rent
in 1855 . It was their elder daughter, laetitia Courtenay, who narried Henry Brougham Guppy.
Hrs. Jean Walker and her sister, Miss Rosamend {Robyn) Warde of West Wittering, Sussex, are
also descended From Anna Haria.

2ilza, baptised 22 March 1838, parried 1 Jansary 1863, Rev. Robert Pictem, 2 Naval Chaplain
who was then posted ('Russell and St. George') at Falmouth.  After a period as Chaplain of
Chatham Dockyard, he was placed on the retired list in 1880, and became rector of Falstone in
the Diocese of Newcastle upon Tyne. Ho further information.

Stephen Renry, baptised 1 Septesber 1840, buried 11 Septesber 1852.

- The 1851 census for Arwemack St. Falmouth shows that the three younger children were still at
school, and that the family had two servants, Sarah Martyn and Jane Hedland. It also shows:

Stephen B, Brougham, nephev, 16, Medical Pupil, born Halta and 2 British Subject.  This
{5 indeed a puzzle, for of Dr. Stephen Broughan's brothers, only Matthew married, and he
died without children. There would appeal to be two possibilities: that there was a
fourth brother for whom we have not accounted (though the will of Matthew Brougham senior
nakes this unlikely); or that Stephen . was a distant cousin, and it was easier to
describe him as @ nephew than as 2 'fourth cousin thrice removed'.  The registers of
¥alta show no Broughams from 1800 on, and we know of no Brougham who ever went there. It
nas been suggested that there could have been a 'cover up' and that Stephem B. was an
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illegitimate son of Frances and 727, but this would have been very difficalt to achieve in
sach a smatl town as Falmouth, ghare the Broughams were so well known and raspected

STEPHEN, who was baptised (as Brooms) 28 May 1738 at Haltwhistle. Like his brother Matthew, Stephen
was an Excige Officer; and as with Matthew, Stephen was appointed on the potion of Mr. lowndes
..*...to be supernumary of Richnond {Yorks.) collection...* on 30 June 1787; but unlike Hatthew he
nad an undistingaished career. At some date prior to September 1791 he was appointed to he Officer of
Easingwold Division 2nd Ride ..... following in the footsteps of Peter, the younger of Dudiey
Broughan's sons (who may have peen 2 distant kinsman), who had relinguished the position of Officer of
Easingwold 1st Ride om 14 November 1743.

On 13 lupe 1796, Stephen was transferred from Blackbura 2nd pivision to Wigan lst Division, and there
are no further entries in the Hinute Books until 22 Harch 1798, when he was ordered to be discharged

... "having given hinself up for idleness and intemperance’. {It must be pointed oyt that the
Minute Book is in error, for it refers to Matthew Broagham, when it so obviously means Stephen).
Matthew (then a Second Supernumaty follector) probably wrote, or at least advised his brother on the
sort of letter he should write to the Board, for on 8 Harch 1799 there is a Hinute

_...'Stephen Brougham, having petitioned the Board, praying to be restored, heqging
pardon for the offence for which he was discharged, and pronising diligence in the
futuze; Ordered that he be restored on 3 properl vacancy’.
fe was restored 16 Harch 1799 as an dificer of Manchester 16 DBivision, but on 2 December 1800
the Hinute Book sadly records .... 'gtephen Brougham Officer of Hanchester 16 Division being
dead, as by the letter of 29 Uttimo from John Carr, Collector ....... !

Stephen Brougham had parcied, 5 February 1786 at Abbey Lanercost, Frances Martin.  They had
kwo sons and two daughters:

John, baptised 3 Harch 1787 at Lanercost.  He, too was am gxcise Officer, but there is
only the record of his discharge from the service oe janmary 1822 for neglect of hisg
duties {Hount Serrell Ind Ride, Coventry (ollection). It is, however, likely that he
had been some years in the Service, as indicated by the different places in which he #as
parried (twice) and his children were born.  He narried 15ty at Stockport 15 June 1807,
Martha Stoddard. Their children were: .

Staphen, baptised Manchester 23 October 1898, garried Mery Ann Jackson there ]
Decesber 1834.  They had three sonms and three danghters:

Wartha, baptised Hanchester 1 April 1839, Mo further informaticn

Jane, baptised Manchester 17 June 1838, Ho farther infornation.

Stephen, baptised Hanchester 26 Juae 1840. lio further information.

Hary Asn, baptised Hanchester 27 Kovember 1842,  Ho further information.
John, born Manchester 1644,  Ho further information.

James Jackeon, bore Hanchester 1844, married 25 Hay 1863 Mary Amn Brannan. Only
ane child 1s known of this marriags:

James Jackson, baptised Manchester 16 July 1866
Joha, baptised 10 June 1810 at Loughborough. Ho further information.
Bleanor, baptised 14 June 1818 at Manchester, and married Willian Heywood 03.04.1864.

4o further inforpation.
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Frances, baptised 19 December 1819 at Barrow-on-Stour, Leicesfershire. Mo further
inforpation.

Martha Broughat wust have died at some time in the 18305, as John Broughan saw no need to
re-marry until 25 September 1838, when be married Abigail ¥ilsen. By that time Framces
would have been 19. We have bees unable to identify any children of this second marriage
- but that doesn't mean thab there weren't amy.

Eleapor, baptised 8 February 1789 at Brafferton. Mo [urther details.
Pramees, baptised at Brafferton 21 April I780. She sarried her cousia, Natthew Broughanm

the Younger at Falwouth 20 July 1824. 45 we have seen, Hatthew died in 1828, but Frances
survived Matthew by B years, and wag buried at Falmouth 3 June 1834.
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CHAPTER 15
STEPHEN

paptised: 16 Jamsary 1707 at ¥hitfield, Northumberland
Harried : 15 March 1733 Ano Bowman, at Brampion

STEPREN was the third son of Edward of Barms, and the parish register notes that he was a drover. It
is possible that Anp Bowman was the supposed child of Henry Broughaa of Seales who lived to be 106.
She certainly died & widow, and an Amn Brougham, widow, was buried at Farlam as of Yosspladdow 13
february 1788, but although the PR gives her age as 1906, this caonot be relied upon; and it is
tantalisingly ushelpful as to her {former nushand.  If she were 106 in 1789, then she would have heen 39
when her first son was born, and 37 when the second was porn. Given the degree of medical knowledge at
that time, it seems highly unlikely.

The two soms were:

STEPEEN, haptised Farlam 24 Septesber 1733, He narried Elizabeth Hieolson, aléﬁ at Farlam, U4
yovesber 1738, and his will of 1778 refers to his sother 'Anmn Broughan, a widow', and to his son, Jobm:

Jobn was born circa 1760, and was an fixcise Officer, beginning his career at Chester 20 July 1784,
He repained in the Chester Collection, moving around various stations until 7 January 1791 when he
was poved to Ashton-on-Mersey hut four memths later, 17 May 1791, he was moved fo a new Divisien
tormed at Nacclesfield *for Macelesfield had become too mighty'. 0n 2 August 1793 he was ordered to
yiddlewich, and 11 Yay 1798 moved to Newcastle-under-Lyse. Qe 29 Qctober 1798 he “prayed leave to
relinguish®, and becase a schoolmaster in Burslen. John Brougham married lstly, at Lamercost 28
March 1779, Hamnzh Townley, daughter of Rev. ¥illizn Towaley, vicar of lanercest.  There was one
son of this marriage:

Stephen, baptised 14 Juae 1780, was-a "hookseller, sub-distributor of staaps, dealer in pusical
ipsirumests, vendor of patest medicines, and had an extensive circulating library’.  He married
Firstly at Burslea 14 November 1809, Ann Dennett Pierpoint, who ¢ied 17 March 1814,  lHer death
vas reported in "The Staffordshire Advertiser”™:

*After a long and painful illmess at Burslem op Thursday last in the 23rd

year of her age, Nrs. Brougham, wife of Stephen Broughan bookseller of that

place,  fer mild and unassuming behaviour through life had justiy gaimed

her the highest respect from all who knew her, while the affectionate regard

che entertained for her friends and relatieas gives thee the most poignant

sorrow of the recollection of her loss.’
e have found no children of this marriage.

Stephen Brougham married Zndly, Mary Lea, daughter of the licensee of the Crown Inm, Burslen,
28 June 1816. Their childrer were:

Stephen, baptised 1 November 1817, buried 4 May 1845 unm.
William Heary, baptised 4 April 1819.  He parried Bliza Burkitt at Swayfield, Lincs., 12
gcteber 1865, and is shown in the census of 1861 as *Clerk to a Bible Society" of Yaux
Cottage, Woodlands Read, Isleworth. Eliza died in 1886, apd §illiap Heary died 27 January:
1900, leaving two daughters,

Edith Mary, born 1868, married Horace Willizm Wood in 1908.

Louisa, bern 1870, sarried Claude E. Perry in 1811
Mary Jame, bors 25 January 1821, d. une. 1913 at Vaux Cottages, Isleworth.
fanpab, born 13 August 1823, earried Jobn Sheldon at ¥olstanton on 17 October 1846,
John Townley, born 13 May 1825, died 1843,
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Joseph, born 29 April 1827, married Narrielt Woolrich at Steme, Staffs 21 Janvary 1861
Only one child of this marriage has been found:

Jobn Marsh, born 17 December 1861 at Isleworth (his father is shown as "Accountent and
Cashier® on the birth certificate). Ne married Sarzh Helen Beawell {b:IB71) at the
Register Office, London City, 6 April 1887.  The sarriage certificate shows nim as
*Copgercial Clerk®, and his father as 'Publisher’.

Harriett Broughae died in 1832, and Joseph in 1307.  Jokn Marsh Brougham died intestate
19 Novenber 1908, and Sarah Heles was granted admon. 4 December of that year. They
had one son:

Cecil ¥ilfred, who was registered as Cecil John Marsh and his date of birth given as
§ dpril 1868. He married lstly in 1310 Marguerite Broad, and had a son

John William, borm 1911, parried 1933 Lilian Alice Yanley, and died 1931.  They
had one son and & daughter,

Jokn Michael, born 1838, warried 2 ¥iss Thomas in 1978 Yo further
isformation

Andrea, born 1940,  No further inforation
Lilian Broughae married 2ndly, 31 ¥arch 1962, Percy Edward Taber, an engineer.

Although no death can be found for Yarguerite (Broad}, Cecil Wilfred married 2ndly
in 1933, Julia Dnily Watson, and died in 1962,

Sarah Nelen married secondly, 12 August 1922, Willian Ryde, a widower and retired
Brewery secretary.

Joha Broughan married secondly at Burslem, Staffs., 3 January 1788, Elizabeth Hale, by when he had

{Rev.) Joseph, baptised 26 September 1788, d.unm. 24 March 1836.  UBis death was reported in
*The Staffordshire Advertiser® on 2 April 1836:

*On Thursday 24th at Burslem, The Rev. Joseph Brougham aged 48. e bad been for
twenty five years a travelling preacher in the Wesleyan conmexion.  For the last
few years e had retired fron the regular ministerial work and had resided as a
sppernupary in Burslem.  He was a sen of retired habits, decided piety, and
peaceful disposition.”

John, baptised Betley 30 April 1791, married Maria Tittensor at Leeds O1d Church {St. Peter’s)
18 hugust 1824, both parties being of Burslem - although Tittensor is not common to the Leeds
area: it derives from the village of that name in Staffordshire. it is interesting to
note that the IGI has an ap entry for St. Peters (an imper suburb of Sydney, NS¥) fer 20
August 1881: William Thomas, son of Sawuel Broome and his wife, Julia Tittensor, baptised.
Sapuel and Julia bad sarried in Pontefract, Yorks. 25 Deceaber 1873, so must have migrated to
Australia soon after. The names may be purely coincidental ..... but ome can't help wondering.

Johe and Maria had eleven children that we could trace and account for:
John, baptised Burslem 2 October 1825, died in infancy.

John, baptised Bursiem 23 November 1826.  fe appears not to have marrie, and died in
1872,

Rlizabeth, baptised Burslem St. John's 10 June 1830. Tt is pessible that she married,
for she was not af home for the 1851 ceasus.

Maria Aon, baptised Burslem 26 January 1832, was living with her parents at Chel} in 1§31,
tn 1874 she married John Pickism, but not before she had borne three illegitimate children:
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Wartha Jane (Broughas), bora 1863 Joha Pickin, born 1868; and Peter Pickin, born 1873

Thomas dJobn, baptised Burslem 23 August 1835,  He married Yartha Dean (1835-1803) in 1862
(Kolstanton registers}. There were three children:

Sarah Dean, born 1863, died 1863,

William, born 1864, sarried firstly, 1892, Eliza Jane Fletcher (1868-181G}, by whoa he
had twelve children:

W¥illiam Joha Archibald, baptised 24 July 1894, married lema Lancaster {1831-1937)
at York in 1920, and died at Nottingham in 1943, There was only one child that
ye can trace of this marriage:

Joseph Colin, born 12.01.1322, who married Doris Sparham {born 10 October
1924) at Jacksville, Notts. in July 1M4T. They had four childrem:

David Colin, horn’é4 February 1948.

Denise, born 11 April 1949,

Johe Heary, born T Yay 1851, garried Joan Winterbotton {born 23 May 1838)

17 July 1979,  They had ome som,

Graham Johm, born 17 July 1984

Jacet, born 16 October 1836,
Eaily May 0., born 1885: no turther information {? died une Chelsea 1840 aged 46)
dertras, born 1896: no further information.

Thomas Colin, born 1897: ne further information

| frederick Leonard, born 1898: married Florence Cope at Dethnal Green in 1827, and
died at Thurrock, Bssex, in 1968, aged §9), leaving a daughter,

Cladys F.. born 1928, married 1952 Geerge Hunter. No further information.
‘ Maud, born 1898: o further inforaation
i Doris Evelyn, Dorn 1800, died 1901.
Alice Irene, born 1903, died in infancy.

Barold Vincent, born 1803 married dorothy warshall at Basford in 1927, and died at
Bolton in 1978, leaving}

i Albert, born 1928, parried Joy Fletcher 1931, Mo further infernation

Fay, born 1930 sarried Willias Wheatley 1853, Mo further information.
Reginald Bertram, born § Cctober 1905, married Eleanor Stokes in 1932, and died
at Capbridge in 1975, Eleanor is presumed to have been living as late as 1384.

There were two sons and a daughter of the marriage:

Keith R., born 1934, sarried Audrey Goodsan in 1952, The births of iwo
children are shown in the registers:

Annette Elaine, born 1968, and
David Keith, bors 1872,

Jack A.,-born 1936, married Mary Linden in 1962, Yo further information.
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ang, borp 1938 merried David Clark in 1958 So further inforsalien

Gladys ¥inifred, horn 1807, married williee Harishorn in 1331.  No Tlurther
inforration

Jobn Frank ¥., born 1903, sarried Harriett Beardsley in 1920 [farrieft died in
1834, and there were no children of this =zarriage. John Fraak married secondiy,
Alice Czrman-¥eakin ip 1834 and died in 1988 leaving tvo deughters:

Maud, born $933, married Peter Sellors in 1939..
Jacqueline, bern 1944 No furiher iaforeation.

Eliza Jane Broughan died io 1918, &nd Williza marricd secondly, in 1810, Lydia
Griffith Drowa. There were five children of this marriage:

Lydia, born 1911, sarried Clarence Bailey ia 1332: no furiher inforaation.

feorge, born 1814, married [ris Potter in 1948, They had one son:
bavid 0., bors 1941, sarried 4an Peters in 1976.  Their son,

Jonathan DPavid, born in 1980, There cosld be other children of the
parriage, but our GRO records cnly go to 1880

Eraest Clifford, born 1938, parried Gertrude ¥orthinglon in 1948 They had two
children:

plan Clifferd, born 1940 and married Rita Marrows in 1668 There are two
chitdren of this marriage:

fracey, barn 1970, and
Paul, dorn 1973,

Hichael ¥illizm, born 1943,
Lily, born 1926, parried Jarvis Cheabers in 1340
John, born 1863, warried Vellie Smart in 1881, So further inforsation.
Thomas John Broughen died aged 40, ia 1872, Martha died in 1903 aged Bf.

Joseph, baptised Burslea 23 August 1833, de was living at the 1851 cemsus, aged 13,
Bul may have died in 1833, for a death was registered at Wolstanion in that year.

¥illiae, showa ia (he 1851 cersus aged 11: no other inforaation.
[saac, shown in the 1831 census, aged 8: no other information.

Stephen, born 26 April 1843, married Mary Jane Yachomald {died 1887) in 1871 [Welstaaton
registers). There are seven known children of this marriage:

Ernest, born (Wolslantor) 1872, believed by others of the family to have amarried in
1896, died at Stoke on Trent 1943 no other inflormation.

Stephen, born 1873, died the szme year.

Joseph, born 1874 died apparentiy unzarried at Stoke on Trent 1929.
William Henry, born 1873 (Wolstanion): no other inforzation.

Evelyn, born 1877 {¥olstanlon), and died there, unmarried in 1857
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Faith Apnie who was Born in 1877 and parcied ... In 1800 No Terther informatios

Jobn, born 17 July 1887, married Sarah Biddulph 26 December 1911 at Northwood, Staffs.
They had two children:

Leslie dJokn Frederick, bogm 8 May 1316, parried Ecith Perry at Etruria, Sorth
Staffs 29 Seplesher 1941, There are no children of this marriage.  Bofh are
living (1984).

Doroty Mary, born 13 Yovesber 192 at Birches Head, Staffs.  She merried irthur
Fentor at Yewcastle under Lyme in 1939: no further informatios.

Alice, born 1892, married Narold Giddulph in 1815, Yo further information

Stephen died in 1896, Mary Jane having predeceased him in 1887, There
is a strong possibility that Stephen sarried a second time in (888 (Stoke on Tremt,
Decemher quarter, 6b 312}, but this has not been fellowed wp by bis descendants

Mary Jame, shosn in the 1831 census, aged 2: no other information.

Isaac. baptised Macclesfield 21 April 1783 He was a colour manufacierer, and married Jane
Sherwin 23 Yoveaber 1826 al Burslen, Staffs.  Jape died in 1853, Thelr children were:

Kiltiaz Johnson, shown in the 6D as baptised at Burslem 18 December 1846, although he
apst have been bore ca. 1828, for the 1831 census shows him to be 23 and, like Ris father,
a colosrasker. e died unm. 16 December 1860

Thomas, baptised Bursien 26 September 1839, married Sarah Brindley at Wolstanton in 1837
There were three daughters of this marriage:

Jane, baptised at Vewcastle-under-iyme 4 July 1839, died unm 13 October 1933

Sarah Oelen, baptised Newcastle-vnder-Lyme 7 July 1860,died uno. 23 October 1941
With her death, Isaac Broughan's line failed. She left an estale valued at I21,808,
and her will disposed of this to the Royal Staffs. HRespifal, the incusbeat of St
George's, Yewcastle under Lyme,the Church Missionary Soclety, and lo severel close
friends.

¥ary Brindley, baplised Vewcastle-under-Lyee 16 July 1863, died upm. 26 March 1221

Sarah, baptised at Middlewich 28 Becember 1793. No further information.
Jobn Broughaz is known to have died in dpril 1831, but we have found no record of this.

FDWARD, the yousger of Siephen and Ann Brougham's {ws sobs, was baptised at Farlam 7 Seplember 1713,
and was also an Excise Officer. W¥hen he joined the Service is mot clear, bet he became & Supernumary

in the Chester Collection § 4pril 1776,  Gn 12 November of that year, he was &t Kirkkas 1n Lhe
Lancaster Collection, and was ordered i¢ succeed Richard Hirst at Leybourne (Yorth Yorks.).  He was

goved to Reeth on 3 June 1778, and exchanged slatlons with the Officer of Leybourne on 18 October
1989, On 73 Juge 1784 he was moved again, this time to Richsend in the York Collections, and Lhree
vears later, en 20 Seplesber 1787 was discharged for failing to carry out his duties in & proper
fashion, and & peiition of B March 1788 for reisstatement was refused. Edward Broughae married
Frances Grayson at Kirkby Stephen 24 May 1762.  Their children were:

Stephen, baptised 30 March 1763 at Kirkby Stephen, was a farmer of Fylingdales when he aarried
Yargaret Barry (beptised 20 Jenuary 1763, died Lanchester Co Durham I3 October 1832} on 12 July
1787, Stephen died at Wolsingham, Vorthusberland, 29 Yay 1814, leaving:

William, born ca 1787, oarried Margaret Pigg at Wark 20 May 1826, and died I September 858,
teaving:

Thonas. sho was & shepherd. was born [829, and married Hannzh Ruikerford 15 May 1833, aud
died at Hesham in 1875 leaviag,
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Willizs Putherford. bors 1855 married 18R Sareh French, and died 13 Decenber 1882
dane, born 1837, married 1832 Lo . .

Margaret, horn 1839, zerried 1883 (o ... .

Mary Ann, born 1861 Seeas mol io have married.

Hanaak, born 1882, married John draison at Hexhaa gégﬁster Office 18 Yarch 182

Lydia, born 1864, married at Lanchester 1893 to ... ¥

James Patterson, born 1863, married 1889 at Newcastie wpon Tyne 1o Ellen Mary Duff
and died ai Alawick 26 May 1934,

Thosas Pigg, born 1867, married, 1909.Sarah Jane Charllon, and died 1949 leaving:

Thezas Edmund Ruiherford, born 1806, narried Blizabeth Connor 1927 and died 1971
leaving:

Thomas, borr 1327, married 1950 Lydia Cellins. Presuzed living 1995, %o
further inforpation.
Edeund R., born 1928, died 1920,

Killias Osvald, bora 1805, sarried Odive Hrown 1938 and died 1975 leaving:
Alan, born 1943, presuaed living 1993

Lydia EXTa F., born 1988, married John Comway in 1935 Presuzed to be living in
1995

John Rebson, born | October 1868, married Darbara Ellery at Hexhan in 1891, and died
I1 March 1928, having had seven children. It would be inderestiag to know where the
Nobson name cemes [rom,as it appears also with Ellen Robson Broughaa, younger davghier
of Edward, his first cowsin once removed (see below).  DBarbara. who was born at
feshas 24 March IBG8, was the oldest lady in Cateshead when she died in Sepiesber
1971

Thomas. born 1892, married Jeanfe Knotts in 1914.  There was certainiy one child
of this marriage:

Jages Rutberford, born 1918, zarried Priscilla Charlton in 1948, by whom he
had:

Peter R..born 1546. No further inforaation
Hichael 4., bore 1930.  So ferlher infcrmation

Rackael May, who was born 1920, married George Haley (1914-1998) ia 1947
Joho Willize, born 1884, sarried Meggre Smith in 1912, They had a son,

Jobnt Allen, who was born in 1929, became a District Judge and married ¥arjorie
Phiilipson (born 1830} in 1953 There are three children:

Carol Ann, vho was born 1936 and beczme a General Yedical praciiliener.
Alison Jane, vho was born 1960 and married Asoka Fernando in 1994,

dohn Paul, who was born 1361 and became a General Medical Practitiomer.
e married Cathryn Nicholson in 1993, and emigraied to sustralia in 1995,
They have have two children:

William Joks, born 1996
Thoras Edward, horn 1998
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Jases Rutherferd, born 1896, married Florence Harvey in 1821 and died 1860
Florence died 1972, leasving:

Joho B., bern 1928, married Edna Robson {1928-1979) in 1932, presused liviag
in 1993, There are two children ef this marrizge:

John R., born 1934, married Mary Nicholsen in 1978 Both presuned living
in 1993, and
James §., born 1938, warried Tina Eldrett in 1978,  Both presuaed living
in 19935,
Betty, bern 1922, aarried Willian Stephenson 1934,  Ne further inforzaiion,
Haonah, horn 1898, married Joseph Hall iv 1327. No further information

dane Elizabeth, was bora 1961 and died ca.t884.  No further information

Hargaret Bell, born 1906, married Frank Biggins (b.1945) in 1929 No Turther
Inforgation

Bdna ¥ay, born 1910, married Lance Weightman in 1932,  There was & san of this
marviage. ¥r. Weightman npest have died beforc ..., for in that year Edna
garried Norman Yewman

Joseph Parker, born 1871, married to Ellen Wood (4:1933) in 1893, and died at
Gateshead § April 1934, leaving:

Thomas William, born 1898, died 1566

Robert, born 1848, parried Elizabetdh Saith (d:1939) in 1921,  Robert died in
1947, leaviag:

Ethel A., borp 1923, married ..... .. Gray in Canada. Mo further information.
Nellie, born 1923, married Charles Gaodall in 1348

Hary Hannah, born 1898, liviag 1904,

atthev Rulberford, bora 1983, married Isabella Armstrong in 1925 and nigrated to
sustralia  He was siill living in 1994, having had two sons and a daughter:

Joseph, born 1926, died 1427,
Malthew Rutherford, born 1927, zarried Margaret ... ... . [date usknewn),
both living in 1394, having bad:

David John, narried, but no [urther informaticn
Ano-Maree, sarried, but no further information.
Catherine, married, but no further infoermation
Margarel Adele, born 1938, died 1998 una.
William Ermest, born 1903, died 1369 una.

Thomas, bern 1908, married Blanche Rogers {d:1363). Thomas is presumed to be
living 1680,  There was ope sen of this marriage:

Charles #., married Margaret ........ post 1$80, and both were liviog in 1993,

doho Weod, born 1896, married Mebel Alice Biick (d: 1935} in 1918, John Waod
died in 1971 lteaving:

Joyee K., bore 1921, married ... ... ... Buickinsen in 1544, Vo further
icforration.
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Pegpy, born 1923, zarried .. ... (ollins in }342. Vo further inforzation
John illiam Weod barn 1326, garried Anita Brovoe (B diss.} in 1946, There
vere two children of this marriage:

gary, d.0.b. not knowa, parried Yary YeQuillan {e.diss.}, and has three
children: '

Jonathan dames Wood, harn 1876
Gregory, boran 1981
Nichael, horn 1934,
gail, sarried duriiie Rea. No further information.

Betty E., born 1330, %o furiher information.

Matthew Charltem, born 1873, garried to dJemny Weod at Cateshead in (883,  They
migrated to dustralia cirea 1950, and died there. Yo further igfernation,

¥illias, born ca.1832, died nazarried al fexhaw 26 ¥arch 1880.

pdvard, born 20 November 1788, baptised 1 FPebruary 1769 at '?y}ingdaies. Vo further
information.

Jape, bors 3 April 1791, bapiised at Fylingdales 22 Yay 1791. No further information.
Hary, bora | Janaary 1784, baptised 26 Jamsary 1734 ai Fylingdales. Mo further inforaation.
Betty, born 1§ November 1796, baptised as Broffas! 26 pecember 1796 &t Fylingdales.

| Margaret, boro 10 January 1798, baptised 26 May 1799 at Fasington

Stephen, baptised 22 February 1861 at Easingtom, married Elizabeth Dixon ca. 831 They had
ore son and two daughters:

fdvard, known only from his father’s will. Te was bora ca. 1833 and sarried Bllen Parker
in 1857, fe died in 1881, leaving Eilen and Pive childrenm:

Jage Aon, born 1880, May have mareied at Auckland iv 1989, Yo further iaforaation,
Rdvard, born 1862. VMay have sarried at Hexham in 1886. XNo further information.
Elizabeth, born 1864, Mo further information,

Margaret Bllen, bora 1856 Mo further informatien.

Alice Maud, born 1873.  May have parricd in 1906, Yo lurther inforpation.

£1len Rohson, knowt only from ber father's will.  The death of an Ellen Broughaa at the
age of 64 was recorded at Auckland in 1990.

Margaret, knovn [ron her father's will, aid the only one o appear ip the CRO registers -
7 Japuary 1842, There is also eo entry in the registers of ibe marriage of Yargaret Ellen
Broughan in 1888, when she vould have been 46.

Stephen's will makes interesting reading:

...all zy real and persenal pstate in trust for the sole use and bemefit of
£1izaheth Droughas my wife ... and at her decease for the sole use and benefit of
py two daughters, Margaret Brougham and Fllen Robson ...... and for the survivor of
thep .... the house belonging to mt situated at Kilkies Sguare {rook be given 1o my
son Edward Broughas ... the house 1 now oceupy ... (i} Crook ..... to oy davghter
Yargaret Broughae and the house sitvale behind the last named house lo Ellen
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Broughen and their respective heirs the two houses adjoining the house [ now occupy
..... [ direct the aforesaid Edvard Brougham and Peter Caapbell whos [ appoint
executors of this ay will to sell and dispose of the proceeds equally .

The witl was proved at Durhaw 5 October 1870 in the sum of £26.00.00

Stephen died 3 August (870, and Elizabeth died in 1877 at the age of 63 Stephen’s will was
proved at Durham 5 October 1870 in the sum of £20:40:00.

¥illiae, baptised 23 August 1764, sarried Ann ¥halley 13 May 1799 at ¥hiteore, Saffs. fie was
firstly an Excise Of[icer, becosing Supersumary in the Leeds Collection 21 Avgust 1733,  dver
the next seven years he moved to Wakefield, Malton {¥orth Yorks.}, Tideswell {Derbyshire} and
Vewcastle-under-Lyae,  On 13 dugust 1800 he was given leave to relinquish, but five years
later, 19 December 1805 he was reinstated as Officer of Bromley Ride, Derby Collection. This
latter esploysent was evidently not to bis taste, for the next entry in the Yioutes reads:

*¢illiam Droughas, Officer of Bromiey Ride, Derby Collection, having desifed
leave to relinquish as by his letter of Jrd imstaet. and having befare
relinquished, Ordered that he be discharged".

It vas evidently alright for the Board te change its collective nind - as it did with Stephen
- but not for an humble OfFicer.

Willian then became the iiceasee of the Golden Lion, Hanley, Staffs ., and died imtestate “on

or aboui 11 dugust 1832*, having appareatly that day walked out of the hotel and never
returned, leaving Ang with the four children:

Mary ¥halley, baptised 3 August 1800. 4 report of her marriage, 'a lew days ago' Lo lugh
Siapkin, an engraver, was carried by 'The Staffordshire Advertiser® on 18 March 1819,

Bliza, who was baptised 26 May 1811, marvied Willian MacKissey. By 1847 she was
considered to be mentally unstable - but see the next entry.

fenry William, baptised 21 April 181§ at Hanley.  He was an engraver of Manchester who
parried Ellep Scott at Stoke-upon-Tremt 28 December 1833, Ellen Scotl was 2 reparkable
woman, for she successfully applied for the adainistratiom of both her father-in-lav's and
ner mother-in-law's estates, on he grounds that her sister-in-law, Ellen Mackinsey was of
an unsound ming. AL that time (1844) Ellen described berself “as of Soilo Square, Frith
St., Westminster’.  She later moved back to the Steke area, for In 1847 she gave her
address as Shelton, Hanley, Staffs., late of Sohe Square. She Bore anoiher som,
Frederick Speakes Browgham (who may well have been illegitimate], baptised Huime,
Vanchester, 11 Janvary 1846,  Elles Broughae died in Scho in 1883, Confusingly, there
was another Willian Brougham, licensed victualler, of Soho, who 4 September 1839 married
Susannah Vaupder. It has te be comsidered that there may have been a link hetween the
{wg families. Henry William died [ January 1844,

There were six children of the marriage:
¥illiae Walley, baptised Hanley 18 March 1831, died 1834,

Edyin, born ca.1835, sarried by banns 1Istly, at St. Jobn's Lambeth, 6 August 1833,
Alice edding. Edwin is described as *a Tin-Plate Vorker® of akley St., Lamheth.
Six years later, as Edwi ¥illian Brougham, he bigamously married Esther dane Turnbull
at the parish church of Yookwearaouth Co. Durham, 27 Yay 1861, giving his age as 24
and his profession as waiter, He died at Stoke-upon-Trent in 1883; Esther died two
years earlier, also at Steke.

Tenrietta, baptised St. George's, Rulme, § July 1837, died 1839.

fesry Osmond was born in 1840 The 1881 census shovs that he garried Mary ... .. .
born 1847, zlmost certainly in irelamd, for all four of his children were born there;

L



feary, Born 1874 no further inforgation
¥illiam, born 1878: no further information
Ellen, born 1879: no further information
Thomas, born 1881: o further inferpation

¥illiam Walley, baptised St. George's, Rulme, Manchester, 26 Jure 1841, married
Susannah Shepherd in 1864 (registered at Edmonton}. He is described a5 2 "Cab Driver"
on his eldest son’s birth certificate. There were five children of the marriage:

deary Killiam, born 1865. No further imferpation.
Edvard ¥..born 1866. No furlher inforzation.
Hearielta, born 1868. Yo further information.
Ellen Caroline, born 1870. Yo further information

(¥illian} ¥alley - registered as Walley - 27 September 1871 at Yew Barnet, lerts
e warried Faony Fairweather at the parish church, Fast Barnet, 16 July 1894,
living his cccupalion as *Porter’. They had five children:

George Edvard Whalley, borp at Edwonton in 1695, married Sophia Sagerville
at Islingtos in 1921. There were two children of this marriage:

Jeat 5., born 1922. Yo lurther informaiien.
Keaneth €. born 1924. Vo further information.

Frank Albert was born in 1899 and married Dorothy Aasell in 1926,  He die¢
sp in 1963.  Dorethy appears fo have been livigg in 1989.

Frederick Borace [registered as such, bul always believed to be Warold), barn
Sovember 1801, his parents' address being given as 7 Bradley Road, ¥aod Green
in the County of Middlesex. He married at Greemwich, 25 December 1927
Charlotte Gladys Clark, aod kad one son:

Richard Anteny, born 31 Jarvary 1929 at Hornsey. He married Skirley Bery)
Ashford at Jornsey 27 March 1954, and has twg children:
Philip Antony, born | Yovember 1934 at Hornsey.
Franels Robert, bern 13 Yay 1936 at Horasey.
Frederick Forace Brougham died in 195¢; Charlotie Gladys in 1932,

Robert - no details.
Edvard - no delails

Susanagh died in 1873, and ¥illiam Walley married ndly, Frances Laird in 1875. fe
died, aged M, at Sloke-vpon-Treat in the same year. The death of a Frances
Brougham, aged 74, was registered at Rochford (Essex] in 1919,

Prederick, bora 1844, described bimself as ag organist in the [881 cemsus. He married
artha Bowles at Stoke-upon-Trent in 187%, and died in 1902, apparently sime prole.
Martha died in 1928. Mo further information.

Hary. baptised at Barnard Castle 22 Juoe 1766, and died there unmarried 24 Varch 1824,
Frances, who was baptised af Barnard Castle 2 Awgust 1776, and married William Harrison there
I2 March 1798 Two sons were baptised there: Williaw, 2 Febroary 1800, and John, § Jupe

1862.  We have noted with interest several Broughan-Harrison femilies who have bees recorded
vnder BROUGHAY in the GRO registers
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Edward marrie§ tndly, at Barnard Castie en 22 March 1779, Jane Bainbridge.  All the children of this
{second} marriage were baptised at Griston, as the children of Edward Broughaa, Excise Officer of
Reeth  They were:

=z

obert, baptised 13 February 1780, Yo further information.

Matthey, haptised 16 June 1783, burfed I July 1783

John, Baptised {as Brufham) 21 October 1784. Mo ferther iaformation

Juseph, baptised i6 August 1783, died at Barpard Castle 23 ¥ay 1816, No further infermation.
Jane, baptised 2 Yarch 1781 Yo further inforaatien.
Ann, Baptised 7 September 1786

Edward Brougham was discharged from.the Excise 26 Seplember 1797 for a catalogie of serious
pisdeneangurs coacerning the faiiure to collect the correct duty from various tobacco and beer
cetailers. We have found no further fire information about him, but the Staffordshire Advertiser
of 18 March 1820 carried the following announcemeat:

s1t Manchester, on the 8th fnstaat, at the advanced age of 93, Mr.Edward Brougham,
(olion Manufacturer, of that place”.

This would give a birth dale of 1723, but we have found no Edward Brougham at thal time other
than Edward of Baras - and he died in that year. it seeps certainm that this aanouncement
referred to Edward Brougham of 1733, above. 4 search of the extant Manchester papers 1815-1823
has failed to reveal a corresponding announcement, nor have we been able te find any other recerd
of Edward's death.



CHAPTER 16
ED¥ARD BRODGHAH, YEOHAK, OF BURTROGLXE AKD HIS YOUNGER BROTRERS
EDSARD

Baptised: 24 April 1709 at Whitfield, Korthemberland
arcied @ {date and place unknown) Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas Bell.

{The merriage is known from Thomas Bell's will). Edward and Elizabeth seem to have setiled at
Burtholme, wheze Edward was a carpenter, Ae died, aged 44, 5 December 1793 and is boried in Lanercost
churchyard.  If he left a will, it has not survived. Elizabeth's will is dated 30 Hay 1768. 0n 2
July at Carlisle 'appeared personally Hatthew Brougham and alleged that he was and is the sole erecutor
named in the last will and testament of Eljzabeth Broughan late of Burtholme in the parish of Lamercost
of Carlisle Widow deceased Wharefore he prayed execution of the said last Will and Testamant of the said
deceased to be comritted and granted to him ....'. Ao inventery of Elfzadeth's belongings, giving a
value of £24:1s:6¢, was taken on 28 June,

The children of the marriage were:

RRTTREW, baptised at Lanercost 1 April 1733, and marcied Dinah, daughter of Jeffrey Nixom of Powcady
(2 minor) at Lanercost 21 May 1759.  Through their two younger sons they have numerous descendants:

Thomas, baptised Lanercost 12 May 1760, buried Lanercost 21 July 1765

Edward, baptised 22 December 1761, and bueied 1 April 1798, It is believed that he married, and-
that his som was

John Thompsen, born ca. 1780, who married Kary Forsefield at Hanchester 7 June 1801.  They had
three children:

Frances, born 1802, who married ¥William Bowden 13 April 1831
Mary, baptised 8 June 1803, married James Donnison 28 April 1836
Rebecca, baptised 14 Januvary 1807, married Henry Forster O Avgust 1838
Johr Thempson died in 1815, His widow, HWary, and Rebecca are shown as "Milliners® of 34
George St., Manchester in 1833, and of 19 Sidney St., Chorlton, in I838. The death of a Mary
Brovghan was registered in Hanchester in 1849,
John, baptised 18 January 1764 at Abbey Lanercost, and narried Jane Bell at Brampton 29 January
1782, They hed five sons and three daughters.  like his older brother, John was a joiner by
trade, and nust have noved to Manchester aboet 1800, for his soan, Matthew was baptised at Brampton
in 1799, and his dawghter Jane was bora in Manchester in I1802; John was well established at 30
Lombard Street by 1808.  He does not appear to have become a builder - ot perhaps he was in such
demand that he had no need.  The children of the marriage were:
Thoras, baptised at Brampton 09 April 1797 and died there in infancy.

Aon, baptised st Brempton 9 April 1707, married Robert Clarkson 18 April 1816.  Hany of the
Fanily are huried in the Clarkson grave,

¥atthew, baptised {as Broom!} at Brampton 1 August 1799.  He was a shoemaker, and married Mary
Stoddard in Hanchester 20 April 1823. He died in 1869 leaving:

Sarah Ann, baptised Manchester 3 July 1825. Ko further information.
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pan, baptised Manchester 18 Novembar 1827.  No further information.

George, baptised Manchester 12 March 1830. Mo further information.

Auth, baptised Manchester 5 febrmary 1832, Ko further information.
Hary, probably baptised at Brampton in 1734, died una. 1863 aged 63.
Jane, haptised Hanchester 7 November 1802, married John Batty 7 July 1834, One has to wonder
if this is & variant of Baty, for it will be remembered that John Brougham of Bush Nook married
Eleanor Carrick, nés Baty, as his second wife in 1753.  Did some of the Baty fanily also move

to Hanchester?

Thomas, born ca. 1804, probably tn Manchester, aad died aged 76 in 1880 Be parried Sarah Rose
at Eccles 24 September 1826, and they had five sons and six daughters:

inn, baptised Hamchester 25 Kay 1828. Ho further information.

Jane, baptised Manchester & May 1829. Ko ferther information.

John, born Janvary 1831, died *of fits®, I3 February 1831, aged five weeks.

John, born 8 July 1832, and baptised Manchester 9 December 1832. He was 2 joingr, and

married Enna Rughes in Hanchester Cathedral 27 December 1858, and died 6 Febrnary 1878. He

was buried in Ardwick cemetary, Manchester. Seven children of the marriage are known,
Rama Rughes, born ¢ December 1859, married her cousin, Henry Whalley, at Holton in 1839,
Prior to her marriage she was sometime a cook for William Makant, 2 bleacker of Gilnow
Lodge, Bolton. Enma died 10 October 1917 at Salford, and was buried in Reston

cenetery, Bolton.

Helinda Rosa, born 27 Jume 1861, was a domestic servast in London, and dieé of cancer in
Salford 25 January 1905. In her latter years she was cared for by her sister, Emma.

Selina, héQtised 23 Janpary 1863, married Edwin Brindle, & compositor, at St. George's,
Bolton, 27 hpril 1895.

John, bora 04.08.1865. Mo further informaticn

thomas, born B January 1868. Ho further information.

Matthew, bora & Jupe 1870, Ko further information.

Agnes, horn 24 October 1875, was in service as a lady's maid with a Hrs. Wood, and is
known to have travelled with her employer on the continent, thereby acquiring, according
toher grand-daughter, a very high class maaner. She married George Renry Cotterell at
Holy Trinity church, Bolten, ! Jannary 1916.  She appears to have been widowed by 1932,
when she is shown in Tillitsom's Ditectory as of 44 John Taylor Street, Boltom. Sore
descendants are known in Aestralia,

gena died 7 August 1885 aged 50, but we have not found a record of Jobn's desth.

Dinah Nizon, baptised Hanchester 18 December 1B34, and married Willian Whalley at St. Mary's
Salford, 4 November 1855, and died at Salferd in 1877.

Thonag, baptised Manchester 28 October 1838.  Ho further information

Mary, baptised Manchester 28 Octeber 1838. o further detafls.
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Janes Rose, baptised Manchester § Jammary 1841, 3e cerried firstly in 1861, ¥eria Gooduin,
by whoa he had:

Thomas, born 15 Jupe IBB1: living 1881 with his uncle, Thomas Browghaz.  No further
information

Joseph, bera 22 Janvary 1883, aiso liviag 1881 itk his wacle Thomss. fe married, 28h
kpril 1897, Alice Burgess, aged 26. at St. Watthew's, Campfield, Manchester .

Jares, born 1868: no further information (but may have died the same year, as a death of
James Broughza, aged 0, was registered at Salford in the June quarter).

Janes Rose married secondly, in 1870, Sarah Ann Bradley {born 1851).  They had:

Sarah Ann, born 1871, livieg with her parents at 6 Shuttleworth St., Pemdleton, in 1691,
and nmay have narried in 1895 (registered at Salford in the Jume guarter),

Janes, (possibly James Rose}, borm 1872, died 1957, possibly unmarried.
Karia, born 1874 - no further information.
John, born 1877, apprenticed fo George Beveriey 24 July 1893 - ao further information.
Haud, born iB75 - no further information.
Willian Rose, born 1883, Fe married Agnes Holi 25.03.1907, and was killed during the
Battle of the Secamme in September 1916. For details of their family and descendants see
Chart 11724,
Frederick, born 1865, died 1976 - no further informatica.
Liilfe, born 1889, died 1894:

James Rose Brougham died in 1994: +we have aot discovered when Sarah Anz died.

Garah, born Hanchester cz.1842, died hefore.lﬁdﬁ.

Sarah, bora 1846, No farther information.

Thomas, baptised Manchester 17 Jupe 1844, was a brewer.  He married Alice Robertson in
¥anchester {athedral 24 Jely 1868.  They had three sons and one danghter:

Wiliiam, baptised Manchester 9 Warch 1873. %o farther information.
Tom, baptised Manchester in 1876, No farther information.

George Robertson, baptised Manchester 16 November 1878, married [4 February 1902, Ellen
Terner. He died at Salford in 1937 at the age of 58, leaving:

Barold, born 1903, rarried Constaace.fuck im 1926 (Salford, Jume quarter, Bd 636).
They had one son,

George, baptised 15 Deceaber 1926, who married Mary Ferguson in Salford in 1956.
They have two children:

Susan, bapiised 18 May 1952.
David, baptised 11 February 1§37,

Kell, born 1367. %o farther information.
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Arthur, baptised 7 ¥arch 1910, married Jean Elizabeth Charpock in 1937 (Hanchester
South, September quarter, & 1571).  Arther Brosgham died 8 FPebruary 1989, leaving:

Georga Alan, Daptised % March 1939, nmarried Eileen Borrett (Salford, 1962,
Septesher quarter, I0F 1368},  They have thres daughters:

Relen, baptised 9 January 1984,

Loulse, baptised 17 Juna 1966,

Jane, Baptised 17 June 1966,
Allce, baptised Hanchester 21 August 1916, Wo further inforzatiom.
¥ary, haptised Manchester 1 April 1922, Ho further information.

Sarah Blien, born 1870, married 5 Jume 1B95 Arthur Joho Fozford at S5t. Matthew's,
Campfield, Manchester, Mo further informatiom. -

fenry, born 1848, Hay have been the Henry whose death wes registered at Chorlton in 192}
aged 73,

John, bapiised 21 May 1809 at Maochester Cathedral, married lstly, 1 January 1837 at Bowdon,
Cheshize, Sarah Smith. By 1851 he was a licessed victualler of Liverposl, where their children
were baptised at the church of St. Peter - alas, no lomger standing:

Janes Smith, baptised § December 1833,  Ho further Ieformatioa.

John, baptised 15 May 1836. ¥o further Information.

Jane, baptised 7 May 1838, MNo farther information,

Hargaret, baptised 11 February 1842. Ho farther information.

Ann, baptised 18 Kay 1845,  No further information.

Marian, baptised 25 May 1851. Wo further {nformation.

Sarah Brougham died in 1856, and on & ¥ay 1858 Joho had married Mary Deapsey aged 30, of
Liverpool.  Her father, Thomas Dempsey, was 3 Master Mariner. fhe 1881 census shows that

¥ary's mother, aged 72 and born in Ireland, was also Living with then. There were feor known
children of this second marriage:

Rnza, haptised 22 March 1860. Ko further informstien,

Efla, baptised 14 Harch 1861. o forther iaformation.

Eiiza, baptised 9 September 1862,  Ho further information.
Willlam, baptised 15 September 1864, No further information.

E)

John Broughaz died in %5 May 1866, and probate wes granted fo his ezecutor, Thomas Jonss, marhla
nasen, § June 1867.  We have found no record of Mary's death, bat she may have re-parried.

Elizahath, baptised 28 Februzey 1813, married Jases Tootel! 21 March 1841,

Bdward, bapiised Z8 February 1813, the same day as his sister Elizabeth, was a joiner who
parried 1stly, 26 Hovember 1844 ¥ary Pointon. They had two children:

Thomas Bell, baptised 7 December 1845, married Margaret ¥orris at Manchester 7 July 1867,
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Ris death is recorded at Chorlton in 18%4 at the age of 4. Yargaret died in 1922
Three children of this marriage are krown:

Mary Jane, baptised at St. George's, Fulme, 1B February 1872 Wo further information.
£ana, @lso baptised at St. George's, 14 Sepiember 1873.  Ho further information.

Thomas Bell, baptised at St. George's 7 #arch 1875.  Re married {Choriton Registers,
1895): no further information.

Mary Elisabeth, baptised in 1849, and married James Smirk in 1867. Ho forther Information.
Mary Brougham died befora 1855, and Edward married Zndly, 31 May 1855 a widow, Rachael Procter.

We have no records of any children of this marriage. Rachael appears to have died in 1861 and
Edward in 1875.

Dinah, dates of birth and baptism unknown, married James Beywood 2} Harch 1841 - & double
wedding with her sister, Elizabath.

John Brougham died of *declianing® 26 July 1826, and his widow, Jane, died 21 Janvary 1844, “of old
age’.

Anne, baptised Lanercost 9 November 1768: no further information.
Thomas, baptised at Abbey Lanercost 6 November 1770, was a joiner, and later, a huilder of

Hanchester. We married Istly, Elizabeth Powall in Manchester Cathedral 8 Avgust 1812. There were
sir childrea of this marriage:

Martha, baptised 1801, died 21 December 1809,

¥atthew, baptised Manchester 3 April 1803, merried Jane Harrisom § December 1827. Hatthew began
his working life as a joirer, !ike his father and his uncle John (see p.98), and went on to
become a prosperous builder. He entered Manchester City Council in 1831 as representative of
St. John's ward, and retained his seat until 1854.  Re was re-efected in 1856, and in 1868 was
made an Alderman - an office that was abolished in 1974. e retired in IB74 and died at 0ld
Trafford 31 Hay 1875.  Ris will was proved at Manchester with effects under £10,000 by his
widow (who died 4 Harch 1877), his daughter Mary and his son, William Henry, an ironmonger
Hatthew and Jane had twelve children:

Elizabeth Ann, baptised 18 Wovember 1828 MNanchester, and parried Charles Joka Hill,
Hanchester St. Joha's 27 December 1852,  Ro further information.

Jane, baptised Manchester 4 Jansary 1830.  Harried (hristopher sohn Grainger, {date and
piace unknown, Jane died 4 February 1872, and Christopher Grainger died 1 May 1867,

Emna, baptised 26 June 1813 Manchester.  Married at Manchester 8 Hovember 1665, Hichael
Tracey- ¥o further information.

" Martha (ross, baptised Kanchester 28 December 1834, Married at Hanchester 1879 {June
qoarter, 84 380) Gregory Gallagher. Ko further informatiosn.

Catherine, baptised Manchester § April 1836. She died 26 April 1838

Dingh, baptised Manchester 23 October 1837.  Harried at Manchester (1) 14 October 183
Janes Theraton, znd {2) 11 June 1872 John Lloyd. Yo ferther information. :

Isabella Rose, baptised Manchester 26 April 1839. HMarried Stanhope Smart at Hoddersfield in
1891, Ko forther information.
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Lucy, baptised Manchester 11 Septenber 1840.  Died unm. Z7 Hay 1310.

Fasny, baptised Manchester 14 September 1842, Died 18 April 1857,

John, born June 1844, died 10 July 1844 agad 5 weeks.

Williaa Renry, baptised Manchester 15 December 1848, was an ironsonger and tool manufacturer
of 130 Deansgate in 1877. He married Agnes Sophia Burbidge, possibly at Bristol, as Agnes
cane from there, bui neither date nor place has beep found. William was trustee for his
sister under a marriage settlement, and she had brought an action against hin for the
recovery of the money of which ke had the trust. it would seem that William had
misappropriated the momey, for he connitted suicide 17 June 1895 {report Hanchester Evening
Hews, 18 October 1893},  Agunes died at Stretford & March 1919, aged 68, at the home of her
daughter, May Hart. There were three daughters of this marriage, 21l baptised at St.
John's, Deassgate, Manchester:

Beatrice, horn 22 August 1876. She was a telegraphist, and died of phthisis at her
aother's home, Enoyle House, Cliften, Bristol 18 October 1895, after a loag illness.

Hay, born, appropriately enough, 29 May 1878. She married Thosas Hart, and proved her
gother's will in 1919, May was living iz 1946,

Lucy Agnes, born 15 March 1885, was a schoolnistress who did not marry  She died at
the Cheadle Aulme hose of her niece, Beatrice Eckersley, 25 July 1948,

Jessle, baptised 11 hpril 1852, died 4 March 1654,
Dinah, baptised Manchester 14 December 1804, died ¢ August 1805.

Dinah, baptised Manchester 21 June 1806, married William Ashton 4 December 1842, Ho further
information.

¥ary, baptised Hanchester 1l Harch 1808, married Jarvis Cross 21 August 1819,  #Ho [further
information. -

Thomas, baptised b June 1810, died 10 June 1810,

Elizabeth Broogham died in childbirth 4 Jume 1810 , and Thomas Broughan married Zedly, Ann fornshy
at Manchester § August 1B1Z. There were siz childrea of this second marxiage:

Bllzaheth, baptised Manchester 14 October 1814, married Harrison Blair at Banchester 17
September 1835. Fo further information.

Ann, baptised 14 July 1816,  She died 30 Yovember 186Junm.

Thonas, baptised 31 July 1818, died 19 Rovember 1838,

John Nizon, baptised I8 February 1825, died § November 1825. N
tsabella, born 1823. No further information.

Hartha, born 1825, Ho further informatien.

Thonas 3lso had an illegitipate daughter, Jame, by Hary Davis, baptised 25 April 1813.  He died 9
January 1843, and his widow, Ann {Hornsby) died in June 1833, aged 73.

¥atthew, baptised 29 October 1765 and died 1834 aged 79.. May bave married Framces :............
and had a son, Edward, bora ca, 1791, who married Sarah Hope at Brampton 29 Janvary 1814, Sarah
died § April 1828, aged 39, and Edward narried secondly Ann Towns 20 January 1838, who died in 1335
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There are no known chitdren of the second marriage, but from the first marriage there were:
Frances, baptised Brampton § April 1815
Yary, baptised Lanercost 17 October 1817
¥atthew, born 1819, buried Lamercost 29 Decesber 1821 aged 2.
Edward, baptised Brampton 13 Febreary 1820.
Sarah, baptised Carlisle Wesleyan 17 March 1822.

Mary, baptised 11 September 1772, married Thomas Harding, @ carpenter, at Brampton 18 June 1794

THOKAS, baptised 19 December 1734,  May have married, for the parish registers show:

Thomsg, son of Thomas Broughsm baptised at Lamercost, 31 August 1767 and buried 14 December 1771 at
hlston. Ho further informatiocs.

Joseph, son of Thomas Brougham of Banksburn and Elizabeth his wife, Dbaptised at Lanercost 19
Lanercost M¥arch 176).

There is no proof thai the Thomas of 1734 was the father.

EDWARD, whose existence fs known only from his mother's will (1788}, was a carpenter of Burtholee.
From his age at death {73) he would have been born cirea 1733, and married to Jane Wright st tanertost
19 June 175%.  He died in Manchaster 16 MNovember 1808, M5 has ideatified seven children of this
marriage:

Elizzheth, baptised zt Lanercost 18 June 1760: no further information

Sugapnah, baptised at Brampton,ld September 1761, married Thomas Dodgson, a mariner, at Flisby, 30
hpril 1780, '

S

Ana, baptised at LanefEust 13 Febroary §763: no further information.
Hatthew, baptised at Brampton, B Cctober 1784: no forther information.
Hary, baptised Brampton 16 March 177G: no forther information.

¥illiaa, baptised at Lanercost 19 May 1773.  He enlisted in the 4th Company, Foyal Sappers and
Miners at Hull as a carpenter, 'sble to read and write', om 23 Mpril 1805, giving his age as 29.0n
17 Septenber 182% he married Jane Moise at Stoke Damorel, and @ dawghter,

Julla Yarrfett was baptised there 2 Auvgust 1830.

Willian .vas discharged at his own request on 30 June 1§31, giving his proposed place of residence as
Devonport, and was paid & marching allowance of 2s T4d per day. Re was tall - 6t 33", @ Brooghan
characteristic, of fair complexion and blue eyes. The date of his death is unknown.

Edward, baptised at lLanercost 9 February 1777, and was 'of Denton Hill' at the time of his death on
1§ June 1B77. Ao Indenture of 7 Wovewher 1836 hetween ¥illiam Brougham, Imnkeeper of Ivybridge,
Devon, the Eari of Carlisle and Viscount Morpeth, shows that William was Edward's som and heir, but
wa have found no racord of Edward's marriage or Willism's birth.  Ker are there any racords of
William's tenure as an inmkeeper at [vybridge.
KS postelates & second son for Edward:

Edward, born December 1807, who became 3 Sergeant Major in the Sappers and Miners of the Madras
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atny.  Be ealisted 20 October 1832, and was a widower when he mazried Ann Simons at Masulipatum
9 Pecesber 1839.  of their four children, only one is known to have survived - James Beazley
Broggham, baptised 20 Hay 1845, whose descendants have been traced up to the 1930s. Sgt. Hajor
Bronghan died of cholera at Camp Fraserpette 16 April 1846, and his aged is recorded as 39 years
4 months. See Chapter 18: *The Indian Comnexion®,

J0BY, bors circa 1738 and died 12.12.1783 aged 35.  He nmarried Ann Stater at Wetheral 20 June 751.
They 4ad three sons:

Thosas, baptised 07.02,1762 at Braspton, marzied Elizabeth Ton at Farlam 17.05.1785. They had one
son and four daughters:

Marqaret, baptised 05.03.1786 at Brampten, presumed died in infancy.
Bargaret, baptised 67.04.1790 at Braspton. No further information.
Jane, baptised 07.04.1790 at Brampten, presumed died in infancy.
Willias, baptised 17.10.1790 at Brampton, died the same day.
Jane, baptised 04.11.1792 at Brampton. He further information.

John, baptised 18.02.1763 at Abbey tanercest. Ko further information.

Edward, baptised 15.01.1764 at Farlan. Ho further information
1t is noteworthy that in 1724 ‘John Proctor, husband of Elizabeth {née Ion) of Dunstes,
Northumberland, conveyed to Dudley Brougham (Chapter 11} houses and land at Eamont Bridge. Was
there a relationship between these famiiies?

JANE, born circa 1740, married John Walker at Lanercost 2t April 1771, He further details

HICHAEL, baptised at Lanercost 2 January 1743, and buried there J February 1760

ANN, born circa 1744, parried fenry Topping at Lanercost 9 February 1767, and was huried at lanercost 3
Hay 1718,

STEPAEN, baptised at Lanercost § October 1751, married Elizabeth Hiles at Brampton 14 September 1775
Staphen and Elizabeth had six daughters and two sons:

Mary, baptised at Brampton 19 September 1776, buried there 27 Hay 1782

Elizaheth, baptised 18 March 1779, married Joseph Little at Brampton 10 Jume 17%4. There are
descendants in Australia.

Margarat, baptised at Brampton 23 September 1781,di2d before 1791,
Thomas, baptised at Brampton 7 Hovenber 1784

Jane, baptised at Brampton 7 April 1790, buried there 18 Hovember 1791.
Marqaret, baptised at Brampton 7 April 1791

Edward, baptised at Brappton 7 January 1747

Sarah, baptised at Brampton 7 January 1797

iHiiiHl!i!!!ttitiHH'Hi!HHHH!}}H’HH!“H‘S

108



EATTHEW ([} OF TEE EXCISE

Baptised: 24 April 1709 at khitfield, Northunberland
Married: 25 Febreary 1740, Jane Richardson at Newburn, Northumberland,

Batthew was baptised on the ssme day &s his brother, so it is possible that they were twins, but not : ;
too much should be read info this: many pecpie delayed baptisms for all sorts of ressons. e was an
Excise Gfficer, and much of his life was spent in the Barnard Castle ares. On 13 Jaruary 1778 a Hatthew
Brougham was noted in the Excise Hinutes Book as ...... "heing through age and infiraities rendered
incapable of performing the duties of an OFflcer ........ Orflerad that he relinguish and have leave {o
apply for the charity’.

Or 15 February 1179 Hatthew was cited in a Chancery case by Mary Simpson on behalf of her daughter, &
Eleanor, then aged 18 years, complaining that Joseph Richardson of Newcastle wpon Tyne did, in his will g
dated 1 Jamuary 1774 give and bequeath to Henry Simpson the father upon trust for his dasghter Eleanor )
the sum of £50.00.00. The will was proved by Saruel Dobson of Barlow Hill, farmer, and Hatthew H
Brougham, Excise Officer (and that} Henry Simpson had since died and by his will appointed George Groom

of Willington, gentleman, and Benjamin Gibsom of Newcastle wpon Tyne draper his execulors {and Lhat)

Samuel Debson, Matthew Brougham, George Groom apd Benjamin Gibson have not yet paid to the said Elessor

the £50 left to her onm tryst by the said Joseph Richardson ....and the s3id Eieanor Simpson seeks 8 writ

of subpoena cemmanding them to appear in this court etc. ete.

There seems to be no record of any further action in this case, which is interesting:
{a} becayse of the marriage of ¥atthew to a Jane Richardson - possibly Joseph's sister, and

{b) there is a marriage recorded between Gaorge Brougham and Hary Simpson at Durhan St. Richolas 30
September 1777, Although obvioussly not the children of this George and Hary, the parish registers
of Aberford, Yorks., show the births of Jane {1810) and Sarak (1812}; aad the registers of
Collinghan show the births of Mary {1820}, Ellen {1823} and Eliza {1825} to a George Brougham and
Bary his wife. We have not identified this Georgs Broughan,

Watthew and Jane had eight children:

HATTREW, haptised Kewburn 35 Becenber 1741; no further information.

JANE, baptised Woodhorn 23 March 1742; no ferther information.
JOSEPH, baptised Auckland St. Helens 13 October 1744.  But see note * on nexyt page.

HICRAEL, baptised Auckiand St. Helens & May 1747: he was @ soldier ia the 25th Regiment of Foot and
married Elizabeth Bradshaw on 18 Harch 1776 at §t. John's, Winchester. No further information.

A¥N, baptised Auckland St. Felens 27 December 1747; no further informstion.

ESABEL, baptised Barmard Castle 27 Auvqust 1750, {Hay have bBecome the wife of Thoras
Featherstonehaugh, «ho wmarried an lsobel Broegham at Alston 15 Hay 1770 - but see the
family of Thomes Brougham below)

JOBYN, baptised Barpard Castle 30 Januvary 1753, dead before 1759.

JOBN, baptised Barnard Castie 16 March 175%; no further inforsation.

It is possible that Matthew had two other children:

Yatthew, illegitimate son of Hatthew Broughem and Elizabeth Storey baptised Alnwick 11 March 1731; eE
date of death unknown........ ., and

Etfzabeth, illegitinate danghter of Matthew Brougham, baptised 27 April 1736, Earsden by lorth
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Shields

Hatthew was certainly in the right place to have been
childran.

the pytative father of both cf these

The Excise Minute Books have & long record for a Joseph Brougham, who was an established Gfficer

{of Leek 2nd Out-Ride) by 8 Hovember 1770.

The most likely candidate for this wouid be the

Joseph Brougham noted above, who would them have been 26.

3 Hovember 1770:

15 October 177%:

I February 1773:
15 Fehruary 1774

5 June 1778:

b October 1779:
19 Gctober 1779

§ Yovember 1782:
17 Hovember 1782:

26 hpril 1786:
18 Hay 1787:

10 August 1791
17 Jaauary 1796:
13 kugust 1799:
17 October 1801:
19 Janvary 1807:
13 January 18i2:

to Stene Ist O/Ride, Chester Coilection

distharqed for not attending to his duties.

to be restored on a proper vacaacy

restored to Barrold Division, Bedford (ollection

as Officar of Reeth Division to be Officer of Windsor Zed.Division
(and to be"repiaced by Edward Brougham, Officer of Leybourne Pivision}.
te he Officer of Whitehaven 3rd Bivision

to be Officer of Whitehaven lst Bivision

reduced to Officer of an Qut-Ride for imsubordination.

to be OFficer of Pontefract Tth Out-Ride

to be Qfficer of Richmond 2nd Bivision.

to be Officer of Pontefract 3rd Division

to be Officer of Wakefield 4th Division

tp be Officer of Blackburn 5th Division

to ba Officer of Bolton 2nd Division

to be Officer of Whitby lst Division

{as Pernit Writer, Newcastle) to be Permit Writer, Hull.

Joseph Brongham, Permit Writer at Hull beirg dead

Raving a father who was also an Excise Officer, it is more than likely that the Joseph of 1744
was the Officer quoted in the Minutes.

Jane Brosghaz, who was born 19 Jancary 1721, died at Barnard Castle 16 Hovember 1717
record of Hatthew's death, but it was not earlier than 1779,

We have no

oy
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THOHAS
Baptised 30 December 1710 at Haltwhistle (as BROOHS)
Elizabeth

Karried: ca. 1735, Date and Place Unkaown

----------------

Thopas is another of Edward's sons about whom liitle is known, other than that he was a miner of Alstea.
We have not even been able to locate the place and date of his marriage, ner to whom he was married,
other than that her name was Elizabeth.

Thomas and Elizabeth had a family of two sons and seven daughters:

FRANCES, baptised 20 October 1735 at Alston, married Abraham Ord 24 February 1759 at Exhale.

ALICE, baptised at Whitfield (as Broom) 7 April 1737.

THOXAS, baptised 18 May 1740 at Knarsdale. No further inforation.
BLIZABETH, baptised 15 September 1741 at ¥narsdale.

PROEBE, baptised 10 Harch 1745 at Allendale.

RNH, baptised 7 June 1746 {as Broom) at Allendale.
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BARY, 27 Jaauwary 1751 at Alsten, married Thomas Johnston at Alston 11 Decesber 1773
EOWRRD, baptised 12 August 1754 {ms Brosm) at Allendale. Ko [urther information.

15ABLR {sic} baptised 26 November 1758 at Allendale, May have been the lsabel who married Thomas
Featherstonehaugh at Alston 15 Hay 1778 - she i certainly the amest likely candidate.

YANCY, - no birth recorded, bet was buried at Alston 4 August 1757.
Thomas was buried at Alston 12 December 1771; Elizabeth was buried 21 April 1772, also at Alston.

Ann Brooghan was buried at Brampton I Jasuary 1711, and Edward married secondly, {place unknown}, before
1112, Grace ......o.n.s and had 8 further five sons:

ISAAC,
Baptised I7 July 1713 at Raltwhistle: No further detalls.
[ RN R AR R SRR RIS NS
ROBERT,

Baptised 26 February 1715 at faltwhistie.
Karried Margaret Douglas at Berwick on Tweed 2 November 1733, o further detalls.

ERpdpr b bRttt hi it bbbttt hidst
WILLIAK,
Baptised 7 August 1716 at Haltwhistle.
Dled:r 28 April 11T
Karrfed lstly, 27 March 1744 Joyce Engiish, at Crosscanonby .

#illiam was an inmkeeper. and had two sons:

JOHN, 2 mariner, baptised 17 Hovember 1745 at Haryport, and on 16 January 1769 he married Kary Gatesgill
gt Crosscaronby. They had a daughter,

Joycs, who was baptised at Marypert 20 March 1784.  No [urther details.
WILLIAM, Daptised at Maryport 30 December 1752. Yo further details.

Joyce Broughan died before 1767, and William married secondly, Ann Gatesgitl at Crosscanonby 30 December
1767, by vhom he had a son,

Georos, baptised Maryport 12 December 1767. Mo further details.

BHERRRERRARERRRERER IR RENS
GEQRGE,

Baptised at Brampton 15 November 1721,
Karried Jane Thom{p)son of Croydon, Surrey, at Sonthwark St. George, 4 April 1750,

George was 0of Rochester, Kemt, where he was a Costoms Officer, and where their childrenm, except lara,
vere baptised {St. Nicholas). In a Chancery case before Thomas Beanett, master in Chancery on 13
Hovenber 1756 George Brougham and others were called wpon to answer to 3 plaint by one John Tomlyn that
they had illegally seized goods from a wagon owned by him on the excuse that the goeds were condemnad
for non-payment of Customs Duties, the 'offence' having taken place om 20 Octoder 1750.  Tomlya's case
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rested on his statement that the goods were appraised at too high a valee. Atas. thers does not seea
to be a documeat showing the resolstion of this case.  George's and Jane's family consisted of two,
possibly three, sons and three daughtess:

JORN, baptised 17 September 1756.  Be was an Excise Gfficer, about whon the Excise Board Hinutes tell
us a little,  He was already in the service when on 21 Febroary 1782 he was appointed to be an
assistant in the Cousty {Kent) Eraminer’s OfEice. In April the following year, he was one of a party
of Officers sent as reinforcements to the Deal office to prevent the sauggiing of Braedy; and in Asgust
1781 he was appointed Officer of Deptfozd Ind Qut-Ride. The following week he nmoved to fighas,
Forthants. Before he had time to take up this appointment, the order was rescinded (15 September),
and the following day he was appointed to Leighton {Beds.} Ind Out-Ride.

There are no ferther eatries until 7 Qctober 1789, when he was at Wooburm, Bucks. (not to be confused
with ¥oburn, Beds., which has the same pronunciation), he was ordered to St. Albams 3td division, where,

on 18 Febreary 1794, the minutes show that he blotted his copy-book by botrowing money from a tammer in

his survey, and was discharged, On § August he applied to be reinstated, but was turned down.

0n 10 October 1789 John Broughan had married Haanah Armstrong at Wooburm. There were two sons and two
daughters of this marriage:

John, born 1790 (ke died 21 June 1827, as of Ritchas Rerts., aged 37} nmarried Jane Andress at
Woobura 9 October 1814,  There were three sons and four daughters of this marriage:

Frederick, who was baptised 9 April 1815, married Istly, 21 Kay 1836, Mary Ann Gurney. fe was a
labourer, and moved far afield ia search of work.  We have found no children of his marriage to
Hary Ann, but it seems that she had died before 1839, for on 13 Hay of that year Frederick
parried, as his second wife, Harriett Hearn. They had three children:
Teresa, born 1840 no further information.
El{zabath, born 1842: no further Information.
John, born 18 Harch 1845.  Frederick was the informant, and signified with his mark ‘as of
Walton' i.e. Walton-on-Thames. We do not know if John married, but he died &t Wochurn n
gctober 1868,
Neither Frederick's nor Harriett’s deaths appear in the GRO records.

¥ary Amn, baptised at Wooburn 12 January 1817. Was a Lodging Rouse keeper at Ramsgate in 1BSI.

Johu, baptised at Hoobura 25 Jasusry 1818, and married Elizabeth ...... from Plymstock, Deven at
Peplar in 1849 There was apparently only one child of this martriage:

Rllen Jane, who was bore at Poplar in 1850, and who married Hephi Phillips at Birningham, 4
June 1848,

John Brougham probably died in Birmingham in 1862, for his widow married there secondly, Henry
Hann, on 22 July 1867

Blizabeth, baptised at Wooburn 9 Hay 1819: no further information.
Hartha, baptised at Woohurn 28 January 1821, died 19 February 1828.
Richard, baptised at Woobura 28 July 1821, died 18 July 1825.
Rebecca, baptised at Woaburs 18 July 1824, died 16 June 1826

Reory, baptised at Wooburs 26 March 1826, married Rarriett Wheeler 18 Hay 1849,  According to
the will of their son, Ernest Aquila, he was a licemsed victwaller. Benry and Harriett had

Y



four son5 and fwo daughters;
Frederick, bora 1850: no further fnformation.
Reuben Richard, born 1852 (¥ycombe, ¥arch quarter, Ja 362}, married 1874 (Pancras, Jupe

quarter, 1b 61)  Thera may be descendants, and his death was reqistered at 5t. Pameras in
1907.

David Andrew, born [854 {¥ycombe,Harch quarter, 3a 360). Be married Eliza Strest 1 ?
Decesber 1876, and died in 1889 at Islington. Eis marriage certificate describes his father
s "Harry Broughan, papermaker, decezsed’ - which is not as his younger brother hes it,

Aon, whose birth was registered in 1854 on the sane day 85 her brother David's. &g further i
infornation. E

Precilla {sic), was bora in 1856, and her death was registered at Wandsworth in 1877.

Ernest Aguila, born 1859. Pe married Elizabeth ¥igh at St. Stephens, Bow, 13 Rugust 1883, :
giving his occepation as 'lizensed Victwaller', of Bow. Erpest Aquila died 27 Wovember ;
1528, and his will shows that Blizabeth almost certainly predeceased hiam, for ghe is not

mentioned in his will, which left everything to their only daughter, Selina Elizabeth

Brougham, spinster, bora 27 December 189) and died 12 Febreary 1983,

Renry Brougham died 22 Jupe 186), I is possible that the Rarriett Brovghan whose death was
registered at Brentford in the ¥areh quarter of 1892 at the age of 59 {38 63} was his widow,
There is 1o earlier GRG death record of a Rarriett, and she left gg wifl.

Fraderick, was baptised § August 1791 at St. Peter's, St. Albans. e joined the HEICS and and
becase a 2nd mate in the Bengal Pilot Service. He was drowned at sea .  He was buried st
Berhampora in the Archdeaconry of Calcutta, ) Septembar 1816, (Ref. India Office Library W/1/10
f141}.

Jage, bsptised 24 August 1792 at St. Albans Abbey. Ko further information,

Pttt

hpne, alse baptised at St. Albags Abbey, 3 Wovember 1793, married Robert 0dell at St. Petar's,
Bertford 10 October 1822,  No further infornation,

KARTHA, baptised 29 Janvary 1758. Died before 1762.

KILLIAH, baptised 6 May 1760. No forther details.

¥ARTEA, baptised 4 dJanvary 1762,  She parried Benjanin Bailey st Rochester 29.11.1780. ¥o
further details.

JAKE, birth date and place unknown: married James Ward at Rochester 20 September 1781.  She may
have beer the eldest,

- GEORGE?, born cal7so.

- it

G.H. Baillie 'Watchmakers and Clockmakers of the World' records

"George Brougham of Baltimore 1774 from London.*  Britten's '0i4 {locks and Watches and Their e
Hakers' {9th Ed; 1982) lists a George Broughan keown to have been active In Baltimore in 1774,
but he does not appear in the reqisters of apprentices, of Freemen of the Clockmakers' (Company,
or in London Directories of the tipe. (;

A George Brougham is shown in ‘Enigrants from England 1773 -1776 by 6. Fothergill (Bostoa 1913) as
aged 23, a watchmaker frop Londor, who sailed from London on the ship 'Elizabeth' in the first week
of Juiy 1774 for Baltimore, e B2y have been a son of George of Rochester, for it is interesting
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that #e have not found any births registered duriog the Eirst 6 yesrs of his marriage. There is a
narriage registered at St. Aanes, Soho, 30 March 1772 of:

George Broughas to Kary Whitehead, Both signad.

thfthibebdtatdaeedbist

ALEIAKDER,
Baptised at Brampton (as Broweej 17 October 1723
hlerander is both the youngest and the most shadowy of Edward's soms, but from a reading of extaat
wills, ¥5 places his fanily on the Isle of Han, from which they returned to the mainland sometime in the
19th century, and were of Birkephead and Wallasey. More research is needed to establish precise dates
and places, but the following descent is postulated {no marriage for Alexander has beea found):

#illian, bora ca. 1768, married Eleanor Garrett in 1785 om the [sle of
Man,  They had 2 son,

Alezander, born 17 Hay 1790 {I.0.K.), who married lstly, 20 December 1816, Aen Cott{ijermar, who
gied ca. 1830, legving issue

¥i1lizm, who was a bricklayer of Birkenhead {Trammere), baptised 13 April 1817.and married
E£1izabeth Lynch at St. Nicholas's, Liverpool, 1 July 1844 .  He died in 1877, leaving

Rlizabeth, borm LB43.

James Alexander, bhorn 1847, an engine fitter and latterly & gas inspecter.  He died
ung. at Birkeshead in 1918

¥illiam, born ....vuv... died 1849

¥ary Asn born 1853, died unmarried 1908
Igabella, born 1834

Emily, born 1854, died 1869

Eliza Barriett {known as Lily) bors 1859, married Williaa Henry Labb, a2 schoolmaster, ai
Birkenhead in 1888, and died iz 1925. Descendants are known.

Mezander married 2ndly, 19 July 1831, Ann Quine, and ha¢ another som,
Alegander,
This Alezander also was a bricklayer, and it is his will that ensbles us to cement some of
these fragments together.  He =arried Sarah Copestake in Liverpool 20 September 1858, and
died 1876, leaving
Sarsh Jemima, born 1862, died unmarried 1907 .
Clara Allce, harn 1863, married John James Kopetzky 1088. (M5 noted the similarity

between COPESTAXE and XOPETZKY, and wonderad if the former was an Anglicised version of
the latter).

Loufsa, born 186%, living in 1901 when she married 222777127
. Panny Eaily, bora 1870 and died the same year
Bnily Sarah, born 1871, possibly married ......... Simpson.  Ho further information,

Jessie Ann, torn 1877, died 1877
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CHAPTER 17

THE BROUGHAMS OF NORTH DEVON

AUSTRALIA AND CANADA

The original research into this group of Broughass was done by X5 in 1983/85.  The subsequent piecing
together of the facts that she gleaned took a further sevea years, and was ongoing at the time of her
death, when, through corraspondence batwesn PN and ¥essrs. Malvern and Wilfred Browghan of South
kustralia, she was able to commect the South Australian Broughams with North Devon. There it might have
renained but for the curious coincidesce of three letters being received by PBY within the space of six
weeks: from ¥rs. Jacqueline Rarbor of Reading, Mrs. Winnifred Waterfall of British Columbia, and Mrs.
Susan Blatherwick of Kottingham, ali seeking information aboat the descent of ome particular North Devon
fanily. The information provided by these three emabied PBW to add another eight pages of family trees
to the nine that ¥5 had already sketched oot for the South Australisns.

Nothing is known of the origins of the Devoa yroup, which appears as two Family groups in the aid- to late
(16.  The families that we have identified are all descended from ome David Bromholme, who died in 1598,
and whose will was registered at Exeter, but no longer exists: it was ome of the many archival tragedies
of the Znd ¥orld War

There was also a Henry Broomholme who was born ca.l560 at Oare, whose descandants (or some of them) ¥§
traced to the niddle of the last century. At that time, all were living in North Devon, although there
are none in that area listsd in current Phone Books.

HS also painstakingly followed David Bromholme's line down to the middle of the €19, from which period
PB¥, aided by members of the family as outlined above, has brought it as up to date as possible. It is
noted that three surnames of spouses - Fry, Tucker and Crocombz - are common to both groups, which,
taken with other factors, almost certainly indicates that the two were related.

Froe the scanty evidesce that survives, mainly in the form of census surveys and parish register entries,
it would seem that until about 1830 the male members of hoth family were agricoltural labourers. Births,
narriages and deaths were registered in an area about Countisbury - fremtishoe, Martishoe, Lyaton, Oare,
Paracombe, Culbone - indicating a nomadic existence. The tonstant appearance of these towns scems o
indicate that the Brosholmes/Bromhams/Brohans were reliable, steady workers who had no need to go further
afield in thelr search for work. After abont 1830, other occupations begin to appear - shoemaker,
carpenter, joiner and small farmer, again indicating that the fanilies were trying to improve their social
positioss. Later ones appear as Solicitor's Clerk, Solicitor, Accosatant.

In the 1850s, there was @ migration to London (Chelssa), and from there two Ffamily groups went to South
hustralia with another later migrafion to Canmads. From Chelsea the remaining families moved to
Isleworth/Hounslow, and by 1890 there were three family groups in that area: from Lynton via Chelsea:
from Bursien; and fron India.  We vonder if they made contact and tried to work out if they were
elated?

In hustralia at least, the same occupations were followed, and although early members may have followed
their occupations as carpenters and joimers, it is remarkable how meny ended up as successful farmers.
At the sape time, Brougham became the adopted spelling of the name. It had appeared as early as 1764,
when a widow, Elizabeth Brougham, married John Ratonbury at Martinhoe. In 1764 Broughsm, as a name, woold
cause no excitement, especially in so remote a place as North Devea. It is on this fact, coupled with the
ocrasional spelling as Broham, that led us to accept these families as Broughams,  The possibility
rerains, of course, that they are not Broughams at all, but Broomhoses, a name that is not uacommon in
¥iltshire,

In England the Broughams from Lymton also began to rise in the world, Their wills show that mosf died
rzasonably well-off, leaving widows in comfortable circmsstances. Details of thess families are shown
in charts 17 and 13,
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{ an indebted to Messis. walvern and ¥ilfred Brougham of South Aestralia for much of i
: : i .
inforsation about the Devonian Broaghams 11 South Austraiia. of the following

The eartiest genaration of which we have any knowledge is fhat of the faniiv of David Br

S AT ¥ poholge of L
ho died in 1598 (his wl}l i recorded at Exeter} and whose lige descended through the second of his?iagié
sons, John.  Joha parried Jone Bale at Lyatos 9 Angust 1601, aed had four soms. The youngest, Roger
pacried Joan Keyle at Lynton 11 huqust 1623 + ROGEL,

The next geaeration {s unclear, but it is known that there were at least two som

. s, dJame
Roger clearlylmarrled. For the Lynton PR shows the baptism of two children, JoﬁL and Agses :1;§gig§0%i§.
Agnes has a firm daté, 3 hugust 1680. There may have been another brother, Willian. ' !

7084 married Agnis Tucker ot Hartinhoe 17 hugust 1685. There were six children:

Johave, baptised 19 June 1687, garried Richard Lathas at Lyaton 25 July 1718,
Haty, baptised 18 Dctober 1688 -no further inforpation,
gysanme, baptised 12 april 1689, married Walter Fry at Lynton 2 Pebruary 1724.
Roger, paptised Febreary 1692 - no further information.
joha,  baptised 1 Angust 1694, sarried Rlizabeth Fry 7 April 1729 and died 7F u
tound no record of any children of this marriage. ebruary 1762. ¥e have

John {seaior) died 20 Janvary 1697 and the sixth child,

partholopes, was bord posthunously, and baptised 14 June 1697. He married Joan ;

: . b - o | .
the date is unclear, but it was either 1723 or 1728, The day and man;} a{gk fgﬁeciiglﬁhﬁﬁ
Rartholonew died 24 June 1743, pherable.

hat is interesting here {s the changing, or interchangeatle, spelll . .
as Brorhan, Susanne and Bartholopew as Bromholme; %ut Ba:tioii;zg‘gf;?gzﬂ§§§fﬂrishizieﬂi:ife%lSthEG
varicusly &s Brohas OI groghas.  The third of Bartholomew's and Joan (Cook’s) children} SogftlsEd
paptised 21 Aogust 1728 and is shown as Broham in the iynton PR.  He patried Xary Burgess a{ T {_ was
77 Hareh 1758 and died at Martishoe 1 September 1771: Mary died the same day . : rentishoe

fron this point oL, the lineage becomes cledrer but it was another two b i

' ‘ ) generations before th
the f§m1§y page settled into Broughanm. gohn began the process, as his secondaaad taird ch§13r2§elégzgugi
(baptised 26 Hay 1764) and John {baptised 8 February 1767) are registered as Broughaa. The eldest
Bartholonew (baptised § December 1763) was registered as Bromhag, and the youngest, Mary {baptised 3%

pacembar 1769 was registered as Brughan!

[t is from Bartholomew that the descest continues,  He parried Rebecc i frenti :
1783, and appears to have had 14 children, but of these, the three eEdgs: 5:::132 ;: éiiﬁiifﬁ?erti Apr1§
intelligent quasswork. John, Bartholonew and Agnes - all pames associated with this famil ? at Siﬂ ?
to have existed and could not have belonged to any other fanily., The first child whose bi tisuzE e
discerned is Roger {baptised at tulbane 16 March 1790 as Bromham), who garried Agnes Fry 1 April lgig he
lynton, and died there 2 May 1862, Be was 2 ghoenaker and farm labourer - clearly one whopg b it
genand in the scattered faraing conmenities of the time. Roger and Agaes (died § Jancar 18750“ e In
paried in Lynten churchyard, They had eight children: y 1875} are both

»

Mary, baptised (Bromhas) i1 July 1816, died upmarried 2 February 1850

¥i1lian, baptised {Brombam) 11 September 1818, married {as Brou

. . ‘ ghar!) Enma Shelford at B

?3;;1 1i;i§) and hdxgiﬂ (:sP gzougham) at Marylebome 12 Xovember 1§88,  Eams (é;rn ai%?EBPIZiig
. Both are buried &< ra ington Cemetery, Londom. The fi i {30

B mstaple: rst throe children of the marriage were

#alter Renry (borm 1847) married Emma Di i ;
e n: } a2 Dizon in 1872 and died 18 Pebruary 1881.  They ha four

Zppa Agoes, bord 1874, married Benry Dowding in 1899.
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¥alter ¥111lan, born 1876, married firstiy, is 1913, his first cousin, Hildred Rose Brougham,
and following her death on § Febroary 1929, he married, secoadly, her sister Aay florence
in the same year.  Np descendants have been traced from either marrizge - but this doesn't
mean that there weren’t any.

¥abel Bianche, born 1874, narried Leslie Johnsom in 1897 amd died in 1O85. ¥e hive no
frther knowledge of this family.

Charies Dizon, born 1879, married Nellie Burch (baptised 18 December 1880) in 1903,  The male
line failed with the death of their only sen, Alfred darold, 10 Octobar 1983.

Fary Aqnes, born 1849, married Edward Pickering in 1874: no further knowledge.

William Shelford, baptised 6 November 1850, married Rebecca Palmer in the Marylebone district in
the September gquarter of [875.  There were two daughters of this marriage, but we have not
traced any descendants.

Alfred Thomas, the fourth child, was bora at Grest Abington Cambs., 8 December 1851, W¥hat could
have drawn William and Emma so far from Barnstaple? Strangaly, not far from OGreat
Abington there is the town of Shelford. Interesting! Rlfred Thomas was the amcestor of
Trevor Rarbor of Reading, and of Mrs. Winifred Waterfall of Sidnmey, British (olumbia. '

Edward Charles, born in the Marylebone district in the December quarter of 1835, and married
firstly, Elizabeth Ellen Ballenger there in 1878, Elizabeth died in 1872, and Edward
narried secondly, in 1897, Sarah Ballenger - possibly a sister of Elizabeth.  Although
Edward and Elizabeth had eight children, an only descendant is knowa from the youngest
son, Karold James, who was born 189! and nmarried Daisy Vince in 1894, Their daughter,
Elizabeth, was bora in 1927, but we have no further information.

Frederick Johm, born 1858, married Martha Jame Parton Raggett in 1860, and died 24 September
1828. Martha died 1 February 1932, Blthough there were seven children of this
marriage, there appears to be only one possibility of a nale descent: the third son,
Thomas Walter Shelford, born 1886, married Aama Acon in 1916, and a son, Philipe F.S.

Brougham was born .in 1%21. Family legend has it that his nmother was Belgian.  The
narriage vas dissolved, and Anna may have kesn given castedy of Fhilipe. Thomas Walter
narried secondiy, Winifred Highgate. There was 4 son of this marriage, Jobn H., who was

born in 1935 and died the same year.

Henry Arther, born 1862, married Eliza Anne Cooper in 1889, and died 31 October 1904, Eliza died
1% haqust 1941, They had two davghters, Lilian Effie, born [890, who married Rev. Thomas
Booth 27 April 1918; and Constance Elsie, who died vnmarried 26 December 1961.

Clary Welen, born 1860 and died 1863.

Charles Ermest, born 1866, married Lily Yaria Adamthwaite 21 July 1893 and died 6 July 1940.
Lily died 10 Karch 1948,  They had four children:

tily Bthel Aqnes, borm 17 July 1894, died unmarried 12 February 199!

frnest ¥alter Willlem, born 5 May 1897, married Rose Hellie Cooper {1902-1380) 13 October
1928, and died in April 1978. There were two children:

Roger Ernest, born 24 April 1931, parried Alma Rosemary Potter (born 11 November 1934)
3 September 1960, There are two children:

Ruth Elizaheth, born 25 March 1965, married Christopher C(lifford 25 May 1992, and
Susan Jacqueline, born 9 July 1967, married Ian Pagl Blatherwick 10 September 1988.

There are children of both these sarriages.
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pavid Arthur, bora 9 warch 1936, married Hiriam gouthall 22 June 1963, They have two
¢hildren:

fichard Andrew, born 1] Augest 1969 and
Jerys Asne, bord 2 hpril 19%9.

Phylils Rose Nadeline, born 7 December 1990, died 13 December 1301

)rthur Charles Percy, tora 27 June 1905, married Irene Martha Stevens (died B Hay 1991, and
died § Harch 1960,  There wete two children:

¥arjorie, born 3 April 1946, died 21 April the same year.
christine !reme, born 25 Auggﬁt 1948, married Robert lan {rogby 23 Hoveabet 1971.

frederick John, born 1858, married iz 1880, Martha Jane Parton Raggett {1857-1932) and died 24
Septenber 1928 leaving:

Kartha Louige, born § pecepber 1881, gied 3 Hovembar 1886.

frederick Willlam Parton, porn 1883, married in 1915, Annie Elizabeth Martin (ca. 1890-1978}
and died 17 tay 1940 leaving:

hudrey Hay, born 1920. Ho further infornation.
gmily Clara, borm 1884, narried in 1911 pobert Pendleton. Ho further information.

Thomas Walter Shelford, norn 1386, married firstly ip 1916, Anna Acon.  Thefe was one son of
this sarriage,

Philipe 7.5., born 1921. Mo Farther information.

The marriage was dissolved, and in 1933 Thomas parried Winifred Highgate. There was @
farther SOR,  ~a -

Joha §., born 1933 and died the same yeal.
thomas died in 1967, but Vinifred had predeceased pim by 17 years, dying in 1949.
tilian ¥aud, horn 1883, died unmarried 1954.
fearietta Alice, bom 1890, died vomsrried 1976

john Bdward Raguett, gorn 1900, maried firstly, in 1929, Doris Patricia Powell (1900-1973).
John married secondly, in 1979, Kathieen Florence ¥hite {1902-), and died 28 May 1981

Nancy, hoen 21 Jamuary 1821, married James garles in 1844,  Ghe died 10 Yovesber 1832 there a1e
desrendants of this parriage.

a

Eenty born im Lyaton in 1813, took his family to pgstralia - see details om page 119 after the
repainder of the gaglish families.

Ann, born 21 Octeber 1816, married {registered at Chelsea) vo..ovans in 1860.

Bilen, born 1 December 1820 and registered as BROHHAN. Ko other infornation.

Joha, bora 1 December 1829 {registered as BROMAAY}, wmarried firstly, Elizabeth Hopking  {bor &,
1830) at Chelsea 17 ppril 1852 They had nine children:
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John Fry, born 1853, died uam 1B March 1931,

Pdward Zrnest, born 1856, married Ranie Maria Palmer 31 August 1878 and died 28 February 1892.
[t is believed that Annie Maria died in 1942. No other informationm.

Wilfred Edqar, born 1438, married Elizabeth Hchair at Hindmarsh, South Australia 1 Yovember 1879.
They are knewn to have descendants, but we do not have details. Wilfred was a carpenter aad nay
have acted for a local usdertaker, ¥r. Thomas Ettridge. Fe died 26 July 1878 at Hindmarsh, and
Elizzbeth, who was born at Drysdale in the state of Victoria ca. 1858, died 15 October 194) at
Royston Park, South Australia. Wothing is known of any descendants.

Arthur Harold, born 1860, married Alice Maud Martin 19 Asgust 1896, Ho further information.
Biiza Ann, born 1862, died vamarried 23 Janoary 1941,

Walter Roger, born 24 October 1867, married Alice Beken in 1892, and died 5 Rugust 1907. Yo ofher
information.

Willian Henry, born 29 May 1854. No further information.

Louise Aqnes, born 17 October 1871, married Frederick Charles [ranfield ir 1836, Ho Ffurther
inforngtion.

Rarry Edwin, bora 1865, married Jane Ellen Eiliott at Breatford in 1896, They had a son
Sydney Arthur, born 1901, who died unmarried T May 1987.

Harry Edwin died at West Ewell, Surrey, 30 Jume 1942; Jane Ellen putiived him by tweive years,
dying 29 October 1954,

Hemry, baptised at Lyaton, Devom, as Bromham, 18 October 1623, married {as BROUGHAH} Elizabeth Anne
Bosward at St. Lukes, Chelsea) 7 April 1852, This is the first intimation that 2t least part of the
fanily had nmoved from Devon to London, but Henry one the First of two brothers to migrate to
South Australiz, ia 1853 per ship 8.8. Mallard. HRe.was @ ship's carpenter and handyman, 2 trade t
hat was to stznd him in good stead ia his new country.

Op Christmas Day 1855 Henry and his wife, with their infant son, laft Adelzide on the schooner
'Bandicoot' for Port Lincols, whera Henry set up a carpentry business and may have been an undertaker,
for it is known that he mede coffins. Te also opened a store, seliing drinks and small goods.  He
built a substantizl home at Port Lircols, and called in 'Lynton' after the toun of his birth. There #
gre five children of the marriage:

Walter Fry, baptised 31 August 1854, died 5 September 1B54.

Sapvel, baptised 1 December 1855, married Marie Elizabeth Sear 16 December 1879,  Sanmeel followed
in his father’s footsteps as a carpenter and undertaker.  An old photograph in the possession of
the family is inmpressed on the reverse with *Broughan Photographers, Port Lincola™, but so far the
particular members of the family have not been identified. Sapuel and Elizabeth had five
children, but nome appear to have married and we have little further information. Sanuel

Brougham died 21 December 1916, and Elizabeth died eight years tater on 29 September 1224,  Their
children were:

Hargaret Agnes, born ca, 1881

felen Lovise, bora ca.l883, died 19537.

Erthar, bore ca. 1885

flsfs Mabal, born ca 1897 was church organist of St. Thomas's Chareh of England, Port Lircoln
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From 1907 until her death in 1071, She accepted her first music pupil ie 1906, and took and
active part in many charch functions as Sunday Sehool teacher, secretary to the € of E Parish
gall and member of the Church Council. GShe was also an enthusiastic Ranger Guide, and entil
i11 nealth forced her to catire in 1948, was in charge of the Second Port Liacoln Guides.

3ames Rowsrd, born ca. 1895, died 19 Septembet 1926.
Agnes Mary, paptised 14 Hay 1857, mareied James Carr ca. 1881. There are Catr descendants.

Noward Bdward, baptised 79 December 1858, married Jane Tynalin Scott (1856-1907) 18 pugust 1881,
¥r. Brougham ran the pail service between Port Lincoln and Tumby Bay, ot on a return trip frem
the Port to Tumby Bay he became one of several people overcone by sunstroke, and was admitied to
port Lincoln hospital where, despite all the efforts of the medical and nursing staff he died 16
fehrpary 1890, leaving: X
Frank Samuel, baptised 13 September 1883, parried Elsie Caroline Oiston {1894-1923) 14 May
1918, and died 25 Harch 1951 leaving:

camuel Edward Ross, dates of birth/baptisa unknown, parried 22 January 1953 Evaiyn (amelia
Greenhalgh, and died 15 Harch 1985 leaving:

Harilyn {lare - ©o further information
Lyel} Francis, dates of birth/baptise unknown, naccied 13 September 1983 Denise Alice
fesant. There are two children of the marriage!

Lisa Dorothy, bern b December 1985
fvan Ross, bora 18 Bpril 1949

deather Lorraing, bore 10 Augast 1997, aerried David Charles Whiting {date unknowal.
Glenys Faye, born 10 January 1959, married Trevor Roderick Bandinette {date unkaoun}.

Eigle Sheila, borm 3 hugust 1923, parried Keith Sidney Walter pates (date tnknoun)

i1fred Armgld Frank, vorn 14 Febroary 1922, mar}ied Dorothy Lorzaine Noske (18219 - )
18 Harch 1951, There are three children of this marriage:

Trevor foward, born 16 September 1333, garried Vicki Aene ¥Wright (1956 - ) 4 Aprii
1976. They have two children:

flayden Trevor, born 21 September 1983 and
Alison Fay, born 23 July 1985.

Desmond Xeil}, born 13 Ockober 1955, married dargaret Ricketts (1927 - ) 21 Cclober
1978,  They have four childrea:

Lara Jii1, born 7 October 1980.

Michagl Desmond, bors 21 October 1980,

gavannah Helen, born 10 October 1984,

fefdl Joy, dorn 22 Detober 1986, *

patricia Lorraine, b: 4 December 1959, married lan Gordon Fuss, am Astro-Physicist,
b:1954, 15 October 1981 There are two childrea:

fyrie Lorraing, b: 12.04.1938
Belinda Grace b:28.06.1998

Heary's widow, Jane, parried, secondly, #illiam Carr.
Ranry, born 8 Decenper 1862, vorked with his father in the fanily business  During his youth,
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there were aborigines in the district, and he developed an understanding of their ways, and had no
problens in his dealings with them there or elsewhere.  In 1883 he smarried Phoehe Carr {1865~
1955}, the ninth child (of 13) of Abraham Carr and Mary Mams at S5t, Loke's, ¥hitmore Sg.
hdelaide. After the birth of their first child, they retvined to Port Lincolm, subseguently
moving to Tumby Bay.  Benry was a man of mapy skills: as a carpenter [he was respoasible for
constructing a large part of the Anglican Church, including the pews, at Lipson} and surveyor he
prospered. FRe also operated the mail rum from Lipson to Tusby Bay.

Late in life he turned his attentfon to farming, first renting some arable land nearby, but later
in 1912 he purchased 3 property at Warratta Vals, some 12 miles north of Tumby Bay. Ia 1026 this
was sold, and Memry and Phoebe moved to Adelaide; but after 3 few vears the lure of the
countryside proved too strong, and Hemry purchased a large property at Salisbury, where they
stayed briefly before moving back to Adelaide, and finally back to Tumby Bay, where Renry diad 19
Janaary 1957, leaving:

Agnes Jane, born 23 June 1884, married {date unknown) Afbert Sarr Wishart, and disd 12 July
1975, ¥o further information,

Abraham Renry, born 26 February 1886, in Port Lincoln. e Followed in the family Farming
tradition, eventually acquiring a 2,200 acres property which he share farmed with his
brothers.  With the help of a local bank manager Henry survived the worst years of the 1030s
depression, but the strain was too much and he contracted tuberculosis From which he died gn
13 February 1934, In 1909 he had married Ada Mariom Hilton, who sadly pre-deceased hir, also
with TB, on | Janvary 1919, naver having Fully recovered from the death of their youngest
child, Holly at the age of 16 months fn 1917,  In 1927 Abraham married his sister-in-law,
Elsie Hilton. A som, born [n 1924, died at birth.

Abraham and Ada had two surviving children: a younger daughter, Barbara Harion, had 4. inf:

Halsern Vivian James, born at Tumby Bay 19 February 1911, jolned his father in farming
after leaving Port Liacoln Righ School in 1926. After his father's death in 19M Malvern
took control of the farm, where he remained until after his narriage in 1919 and the
outbreak of war.  Tutned down for war sefvice by both RAAF and the Army, he took a short
(wartinme) course in fitting and terning, and was posted to the Islington workshops of
Scuth Australian Railways, whera he remained until his retirement in 1976.

Halvern Brougham martied, 14 Pebruary 1939 { a day that he recalls as being somewhat warm,
with a temperature of 114° F), Bertha Rathleen Rohrlach. They had three children:

Philip Malvers, born 12 October 1939, married Fatricia Carmel Humt 25 October 1965,
and died 15 June 1982 leaving three childran,

Anthony Philip, born I September 1962.
Joanne Loulse, born 23 October 1965, married Kevin Detloff, and has a daughter
Jesgica Kate, born 10 February 1993, -
Enra Rachel, bora 15 April 1970,
Alan Jares, born I3 May 1943, married Pamela Rombsch. They have two children:

Faul James, born 14 September 19068,
Jason Kate, born 7 November 1972

Janet Apn, born 30 April 1945, married firstly, Victor Thomas (m.diss), and secondly
Jeffrey Anderson.

Howard Reary, bern 12 May 1913 at Tumby Bay and marcied Doris Xay 0'Connor in I937. Re
diad 22 September 1992, leavieg three children:

¥elly June, bern 2 June 1933, married Bruce Henley

171




Petar Henry, born 14 Kovember 1942, married Paa Ferguson. They have three chitdgen:
pania. No further information
John Renry, Ho further tnformation
correna. Mo further informatfon.

panela Dorig, bora 27 OctOber 1944, sarried Peter Barr Mcbowan: no further informatica

Barbara Harlen {¥olly), born 12 Februaty 1916, died 16 June 1917

Evelyn Sarah, dates of birth and death unknown, married Rerbert Layton Gele. 00 further
{nformation. - .

caroiine. Ho further information

glizabeth Mary, bdorn 21 Febrvaty 1891, married Dudley Helville Sinclair. %o further
information.

Gordon Boward, 1 August 1892, died 26 April 1893

Phoehe Elvira, horn 12 March 1894, married Clarence Vincent Cedric Miller and died 1 Oclaber
1966, Mo forther {nformation.

Clarence Bosward, born 16 Rugust 1897, married Mary Marion Lawrey and died § July 1974,
leaving two children:

Relvin Clarence, date of hirth anknown, matried Jean Yvonne Noble. They had six children:
Gary Kelvln. Ho other information.
Yyonne. Ho other information.
Pater Lyndon. Yo other informatiom.
Tersy Jages. No other information.
Rrandon Clarence. Ko other informatica.
felveen Mary. Ho other information.
Eeather Jean, date of birth unknown, martied Gavin Kingstey Smith. Ko other infermation.

Douglas Haroid, born 21 Hay 1899, married Phytlis Adelaide Carr and died 8 April 1983, leaving
three children:

pagnond Rarold, date of birth not known, narried Margaret Whitford, snd has one child:
Enna Louige - no other information.
rravor Relth, date of birth enknown, parried Nancy Olive Fry.  They have four children:
Chris Alan, no other information
Kis Errol, no other information
Lee Beyin, no other information
fratt Anton, no ether information
Trevor Brougham was & [lying instructor who had taken art in the last Eagland-hustralia
Ait Race. fe was killed when his plane was flown into a hillside by a pupil pilot who was
preparing for his Eirst solo Fright - date unknown.

Bevariey Ann, date of birth ueknown: macried firstly, leon Stuart Rale {n. diss.); and
secondly ....... . ... Mills, %o other information.

Victor Lindsay Ciyde, born 22 December 1907, nmartied Beryl Dora Harvey and died 2 Sepiember
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1977, They ha¢ two chitdren:

Joha, married Julis Jewbert. They also have two childzen:

Andraa Mazrie, no other information
Richard ¥ark. No othet information

geoffrey David, who narried Leorie Margaret Walker. Only ome child is known:

Yeegan Jane. Ho other information.
gdward George, bora 3l Augost 1903, married Mand Hazel Giles, and died 14 Janvary 1989 leaving
two children:

Barbara Faye, date of birth snknown, married Eric John Borgas. Ko other information.

Ronald George, date of birth anknown, married Audrey Lotraine Hudge. No other informatioa.

Rita balsy Huriel, born 31 July 1906, married teslie William Golding, Ho further information.

Rayrond Stewart, boxm 31 July 1906, married Rancye Janet Lawrie, They have two children:

Eldon Malcolm, date of birth unknown, narried Judith Odgers. They have two children:

Bevan John. Date of birth unknown. Mo further information.
Christine. Date of birth ynknown. Ho other information

Barry Moston, date of bhirth unknown, married Jillian Louise Abraham. Yo other

infornation.

yernon Foward, born 1B August 1907,

garried Vera Isabel Giles, and died 17 May 1983 leaving
two children: .

Dennis Wayne, Eate of birth unknown. No other information.

pavid Veraon, date of birth unknewn, to othet inforaation.

gomola Harcourt, born 21 December 1912, married James H. Waters. Living 1997,

sestiperpeeeeietseFURTRER DETAILS OF THE AUSTRALIAR DESCERT SAtLAREREARRRREAERREENEREIER
¥ILL BE FOUND IN CRART 13
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CHAPTER 18
THE INDIAN
and

NEW ZEALAND CONNEXIONS

SERGEANT MAJOR EDWARD BROUGHAM

g5 (Chapter 13, P. 103) believes that Sat. Major Brongham was the second son of Edward Broughan of
penton Hill {Combertand}.  ArAy records show that Sgt. Major Broughae was bara in pecenber 1807 and
enlisted in the Sappers and Miners, Hadras Army, in 1834, Tis army record says that he #as a native
of Alverstoke (Hants.}, but there is no Fecord of his birth in either the Alverstoke ¢t neighbooring
parish registers. He was 39 at the time of his death, of cholera, at Camp Fraserpette, 16 April

1845.

'pdward® i§ a common name threoghout the generations descended from Edward Broughan of Barns, d: 1915
(see Chapters 13-16: The Broughans of Brampton); and we have noted a Willian Brougham of the 4th
{ompany, Royal Sappers and Miners, kaown to have peer descended from Edwatd of Barns, who married Jaae
Hoise of foldsworthy at Stoke Danorel 17 September 1829, Willianm gave his age 3§ 2¢ gn enlistment on
23 Aprit 1805, which puts his year of birth as about 1776, Willian had a younger brother, gdward of
Denton Hill (1777-1827), who nay 4ell have been the father of Sgt. Major Brougham.  We have assumed
this in chart 11, put more research is obviously needed.

fdward Broughan arrived i India in 1834 o .the ship 'Rindustan’. Te was & widower when he garried
ann Simons (born circd 1824) § December 1839, ghe survived him by 31 years, dying of dropsy 1
Janvary 1878, and is poried at St., Marks. Bangalore. hs will be sean, only one son of their family of
two sons and two daughters survived infancy:

yiliiam Bdward, boa } Septenber 1840, buried 10 huqust 1842
ann Hargaret, bora 18 §ovenber 1841, buried 29 Augqust 1842
Charlotte Bearley, born 71 Hovember 1842 - mo further reference found.

[It would seed that these three were carried off by one of the naey illnesses that were s¢
prevalent in the India of the Raj; cholera or diphtheria are the most likely - see Chapter 9, page

54]

James Beary Beazley, born 7] Decenber 1844, became & Deputy ronservator of Forests, Madras Forest
Department.  The eyidence of his children's nirth certificates show that he parried Elizabeth
............ , who was born about 1857, and was buried 28 March 1936 at St. Harks, Hangalore

James Renry Beazley died 15 July 1920, leaving:

pdward James Beazley, borp § December 1873, He parried, 7 September 1907, St. George's,
fanover Square, Hargaret pnnie Jones, the daughter of fHenry tharles Jones of 15 5t Albans
Roaéd, bLeicester, giving his occupation as ‘engineer’. '

[One has ta wonder how an engineer, bern in Iadiz, met a youag lady frop Leicester (which, to
the best of onr knowledge, nad no previoes conzexion with the Sroughans)

There was only one child of this marriage,
Ethel Anina Beazley, barm 10 August 1919, paried 13 June 1941 at Hadras.

Wargaret Ann died 73 June 1912, and Edward Broughae parried secoadly, 7 April 1313, Dlivia Hary
Winna Farquar, who died 2 April 1922 at Reqapatsm.  Their enly child,

124



Fazel huralia Cashaore, was born at Kegapatum 23 June 1917. There are a0 further
references to her in the records.

Robert John Hasler, born 23 November 1876, became Head Clerk, Suparintendents 0ffice, B&Y
Railway, and died vamarried 4 September 1929 at Sanmastipar.

Richard Renry, born 7 June 1880, anad died 17 June 1880 at Vepery.
Frapk Alfred Charles, bozn July 1883, and died 9 April 1885 at Pursewalkan.
Lewis Will{am, born July 1887, and died of diphtheria at Nellore 27 October 1893,

Donald Richard, born April 1894, Bis first wife's name was Mildred ....... ., and Ehey had a
daughter,

Alitia May Correll, born 11 September 1916, and buried 16 March 1917.

Donald Brougham married secondly 17 November 1931, Ripsa (or Ripsey) Stvart, daughter of Noses
George Sarkies, and died It April 1932 leaving a son,

(live Donald, bora 15 October 1931.%o further record,
Gladys Octie, born 4 November 1889.  Again, mo further references have beea found.

In The Great Card index of the Society of Geneslogists there is a slip showing that {date unknown] a

Hiss XK.A. Broughan had written to the Bishop of Carlisle asking for information about her grandfather,

Sgt. Hajor Edward Brougham, thought to have been a son of the former Lord Chancellor.  Alas, how Rany
have had that thought!! There is no date on the slip.

FERRAA RS R R B R R E AR AR R E R LR E Y

— THE BRODGHEAKS FROM Co. KILDARE

Thanks to research in considersble depth by Hr. Eric Rey and his wife in Kew Zealand, we now know that
- Gunner Timothy Broughzm of the Nadras Army was the eldest of four brothers, thought to be the soms of
Edward Brougham of Co. Kildare, Ireland, and his wife, Mary Xnowles.  Although this belief is strongly
held by the Hew Zealand families, research has sp far failed to find the marriage, or indeed any trace
of either Edward or Mary in Co. Kildare at that time. That does not mean that they did not exist: it
merely points up the extreme difficulty of ancestor tracing in Yreland.

TIMOTRY was born circa 1806 according to his Army record, and this coincides with family history. Hore
research is needed to establish where and when Timothy Bromgham enlisted in the service of the East
India Company, but he arrived inm India in 1829 aboard the ship 'Minerva', a qurnmer in the Madras
Artillery. =~ IE is possible that he married in India, to Matilda .......... , for their first child
was nokt born uwetil 1854:

Thomas, born 6 November 1854, Palaveram, and buried 12 September 1862 at Madras [died of cholera}
James, born 4 February 1857 at Madras: buried 1B Septesber 1859

Bridget, born 3 June 1859 at Hadras and buried 19 June 1859 (died of convulsions)

Tirothy Brougham died of dysentary, aged 56, 11 September 1862 at Madras.

¥e have no record of Matilda's death.
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i‘ EDWARD, the second prother, was DOIR sbout 1810, and married Hargatet ..... about 1837: They had theee

I children,sll orn &t pukiafield, Hanchester. according to the 1841 ceosus:
B1izabeth, berd 1818

L " ary, born 183
! James, borm 1841

We have no further infornation about this family.

JORN was bora about 1811 {as evidenced By the 1841 census of Hyde, Cheshire, when John gave boti his
: age and that of nig wife as 30) in Co. Rildare. He nad married Maria Hughes at Ashton-undec-kyne 28
2 Saptenber 1§44, and pigrated to Hew Zea{gnd ca. 1841,  There were two sons of the marriage:

i Janeg, bora circa 1835, yent to New Zealand with his parents, bub latet yent to Australia, where he
) married Etizabeth geasiey (boIn ia{a, Sydney, NSW) at Rlbary NSW., in 1861 James and
Elizabeth had 1 children, as shown iR Chart 14. James died 2 Harch 1908 at Albury, and Elizabeth

died two years latel. 29 April 1910, also at Albury.

2 Joha, hotm 1841 and died at sea en ronte to New 7ealand on the ship ‘Martha Ridgeway', late

———i

l % lBil}eariy 1542,

died 30 Octobet 1845 at Motueka, NZ, and John married, secandly, at Motueka in 1847,

Haria {Hughes)
apklin (boro London ca. 1826). There weré giz children to this second parriage:

Maria Emily Fr

Bdward, born ca. 1048 at Hotueka, and died there, unnarried, 15 hugust 1937,

Thomas Godsall. bor® it Motueks 9 December 1849, married Catherine Jane Heath {bern 9 Decenmbet
1852, Hawkeshuly, N1} at Hotueka | Harch 1876, and died there 11 hugust 1939.  Catherine had
predeceased him by 23 years, gying at Hotueka 28 July 1916, There were four children, a8 shown in

chart 4.

: charles John, born ak Motueka 14 September 1851, married 29 June 1893 Emily Ellen Fuller (born 20
. Wovesber 1873 3t pangatotara), aed died 29 July 1929 at Wangasui. Enily survived him by 28 years,
i dying at yanganui 27 Februafy 1457, leaving eight childrea, as shown in Chart 14.

Fenry, born &t Hotueka 4 August 1853, natried at Hotueka 20 Decenber 1878, to Emma Jane Heath {hara
17 Octover 1868, (loucester).  Eamd jane died 24 January 1909, and Henry martied secondly, 13
hugust 1910 to Isabetla Ellen fealy {born ca. 1865, Dungeg, H8W).  Remty died 16 August 1923 at
palmerston North. and Isabella Ellen died 15 hpril 1999, also at Palperston lNorth,  There were
siz children of pengy's first narriage to Emma Realy, 38 ghown in Chart 14.

Grahaa, born 2. {856 at Yotueka, married Anne Charlotte Rarford {porn 23 June 1864 at Akaroa) and
died 1 Septemtier 1938 at Kotueks. ~ hon Charlotte also died at HMotueka, 18 October 1944,  There
were 11 childred of the marriage, as shown in Chart 14.

gaily Sarsh, born 3t Notueka 13 Febroary 1861, married 16 December 1883, George Edward Cook {(born
ca. 1861, Helson, §1),and dled at Nelsonl July 1934,  George ggward Cook died 23 Kovember 1918,

also st Helson.

JAMES, born C3. 1814, Co. Rildare, was narried at Ashton-under-Lyne, Hanchester, 27 April 1334 to
Sophia Holiany (born Hyde, Cheshite, ca.1814}.  There were five known children of this marriage:

John, hotn pukinfield ca. 1838 (1851 census): 6o farthet information.

-2

Reary, bord pakinfield ca. 1840: no further information.
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Ana, born Dekinfleld ca.1845: no further information.

Yary, born Tintwistie ca. 1846: no further information.

Jane, born Tintwistle ca. 1830: no further information. .
the 1851 census of Tintwistle confirms that James was born in lreland, but does not give the County.

We have no further information about this family.

tee charts 14-16 for details of the Kew Iealand families.
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SERGEANT MAJOR HENRY BROUGRAN

See Chapter 19 for details of Sgt. Major Heary Brougham and his descendants.
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CHAPTER 19
WAIFS AND STRAYS

{t seems unkind to give the name 'yaifs and Strays' to individeals and families who appear gut of
geographical context, but we can think of no other  There are some families whose descent can be
traced over only 2 fev generations, and there are come individuals whose parentage we nave been unable
tq estahlish: these aie the 'waifs'. 'Strays' Is an snderstood ters - those who have pigrated away
from their nirthplace. Strictly, many Broughams wonld come under this heading, but we have included
nere only those whose descent, if traced Back far gnough, would aimost certaialy have an origin at
froughan or Eamont Bridga. o '

The largest group that has so far defied zesclution, and whoe we classed &s ‘Strays' is that ot
Lincolnshize. The 161 records note Broughan baptisas and martiages in Lincolnghize during the 17th and
18th centaries than it does for Cumberland and Westmorland.  This may, of course, he only because the
past coast Was less troshled thae the border counties were.

pur attention was drawn to this area by the late Rev. Frank Broughaa of Cogham, near porismouth, whose
ancestors were of Fillinghaa: of the 36 Brougham baptisas shown for Lincs. in the IGI, no fewer than 24
were registered in Fillinghan. The tegend in Rev. groughan's family is that the family was Huguenot
Freach, bwo brothers coming fo England in the 15tk or 16th cenfuries. One settled In Lincolnshire, and
the other went to scotland.  We think that this is 2 pit fanciful, as Brougham has dafinite Anglo-Saxon
roots, but Lincolnshire remaing another area of research that has yet to be tackled

The following marriages appedl in the 161 For Lincoinmshire:

llaze Harried Date Parish
John Elizabath Barker 6 June 1590 granthan
John NN 21 October 1605 Frodinghan
Dorithy Richard Huntrick 21 November 1621 Hessinghan
Thomas Elizabeth Tayior 1 August 1122 . Fillinghan
tnn {Brofham) Thosas Taler 14 June 1730 Kettletherpe
han Howard Hydes 11 Harch 1798 Filtinghan
Ann William Poole § hpril 1748 Fillinghan
yilliam Elizabeth Blakey 26 Mareh 1718 Fillingham
Ann John Ariel 1 January 1811 Lincoln - §t. Paul in the Bail
gilliam Hutchensen ¥ary Rardy 17 ¥ay 1835 Gainsborough
Joseph Karia Dawher 21 July 1838 (lentworth

itHHHH“HHHiilliii““““ﬂii!Hi!il““i“

The foliowing baptisne appeat ig the 161 for Lincolnshire:

ape Pareats Date Parish
Farqarette Yillian {Broughum) 4 Harch 1567 Scatten
Steven ¥illian 26 March 1569 Seotton
Agnes Willian 17 Hovesber 1572 Seatton
John Christofer b Harch 1588 grorton
Thonas Thoras 7 Decesber 1583 Bighy
Elizabeth John 11 Septesber 1597 Grantham
Hagy Jehn 3¢ march 1600 Granthan
William John 73 Augqust 1602 ¥essingham
Gynan Jahn 14 Octoter 1606 Nassinghan
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Thomas
Borothie
Joane
Elizabeth
An
. Richard
Themnas
Rlice
Elizabeth
Porithie
 Charles
Elizabeth
Haria
Haria
William
Isabell
Charles
Hary
Blizabeth
Anne
John
Thoras
Willian
William
knpe
Joht
Willian
Elizabeth
John
Thonas
Thomas
John
Ann
Sarah
Ann
Hilliam
Thoaas
- Jane
Saral
Amn
John
Williaa
Elizabeth
Hary
Joseph
Eljzabeth
Chariotte ~
Ann
Joseph
Heary
Ann
John
Joha
¥illian
Henty Joseph

John

. .. Browhholme
Antho!

Anthonie

...... Harie
Peter

William

¥ill{am

Anthony

¥illiam

Yilliam Brosholme
Gelielmj-
Valentina

¥illia~
Willian-sabell
Charles-Falth
Charles-Faith
Johanis-Elizabeth
John-Elizabeth
John-Elizabeth
John-Elizabeth
John-Elizabeth
John-Elizabaeth
John-Elizabeth
John-Ann
¥illiam-Jane
Thonas
Willian-Jane
Thonas
¥illiam-Jane
Thozas

John Brofham-Jane
Thomas
Riliian-Ann
Willian-Ann
William-Aan
Rilllan-Ann
¥iiliam-Elizabeth
Wiiliam-Elizabeth
Williza-Elizabeth
willisn-Elizabeth
William-Elizabeth
Willian-Elizaheth
¥itliam-Elizabeth
John-Mary
foha-Hary
Jolin-Hary
¥illfan-Jane
¥a.Hutchinson-Hary
Joseph-Maria
Joseph-Haria
Joseph-Haria
Joseph-Karia
Joseph-Karia

H October 1606
18 October tR{7
19 October 1608
17 February 1610
1 Harch 1810

9 April 1618

17 hugust 1612
15 March 1614

8 Febroary 1615
18 Hay 1617

4 Warch 1620

4 May 1622

15 Harch 1625

T Rugust 1628

11 Hovember 1631
24 Harch 1657

12 hogust 1662
12 August 1662

§ February 1680
- August 1682

14 Februoary 1684
21 November 1684
19 Harch 1684

1 February 1694
- September 1715
13 Augast 1718

6 Janvary 1730
19 February 1721
10 dpril 1722

28 Rpril 1723

1 Jaly 1123

1 Hovember 1725
19 October 1726
15 July 1736

10 July 1748

10 June 1750

1 Octoher 1752

1 September 1753
30 ¥arch 1779

19 Janvary 1783
12 Septesber 1785
2§ Febroary 1789
28 hugust 1791
13 April 1794

3 Bpril 1796

27 Harch 1808 .
11 September 1881
§ Septenber 1318
1 October 1827
12 April 1836

11 Hay 1837

1 November 1838
11 October 1840
22 October 1840
14 July 1846

Hessingham
Bighy
Bighy
Bighy
Bighy
Barnetby
¥inting
Bighy
Hinting
Bighy
Hinting
Hinting
Hinting
Scotten
Hinting
Hessinghan
Bamber
Bamber
Glentworth
Fillingham
Fitlinghan
Fillingham
Fillinghan
Fillinghan

¥ainfleet All Saints

Kettlethorpe
Fillinghan
Ipkten
Fillinghaa
Tpton
Fillinghan
Uaton
Kettlethorpe
Swarby
Fillinghan
Fillinghan
Fillinghan
Fillinghan
Fillinghan
Fillinghan
Fillingham
Fillingham
Fillinghan
Fillinghaa
Fillinghan
Inghan
Inghan
Gainsborough
Swineshead
Gainsboreugh
Fillinghan
Fillinghaa
Fillinghan
Fillinghan
Fillinghan
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Further north, in bothan, we found @ grant of adginistration to Agnes Broughan, widaw of Thonas, in
1574. ilas, not the Thomss of Broughas who diad in 1608 (who also left a widow, Agnes), bul who was
he, and who were nis immediate ancesters?

inother entry In the 161 for Durham - which also appears in the ptinted registers - ts for Peter, son of

John Brougham, who vas baptised at Bishopwearmouth 23 December 1692 and buried there 21 May 1693, An
erapination of the priginal registers leaves us in no doubt that the name was Brougha, nat Broughal.

¥aifs include:

Harriages: garah Broughan to John Addisen, { October 1723 at St. Benet's, Paul's Wharf, London.
Borothy Brougham to Thcggs faytor, 1 March 1743, at st. George's, Mayfair.
Martha Broughas to Benjaﬁiﬁ Bailey, 29 Hovember 1780, at §t. panstan-in-the-East.
John Brougham te Hildred gnrton, 11 Febroary 1784, at St. Giles, Crippleqate.

paniel Brougham te Mary James, 1745, at St. Ethelburga.

Baptisns: gichard, son of Thomas Brougham, st. Martin Pomeroy, 25 Hay 1604
Hichael, son of Henry and Dorothy Brougham, St. Andrew's, Eafieid, 17 Novembel 1744,
Beajenin, son of Stephen and Dorothy Brougham, St. andrew's, Enfield, 10 September 1748.
Ann, daughter of Stephen and Porothy Brougham, St. Andres's, Enfield, 19 February 1752,
porothy, daughter of Stephen 2ad Dorothy, st. Andrew's, Enfield, 19 Harch INELR

) telationship betweed Heary and Stephes groughan of Enfield, and Hichael Brougham of the Excise Service
{see Section g, p.]) has to be suspected, but we nave not baen guccessful in discovering the parents of

Stephen and Heary.

4e gust also include in this section all those Broughass of Irish descent who do not descend from Revd.
1oha Broughaa of Ballyhaise and Bailleborough, or fros Fdward Brougham/Hary Knowles, helieved to have
parried in Co. Rildare ca.1805, although, as has beed &een in Chapter 18, no recotd of the marriage, of
of the subsequent pirth of their four soms, has heen found.

Fhebiabl dEtiipRdd 2323232221 prithisirt

Nany of the pnstratian and American Broughans are kngwn o have 1rish antecedents, and it is our hetiet
that progress im establishing their lines of descent will only be made if the interested fanilies
ropbine to fora an lrish Broogham Association with an anngal sebscription that can be applied to
conmissioning properly qualified professional research in Ireiand. it may well be that am {rish name
. guch as Broogha¥, or Brochas, has been corrupted into Broughas; wat it is equally possible that
somewhere in the distant past, one or more younger sons of the Westmorland fapilies migrated te freland,
perhaps to escape religlous persecution in England.

Febhi it HRLE dEaed FRERE ARRE (33334
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THE BROUGHAXS OF ALSTOM

The Broughams of Alston are as mach a mystery as the Bronghams of Drampton - perhaps even more so, for
they Ieft no records other than the those of the parish registers.

The earliest records are the berials of

nn, wife of Willisa Brovgham, buried 24 April 170) aad
Williae Brovghan of Foresheall, buried 15 February il

- It is possible that William was the son of Thomas, brother of Heary of Scales {see Chapter 2, p.12):
that Willisn would have been 4), an aversge age of death, but without proof it is only 2 reasonable
gssesption.  Following Ann and William we have:

Joseph, son of Willian Brougham, buried 12 Febreary 1723.

Phoebet, daughter of Thomas Brougham, baptised 7 September 1748

Maryt, daughter of Thomas Brougham of Aldstone, baptised 27 January 1751

kancyt, daughter of Thomas Brougham of Aldstone buried 4 Augsst 1751

Thonas Broughames of Alston, a miner, buried 1t December 1171

Elizabeth Broughame: of Alston buried 21 April 1772

Mary Brougham married Thomas Johnston 11 December 1773 {was this the Hary of 17511)
{sabel Broughame married Thomas Featherstonehaugh 15 May 1718

Eleanor Brougham of Alston buried & September 1784

+1t ceems certain that these were the children of Thomas Broughamtt and Elizabethts............ {see
Chapter 16, p.109), althongh Phoebe is also recorded as being baptised at Allendale in 1745, Thomas was
a son of Edward of Barns. '

I3 321 2212313122221 2233382232%23

. SHEFFIELD AWD RAYFIELD

Broughams of Sheffield, Yorkshire, first birth recorded March 1840 and appeared ragularly until 1873,
after which there was a gap until 1909, since when it has appeared regulatly once more. Tuichinson is
a given name in later gemerations. This may have been Brought over from Lincolashire.

Broughans of Rayfield, Derbyshire, first recorded June 1845, The last birth was registered there in
1872.  They probably originated in Ireland, and may be related to the Broughams of Dukiafield, and
Byde. Another researcher is working on this on behaif of a possibble descendant ia America..

BREREREEAL LEREREEEES LEEERREREREE QRREHREAAER
IN CARADA -

'The Most Extraordinary Experience A Canmadian Young Lady Tells OFf is how the New York Times of 10
October 1883 heads a paragraph of the story of Miss Hinnie Brougham, daughter of ¥r. K.E. Rrougham, an
Ereise Officer of Toroato, who vas 'mysteriously abducted' by two closely veiled wonen, who persvaded
her to accompany them, under threats of calling the police.

"Bewildered by their statements, she followed them and alloved herself to be piaced upon the train and
taken to Ramilton. Upon the cars a young gentleman called Lloyd made himself scquainted with her, and
to him she stated that she was going to see friends. On arrival at Hamilton she was taken to a hotel
and the women closely watched her.  Mr. Lloyd again called on her there, but it is asserted that she
did ot say anything about her abduction. She succeeced in eluding the woren's vigilance, and boarded
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the train for home, where she told the story of her abdnction, A government detective is working up
the case, but he confessed himself nonpiussed’.

I3 232 E NYIITIII LI AT fhbEEAL HEEEERRED

1§ EASTBOURNE

The Eastbourne ‘Chronicle' of August 6, 1881 reported 3 'Nelancholy Hoat Accident at Easthourne' on
tonday, 1 Rugust, when Frederick Willias Broughae, 3 young #an of 21 was drowned off Beachy fead. Hrs.
Jane Brougham, an elderly lady of 71 tewbridge St. plackfriars, stated that Frederick Brougham lived
with her, and was a cashier with the Army and Navy Stores, yictoria Street Westminster. On that day
Frederick Brougham had gone to Easthourne with @ young wORaE, Higs Eilen Young, and had hired a smail
poat. At Beachy Head they approached toq close to the shore and the hoat was capsized by the breakers,
the occupants being throwm into the water. The young woman was saved, but Broughan was drowned.

the inquest found that Frederick had met his death by drowning, and racorded that boatmen should ensure

that hirers were aade aware of apptoachling too close to the shore near the Head.
Who was Frederick William? Neither his birth not death is recorded at the ceneral Register Office.

ilii!lii*}i*iiitii*i!iiitlitiiiit{i

JOBN_BROUGHAH THR ACTOR

gorn Dublin § Kay 18H4. Attended Trinity Tollege as @ student of surgery, but #as thrown on his o4n
resources when an uncle who given hin fipancial assistance had to withdraw his support. John Brougham
then went to Lendon, where a chance meeting with an old acquaintance led to his appearance in several
plays.  fle continned to be successful in the theatre, heconing manager of the Lyceun in 1840. In 1842
4ent to Anerica, where he ¥as gery successful as poth playwright and actor,

do marcied first, in 1838 Emna Williams, but this marriage was dissolved before 1844, when John Brougham
parcied secondly Annette Hodges, née flayley, a widow who was an accomplished actress and theatre
panager. She died in Wew York 3 May 1870, and john Broughan died at 60 fast Ninth Street, Xew York, T
June 1836,

pictionary of Kational Biography

phihd AEtipard I¥31313531L FRkaaheisd BEERREE

COLOUR-SERGEANT WILLIAY BROYGHAK

Colour-Sergeant Willise Broughan was the cause of ¥S's interest in the Broughaa fasily. Ris arsy
record state that he was porn at Watcombe in the County of Soperset, but no guch parish exists, and his
baptise does pot appear in any of the surrounding parishes.

fle enlisted in the 53rd Reqt. of Foot {Shrewsbury Light [nfantry) at Chatham 1 pecenher 1819, aged i,
and just a year later was promoted gorporal. Be then served two spelis 35 recruiting officer, first at
Chichester until 24 Hay 1§11, and then at gasingstoke until 24 ¥arch 1822,  After a gonth at Chathan
depot, he was posted to Shrewsbury as recruiting officer and promated to Sergeant, 8 Coy. From 24
darch 1824 until December 1424 he was recruiting at st. Albans, and whilst here it woald seem that he
garried Catherine Webb {bap. | September 1806 at gt. Clement Danes, daughter of Janes and Catherine Rebb
of Essendon, Rerts.), although we have never found the marriage. their son, William, was baptised at
portsmouth Garrison Church § January 1826.  Sgt. Broaghan was promoted Colour Sgt. in 1825, and oa 2
Septesber 1026 he geserted from Stockport garracks en route to Ireland. No trace of him has ever been
found.  (atherine Broughas nad a danghter, Catherine, bap. as Broughaa in 1817, and died 1917 at
Southwark, whe married §illiam Pallett of Esgendon.  They wele gzeat~grandparents of HS.
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SGT. MAJOR HEWRY BROUGHAX

a first meat with this Henry Brougham as a Private in the 36th Regiment of Foot, into which he enlistad
“in london on 5 Rovember 1898,  Ris age is given as 19, and height §'7*.  On 17th November he was
transferred from the pepot to Rinsail, aad for most of the next sevea years he was on duty in Ireland.
‘It is almost certain that ne married in Co. Cork or Co. Waterford, for later records show that he had a
"wife, Sarak, who was of Fenah, Co. Waterford; and two sons, Joseph aged 5, and David aged 13 months, in

1846,

‘o 18 May 1846 Henry Brougham - by now a sergeant - putchased his discharge for £18.0.0, the equivalent
- of some five months® pay. The Regirent was in Manchester, but Heary was in Bristol, recruiting.  Five
* ponths later, on 13 Octaber, and still in Bristol, he enlisted in the 3/1 Bombay Artillery as a Private.
Bis age is given oa his attestation papers as 27 7/12, which puts nis date of birth as sometinme in Harch
1619, 1319 has been a consistent date throughout his service and subsequent retirement. Early records
give his place of birth as St. ¥ary's, London - not very helpfnl,  later, Bombay Krmy, tecords are RO
gore helpful, even though they appear to he on the surface: St. Mary's, Surrey, Southwark.  That
linited the search to some five or six registers, but he does not appedr ir any.

the 3/1 Regiment recruits enbarked for Bombay 17 February 1847 on the ship 'Madagascar', and arrived
there 1 June. fe seems to have served with the 3jist until 31 December 1858, when he transferred to
the 19th Hative infantry {19 N.1.} a5 2 Sergeant Hajor.

pavid died 22 December 1851, and is buried at Pooma.  Joseph became a signaller with the Electric
Telegraph Dept. at alligaun, but sothing is pnown of him after 1858, There were three other chiltéren:

Bl{zabeth Mary was bora 21 hugust 1848 at Ahmedauggur, but died of a fever en route to Hhow 22 Yay
1855.

argaret Adela, born July 1857, died 27 hugust 1858, Her death and age {13 nonths) were reported
in the Bosbay Almanac, but we nave been unable to find then in the registers.

¥i111an Frederick wag born at Poond 11 Harch 1854, Re married Elizabeth Hary Blanche foey at
foly Trinity, Westminster, oa 18 kogust, 1874, giving his occupation 2s General {lerk. Both
signed the register as of 14 Bessborongh Place, Westminster, and both gave their fathers’
occupations 8§ fealdier'. ¥illjam then seems to have changed his occupation, for on the birth
certificate of his son he is described as a schoolmaster, of Christ Church School, Bermondsey. He

died at Brentford in 1912.
¥e have foand two soms and 2 davghter of Willian and Elizabeth:

Mela 9.7., bora 1876 in the parish of St., Dlave, parried 1902 at Brentford. Ho further
information.

rredarick William, born 23 Jsnvary 1882 at Bermondsey.  Be, too, was drawn to India, for he
sarried Violet Ellen Nudds at the cherch of St. John at Colaba {Bombay) on 1 July 1908, He
was then an assistant in the firm of ¥hitgaway, Laidlaw & (0., general merchants, drapers and
outEitters known throughout the sub-continent and Ceylom. fe is said to have died shortly
after the birth of his elder son, and Violet Brougham is said to have lgter re-married to John
Foden, and it is believed that Violet died soon after her second marriage. There is B0
racord of either death, or of Violet Ellen's second marriage. This iaformation was supptied
by her grand-daughter, Wrs. D.P. HcCarthy of Herthyr Tydfil.

Frederick Willian and Violet Broughan had two sons:

Rarold F{rederick), borz 1910, who died in infancy.
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Alan Benry, born 17 June 13

11 at 46 Beaconsfizld Road, Twickenham. Fotlawing the death

of his mother, he was brought up by his Hadds grandmother, and parried Gwendolin Beryl

price at Herthyr Tydfil in
There wera three children o

1934 {June quarter), sad died there in 195% at the age of 44.
f this marriage:

Viglet G., born Herthyr Tydfil March quarter 1935, 1la 832, end smarried

Danie] P. HeCarthy the

re, March quarter 1953, 8b 903

Howard §.., who is a pharmacist with his own husiness, was born at Merthyr Tydfil in

1938, Be married, fi
and has a son:

Alan Christopher,

rstiy, Hita Wathan at Vaymor in 1961, {who died 25 May 1988)

who now has his own insurance business, was born | Septembar

1465, and married Deborah Evans at St.John's, Herthyr Tydfil on 4 June 1589.
They have two chilldren:

Beliy, horn

1% Gctober 1991, and

Harry Richard, born 7 Harch 1995

Roward Brougham married, secondly, Amnette Lewis, 4 January 1990

The younger sot,

Renry Roey, born 4 October 1

884, at Spring Grove Board Schopi, where his father was

schoolpaster. He married, date and place unknowe {but possibly india), Ellen Rehecca Burge,

a daughter of ¥ark Burge. They

had one child:

nlanche Bllzabeth, born circa 1927.  She was an ssistant Librarian at Bognor Regis when
che married Fit, Lt. Charles Llewellyn tancelot Cole, R.A.F., at §t. Mary's R.C. {hurch,
Bognor Regis, 26 Harch 1951. We have no further information about her.

flenry Hoey died, at Bognor Regis 10 June 1948 leaving a widow, Ellen Rebecca, and his then
gnparried daoghter, Blanche Elizabeth. He was described on his death certificate as a Company
pirector. Strangely, there are no other previous traces of births or parriages or deaths of
this fanily group in the registers of St. Catherine's House. Henry Roey's widow, Ellen
Rebecca, married her daughter's father-in-law, bLancelot Llewellyn Cole, 3 Seniar Executive
0fficer {retired) of the Hinlstry of Works at the church of Gur Lady of the Assusption and St.
Gregory, Westminster, 18 May 1%%5.

garah Brougham dled of cirthosis of the liver and exhasstion at § plbert Terrace, Ordnance Road,
Hounslow 21 January 1889 at the age of 1. Henry, Dy now am out-pensioner of Chelsea Hospital, was
also an estate agent. He died 20 Harch 1899, aged 90, at the same address.

H!!Hii!t!i!Hﬂ'illi!ﬂi!!tﬂi{'}iiiHM!!HH!HH!!

FREDERICK JAMBS BROUGHAX

pccording to his son's parriage certificate, Froderick James must have married circa 1865, and was dead

pefore 1891,  The 1881 census shows that
grandeother, Eliza Blunden, at 17 West 5

the son, Frederick, was then a scholar of 13, living with his
treet, §t. Giles Fields, Hiddleser - that part of the City of

yestainster near Cambridge Circus. Fliza was presumably his maternal grandmother. Where were his
parents?  There is no trace of them in either the 1871 census for london/Kiddtesex or in the pational
census index of 18B1. We kmow that his pother, Marian, was living, for she died, allegedly aged 54 in

1398, and the information was given by h
parried Frederick, then aged 23, and the
parish chyrch of St. Ance, Westminster.

er daughter-in-law, hnnie Jane Brougham, uée Jolley, who had
appareatly only child of the marriaga} 4 October 1891 at the
Mation did not witness the marriage. Frederick’s
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~occupation is shown variously as 'Conmaker' on his merriage certificate (1891}: 'Gunsaith, Jourseyman’
~pn the birth certificate of his eldest daughter (1892); and thereafter it appears as 'Warehouseman’'
*packer’ aad 'Fine Art Packer' on the variovs birth and marriage certificates

rederick and Annie Jape had five children:

May Marian, born 13 Hay 1892, nmarried Frederick Sydmey Sturmey 23 December 1910 at St. Paul's,
Bapmersmith.  Ho ferther information.

Frederick William, bora 14 Jamvary 1895, married Edith Elizabeth Dennis {bern Tl Harch 1897} at §t.
Paul's, Hammersmith, 23 December 1922.  They had a son:

John Dennis, born 29 January 1927, married Sheila Margaret Barflett 3% October 1948 &t North
Sheen, Surrey. They have two children;

Sk

Hugh M. born 4 ARugust 1949, who parried 19 June 1971 (in Australia) Margaret Hancock
{born 17 February 1950}. They also have two children:

Reather, bern  February 1979, and
Hatthew born 23 April HBI.

Judith Anne, born 15 Sepieambar 1951, married Anthony Charies Williams at Chichester in
1976, He Further information.

Frederick Willian died ai Chichester in 1984, and Edith Elizabeth (recorded as Eljzabeth Edith in
the register) died there ia 1980.

Leonard John, born 31 ¥ay [B95, married 1932 ...., Taylor, and died 1970, 'Two children are noted:

Terence, born 1933 (Buddersfield): no further information, but believed to be living I980.

Alec, born 1936 (Buddersfield}, married ........ Nuntingdon at Leeds in 19536. There are
three children of this marriage:
Steven, borg Huddersfield 1937, married ........ Tyler at Dewsbury in 1980: no further
informstion.

Christopher, born Auddersfield 1959: no further {aformation’

David, bora Huddersfield 1981: no further information,
Herbert George, born Haryiebone 1898, married Lily Rose Bishop {born 24 Hay 18%6} st Nammersnith 15
March 1924, and died intestate in 1954. Lily Rese died in 1979. WMe have found no descendants of
this marriage.

Annle Florence, bern 23 September 1900, died anmarried in 1967 at Hounslow,

ItiHH'HHlHiHHHi“i“ir“{“!i“““i

THE 1881 CENSUS OF ENGLARD, SCOTLAND ARD WRLES

The 1881 ceasus has thrown op a lazge nueber of Broughams, mostly in Scotland and Wales, but some also
in England, whose ancestry has not been traced,  The entraced English Broughans are nostly to be found.
in Derbyshire (Glossop and Bayfield, and someone is now working on these families), and in Lancashire
(Liverpool and Manchester), with the odd one dotted about here and there,  The Welsh families are all
in Glamorqan - and it will be remembered that the descendants of Sgt. Kajor Henry Brougham are also to
be found there,

In Scotiand, there are three in Fife, all born fn Bunnichen; ‘ten, & family of parents and eight .
children are in Dunnichen, Anqus, so it is possible that these two groups are related.
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In Lanark, 8 faniiy of three, fatkar bora in Lanark, but his wife and daughter both born in Glasgow,

Two brothers, born ip Ireland,, appear in Selkirkshire

Hl‘!likiiiliiiiiiit!!illl!i!i“illi
Kelly's Directory for London {Hiddleser) for 1890 shows [ive Broughams tiving ia the Hounslow area:

fienry, of Albert Tertace, Ordnance Road - see Sgt. Hajor Henty Brougham, P 133
John Fry, of Lynton Cottage - see Chart 12/5 (the Devon Broughams).

Joseph. of St. John's Road 1sigworth

Hiss Mary, of Vauz Cottage } oall fron Staffordshira!
william Frederick, of Vaur Cottage (father of Hary)}

One wonders if they knew each other, and if ot how they might have been related? Wby did they all end
gp in the Hounslow area?

At the beginning of this paper we noted that there are still maay loose threads, and this last section
tas shoun some of them.  Over tem years have passed since PBY wrote the first varsion (mainty for his
hustralian relations), and in that bine we have succeeded, or have been helped, im identifying many of
the loose threads we them nad - but many remain, for we have neither been able to ascartain many
possible parriages {and possible descendants) in the descendants of Edward of Bazns, nor have we been
able to deternine the ascestry of the pany fanilies who appear to have their origin in lreland.

For those who are interested, we can only repeat PBW's previous admonition: keep trying, and make sure
that your resuits are nade krown widely.  Brougham has been reqistered hy PBW with the Guild of One-
Jame Studies, so that contact with the Goild via

The Secretsry,

fo1 G,

14 Charterhouse Buildings,
Goswell Road,

LONDON ECIH TBA

will sead {aformation our way.

for those who are still researching their roots in England, apart from official Governnertal soorces
such as the new Fanmily Ristory Centre in Leadon and the PRO at Kew, the Library of the Sociaty of
Geneaiogists, the Record Offices at Cariisle and Kendal in Cumbria, at Morpeth im Notthumberisnd, and
Durhan in Co. Durham all have sonething to contribute, as does the Archives section of The D.H.5. Halson
Library, University College, tondon, the Guildhall Library, lendon, and The Archives and Special
Collections of Durham University. The Family History Centres of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter
Day Saints and the libraries of the Suciety of Friends may well costain the answers to your quest.

Thase ate only the main repositories: the Horth vorkshire Record Office at Horthaliertonm, Pentith
Library, Kendal Library, the (reater London Record Office, the Library of the Wanchester and Lancashire
Family History Seciety, and the Devon Record Office at Exeter should not be overlooked.

there is one Golden Rule to be observed: DO HOT LEAVE ANY STONES UNTURNED.  Hunches quite often have

a pay-off, as we fovnd on many occasions. It is amazing how many organizations have staff archives
going back inte the 18th century. Be prepared for frustration in large doses; and remember that
children are not always baptised in the year that they were born - there may be a delay of as much as
sevaral years between the two avents! - 3ad that ages given on marrisge and death certificates are anly
as accurate as the meaory of knowledge of the informant. Good hunting, all.

Our thanks again, to all those who have helped over the past twesty years. ¥e all know just how much
there is to be done, and we are aware tnat the alluvial gold has been found - from here on the pick and
shovel will be more in evidence than the panning dish!

pater Broughaa Wyly Marjorie Stacey
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THE BROUGHAM FAMILY
Extract From The Cumberland & Westmorliand
Antigprarian & Archeological Society Transactions
Volume LXI-New Series

By: C.R.Hudleston M.A. F.S5.A
{By kind permission of the author)

Correspondence with Mr.A.R. Jabez-Smith led me to a study of the late Canon Taylor's account of the
Lanplogh fanily in CW2 ZXIVIID & EXEIZ. At page 99 of XXRVIII, I noticed that Camon Taylor had written
- of Elizabeth, eldest daughter of Col. John Lamplugh that *she is stated in the family records as beirg
the second wife of Renry Broughem of Scales, though this fact is net yet verified." The statement
" appears to have been first made in Burke's 'Commoners”,i.(1836) pp.264/65.  This volume, dedicated to
- Lord Chancellor Braugham, contains a pedigree of the Brougham family showing Benry Brougham sarried,

secondly, to Elizabeth Lamplugh {the name of Henry's first wife is not recorded) by whom he had a large
family, including a son , Sameel, from whom the Lord Chanceller was descended. In Burke's “Royal
ranjlies* 1851 ii. 204 the statement is expanded somewhat and Elizabeth Lamplogh is described as the
dzughter and ultimately the heizess of John Lamplugh of Lamplugh. She is said te have married fenry in
1670.

This statement has beea repeated in many editions of Burke's Peerage with additions, viz.,
Renry Brougham of Scales....By his first wife {not naned) he had four children,

Thonas

Reary
Anne, b.in 1683; 4. in Feb.1789 at the age of 106

Joane

Feither of his sons éﬁrvived hin. He married 2ndly, Elizabeth, daughter and uliimately sole heir
of John Lamplugh of Lamplugh and had issme:

1. Thomag, Receiver-Gemeral of Cumberland and Westmorland, who dsp in 1716.

1. Bernargd, whe dsp in 1750,

3. John, who succesded to the estate of Scales Mall and possessed other estates in upberiand,
including the manor of Distingten, which he sold in 1737 to Sir James Lewther, Bt.

4. DPeter, . Elizabath Richmond daughter of Christopher Esq. of Eighhead C(astle, co. Cymherland and
left issue:

i, Henry Richmond, sheriff of Cumberland in 1748, who possessed the estate of Brougham iR
Westmorland, He dsp in 1749
ii. John, whe d. before his brother, also issue-lesss

5. Sanuel, n. Dorothy, only daw. of Johr Childe, and had two sons:

i. Johe, Bencher of the Hom. Society of Grays Inn.
ii. Benry*, b, in 1717

1. Elizabeth, married to ............ fosker,

2. ¥ary, married to her cousin John Brougham of Cockermeuth sen of John, 6th child of
Thomas, who married Mary Fleaming.
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The Weary who heads this pedigree was Jiviag at the tise that Dugdale pade his Visitation of Cumberland,
and at Pearith on 25th March 1665 he certified his pedigree begianing with Peter Browhaa, his great
grand-father.

Of himself he recorded that he was 21 years old, married to Mary Slee, daughter of William Slee of
rarlisle, and they had four childrem: Thomas (aged 1), Henry, Aane and Joane.

Ricolson and Burn, and Rutchinsen, both give pedigrees of the Broughan family. In both pedigrees Henty
Brougham is given but one wife - Mary Slee, who appedrs 2s the mother of all his children, who are
epunerated as: Agnes, Thomas, Heary, Williae, Jane, Bernard, Joha, Hary, Hatthias, Peter, George and
Samuel.

fenty Broughan made his will in 1697, and therein he spoke of his wife Nary as still living. If the
statements in Burke's ‘Commoners’ and various editions of the Peerage are correct, Hary (Slee},
fenry's First wife, nust have survived until 1687 - when she gave birth to 2 child - and Heary must have
narried Elizabeth bamplugh after that date {clearly the statement that he parried her-in 1679 cannot be
reconciled with the date of the birth of Anne,2 child of the first wife, ia 1683}; and Renry married 2
third wife, Mary, before I897.

Two wives of Henry must have died between 1603 and 1687, but the registers of Skelton do nct record
their barials. Horeaver, Renry Brougham's youngest child, Samuel, was christened there in 1681.
Burke says that Samuel was the sos of Elizabeth Lamplagh, dut on his own showing, Elizabeth could not
nave been sarried to Hemry until after 1683.

The facts enunerated above made me gravely doubt that Renry Brougham had a second wife, and in 1992 I
mentioned my suspicion to Caaen Tayloe, Re replied: ' T am glad that you have written to ne shout the
presumed narziage of glizabeth Lamplugh {b. 7th Hovember 1655} with Henry Broughan of Scates, becavse it
is upon this marriage that the Brougham fanily based thefr claip to be the rightful heirs of the family

of Lamplugh of Lamplugh, and indeed, guartered thelr amms..... This marriage may of coprse have taken
place, though I have found no evidence of it anywhere.  You may be abie to find a record of it, but I
doubt if you will...... [ have come to the conclusion that the Brougham Eamily, either the well-known

Broughan himself, or his inzediate desceadants, having reached wealth and being of old Cumbrian stock
uadoubtedly, began to take an interest in their fasily tree aad gathered what information they
conid.... Ny guess is that they came across the information that Elizabeth vanplugh, daughter of Robert
Lanplugh of Ribtom, and later also of Dovenby, married John Woodhall of Papeastle.  This pair had an
only daughter who married.john Broughsm of Cockersouth.  Thelr two children, Peter Brougham ard Hary
Brougham became in turn neifs to the Lamplughs of Dovesby, and Peter Broughan dying without heirs in
1791, his sister Mary carried the estate of the Lamplughs of Dovenby to the Family of Dykes.'

Canon Taylor's forecast that i should not be able to Find anmy record of the narriage of fenry Broughan
and Elizabeth Lamplugh proved correct, and in addition | found overwheiming evidence that Renry Brougham
had ore wife and ome wife only - Hary Stee, whom he married at §t. Mary's, Cariisle, on 15kh Kovember,
1666.

In Lord Lonsdale's muniments there is an ¥S book of family history compiled Dy Sir Daniel Fleming, and
this is what he had to say abont his cousin's marriage and family:

‘fenry Broughsm of Scales, gent., married Hary, daugnter of Willism Slee of {arlisle and had issue
Agnes, Thomas ob., Henry (the scribe’'s godson), Wiilis |sic) ob., Jane ob., Barmard, John, Hary,
Hatthias, Peter, George ob., Samuel Browghan. .

Here we have evidence from one Who Was related to (his first cousia), and on teras of close intinacy
with, Hemry Broughan.

3231333131332 2

+  The registers of St. Aadrevs, folhorn, give three dates for the baptism of a Renry, two of whom are
gnown to have died. It seems certain that the surviving Menry was bora in 7. PRY

«+  Purke et @l have misled mary on this poiat. Hary Brougham narried her cousin Daniel, son of John
Broughan, High Constable of Kendal, who was the 6th child of Thonmas and Hary... .. PEW.
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tn 1687, and again in 1692, Henry, Hary and Fetherstonhasgh Dodson, Mary's nephew, went to taw to
ohtaio possession of property which came to thes from Hary Broughan's father, William Slee.

Evidence supplied by parish registers show that Anne was born in Fisherqate, (arlisle, 16th September
1661; Thomas baptised at Penrith 28th May 1863; and the baptisas of the remaining children took place at

Skelton.

IX2S 323232 SR04 4

Thus the only Brougham-Lamplugh connexion was through the marriage of John Broagham and Frances Woodhall
{see Chart 3); and despite an assertion by Fleld (An Armorial for Cemberland p.295) that the
Jestendants of Lord Brougham have a right to quarter the atms of Lamplugh, they have no such right.
lior afe they entitled to guarter the arms of Vaux of Catterlen.*®

[ I IR s RSS2 22222 R3E 2

Anne Brougham, the centenarian, whose birth is shown en p.1 of this précis, was not a member of
this family.  She was not even a Brougham, except by marriage.  There is littie doubt that she
was formerly Ann Bownam,the wife and subsequently the widow, of Stephen Brougham, a drover of
Brampton.  Stephen died before 1778, leaving no will, but the will of his elder son, also Stephen
{died 22 July 1778}, named his nmother as a widow. Aithough Ann was buried at Brampton {as of
Yosspladow) in 1789, and the parish register shows her as being 106, there has to be comsiderable
doubt ahout this, for Stephen was borm in 1731, when Ann would have been 50, and his younget
brother, Edward, was born in 1735,

Stephen Brougham the drover was the third son of an Edward Brougham who died 24 February 172425
and whose relationship to the Broughams of Scales and Brougham Hall has aever been established,
althoegh it seems highly probable that they were consins. See Chapter !5 for the details of this
family ....... PRy

We think that CRE was being a bit pedantic about this. ,The Broughams may not have heen entitiled
to use the old Lucy.arms (4 chevron between three lucies hasriant}, but there is no doubt that they
did as shown by the request From Renry Broughan of Scales to his uncle, and the subsequent placing
of those arms on the pediment of Highiead Castle; but the arms registered by the first Lord
Brougham ware accepted by the College of Arms, and are legal - if incorrect....PB¥
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APPENDIX IIX
THE WILL OF JOHN BROUGHAM
Ca.1510 - 1552

N.8. The First 185 lines comsist of an Indenture of Inguisition, taken 19 January 1 Hary (1554).  The
jury say apon oath that on the day he died John Browham was seized in his demesne as of fee of and in &
nessuage of temement and 2 acres of land 20 acres of peadow and 100 acres pasture with appurtenances in
Berkmyre in the aforesaid manor of Udell in sforesald county valued at the last count per annih in all
£3.10s of and in 27 messuages Of tenegents in Berkmeyer aforesaid ia the separate occupation of ~~------ \
Hathew Smithsom, hubrye Borgh,William Womemmon , Thomas (olman, Hemry --benson, Robart Androw, James
Rycolson, Clerk, Thomas Staig, George Capp, John {app, Rebart -w-r---m- | memnmmsemmmemeoss , John Staig and
John ‘Tob---- @ Mes5UAge in Mirkeholme valued at the last count per annun 37s.9d A nmessuade with
appurtenances in the aforesaid county -------"" occopation of Christopher Bleacgwe ----=w-=ms =o7er "=
------------ the Birkemeyer lands are held of the Queen in chief and Hirkehoime of the heirs of ?lsten in
socage . and the jury say that john BrowNae held no other lands in reversion or fee of €he Queen.

Then Follows his will in English ... .

In the name of God Amen the 16th dai of November in the sixth year of the reign of King Edward VI by the
qrace of God (1552)  Witmesseth that [ John Browhan Gentleman, dwelling ipn Browham, County of
yestmoreland, sick of hodle and perfic in aynd do gake this my last Wille and Testanent in manner aad
forme followinge first I give and bequethe ny soul to God Almightie -- 1 give and bequethe unto He.
pichard Dudiey that he yill trely marie my eldest somne and heir to cne of his daughters of the best way?
according to his and ny conmunications valking in the garden after the death of Richard Blencow and gave
our proniges of the same afore and abyde the --------- other of frends and for all the cause we rosld not
agree upon and that he will deffend thes in his Right at all times at ny roquest. hlso I give and
pequethe uato By prother Rebart Browham of Storecroft one nalf scre three rudes of land lying on the
Righ?Goste and the lesse of the tenements of Berkpeyer nowe in my owne occupation daring the nonage of ny
conne and heir this in return mto hyn and then the said Robart to have =--nee mmeoows ot with hym
according as he hasst with pe Aso I give to the said Robart my brown and Read 1Jakkatt Also T give to
ay sister Elizabeth 3 quarters of bigg and three bolls Also [ give to BY brother Richard Browhas one of
my best kye I give to Renrie Harison 7 scres of arable land lying at Browham Dower and two fine Roodes
1ande lying oo the Heghe croft and the housse that he dwells in paying yerely at two terns to my ?Mmare
{7heir) and childring §sBd-as he shaibe conmanded by my supervisor duriag the monage of my sonne amd heir

and 1 will the said Henrie and his witfe ----m--c-= and that they shall join my --me--esemmeer part of ny
caid sonne 2nd his use Also I give to Ranald de Gebson 7 acres of 7hossable lamde. ------ and paying
yerely for it 15.44 during the nonage of ay sonne and have for the ------ Rlso I give and beguethe to
peter Brougham ------ during the nonage of ny said sonne and heir Aiso 1 give to Ann thldon 5s for her
paines taken Aso I give to Gelbert Browhan 155 1 give and bequethe for the payinge of my dettes and
the bringing upp of oy cheldering Thomas Browam Christopher John Anae and Jane Browhae the ----- part of
py landes dn -omreeoos tg be taken of my goods ------ vo their marage at the disposition of ay
supervisors.

There Follow other bequests - mertion of Bearies Croft -

And the jury say that John Browhan died the 18th day of Yovenber & Edward VI {1552) and that Henry Browham
is his son and next heir and is aged 14 years and more In testamony of which ----=----= Seal placed

fnrolled 12 febroary | Hary {1554) ,
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APPENDIX IIX
THE WILL OF HENRY BROUGHAM

1539 - 1569

‘B The first 16 lines of the parchment are taken up by an ipm in Latin, and the will is, as a result,
{early a copy of an original, now lost.

‘the name of God Amen ziii daye of October in the yere of our Lord God 1565 wytnes that [, Henry Brougha
ant calling to my repembrance the mortality of thys worlde than there is nothing aors unte me than the
depting furth thereof the tyre and place not gertaln —=--emmoeminoneas sebte furth this my last will in
nanner and forme following Fyrst I give ay soule to God Almightie T gyve and bequeth to ny Well beloved
wyfe Dorothye Broughn two pts of all ny lands in Westn'land and Cumberiand --------e-ee-w- that is to saye
4]l my demeyoe lands and houses within the township of Broughn.and one Ferneholde in Helmorby aad where
those lands in Broughm and Keimothy doth not extende to the full two pts of ay lands I wille that ey said
wyfe shall have the ------- in Barkmyre of that which is my demeyne lands for the brynging up of my yonge
children and pformance of ay #ill untill my sonne and heyre be fully complete A1l yeres of age and then my
nte to eater onto all my demeyne lands and halfes ----------- within the tosnshhip of Broughn ard my
roeholdes in Helmotbye and my said wyfe to have her thirds within the Berkmyre within the County of
Curberland ita 1 gyve to my soane Edwarde Broaghm two Formeholdes in Barkmyre durynge his fife naturall
thone in thoulding and cccupacon of Richard Broughn of the yerely reat %%s and thother fermeholde in the
accupacon of Lancelot Doure (?Soure} of the yerely rent of s and in case ay wyfe be with chylde and have
a:sonne T will he shall have one of the two fermeholdes durynge his lyfe naturall which 1 have given to
Edward my sonme and where 1 have iafd in morgage IXs by the yere ta §ir Anthony Garnet psonne of Lowther
the some of Xli as doth appere by one indenture I will that my wyfe skall ronsent and have it duryage hir
Iffe naturall then It te come to my heyre It 1 will that my corn chests two greate brasse potts two
greate spitts aleaden three counters hall remayne as heyrelooms at my houses for ever IkR wemmmen- I gyve
dnto Elizabeth Brovghe my doughter RX1i to be taken of my goods over and besydes hyr ----e--- pte and
] é;ecutorship Itm 1 will that where Renry Namson hath a lease of thouses and landes now in his own
occupacon For %ij yeres letten in the fyrst yere of Queme Elizabeth I wi1l that the said Benry Nanson

all have {t duringe hys Fathers lyfe payinge with ears-------- where that Edward Cook als Sherman hath a
lease of his fermeholdes for xii yeres letten in the fyrst yere'of the reigne of Quene ELizabeth I will
that @y wyfe have it durynge the myaoritie of my sonme 7 heyre Itm ! will that in case my wyfe be with a
iighter that shee shall have XXli and it to be taken of my goods ard lapds Itm w=remer-- ~ the resedue of
ay.goodes ny debts paide -----n--en funerarie expences discharged I gyve to my wyfe Dorathie Brougha &
‘¢hildren Rathren Elizabeth Broughm whome [ ordayne and make may true and  Iawfull executors I make
‘supervisors of this my will my loving brother master Thomas Warcop Edward Warcop Reynolde Warcop and John
Ellis whom I desyre to do for my wyfe and children even as they would have me do for them as my trust is
in them in witnes whereof ! have subscribed my name and putte my seale the days and yere above wrytlen
‘Renry Broughm ------=- Thomag -w=wwswmssanmems e mmne e

SRR Renrie Broughm obijt vi die Decembre Amag ----n=---n-- Thomas
~ Brougha est filius and the next heyre of the same fenrie Broughe and is aged nine yeres and nmore.
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APPENDIX IV

THE WILL OF PETER BROUGHAM

of

EAMONT BRIDGE

Ca.1520 - 1581

1a the Name of God Amen Anao pni 1581 the zi daye of hugust I Peter Browhar of Zamond bridge with the
Countie of estn'rlande Gentelman seake in bodie but whole in myné of good and perfyte Rememberance Laud
and prayse be to Alnightie God dothe pake this my last wille and testameat in panier and forme following
fyrst I geve my soule to Almightie God my maker and redemer and my bedie to be huried within the charch of
Barton Also I do Institute ordayn and appointe my sonne henrie Browhaa to be my whole and onlie erecuior
of this nmy last wille and testagent And to him I geve all mygoods aoveable and unnoveable and also my
fandes and tenements I geve them to hym Ané his heires of his bodie Yawfullie begotten for ever provided
alyays that my sonne henty Browhamshal geve ard delyver such legates as hereafter shalbe noninated and
geven by me in this ry last wylle and testament and hereafter shal be sett downe in writinge and expressed
in playne words ltem fyrste whereas I have a lease of the Ryght Reverend father in God byshoppe of
carliell a house in Pertith in Byshapps Row which henrie Croshy dwels upom at ---r-e- dayes a garthe and
other halfe roude of hereabell land beinge next Anthonie Robinson close of the maines savinge myne
and wylle is that yf henrie Browham ay sonne dothe die without helres of his bodie lawlullie begotten ny
nynde and wylle is that Hr Richard Dudlaye Mr Edmond Dudlaye eldest sone shall have the same house and
lease to him and Rhis heires.for ever more Also ayaynde and wylle is that whereas I have bought a house in
Dockaraye in Penzithe of one John Terne twelf akers of grovend wth all appurtenances ther helonginge
shiche tenement [ hold of the prince copie holde the same tenement and land aforesald with the
appurtenances I qeve unyto Thomas Dudlaye Hr Edmond Dudlayes seconde somme [ geve it to hya and his heires
for ever more ¥ so be that henrie Browham py sone shall fortayne to die before he have anie heires of his
odie lawfullie begetten of g the said henrivw Browham fortayae tp have heires and die before they have
heires of there bodies lawfullie begotten my minde and wylle is that the former gyfte shalbe good bothe to
Rychard Dudlaye and Thonas Dudlaye according to the trewe neaning of the words before written Also 1 geve
gnto my -=mmo=mt Rychard Dudiaye a new saddell stocke and 2 hinde skine to cover it withall Rlso lgeve
to my young Hr tdmond Dudlaye my best gowne [ geve unte my young Htis a hyfe of bees whera she wyll chose
it in ny garden 1 geve unto oy goddewghter lucie Dudlaye two whye styrkes of ~---- years old at mynd and
wyil is that oy old -=-----n- be so good to see them sett forward and ther offspring to Lucie Dudlaye coem
to full age to goveren themselfe I geve unto my wyfe Jame Brovhan the inst some of fyftie pounds of
tawful) corrant monie of England in Eull Recompence of her thyrds and Right Tytell and clame of all my
goods and lands and tenements that she either dowst or should have right unto after ay deathe soe because
this house nmanie years hath net bese spoiled nor devided f ------- very lothe to have mow deyided
therefore my wylle and pynde is that over and besyde the aforesazid soame of fyftie pounds my wyfe shall
nave a chamber meatt drink and clothe Duringe the tyme she doth tarrie at the house at the cost of henrie
growhan deringe the time that she dothe bere the mame Jane Browham And also myynde is yf hentie Browhan be
called to the mercie of Godand die my mynde and wylle is that jane Browham shall have my lands temements
duringe her lyfe afterwards to come uato thos that [ have apputnted provided all weyes that yf they both
te not well contented wth the aforeesaid some of fyftie pounds im Fgil consideration and content of her
thyrds of all ny lands goods and tenepeats ------ hae her thyrds sett for the and the house devided my
nynde is that she shall have noe part mor parseil of the some before rehersed nor no other profytt nor
penifitt to her before this By last wylle and testamant hefore rehersed but she to have her thyrdes which
i her Ryght and to clame no forther bemefytte of this my last yi ther he anie discord o1
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contention of disagreement or fortune to fali petwyre them 1 wyll that they shall be ordered ruied by the
isor of the my wylle whose hereafter shatbenamed [ geve unto Reger Sawkeld ny syster

corshipfull supervl
sone Ths to be payed at Fartinmass come 3 twelvenonth and other KXs to be payed that tyme tvalvenonth o
ett upp @ stocke wthall Allso [ gere o charge and comande my sone Bearie that he shall finde her 2

aaturall eother to hyr and a gocd housewife in tyme of nead Also my mynd is yi Hearie Browham marrie and
after he be parried God do call hym to his mercle and die without heirie lawfullie beqotten my pinde is
that his wyfe shall have her widows right deringe her natucall Iyfe anie thinge in this wille to the
ptrarie notwithstanding Supervisors Mr Rychard pudiaye Mr John Hiddleton Esquier Kr Edmond Dudlaye
ptilman

WY esces hereof Hr Rychard Dudlaye Thomas Dudlaye William Harrisoa Henrie

: Jot
1le Wylls Lyster Richard Peck

itﬁiother noe

e John Rudsta Vicar

qﬁfdie getobris Anno Dni 1581 in Capella Browhoime probatum fuit hoc tostamonii ac admipitrace comissa
4it executori jurato Hagistrum Thomd Naznond Cancellarium Reverendi patris Johanni Episcopi Carlieolensis
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APPENDIX V
THE WILI, OF DOROTHY BROUGHAM OF BROUGHAM
ca.1540 - ca.1581

N.B. As with the wills of her husband, Benry, and her father-in-law, John Brougham, this will has all the
appearances of beinrg a Copy of the original - note the signateres of Willian Laybourne and Edward Salkeld:
they both appear to be in the sape handwriting; and Dorothy has neither signed nor made her nark.

There is no date of her death, and the fact that the will was not proved for another 27 years is not
indicative of anything. The late Roy fudleston was of the opinion that it was, like that of John
Brongham, a death-bed will.

{n the mame of God Amen 28th day of October Anno Doai 1581 Anno Elizabeth 23rd I Dorothie Browham of
Brovhanm sick of body but of whole and perfect memory thanks be to Almiqhtie God my Creator and redeemer
and ny bodie to be buried in the myne kirkes being my parish Church  Itm I give and bequeath te Thomas
Brovhan Ry eldest somme all my -----ver-ro-emmomomsTmmTITERT and othep wwesmrommwmmme e without oy
house and also one gilt silver salt the hest rupboard in the hall and one fotherbedd and the furniture for
the same in hope that he wilbe a good brother to my daughters =-eewon-- whereas lately I bought and ------
------- gift and grant of my brother Thomas Warcopp Esquite the custodie wardship and mariage of the said
Thonas Browham By somne And If it fortane that he die before he comes to fulll age of twentie and one
years without mariage of hin OF =--wesr=s=--w=--- thereof then the rarizge and wardship of his next heit
aale and so from heir male to heir male being within age ---m-wm=m=mrommnemes I the said Dorothie eor my
assignees hast taken theffect of one of then without disparagement together with ome ---we--mr-- of Forty
two shillings as by his writing ----vm---eee- nade at large may appeare I give and bequeath the custody
wardship and mariage of my said sonne Thomas . and oy whole ~--w-mwmmmmmemss and right due due to me by the
said writing to oy younger sonne Edward Browhan and my daughters Elizabeth Browhan Margaret Broshsm and
Yatherine Browham to take amd --------- the effect a&nd ~---r---- as fully and largely im -==------"
respect as 1 myself might doe And the same equally to be -----rre---- ampgg ----- them the said Edward
E}{zabeth Hargaret and Katherime ---we--mms=ssmemomoes of @y goods moveable and unmoveable sy debts and
legacies and funerall expence§ -o-=--=--c--" do I make ny said sompe Edward Browham and By daughters
Elizabeth Kargaret and Ratherine my full and whole executors And also I make my brother Thomas MWarcopp
aforesaid my -------enmmmoe -Killian Laborne and ny brother in law Edward galkeld supervisors of this ay
said will and testameat gesiring them to be qood to my children and for this my last will and testament -
~~~~~~~~~~ wwmwne-e- gy whole trust is in them.

¥illiam Laybourne
Edward Salkeld

per ne Antho: Page
Proved at Cariisle on the sirth day of Avgust 1608 by Roland Hodgson &nd
William Rudson in right of their wives with power reserved to Edward and

Hargarat
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APPENDIX VI

THE WILL OF HENRY BROUGHAM
of BLACKHALL

ca.1560 -~ 1622

fiie pane of God Anen the 10th Day of Februarie Ane Dni 1621 1 Henry Browhaa of Bleckell within the

sh of St. Cothbert's in Carliell in the Countie of Cumberland weake of body hut of @ ~wmwnemee femorye
gse be gyven to the Lord therefore Doe make this ay last will and testament in maner and foree folowing
yist:1 conytt ny soule to the hande of Almightie God my naker and Redeamer and my hody to be buryed in @y
rishe chureh of St (uthbert aforesaid -~e------- all duties thereunto belonginge Ite I gyve usto
atherin oy wyfe for aad during of her life naturall all my demayne of Bleckell wikh all houses harns
uildings members and zppurtenances to the same belonginge and all my water corn mylae with appurtenances
gemonly called Bleckell sylne with all multers, day multers, towles profits duties privileges ways
egents and appurtenances thereunto belonginge im as large ang --eeee manaer as I now hold the same Itm
‘gyve and begueath unto Thonas ----har ay sonne apd to the heires of his bodie lawfully begotten for ever
i1 my landes tenements and hereditaments which I have scitvatt lyinge and beinge within the counties of
berland and Westmerland and thereafter in this my last will and testameat mentioned aed expressed {that
to -say) all my demayne and mylme at Bleckell with all rights members and appurtenances to thea and

ithﬁr of them belosginge the possession and occupation thereof to my sayd wyfe duringe her naturall life

nly gxpepted Itm I gyve and bequeath to ny sayd sonne Thomas and to the heires of hig bodie lawfullie
ottes for ever all my lands with the appurtemances lyinge and beinge in the towne territories and
eylds of Peareth in the (ountie of (uabertand all my houses lands and temements with appartenances in the
e territories and feylds of Carleton Within the sayd Countie of Cumberland all that parcell of land
nd-neadow with appurtenances comonly calied the Ring meadow near the citie of Carliell in the sare
ntie all that Clesse called NModge Closse with the sppurtemances ------- houses and Burgayges in the
itie of Carliell viz one house wyth the appurtenances ~wu-----gate late in the possession of one Rebert
Iyer one other house with the appurienances ~--wnwe---v late in the possession of lowrence Horlard on
0u5¢ and a garth i Botchardgate -----w-v-- in the possession of one Robert Kicholson and all that ay
tenenent with the appurtenances ------- and heing in Eamont brigg in the Countie of Westmerland ---------
nd termes of yeares which T-have in and to the tythes of C-wrr---- pton and the tythe harn there together

i interest and terme of yeares which I have in and to the ------ - Brostaith
and: Nawhie in the sayd Countie of Comberiand ------- od if it shall happen that my my sayd soane Thomas to
have «-nnu- tten then I gyve and ------ all ay sayd demay ---- taments above menkioned ~--we- --- gl1 the
ayd. tythes ------ Barmstaith and Warbye and all ey Right title inter----- the sayd tythes onto Edward
Aglionbie George Ali~vw---- sonnes of Edward Aglionbie of the cittie of Carliell ~--=r--»- to be bivided
equally among them at the discretion  ----- 11 and testament the sayd demayne of Bleckell with the wyle
Ratherin duringe her naturall tyfe Ita all the chattels poveable and unaoveable «--wess- all my plate
debts ~---- geath to Thomas Browham my somne whom ! make and --------- sole executor of this my last will
and testament And 1 do ~eee--e and John Lowther esquiers Thomas Fallowfeylde and Richard fallowfeylde -~
s and John Dudley esquier supervisors of this my last will and testameat ---------- gtterly reveke
and adeull all asd every other former wills and testame-------~ executors and overseer by me in amy vyse
before this tyme named pe------ witness whereof thereunto I have sett my hand and seale in the pres----=-~
of

[

Henry Browhan
Thomas Fallowfyeld Robert Briscoe

17 January 1622 Admon to Catherine Robert Briscoe of Pesstre {X) mark Brovgha nateral other ands
curator of person and portion of Thomas Browghan erecotor in the will nared in his mimority.

K.B. It is interesting to note that Thomas was not moie than J whes fenry died - and Henry was over 6.
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APPENDIX VII
THE WILL OF

HENRY BROUGHAM of SCALES HALL
ca.1638 -~ 1698

In the name of God Amen This sirteeath day of December in the year of our Lord one thousand six hundred
and ninety sevea 1 Renry Brougham of Scales in the County of Cumberiand Esq. being infirm in Body but of
perfect aind and memory (praise to God) and considering the incertainty of this life and how soon I mast
yield to death and being desirous to set my homse in order before I goe hence and shall be seen noe moTe
nos make this my last will and testament in nanner following hereby Revokeing and Annulling ali other
wills and testazents by me formally made And firgt 1 commend ay soul into the hands of Alaighty God who
gave it Hy body to the Earth froe whome it came hopeing for pardoen for my sins and for a  joyfull
Resurrectior to bife Everlasting through the onelie Merits of nmy Saviour Jesus Christ who dyed for the
Salvation of ail Hankinde And as for my Temporall Bstate wherewith God hath Blessed me ! give devise and
dispose thereof as followeth being desizous that all my Lands and Real Estate should continue to reaaia in
ny Mema Blood and Kindred soe long as it shall please God to pernit the same First to ny dear wife Hary
Brougham I give and devise the yearly Rent or Summe of Threescore pounds of Lawfull noey of England to
be issuing forth of all my lands and tenements with power to -----=-- for the same in &ll or any past
thersof and the same to be paid her at the Feast of the Ansunciation of the Blessed Virgin Mary and S5t
Kichae! the Archangell by egual portioas yeatly and every year doring her paturall tife for her dJoynture
and in Bar of her Dower or thirds at Comon Law oOf by Any Custom but she to bear the proportion of the ----
.-~ taxes according to the said Rent and the value of the lands out of which ft Is issving: And as
concerning my capitall messuage at Scales and the demense lands thereunto belonging apd all other nmy
frechold messuages tenements lands and hereditaments scituate lyeing and being in the parishes Townships
Villages or Hamletts in Skelton Seberhan Carlisle Ireby Routhwaite and Applethwaite or elsewhere In the
founty of Cumberland 1 give the sanme with their appurtenances to Thonas Broughan {my Eldest Son) and his
acsignes during his Katurall bife yithout Impeachment of Wast and with sach power aad Liberty and subject
to such charges as are hersin mencond and ‘after hic decease then to his first son and heirs male of his
bady and s0 to his second son and every other son and sons of the sald Thomas Broughan and the heirs male
of their hodies Severatly and Successively one after another as they shall be in Semiority of Age Subject
nevertheless to the Annnities Rente and portions herein mencond And if my said son Thomas shall happen to
die without heires male of his body them I give and devise to my second son DBernard Brougham and his
assignes one asnaity or Rente charge of Fifty pounds of Lawfull goney of England over and above the Tazes
Charges and reprizes te he yearly issuing and geeing out of all ey Hessuages Lands Tenements and
fereditazments in the said County of Comberland for and during the term of his tatorall Life and o be
payable aod paid yearly at the Feast of St Nichael and the Blessed Virgin Hary by Even and Equall portions
the first payment and to be made at such of the said Feastes shall first happen nert after the decease of
the said Thomas Broughzm without issue male as aforsd But the said Bernard Broughas is not to have or
enjoy any part of my lands of Real Estate whatscever but for Default of helres nale of the body of my con
Thomas Broughan I give and devise all ay said Messuages Lands Tenements and Hereditaments to my third som
John Broughsm and his Assignes for and duting his Naturall Life without Tapeacheent of Wast Bat subject to
the Anouities Rents and portions herein memcond and after his decease thea to his first son and the heires
nale of his dody and soe to his second son and every other son and sons of the said John Broughan and the
heires male of their bodies Severally and Successively one after amother as they shatl be in Seniority of
Age subject nevertheless to the Amnuities Rents and Portions herein meacond; Asd for want of heires nale
of the body of ay son John I give and devise all my lands and Teoements aforsd to peter Broughan (my
fourth son) and his Assignes during his Raterall life without Impeachment of Wast But stbject to the
)anuities Rents and portions herein memcend and after his decease then to his Eirst son and the heirs nale
of his Body and soe to his second son and pvery other som and sons of the sald Peter Broughan and ‘the
heirs male of their bodies Severally and Successively one after another as they shall Be in seniority of
Age Subject nevertheless to the Anouities rents and porcons herein mencond ind for want of heirs male of
the body of ay son Peter | give and devise all oy gaid Lands and Tenements to Samuell Brougham {=y
youngest son) and his Assignes during his natorall Life without Impeachrent of Wast Bubt Subject to the
\npuities Remts and porcons herein mencond and after hig decease then to his first son and the heirs male
of his body and soe to his second son and every other son and sens of the said Samyell Brougham Severally
and Successively one after another as they shall be in Seniority of Age Subject nevertheless te the
Anngities Rerts and Porcons herein mencond And if sy said sons shall all of them happer te dye without
issue male of their bodies them I give and Devise all ry said Lands and Tememeats to the daughters or the
heires female of my son Thomas and the heirs of their bodies to be Equally Divided amongst them And for
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~went of Such heirs Than £o my Right heirs for ever And it is my will end meaning that ay sor Thomas shall
chave power to setle & joynture upon any wife or wives that he shall afterwards happen to Harry not
exceedlng one hundred pounds per Annum out of the sd Lands and Tenements hefore Limited to him for Life
or and during the Naturall Life of Such wife or wives And now for the psent maintenance and pferment of
y younger sons and daughter which God hath spared me (after the death of my sons Henry and Hathizs both
ately deceased) I give and bequeath te ay younger childrem the portions or sumes of money hereafte:
encond {Eirst) to oy deughter Hary Brougham ! give the sume of four hundred pounds for her porcon Te ny
on Bernard Broegham the sume of twenty pounds for his pertion Te my son Joha Brougham the sume of Two
uadred posnds To ay son Peter Brougham the sume of one hondred and fifty pounds for his porcon and To ny
ion Sasuell Brougham the sume of one hundred and fifty pounds for his porcon Together with an Amuity of
welve pounds 3 year te be paid to ey said son Samnell at ¥hitsuntide ané Martinmass yearly during his
ife and my Will is That all my s Lands and Terements in whose hands soever they shall descend remane or
ome shail Stand and be Chargeable and Chargd with the payment of the said severall porcons Remts and
nntities the porcons of sy sons Bernard John and Peter to be payable and paid to them within siz months
ext after my decease and the porcon of my son Samuell b be payable and paid to hia withia twelve months
iest after my decease and the porcon of my daughter Hary to be payable and paid to her in four years time
in four Equal payments to begin and be made at the end of ome year next after my decease and soe yearly
ind every year for the next three years untill the said four humdred pounds shall be Fully satisfied and
aid And if the same be not paid accordingly sy will and desire is that the Trustees and Supervisors
ereinafter nand woeld endeavour to raise and pay the same with the Interest thereon from the time of
payﬂent according to the power given them by one peed of ------ bearing date with these preseats But if
iy of &y said younger childrea dye before his or her porcon be payable Then tha said land to be dischargd
thereof and soe ----- If any of them shall have Received his or her porcom ia my Life time sy heir or
sxecutor shall be noe further chargeable or chargd therewith And as Comcerning my personail Estate whereof
| an possessed or Intezested I give and bequeath the same as followeth To my dear wife | give and bequeath
the sume of forty pounds to be paid her within six months next after my decease and also all the household
goods now in ny howse &t Carlisle desiring my Executor to be Loveing and kind to her and her children
after ny decease I give to sy davghter Aqmes fifty shillings to buy a Houraing Ring withall and to ny
grandchild Arthur Forster Five pounds And to my qrand-daughter Jane Forster Eifty shillings I give to my
sister Anne Wybergh five pounds to be paid her in five years time by twenty shillings a year I give and
fiequeath five pounds wherewith to buy a large Bible and Book of Comon Frayer for the use of the parish
wrch of Skelton and the rest of the money to be distributed ameagst poor housekeepers in the sd parish
- the discretion of my Executor lastly I give to Mr Charles Smithson (Attorney at law) twenty shillings
,n reneabrance of his troa and faithfull services to me when I was Sheriffe of this County I leave the
are and Taicon of sy younger children to ny sd wife who I doe appoint to be tutrix of them until they
hall Severally Attain their Ages of Twenty and one years Supervisors of this ay last will and Testam® I
doe: sake my worthy freinds and kinsmen Andrew Hudlestom of Hatton John Esg. Edward Hassell of Dalenmain
i Jokn Forster of Sfonegazthside esg, and Thomas Dalston of Great Salkeld esq. to whom I give twenty
shillings apeice and make it ay Earnest Request that they will Endeavour to see this my Last Will
effectually performd and that if any questions disputes or differences shall happen to arise between ny
kife and children or asy of them that they will be pleasd to use their timely Reconciliacon without
inything of Law Suites Lastly 1 make Constitute and Appoint my son Thomas Brougham Sole Executor of this
ny- Last will and Testan® and tc my sd son Thomas I give and bequeath all the Rest of my goods Chattells
ready money debts and duties mortgages personall Estate whatscever desiring him onely to performe and
recute this ay Last will and Testam® as he expecteth the performance of his own Last will when he shall
tow me And for the effecfual conveying and assuring of all my sd Lands and Tenements and heraditaments
to-'such yses and purposes as herein and hereby are limited and declard I have this day by Indenture of
s¢ and Relesse Setled all my Said lands and Reall Estate tg the same uses Intents and purposes which
the Deed of Setlement I doe hereby Ratifie and Confire Deciaring that the sd Deed or Deeds are noe
Revacacon of this py last will Hor made in pursvance of the power of Revocacon therein mencond But that
this my Last Will and Testament and the sd Deed of Setlement shall stand together amd shall be construed
and taken as my true intent and meaning for the Setling of my Estate and Raising Porcons for my Children
as.the:eln is arpressed Limited and Declared In ¥Witmess whereof 1 have to this py lLast Will apd Testament
et @y hand and Seale this day and year first above written.
Hen: Broughanm
Seal, a chevron between three fishes

Witnesses Willian Ward Daniel Brougham Will Musqrave  James Hodgsen  Wa Lazonbys (mark) W
efferson

5PrGVEé at Carlisle 11 June 1698 by Thomas Brougham armiger son and executor
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